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For Jane

For lo, the winter is past,
The rain is over and gone.

The blossoms appear in the land,
The time of singing has come.

The Song of Songs



Whatever one’s philosophy may be, one has to face the stark realities affecting the 
Jewish people of Europe. Refuge must be given them wherever possible.

rose schneiderman to eleanor roosevelt, april 14, 1938

One of the most compelling reasons for the existence of Israel is the fact that it is the 
only sure haven for the Jewish people. In troubled times, when they are the first to 
suffer, it is essential for them to have their own country of refuge.

eleanor roosevelt, my day, december 7, 1956

Here in Israel the twenty-fifth Jubilee of Youth Aliyah is being celebrated, and the name 
of Eleanor Roosevelt appears again and again like a silver thread in the weaving of this 
particular piece of history.

joseph baratz to eleanor roosevelt, 
kibbutz degania a, february 23, 1959
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I N T RO D U C T I O N

M uch has been written and debated about the failure of President Franklin 
D. Roosevelt (FDR) and his State Department to do more to rescue Jews 
before and during the Holocaust. The lack of effective leadership on the 

part of many Jewish leaders in pressuring the Roosevelt administration to act and the 
opposition of Congress and the American people to admitting refugees, particularly 
Jews, have also been thoroughly analyzed. 1 Much less has been written about the role 
Eleanor Roosevelt (ER) played during the European refugee crisis and the Holocaust; 2 
even less about her role in the postwar refugee crisis and the founding of Israel. In 
many ways she was unique among the central players in the drama. Not only was she 
a woman, while most of her colleagues were male, she was perhaps the most influential 
woman in American public life between 1933 and her death in 1962. From 1933 until 
1945, she was the most effective First Lady in American history, constricted in some 
ways by the role she had to play but also politically powerful in her own right. She had 
to find indirect ways of exercising her influence, however, since she did not hold elected 
or appointed public office for much of the time period during which she was active.

ER’s role was unique in another way as well. She was near the center of American 
power over a longer period than the other players involved in these affairs. She was 
active from the advent of Hitler’s persecution of the Jews in 1933, through World War 
II and the Holocaust, during the debate over the future of Palestine, on through the 
establishment of Israel, and up to the point where Israel was a well-established state. 
We can see how these events in the history of the Jewish people changed her views 
and stimulated her to action.
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She was also unusual in the way she approached human problems. The humanitar-
ian impulses at the core of her being set her apart from most of her male contempo-
raries in the political and diplomatic worlds. Although she operated on the national 
stage, and later, on the world stage as a politician and stateswoman, the impetus for 
her actions was often the distress of individuals or groups of people she met in her trav-
els, such as out-of-work coal miners in West Virginia, refugees from persecution in 
Germany and Eastern Europe who arrived in the United States, and survivors of the 
Holocaust and immigrant Jews from the Middle East who found a haven in Palestine 
and, later, Israel. The journalist Doris Fleeson remarked on this element of ER’s char-
acter when she wrote: “I get so impatient with individuals and then I see you in oper-
ation and remind myself that that is the real achievement — to care for the individuals 
as well as for social justice. That is why you are so strong.” 3

It is also important to keep in mind that ER cared deeply not just about the rescue 
of people in distress but about their rehabilitation — about how to restore people to 
normal living who had, in many cases, lost everything. She and her colleagues sought 
ways to care for refugees once they arrived in the United States, to find them homes 
and jobs, fight prejudice against them, and make them feel welcome. She admired the 
way the American Friends Service Committee restored the spirits of displaced persons 
and provided them with the tools to make a new start and become self-sustaining. Later 
she supported the similar work that Youth Aliyah carried out in Israel with children 
rescued from Europe, Africa, and the Middle East.

Looking at the response of the Roosevelt administration to the persecution of the 
Jews through the lens of Eleanor Roosevelt shifts the discussion from those who failed 
to facilitate or obstructed the admission of refugees to the United States to those orga-
nizations and individuals who pushed hard, in the face of many barriers, to admit 
them. Today, Holocaust historians focus on why the Roosevelt administration and 
the American people did not do more to rescue the Jews. ER recognized that the Jews 
were the principal target of Nazi cruelty, but she also knew that many non-Jews were 
also in grave danger. From her perspective at the time, the question was: Why did the 
United States government and her fellow Americans resist admitting the victims of 
Nazi persecution, whoever they were, and what could be done to change American 
attitudes toward immigration? ER knew that most American Christians failed not 
only to demand the admittance of Jewish refugees to the United States but failed to 
demand the rescue of their fellow Christians. In the visa cases in which she intervened, 
she did not find it any easier for a non-Jew to get a visa than for a Jew to do so. Some 
of the cases she brought to the attention of the State Department involved Jews, some 
non-Jews. Although antisemitism was clearly a major factor in America’s opposition 
to immigration, most of the obstacles ER tried to overcome applied to both groups.
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In her efforts to assist refugees seeking to immigrate to America, ER served as a liai-
son between the President’s Committee on Political Refugees, the Emergency Rescue 
Committee, and the United States Committee for the Care of European Children on 
the one hand and the president and the State Department on the other. She helped 
James McDonald, Marshall Field III, Clarence Pickett, and other leaders of rescue efforts 
to gain access to the president and the State Department. She advised them, encour-
aged them, and advocated on their behalf. The story of Pickett, executive director of 
the American Friends Service Committee, who was ER’s closest partner in refugee 
work, has been almost completely neglected by historians. In addition, an examina-
tion of ER’s persistent appeals to Undersecretary of State Sumner Welles on behalf of 
visa applicants and his response throws new light on Welles’s enigmatic record during 
the refugee crisis and the Holocaust.

Eleanor Roosevelt’s extraordinary capacity to grow as a person was rooted 
in her warm sympathy for other people, her interest in the special circumstances of 
their lives, and her desire to help when needed. Having felt unloved and excluded as 
a child, she identified with minorities and other outsiders. 4 Her openness to experi-
ence and her capacity to reach out beyond the privileged and circumscribed world in 
which she grew up to connect personally with people from other racial, ethnic, reli-
gious, and economic backgrounds helped make her one of the great humanitarians of 
the twentieth century.

Although she was still expressing antisemitic attitudes she had acquired as a child to 
a member of her family in 1918 when she was in her mid-thirties, ER became a crusader 
against antisemitism and other forms of prejudice during the New Deal and World 
War II. She argued that mere tolerance of other religions and races was not sufficient; 
people had to fight for the basic rights of all people. Paradoxically, she still occasion-
ally repeated cultural stereotypes of Jews in her writing. In addition, as a way she and 
others believed would reduce prejudice, she favored policies that would distribute Jews 
more widely among the professions and throughout the nation. In her political work, 
however, Jews were among her most valued colleagues. She continued to advocate for 
the admission of more Jewish refugees to the United States after World War II, and 
she became a strong supporter of the United Nations plan to partition Palestine into 
a Jewish and an Arab state. After Israel’s founding, she became Israel’s most promi-
nent Gentile champion in the United States and worked closely with Hadassah, the 
American women’s Zionist organization, to assist Youth Aliyah in bringing Jewish 
children to the new nation and train them to become productive citizens — a largely 
untold part of her story. 5
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In 1903, when Eleanor Roosevelt was being courted by her cousin, Franklin Roose-
velt, she was doing volunteer work at Rivington Street Settlement on the Lower East 
Side where many of the settlement’s clients were Jews. ER taught calisthenics and 
dance, and on one occasion took FDR with her when she visited a family in the dark 
and crowded tenement where they lived. He had no idea that people lived under such 
appalling conditions. That visit inaugurated the role she would later play in bringing 
social problems, including the plight of refugees, to his attention. Her experience at 
Rivington Street stimulated an interest in addressing the needs of immigrants and the 
poor. It had no effect on the kind of antisemitism she had acquired from members of 
her family and friends, however. When FDR began law school at Columbia in 1904, 
ER wrote to him, “I am anxious to hear about your first day and whether you found 
any old acquaintances or had only Jew Gentlemen to work with.” Much later, in 1918, 
when she attended a party in honor of Bernard Baruch for his contributions to the 
war effort during World War I, she wrote her mother-in-law, Sara: “The Jew party 
[was] appalling. I never wish to hear money, jewels and . . . sables mentioned again.” 6

This form of antisemitism was of a different character from the surge of paranoid 
antisemitism abetted by Henry Ford and others in the 1920s. Ford inaugurated a series 
of articles in his newspaper, the Dearborn Independent, called “The International Jew: 
The World’s Problem,” which repeated the substance of The Protocols of the Elders 
of Zion, a document forged by the Russian secret police around 1900. The Protocols 
purported to reveal a secret Jewish conspiracy to bring about the destruction of Chris-
tian civilization by controlling the world economy. The newspaper carried the series for 
ninety-one weeks straight. The circulation of the Independent increased from 72,000 
in 1920 to 700,000 in 1924, exposing hundreds of thousands of Americans to these 
accusations. 7 Another series of articles, written by Kenneth Roberts for the Saturday 
Evening Post in 1920–21, described Polish Jews as “human parasites” who were “unas-
similatable [sic]” and “incapable of grasping American ideals.” 8

These and other antisemitic writings helped create the atmosphere that led to the 
passage of restrictive immigration laws in 1921 and 1924. The laws, which established 
quotas for the number of immigrants admitted from each country, created the “paper 
walls” that would keep out so many refugees in the 1930s and 1940s. Although the 
campaign against the Jews initiated by Ford subsided after 1927, antisemitism persisted, 
and the nation became still more antisemitic over the course of the following decade as 
Americans faced the devastating effects of the Great Depression and the fear of another 
world war. Antisemitism would reach its peak in the late 1930s and early 1940s, just at 
the time when European Jews desperately needed America’s help. 9

While many Americans remained deeply antisemitic during the 1920s and 1930s, 
ER moved in the opposite direction. The main motivator of this change was her active 
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participation in progressive politics and her growing embrace of America’s diversity 
that went with it. Her decision to stay with her husband in 1918 after his affair with 
Lucy Mercer, her social secretary, and commit herself to an independent life of public 
service brought her into contact with an ever-growing number of people from differ-
ent backgrounds. She developed a network of allies among progressive activists, includ-
ing Jews who were active in the Democratic Party, the labor movement, social welfare 
organizations, and other areas of public life. Among these colleagues were Lillian Wald, 
pioneering public health nurse and founder of Henry Street Settlement, with whom 
ER worked on child welfare, health, and labor issues; Rose Schneiderman, union orga-
nizer and president of the Women’s Trade Union League, which ER joined in 1922; and 
Belle Moskowitz, Governor Al Smith’s key political adviser, with whom she worked on 
passing progressive legislation in New York State and organizing Smith’s gubernatorial 
and presidential campaigns. ER and FDR also became friends with Herbert Lehman 
and his wife Edith. Lehman was a leading philanthropist and supporter of progres-
sive causes, including Henry Street Settlement. He served as FDR’s lieutenant gover-
nor, his successor as governor of New York, and, later, as a senator. ER came to depend 
greatly on her Jewish colleagues, whom she found unusually responsive to appeals for 
assistance in meeting human needs.

ER’s closest Jewish friend was Elinor Morgenthau, wife of Henry Morgenthau Jr. 
Unlike Rose Schneiderman and Belle Moskowitz, who were from recently immigrated 
Eastern European families, the Morgenthaus were from German-Jewish families who 
had been in the United States for several generations and become highly assimilated. 
The Morgenthaus were the married couple with whom Franklin and Eleanor Roosevelt 
maintained the closest friendship. The fact that the Morgenthaus were Jewish made this 
unusual. “[The Roosevelts] would not have been part of a normal friendship and social 
circle that my family moved in,” recalled Henry Morgenthau III many years later. But 
the Morgenthaus, like the Roosevelts, owned a farm in Dutchess County, New York, 
and Henry and Franklin were drawn together by their common passion for agriculture 
and public service. When FDR became governor of New York in 1928, he appointed 
Morgenthau chair of the New York State Agricultural Advisory Committee and later 
to the state Conservation Commission. In 1933, when he was president, FDR appointed 
Morgenthau secretary of the Treasury, a position Morgenthau held throughout the rest 
of FDR’s presidency. Eleanor Roosevelt and Elinor Morgenthau began working closely 
together as leaders in the Women’s Division of the Democratic Party in the 1920s and 
remained close friends and political allies until Elinor’s death in 1949.

Despite the friendship and close working relationships established between the 
Roosevelts and Morgenthaus, however, there remained some distance between them 
as a result of their different religious backgrounds. “[T]here was a separation between 
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Jewish families and Christian families,” Henry Morgenthau III remembered. He could 
not have gone to the same schools the Roosevelt children attended, for example. “And 
you didn’t talk about it.” 10

Like the Morgenthaus, who did not observe Jewish holy days, most of ER’s Jewish 
friends were secular and, as a result, ER had scant familiarity with Jewish religious prac-
tices. When asked what ER learned from his parents about being a Jew in America, 
Henry Morgenthau III said, “Nothing.” 11 This was not entirely true, however. ER was 
aware of how antisemitism sometimes affected the lives of the highly assimilated Jews 
whom she knew. In 1937, when ER proposed Elinor Morgenthau for membership in 
the Colony Club, the most prestigious women’s club in New York, which ER had 
helped found, the club refused to admit her because it did not accept Jews as members. 
The rejection offended both women deeply, and ER quietly resigned from the club. 
Although deeply hurt by the rejection, Elinor Morgenthau did not want ER to protest 
publicly. 12

Henry and Elinor Morgenthau, like many of the prominent Jewish families in the 
United States, saw themselves as Americans first and foremost. But this did not mean 
they wished to lose their Jewish identity or advocate that American Jews abandon 
their traditions. In a 1936 speech to the Federation of Brotherhoods of the Temples 
and Synagogues of Baltimore on the need to defend American democracy against the 
fierce challenges it faced from within and without, Henry Morgenthau told the audi-
ence that “each minority group through its unique contributions serves to enrich the 
whole of American life.” Jews brought to America “the song and the art, the belief and 
the morality, the poetry and the literature of our four thousand year old tradition.” 
This heritage was “no little thing” that the Jews had to offer for it embraced “the atti-
tude of an Amos, the dream of an Isaiah, the gentle humanity of a Hillel, the philos-
ophy of a Maimonides.” Jews could therefore best serve America “not by abandoning 
our Jewish tradition but by maintaining it.” The only way to preserve their tradition 
was to strengthen democracy, whose essence was its “assumption of the equality of all 
human beings” and whose goal was to provide every individual with “an opportunity 
to attain to the fullness of life.” 13

As ER’s activities brought her into contact with people from varied backgrounds, 
she too became committed to promoting a society that nurtured the welfare of all 
Americans. Her changing view of Jews went along with this larger conception of what 
America could become. The close relationships that Eleanor Roosevelt developed with 
Jews while working for progressive causes laid the groundwork for the key role she 
played in efforts to admit more European refugees to the United States, her leader-
ship in combating antisemitism, and, ultimately, her strong support for the new state 
of Israel. Initially, however, she responded very cautiously to the persecution of the 
Jews by Nazi Germany.



1

A C AU T I O US R E S P O N S E 
TO NA Z I G E R M A N Y

“ The German news is horrible and 
I don’t wonder you feel as you do 

for I feel much the same”

E leanor Roosevelt became acutely aware of the effect of Nazi ideology 
on German citizens and its special impact on Jews soon after FDR’s inaugu-
ration as president on March 4, 1933. 1 After Hitler had been named chancel-

lor of Germany in late January of that year, the Nazi Party immediately began a brutal 
campaign against German Jews, as well as socialists, Communists, and other oppo-
nents of the regime. The Nazis expelled Jews from the faculties of universities, forbade 
them from continuing to practice law and medicine, and excluded their children from 
schools and universities. Nazi storm troopers insulted, robbed, and terrorized Jews on 
the streets. These violations of the rights of Jewish citizens in Germany were well publi-
cized, yet ER’s public statements before 1938 are remarkable for the near absence of 
reference to these events. Her silence did not reflect a lack of knowledge or concern, 
however. She was eager to hear accounts of events in Germany and acted behind the 
scenes to make sure that her husband was as aware of the situation as she was. Her infor-
mants were friends and colleagues whose opinions she highly valued and who actively 
opposed Hitler’s policies or tried to mitigate their effects. Their activities, statements, 
and relationship to ER provide insight into how ER felt about the Nazi assault on 
Germany’s Jewish citizens in these early years.

In April 1933, ER heard a disturbing report on the persecution of Jews in Ger many 
from James G. McDonald, who had recently met face to face with Adolf Hitler. 
McDonald was head of the Foreign Policy Association (FPA), which sought to keep 
Americans informed of events abroad, especially in Europe. McDonald was a spokes-
man for the internationalist viewpoint shared by Franklin and Eleanor Roosevelt and 
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he knew them both. FDR had addressed the FPA in 1919 and ER served on the orga-
nization’s nominating committee from 1927 to 1929.

No one could have provided ER with a more intimate portrait of the attitudes and 
policies of the new regime in Germany than McDonald. Fluent in German and on 
good terms with many people in the German government, particularly in the Foreign 
Office, McDonald had access at the highest levels of power. Partly because he was 
tall, fair-haired, and fair-skinned — close to the Nazis’ Aryan ideal — and had written 
sympathetically about Germany after World War I, the Nazis accorded him an unusual 
degree of trust. They hoped he would take their side: “My Nazi friends believe that I 
am not completely lost,” he wrote in April 1933. 2

The man who arranged McDonald’s interview with Hitler was Ernst “Putzi” Hanf-
staengl, Hitler’s foreign press chief. When McDonald challenged him about the 
Ap ril 1 boycott of Jewish businesses organized by the Nazis, Hanfstaengl told him: 
“The boycott is only a beginning. It can be made to strangle all Jewish business.” When 
McDonald suggested that such a course could endanger Germany economically by 
provoking reaction abroad, Hanfstaengl laughed. “The Jews are the vampire sucking 
German blood. We shall not be strong until we have freed ourselves of them.” 3 When 
McDonald raised the issue of the treatment of the Jews with Hitler himself in their 
meeting on April 7, Hitler retorted: “I will do the thing that the rest of the world would 
like to do. It doesn’t know how to get rid of the Jews. I will show them.” 4

After McDonald returned to the United States, he wrote to ER, telling her of his 
disturbing conversations in Germany. The next day he received a telegram from ER’s 
secretary asking him to spend the night of May 1 at the White House: “President 
most anxious to hear your impressions.” 5 As a result, just three weeks after his inter-
view with Hitler, McDonald went to the White House to report about his trip to ER 
and to spend two hours alone with the president, informing him about the nature of 
Hitler’s regime and discussing its implications for international affairs. Thus began a 
partnership between McDonald and ER that would last until Hitler’s defeat at the 
end of World War II. McDonald kept ER informed of the situation in Europe and of 
his efforts to aid refugees (both Jewish and non-Jewish); ER provided moral support 
and assisted him when she could, most often by helping him gain access to the presi-
dent and the State Department.

On May 4, after his discussion with FDR about his experiences in Germany, 
McDon ald wrote to ER expressing his thanks for the chance to talk at such length 
with the president: “His grasp of the underlying elements in the present complicated 
international situation was very reassuring. I was deeply touched, too, by his willing-
ness to talk to me so frankly.” 6

Accounts of the persecution of Jews in Germany also appeared in the American 
press in the spring and summer of 1933, where ER would have read them. The New 
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York Times, normally cautious in calling attention to Jewish issues, condemned “the 
Nazi scheme of wholesale oppression” by which Jews would be deprived of a liveli-
hood and their children of access to education. In response to the threat by the Nazi 
regime to hold German Jews hostage until foreign governments silenced the criticism 
of Germany, the Times declared that the German government “cannot compel citi-
zens of other nations to be dumb in the presence of what they consider an outrage 
upon the finer professions and ideals of modern states. If they keep silent, the very 
stones would cry out.” 7

Many groups that included both Jews and non-Jews expressed their disapproval of 
Nazi policies. Two of the most significant protests, however, involved Christians only 
because the signers believed it was important that the Nazis understand that American 
Christians as a group objected to the persecution of Jews. Twelve hundred Christian 
clergymen signed a letter declaring that “the endeavor of the German Nazis to humil-
iate a whole section of the human family threatens the civilized world with the return 
of medieval barbarity.” 8

Carrie Chapman Catt, one of ER’s political mentors, organized the other signif-
icant protest involving Christians only. Catt, who had played a leading role in the 
suffragist movement and founded the League of Women Voters after the ratifica-
tion of the Nineteenth Amendment, inspired ER’s early work with the League and 
her participation in the women’s international peace movement in the late 1920s 
and 1930s. Catt was so sickened by McDonald’s description of Hitler’s war against 
the Jews that she founded the Protest Committee of Non-Jewish Women Against 
the Persecution of Jews in Germany. 9 The group began circulating a letter of protest 
throughout the country seeking the signatures of five thousand Christian women 
who played important roles in their communities, including club presidents, busi-
nesswomen, and churchwomen.

The letter condemned “the German pogrom against the Jews,” which “carries a 
Christian banner” but “is a subversion of all things Christian.” Instead of adhering 
to “the highest ethics of modern international understanding” that make protecting 
“the lives, rights, and liberties” of national minorities “the sacred trust” of the national 
majority, the letter stated, the German majority has “threatened the destruction” of 
its 600,000 Jewish citizens.

The letter enacted an idea that was only beginning to gain currency in international 
affairs: that when a nation abuses its own citizens, the international community of 
nations and the citizens of other nations have a responsibility to do what they can to 
protect the human rights of the victims. “If the German majority is unwilling to protect 
the Jewish minority,” the letter read, “it becomes the duty of the world’s nations to 
assume this obligation.” 10 The failure of the nations of the world to protect the European 
Jews would become one of the impetuses for the adoption of the Universal Declaration 
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of Human Rights by the United Nations, which Eleanor Roosevelt would help draft 
after World War II as chair of the United Nations Human Rights Commission.

Beginning in June 1933, Catt’s protest letter circulated among women throughout 
the country. By August 13, when Catt’s committee released the letter to the press, it 
had far exceeded its goal, gathering 9,000 signatures from 753 towns in the 48 states, 
plus the District of Columbia.

FDR had also considered protesting the Nazi persecution of the Jews but received 
conflicting advice from his Jewish advisers and from Jewish leaders. Some of them, 
like Rabbi Stephen Wise, founder of the American Jewish Congress, and Harvard law 
professor Felix Frankfurter, who had become an influential adviser to FDR, wished 
him to speak out; others, including members of the American Jewish Committee, who 
feared that Germany would react by increasing restrictions on German Jews, wanted 
him to remain silent. FDR chose silence, but he appears to have urged the Senate major-
ity leader, Joseph Robinson, to speak out. On June 4 Robinson gave a speech in the 
Senate condemning the “cruelty and inhumanity” of Germany’s treatment of the Jews. 11

In conformity with FDR’s cautious approach to the issue, ER did not sign Catt’s 
petition, but she did publicly recognize the contribution Catt had made. In November, 
when Catt received the American Hebrew Medal for her work in organizing the protest 
against the persecution of German Jews and for promoting better understanding 
between Christians and Jews in the United States, ER presented the award. She praised 
Catt’s contributions to the struggle for women’s suffrage and her leadership in the 
women’s peace movement. She did not refer directly to Catt’s petition campaign against 
Nazi persecution, leaving that part of the tribute to Rabbi Isaac Landman, editor of 
the American Hebrew, the weekly Jewish magazine that made the annual award. In 
accepting the award, Catt described the state of mind in Germany as a “psychosis” in 
whose “paroxysms” the Jews had tragically been caught up. Was “this disease curable 
or incurable, infectious or contagious?” she asked. “No one knows.” 12 For diplomatic 
reasons, ER could not say such things, but she honored a woman who did.

McDonald was not the only person to furnish ER with firsthand reports of the 
persecution of Jews in Germany during the early months of Hitler’s rule. In August 
1933, ER and Elinor Morgenthau stayed overnight at Lillian Wald’s Connecticut home. 
They spent an afternoon, an evening, and most of the following day talking with 
Jane Addams and Dr. Alice Hamilton, a professor at the Harvard School of Public 
Health. Addams, Hamilton, and Wald had all played prominent roles in the Progressive 
campaign for social reform in America and helped build the international women’s 
peace movement. They had close relationships with their counterparts throughout 
Europe. Hamilton had just returned from a trip to Germany with Clara Landsberg, a 
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rabbi’s daughter. During six painful weeks in Germany, they had witnessed the devas-
tating implementation of Nazi policies. As the Nazis moved to shut down women’s 
organizations in Germany, many of the women with whom Hamilton and Landsberg 
had worked, including leaders of the Women’s International League for Peace and 
Freedom that Addams and Wald helped found, sought refuge abroad or were at risk 
of being sent to a concentration camp. In a few short months, the Nazis wiped out all 
the advances in status that German women had struggled for years to achieve.

What ER learned about the swift, frightening reversal of progressive values in 
Ger many — values that she herself had been working for in the United States for over 
a decade — shocked her. It prompted her to invite Hamilton to Hyde Park to give FDR 
a firsthand report on what she had observed and to express her outrage. Hamilton met 
privately with FDR, joined the Roosevelt family for dinner at ER’s Val-Kill cottage, 
and breakfasted the following morning alone with ER. 13

Despite the brutality Hamilton had witnessed and heard about — the ruined lives 
and fortunes, the suicides, the despair of the Jews she knew and admired — Hamilton 
believed that the economic crisis of the Great Depression made it impossible for the 
United States to rescue the Jews of Germany: “If only we could open our doors to 
these people, they are so fine, but of course we cannot,” she wrote to Jane Addams as 
she traveled back to the United States. 14

Catt, however, thought otherwise. ER had also invited her to visit Hyde Park in 
the spring of 1933 to speak to the president about the Nazi assault on the Jews, but she 
had declined, apparently feeling that she could have a greater effect by arousing public 
support for allowing more refugees to enter the United States. 15 In speeches to civic 
groups and at universities she called for the liberalization of America’s immigration 
laws. Some other groups also urged a change in American policy. On September 10, 
1933, thirty-six members of the American Civil Liberties Union (ACLU) urged the 
president to support a more open immigration policy in order to permit the admission 
of religious and political refugees, particularly from Germany. Such a policy, they told 
him, would be in keeping with the American “tradition of asylum for refugees from 
foreign tyrannies.” Among those making the appeal were ER’s friends Lillian Wald, 
Jane Addams, and Felix Frankfurter, one of the founders of the ACLU. 16

During the first year or so after Hitler took control of the German government, 
the protests in the United States against his policies were vocal and widespread. They 
included petitions; statements by Jewish, Protestant, and Catholic religious and polit-
ical leaders; and resolutions passed by professional organizations. On March 7, 1934, 
the American Jewish Congress, the American Federation of Labor, and nearly fifty 
other anti-Nazi groups organized a protest rally at Madison Square Garden in New 
York City. Twenty thousand people attended the rally. A series of speakers, including 
Rabbi Stephen Wise, Senator Millard Tydings of Maryland, former governor of New 
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York Al Smith, and Mayor Fiorello LaGuardia of New York City, acted as “witnesses” 
in a mock trial of Hitler’s government. Catt told Rosa Manus that “Mrs. Roosevelt 
came to speak” at the rally, but it was only wishful thinking on her part because ER 
did not participate. Catt’s mistake, however, suggests that she had heard very clearly 
in private where ER stood on the issue. 17

The vehement protests against Hitler’s policies that began in the spring of 1933 and 
lasted for about a year died down as it became clear that the Nazis were bent on impos-
ing ever more restrictive measures against the Jews and threatening to impose more if 
foreign criticism continued. Efforts to liberalize American immigration policy contin-
ued, but not at the same level of energy. Catt, however, was not easily discouraged. 
The National Committee on the Cause and Cure of War, the women’s peace organi-
zation that Catt had founded in 1924, was the only women’s peace group that pressed 
throughout the 1930s for changes in the immigration laws so that more Jewish refu-
gees could enter the United States. 18 ER did not publicly support Catt’s campaign to 
change American immigration laws, probably because she did not wish to challenge 
the policies of her husband’s administration on such a controversial issue.

Like Catt, ER’s friend James McDonald persisted in his efforts to find a way 
to assist the refugees fleeing Germany. He worked successfully with colleagues from 
the Foreign Policy Association and others interested in the problem to persuade the 
League of Nations to establish the High Commission for Refugees ( Jewish and Other) 
Coming from Germany. 19 On October 13, 1933, after having achieved this goal during 
a trip to Europe, McDonald met with Undersecretary of State William Phillips, Jay 
Pierrepont Moffat, chief of the Division of European Affairs in the State Department, 
and Secretary of State Cordell Hull to discuss America’s relationship to the new agency 
and his possible appointment by the League as its high commissioner. At the State 
Department, McDonald encountered the two attitudes that would impede the efforts 
of Americans to assist European Jews from the beginning of the refuge crisis in the early 
1930s until after World War II: antisemitism and resistance to immigration. Phillips 
expressed this bias in saying that if an American were placed in the position of high 
commissioner, he might become a tool for “‘prying open’ the floodgates of Jewish 
immigration into this country.” 20

The next day, over lunch with ER at the White House, McDonald reported to her 
on the dispiriting situation in Germany, the proposed plan for the high commission, 
and, no doubt, the response to the proposal by the State Department. He told her that 
FDR would need to act on the matter soon. ER asked him if he had seen the president, 
and when he said that no appointment had been scheduled, she turned to FDR’s secre-
tary, Marguerite “Missy” LeHand, who was also at the table, and asked her, why not? 
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LeHand said the reason was they were just too busy. McDonald concluded that ER’s 
interest in what he had to say would help him get an appointment with the president, 
but he did not get that opportunity until several months later.

On October 26, 1933, the Council of the League of Nations selected McDonald to 
be the high commissioner for refugees. When McDonald heard the news, he “felt no 
exaltation — rather, a deep sense of the many things which had to be done at once.” 21

For the next two years McDonald traveled from one European capital to another, 
to New York and Washington, and to South America, laboring to find countries in 
which the refugees from Germany could settle and urging nongovernmental organi-
zations to raise the funds needed to assist the refugees. He experienced little success. 
He found from the outset that the governments who already had refugees on their soil 
“were anxious to be rid of them, and those who have none, anxious not to receive any.” 22

In December 1934 McDonald wrote to ER, asking her if he could see her to ask her 
counsel “about some of those aspects of my work abroad which are troubling me most 
just now.” 23 When he arrived in Washington on December 17, he found a telephone 
message from ER’s personal secretary, Malvina Thompson (“Tommy”), waiting for him, 
inviting him to a dinner with the family that evening. “I had not asked the President 
for an appointment,” he wrote in his diary, “indeed, I had not communicated with 
him at all” but had simply told ER that he would like to see her if she were free. ER’s 
initiative resulted in McDonald and FDR having a substantive discussion about the 
refugee problem. McDonald reported in his diary that the president “expressed vigor-
ously his opposition to the anti-Semitic policy of the Reich.” He impressed McDonald 
with his memory of the issues they had addressed in their conversation in April 1933 
when McDonald had stayed overnight at the White House. “His fundamental oppo-
sition to the principles of the Third Reich, which he had shown at the very beginning 
and had indicated subsequently each time I had talked with him, were obviously as 
strong as ever.”

Before he left the White House on December 17, ER asked McDonald to let her 
know if he were coming to Washington again before returning to Europe, and after 
the meeting McDonald sent ER a copy of the latest report of the High Commission’s 
governing body. 24

As McDonald struggled to address the needs of the refugees who had already 
left Germany, the Nazis continued to tighten the restrictions placed on Germany’s Jews 
and on those Christians it classified as “non-Aryan” because they had a Jewish grand-
parent or a Jewish spouse, even if the Jewish member of the family had converted to 
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Christianity. By the summer of 1935 McDonald believed the situation had reached 
another crisis. “I wish I might have now an opportunity to sit down and talk with you,” 
McDonald wrote ER on July 24, 1935. “Not since my visit to Germany in March and 
April 1933 — about which I told you and the President on my return home — have I had 
as deep a sense of impending tragedy as now.” McDonald believed that the Nazis had 
adopted “a program of forcing gradually the Jews from Germany” by creating intol-
erable conditions for them. Hitler’s announcement of the Nuremberg Laws, a new 
set of antisemitic restrictions, at the annual Nazi Party rally in September 1935 would 
confirm McDonald’s fears. In his letter to ER, McDonald asked “how long” could 
“the Governments of the world . . . continue to act on the assumption that everything 
which is taking place in Germany, and the threat implicit in present developments, 
are matters purely of German domestic concern?” He wondered if “the time has not 
come when, in harmony with other precedents in American history, 25 the American 
Government should take the initiative in protesting against the prevailing violations 
of elementary civil and religious rights in Germany.” From Campobello, where she 
had gone for vacation, ER immediately sent McDonald’s letter on to the White House 
with a handwritten note: “Please give Miss LeHand for the President and tell her Mrs. 
R says it is important.” 26

But the American government made no official protest, even after Hitler’s an nounce-
ment of the Nuremberg Laws. FDR and the State Department continued to pursue a 
policy of noninterference in Germany’s internal affairs for fear that official condem-
nation would make matters worse and disrupt the efforts of the democracies to keep 
the peace. Great Britain and France pursued the same course.

By the fall of 1935, the situation in Europe that he had described in his July 24 letter 
to ER left McDonald stymied. He concluded that the High Commission could not 
solve the underlying problem and that he had done as much as he could. On December 27 
McDonald submitted his letter of resignation to the secretary-general of the League.

In the letter, McDonald noted that the German policies that generated refugees 
had evolved “catastrophically” since his appointment in 1933. He feared that Jews and 
non-Aryan Christians, having been stripped of their right to vote or hold public office, 
practice their professions, attend university, or participate in the cultural life of German 
society, and finding it increasingly difficult to support themselves, would, in their “utter 
anguish and despair, . . . burst the frontiers in fresh waves of refugees.” Trying to meet 
the needs of these refugees would overwhelm private philanthropic organizations, 
whose financial resources were already overstretched, and the refugees would not be 
welcome in other nations because current economic conditions gave these nations 
“only a limited power” to absorb new immigrants. Therefore, an effort had to be made 
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“to remove or mitigate the causes which create German refugees.” This, he said, could 
not be the responsibility of the High Commission. “It is a political function, which 
properly belongs to the League itself.” Drawing on its “moral authority,” the League 
of Nations and its member states had to make “a determined appeal” to the German 
government to modify policies that were driving refugees into neighboring countries. 27

Having issued a report on the refugee situation, as FDR had suggested he do if his 
mission were unsuccessful, McDonald hoped the impact of his resignation and state-
ment would move the United States, Great Britain, and other nations to take action 
to bring about a change in German policies. The New York Times and the London 
Times ran the story on their front pages and published the full text of McDonald’s 
letter of resignation.

On January 8, 1936, McDonald sent a copy of his statement to ER. Although he 
knew she had probably seen news reports of it, he thought she might discover in the 
complete text “something of interest” which she “might care to call to the attention 
of the President.” McDonald expressed a desire to see ER the next time he visited 
Washington. When he visited the city in early February 1936, ER again invited him 
to dinner at the White House. 28 After dinner, ER arranged for McDonald to meet 
briefly with the president. The president “could not have been more cordial,” McDonald 
reported, but he found the twenty minutes he spent discussing the situation in Germany 
“discouraging.” The hope that he had once had that the president would listen to his 
appeal for a public protest faded as FDR remained characteristically indefinite about 
his intentions: “He doesn’t seem to have become any more friendly to the regime. On 
the other hand, I had kind of an impression that he was not any more inclined to take 
an initiative in the matter than he had been previously.” Apparently, FDR indicated 
an unwillingness to denounce publicly the Nazi persecution of its own people or even 
make a friendly appeal to the German government through private diplomatic chan-
nels, as McDonald proposed in a meeting with Undersecretary William Phillips at the 
State Department the following day. 29

While ER encouraged McDonald behind the scenes in his valiant, though failed 
mission and helped honor Catt for organizing a group to protest the Nazi persecu-
tion of the Jews, she, like her husband, did not publicly protest Hitler’s treatment of 
the Jews. She had no power herself to affect Hitler’s policies beyond making sure that 
FDR had access to the most informed observers of events in Germany in the hope that 
he would find an effective way to respond. But ER’s readiness to arrange for McDonald 
to meet with FDR, even when he did not request it, and his appreciation of her coun-
sel indicate that she shared McDonald’s alarm at the situation in Germany and wished 
that something could be done. The State Department remained opposed to confront-
ing the Nazi government, however, even though German policies generated an increas-
ing exodus of refugees from the country. While FDR himself expressed to McDonald 
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his strong opposition to Hitler’s policies, he did not deviate from the position taken 
by the State Department on how the United States should respond to the situation.

While ER followed the policy of FDR, the State Department, and some Jewish 
leaders of not condemning Hitler publicly, the events in Germany intensified her efforts 
to address prejudice in the United States, where she was in a position to make a differ-
ence. From 1933 onward, while Hitler destroyed the Jewish community in Germany 
with increasing brutality, both ER and FDR forged close bonds with the Jewish commu-
nity in America. No president before FDR brought so many Jews into important posi-
tions in the American government.

FDR’s inclusion of Jews in his administration sometimes provoked vitriolic attacks 
from American antisemites, who claimed that the Roosevelt administration was “Loaded 
with Jews,” as well as from the Nazi press. 30 For American Jews, on the other hand, who 
rejoiced to find so many of their brethren in positions of power for the first time in 
American history, FDR’s inclusive attitude toward Jews reinforced the other reasons 
most of them supported him. An editorial endorsing FDR in the Washington Jewish 
Review in 1936 praised him for restoring “confidence to a panic-stricken people” and 
addressing the needs of the forgotten man, as well as placing Jews in high positions. 
Most of the Jewish press supported FDR, the editorial concluded, “because his social 
outlook most closely approximates the transcendental ideals of Jewry.” 31

FDR’s unprecedented inclusion of Jews in his administration reinforced ER’s own 
growing acceptance of Jews and her appreciation for the contributions they were 
making to American society. With the encouragement of Elinor Morgenthau, she 
began to speak frequently to Jewish groups, particularly women’s groups, and refuse 
to speak to groups that excluded Jews. 32 But when she spoke to Jewish groups, she did 
not allude to the persecution of Jews in Europe or address the problem of German 
refugees, or even focus on the problems of Jews in the United States. She spoke instead 
about the economic, educational, health, and other problems faced by every American. 
Her implicit and sometimes explicit message in speaking to Jewish groups was that 
Jews possessed the same rights and responsibilities as all Americans. In her first appear-
ance before a Jewish group after FDR’s election as president, ER spoke at the Hotel 
Commodore in New York to thousands of Jewish women from seven organizations. 
Florence Rothschild reported in the Wisconsin Jewish Chronicle in March 1934 that 
some members of the audience felt disappointed that “as she stood under the Zionist 
flag,” ER did not refer to problems particular to Jews, but Rothschild took it as “an 
additional instance of her tact that at the very beginning of her address she empha-
sized that she was speaking not as a non-Jewess to Jewish women but as an American 
to fellow Americans.” Her speech focused on the ways in which American women 



 A CAU TIOUS RESP ONSE TO NA ZI GER MANY 17

could contribute to solving the social problems caused by the economic depression 
facing the nation. 33

ER’s avoidance of references to the persecution of Jews in Germany extended to 
her private correspondence even with her Jewish friends. Nevertheless, it is clear from 
ER’s sympathetic support of McDonald’s efforts and her frequent emphasis on the 
need for religious freedom in the United States that ER shared the pain that events in 
Germany caused her friends. When ER spoke to 4,000 women at the twentieth annual 
convention of Hadassah in October 1934, she focused on the poor health conditions 
she had observed in the United States, which she called “a disgrace to any country 
that calls itself civilized.” She hoped that “every woman, regardless of religion or race, 
would make it her job to know the conditions of the community in which she lives” 
and then join with other women to “change unsuitable living conditions.” If “we can 
forget ourselves as individuals and think of the objects we have to accomplish, we shall 
override pettynesses and meanesses, no matter what race we belong to.” 34

While ER did not directly refer to the treatment of Germany’s Jewish citizens, the 
subtext of her talk was that the United States must show that it was not like Nazi 
Germany, that in America people of all backgrounds worked together to solve the 
nation’s problems. ER was also well aware from the speech Elinor Morgenthau gave at 
the same conference, and no doubt from private conversations with her, of the effect 
that the persecution of Jews abroad was having on American Jews: “Suffering and 
oppression always tie people together,” Morgenthau said, “and the cruel misfortunes 
of Jews in certain parts of the world has made even those of us who were not primar-
ily concerned with Jewish affairs eager to reaffirm our Jewishness.” She urged Jews not 
to isolate themselves or let others segregate them, thus reinforcing ER’s message. 35 In 
August 1935, in the most direct reference in her correspondence at this time to the 
Nazi persecution of the Jews, ER wrote to Morgenthau: “The German news is horri-
ble and I don’t wonder you feel as you do for I feel much the same.” 36

ER’s connection to the American Jewish community was also strengthened by her 
characteristic responsiveness to individuals in need. Usually her intervention involved 
putting the person in touch with a government or private agency or individual who 
could be of assistance, for example, in finding the person a job, but occasionally it led 
her to become deeply involved in the lives of particular people by supporting their 
efforts to improve their own lives. One of the people in whom she took a special inter-
est was Bertha Brodsky, a fourteen-year-old Jewish girl who suffered from scoliosis, 
a spinal disease. Her family could not afford surgery to correct the problem and her 
brother appealed to ER for help. In response ER arranged for the operation at the 
New York Orthopedic Hospital. Her generosity to Brodsky was well enough known 
in the Jewish community for Florence Rothschild to mention it in her article on ER in 
the Wisconsin Jewish Chronicle. 37 For the rest of her life, ER continued to correspond 
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with Brodsky, invite her for visits, help her and her brother get jobs, and counsel her 
about her marital problems.

The relationships ER developed with Jews were the most important influence on 
her changing attitude toward them. Her deepening commitment to a society in which 
people of all backgrounds respected each other’s traditions shaped that change as well. 
Her growing ties to the American Jewish community and more inclusive vision of 
democracy advanced together and reinforced each other. The disturbing news about 
the growing repression of Jews, other minorities, and political opponents by the Nazi 
regime in Germany created an urgent need to address issues of inequality and intoler-
ance in the United States. At the same time, Americans needed to find a way to assist 
the refugees fleeing Germany because of Nazi policies.
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PA RT N E R I N G WI T H 
C L A R E N C E P I C K ET T

“ The spirit of social cooperation”

O ne of the people who helped shape Eleanor Roosevelt’s response to the 
problem of refugees from Germany and intolerance in the United States 
was Clarence E. Pickett, executive director of the American Friends Service 

Committee (AFSC), the public service agency of the American Quakers. ER’s rela-
tionship with Pickett helps us to understand her reticence about the Nazi persecution 
of the Jews in the 1930s, the ways in which she responded to the refugee crisis behind 
the scenes, her efforts to combat antisemitism and anti-immigrant sentiment in the 
United States, and her later attachment to the cooperative communities and programs 
for immigrant children in Israel.

ER met Pickett through her friend Lorena Hickok. “Hick,” as she was known, had 
covered ER for the Associated Press, but after she and ER developed an intimate friend-
ship, she felt she could no longer write objectively about ER and consequently quit 
her job. She then took a job as chief field investigator with the Federal Emergency 
Relief Administration (FERA). Her job was to visit the areas most severely affected 
by the Depression and report to Harry Hopkins, the federal relief administrator, on 
the conditions she saw and on the effectiveness of New Deal programs. She also sent 
her sharply observed reports to ER, who read portions of them to FDR.

In August 1933 Hick sent a report on the conditions of unemployed coal miners 
and their families in West Virginia, one of the most distressed regions in the coun-
try, and urged ER to visit the state to see the scars of poverty for herself. 1 When ER 
arrived in Morgantown, West Virginia, she found the miners and their families living 
in houses that were little more than wooden tents with dirt floors, no running water, 
and no indoor plumbing. She observed the self-help projects established by the AFSC, 
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which not only provided work but helped build morale. The AFSC had established a 
shop that employed miners in making furniture and gardens where families could grow 
some of their own food. 2 During her two-day visit, ER made an immediate personal 
connection with the people she met. In a few cases she provided concrete help after 
her visit, such as finding out where a child with a bad eye could go for treatment and 
offering to pay the expenses for the child’s care. 3

The problems of the Appalachian coal miners were severe and chronic. Because 
of new technologies, a shrinking demand for coal, and company failures, 300,000 
miners found only temporary work and 200,000 would never work again, accord-
ing to AFSC estimates. The coal miners were only one group of workers among many 
whose conditions at the time made them virtual refugees. There were tenant farmers 
from the South, farmers from the dust bowl, and unemployed factory and construc-
tion workers from the cities who, like the coal miners, had no jobs and lived in squalid 
conditions on relief or took to the road looking for new opportunities. Some gath-
ered in temporary encampments called “Hoovervilles” that were essentially refugee 
camps. The desperate plight of these jobless, uprooted people was created by economic 
depression, however, not by government persecution as in Germany, and both FDR 
and ER believed that the American government should address the problem of massive 
unemployment aggressively and creatively. FDR imagined moving large portions of 
the population out of overcrowded cities into rural areas, establishing the migrants 
in inexpensive housing in small communities, and stimulating regional industrial and 
agricultural development. In August 1933, the month when ER visited Morgantown, 
he established the Subsistence Homestead Division within the Interior Department, 
and Interior secretary Harold Ickes appointed M. L. Wilson head of the agency. When 
ER sent Pickett to talk to Wilson about the work of the AFSC, Wilson took Pickett 
on as his assistant in charge of the settlement projects in the coal mining regions of 
West Virginia, Pennsylvania, Kentucky, and Illinois, although Pickett retained his 
position with the AFSC as well. 4

ER’s visit to the mining communities around Morgantown began a long associa-
tion between her and the AFSC, whose approach to social and economic problems 
she greatly admired. She began supporting the AFSC’s activities and working closely 
with Clarence Pickett on an experiment to establish a subsistence homestead near 
Reedsville, West Virginia, called Arthurdale. The Subsistence Homestead Division 
built houses for the displaced miners who settled there and provided a plot of land on 
which they could grow vegetables and raise a few animals for food. Handicraft proj-
ects, including furniture making, provided some employment, and ER sought to create 
more jobs by persuading a company to build a factory near the village.

In September 1934 Pickett reported in his journal that ER wanted to give the AFSC 
$3,000 for its overhead, plus $55 for scholarships for girls from the AFSC camps in 
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Kentucky and West Virginia. 5 She also decided to give the AFSC the future income 
she received from her radio broadcasts, which in 1934 brought in $36,000 (equiva-
lent to over $650,000 in 2020 purchasing power). Some of these contributions went 
to AFSC overhead and programs both in the United States and in Europe; some of it 
went into a special fund that Pickett set up for ER, which she controlled. When she 
wished to make a contribution to assist an organization or individual, she would write 
to Pickett and ask the AFSC to send the amount she specified to the organization or 
individual she desired to help. One of the recipients of the monetary gifts ER distrib-
uted from this fund was her young friend Bertha Brodsky. 6

In 1935, as part of an AFSC message broadcast on CBS, ER explained why she con trib-
uted the income from her radio broadcasts to the Quaker organization. The AFSC was 
“doing work of the type which I was most interested in,” she said:

Their program of long-time rehabilitation seems to me to fit in with the philoso-
phy which I have always held, namely, that while charity may be necessary, our aim 
should be to get people back to a point where they can look after themselves. I have 
never felt that people should be grateful for charity. They should be resentful, and 
so should we, of the circumstances which make charity a necessity. The American 
Friends Service Committee seems to me to work toward building up people’s own 
initiative and security, and, therefore, I have been particularly happy to be able to 
work with them. 7

To nurture the development of the community of out-of-work miners at Arthurdale, 
ER took Bernard Baruch to visit the new community and secured his financial assis-
tance. It is one measure of ER’s changing attitude toward Jews that Baruch, the man in 
whose honor the “Jew party” had been held back in 1918, now became her friend and 
someone she could turn to for advice and financial support for her project.

Although Arthurdale became the target of criticism because construction costs 
ran well over the government’s budget for the project and the industries that tried to 
establish themselves in the community failed, the residents of the town felt the exper-
iment had transformed their lives. ER never lost faith in the principles that drove the 
project. As ER put it in her radio talk in 1935, “like all experiments, there undoubt-
edly have been mistakes made,” but “if through these mistakes we are able to acquire 
knowledge as to what can be done with people and for people who have been through 
the most disheartening conditions, . . . it may be of value not only to the government, 
but to many other people all over the country.” 8

The Quaker approach to rehabilitation, which ER helped to apply at Arthurdale, 
shaped her lifelong understanding of how best to address human problems caused by 
the collapse of an economic and social system or the displacement and resettlement 
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of populations. In 1949, in recalling the work the AFSC did during the Depression, 
ER said that while the Quakers responded to the need to provide immediate “physical 
relief ” in the form of food and clothing, they recognized that “personal rehabilitation” 
was “often much more complex.” It required the satisfaction of “equally vital needs 
which could not be measured in terms of calories or shoes. These,” she said, “were the 
needs of the spirit.” To address the needs of the spirit, the Quakers worked from the 
beginning “to give these people a sense that they were truly helping to rebuild their 
own lives instead of merely receiving hand-outs.” 9

Years later, when ER made four visits to Israel beginning in 1952, the lessons she had 
learned from the Quakers prepared her to admire the cooperative spirit of commu-
nity building and economic development she found in the youth villages, training 
centers, and kibbutzim designed to transform the lives of displaced Jews beginning 
their lives in a new land.

There was another reason that the AFSC was important to ER: it provided 
her with an indirect way to assist refugees seeking to leave Germany. In her radio talk in 
1935, she said that because the AFSC programs in West Virginia embodied her philos-
ophy of self-help and promised better living conditions and greater security, she felt 
“great confidence” in the AFSC’s work “not only here but in European countries.” 10 
Although she did not identify the nature of the AFSC’s activities in Europe, she was 
referring to the AFSC’s work in assisting Jewish, non-Aryan Christian, and political 
refugees in Germany where it had established itself in a unique position to act effec-
tively, despite its small staff and limited financial resources. Some of the money ER 
contributed to the AFSC supported this work. Picket kept her informed of these efforts 
and tried to enlist her more publicly in German refugee issues.

After World War I, from the date of the armistice on November 11, 1918, until the 
signing of the Versailles Treaty on June 28, 1919, the victorious nations maintained a 
naval blockade of Germany, thus limiting the importation of food and causing wide-
spread suffering. As many as 250,000 Germans died from starvation or disease during 
this eight-month period. To address this crisis the AFSC set up a relief program that 
provided food to thousands of people and won the gratitude of the German people. 
The AFSC continued to operate relief programs in Germany and elsewhere in Europe 
throughout the 1920s and into the 1930s. In 1932, the Quakers helped found the 
Entr’aide Européenne, an independent relief agency that opened first in Berlin and 
then moved to Paris after Hitler came to power. The AFSC worked closely with this 
organization in its efforts to assist German refugees in France. The organization helped 
refugees immigrate to France, learn new skills, and find work as craftsmen or in other 
manual jobs. It ran a kindergarten, provided health and social services, and offered 



 PARTNERING WITH CL ARENCE PICK ETT 23

opportunities for social activities. According to Grace Rhoads Jr., Pickett’s assistant, 
it also offered “sympathy and a new orientation to people bewildered by their recent 
experiences.” 11

After Hitler came to power and the persecution of the Jews, non-Aryan Christians, 
and others began, the AFSC office in Berlin delivered relief to those deprived of a means 
of supporting themselves and, whenever possible, facilitated their emigration. By 1934, 
as Pickett later put it, the representatives of the AFSC in Berlin “became primarily 
emigration officers.” 12 Because they had earned the trust of the Germans in the years 
immediately following the First World War, the AFSC was permitted to continue to 
operate in Germany until the outbreak of the Second World War. Although lack of 
funds hampered the AFSC’s work, the Quakers made a significant contribution to 
addressing the needs of German and Austrian refugees, both Jewish and non-Jewish.

After ER and Pickett became partners in the Arthurdale experiment in 1933, 
Pickett began to consult regularly with ER, to visit the White House and Hyde Park, 
and to join in family meals. The commitments ER made to assist Pickett, some of which 
ER neglected to mention to her personal secretary, “Tommy” Thompson, became so 
frequent that in 1937 an exasperated Tommy asked Pickett to send her a memo when-
ever “Mrs. Roosevelt agrees to see any one for you or agrees to do anything you request.” 
Pickett replied that he would be happy to do so. 13

Pickett’s relationship with ER provided him with occasional access to FDR, some-
times during informal meals. He discussed a range of issues with the president, includ-
ing the prevention of war in Europe, German refugees, and the subsistence homestead 
program, in which FDR took a keen interest. FDR’s interest in rural revitalization, 
together with his desire to understand what was happening in Germany, gave Pickett 
and the president much to talk about. At one point, they even contemplated using 
the subsistence homestead program to ease, if only slightly, the German refugee crisis.

In January 1934, recognizing that the German refugees the AFSC sought to bring 
to the United States, like the West Virginia coal miners, had been dispossessed of the 
means of earning a living and needed housing, jobs, and the support of a community in 
order to make a new start, Pickett proposed settling a number of German refugees on 
subsistence homesteads in the United States. The adoption of such a program would 
have enabled the refugees to grow much of their own food and create new industries 
or craft enterprises rather than compete with unemployed Americans for jobs. He told 
James McDonald, then serving as high commissioner for refugees, that ER was much 
interested in the idea and asked him if he thought it would be “a desirable gesture, for 
it could hardly be more than that.” McDonald told him that “it would be an excel-
lent move to make.” 14
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In early March, after a meeting with ER and FDR, Pickett wrote to McDonald to 
tell him that ER wanted him to speak with the president “particularly on the matter 
of the admission of at least a few refugees to our Subsistence Homestead commu-
nities.” 15 When neither Pickett nor ER succeeded in arranging a meeting between 
McDonald and FDR, McDonald sent Pickett a summary of the proposed plan. 16 
He told Pickett:

If it were possible to admit a few of these families and place them in some of the 
homesteads, this action would do more than relieve these particular exiles; it would 
be an unmistakable token of the interest of our Government in the refugees as 
a whole, and as such it would be an excellent example to hold up before other 
Governments.

He asked Pickett to let him know, after conferring with those in authority, if this “gener-
ous gesture can be taken.” 17

The question of placing refugees in subsistence homesteads was still unan-
swered in May 1934, when Clarence and Lilly Pickett left for a five-week tour of Europe 
to meet with AFSC staff and determine how to strengthen the programs they ran. Their 
reports on their journey provided ER with more disturbing details of the cruel effect 
that Hitler’s treatment of Germany’s Jews was having. As Pickett and Lilly returned 
on board the Aquitania, Pickett wrote a confidential letter “To Our Friends,” includ-
ing ER, sharing his observations. He reported meeting a rabbi who told him that the 
synagogue in Worms had just celebrated its 900th anniversary. Now, having been 
excluded by their own government from schools and professions, the Jews had created 
four hundred small schools financed by contributions from the Jewish community 
and provided training in locksmithing and other manual occupations for lawyers and 
others who could no longer practice their professions. “The tragedy goes deep,” Pickett 
noted, and gave an example of the effects that the persecution of Jews inflicted on a 
family he visited:

The father, a distinguished lawyer, mother a German-American of wealth, four boys. 
The father defended two Jews against what was obviously a travesty against justice 
and decency. For this he lost his right to practice. He is bewildered — his old friends 
shun him as tho he were a leper. Meanwhile, all four sons are Nazi. They parade, 
greet each other when they arrive at home by “Heil Hitler!,” spurn English (which 
they formerly prided themselves on being able to speak) because German is superior, 
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and youthfully hope for and believe in and work for the new Germany. The tragedy 
will kill the father and mother. What will it do to the boys? 18

ER, whose heart went out to anyone in distress, must have been deeply moved by read-
ing Pickett’s account of this family’s quandary.

In June 1934, soon after he and Lilly had returned from Europe, Pickett met with 
ER at the White House and reported to a colleague that he was “pressed so much by 
Mrs. Roosevelt to say all that was on my chest that I did so.” After listening to him, she 
asked him to stay for dinner and repeat what he had said about Germany and Austria 
to the president.

Pickett also talked at length with FDR about the subsistence homestead program, 
and, encouraged by ER’s support for the proposal, may have returned to the idea of 
placing some German refugees in subsistence homestead communities in the United 
States. 19 In any event, FDR did not discourage the plan because McDonald asked Cecilia 
Razovsky, executive director of the National Coordinating Committee for Aid to Refu-
gees and Emigrants coming from Germany, to identify someone who could explore it 
further. McDonald reported to Pickett, however, that Max Blitzer, project manager for 
the Department of Interior Division of Subsistence Homesteads, had told him that “ap-
plications for homesteads on this and other projects will be approved only in the cases 
of United States citizens.” 20 Since Blitzer turned out to be correct, nothing further came 
of an innovative idea that would have permitted more German refugees to enter the 
United States. ER’s strong support for this initiative and effort to make sure that FDR 
had an opportunity to consider it was one of the first steps she took to assist German 
refugees. Regretfully, her support for the proposal ran up against the roadblock of gov-
ernment regulations, a problem she would face throughout the refugee crisis.

Pickett tried to involve ER in publicly supporting efforts to assist refugees by 
inviting her to speak at events sponsored by the American Christian Committee for 
German Refugees (ACCGR). The ACCGR was organized by a group of Protestants 
and Catholics in 1934 at the urging of James McDonald, who told the Federal Council 
of Churches and other Christian groups that the German refugee problem was not 
primarily a Jewish problem. It was a Christian one because the Nazis were carrying out 
the persecution of the Jews in the name of Christianity: “The Christians are the perse-
cutors, and they are violating every principle of Christianity.” 21 It was also a Christian 
problem because an increasing number of the refugees were non-Aryan Christians 
who were being persecuted along with the Jews and needed aid as much as they did. 
The ACCGR was formed to meet this need. 22
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In 1935, frustrated that Christians were not responding to funding appeals from 
the ACCGR as much as he had hoped, Frank Ritchie, executive director of the orga-
nization, suggested that Christians set a fundraising goal of $400,000 for German 
Christian refugees. Since the Quakers were the group best positioned on the ground 
to provide practical assistance for refugees, he proposed making the AFSC, through its 
offices in Berlin, Vienna, Prague, and Paris, the agent of the ACCGR for the distribu-
tion of the funds. Ritchie reported that German Christian refugees often fared worse 
than the Jewish refugees because they had no community to support them: “Since, in 
Germany, any attempt on the part of Christians to help their non-Aryan co-believers 
would be regarded as an act of hostility against the state, the non-Aryan Christians are 
entirely dependent on the help of their co-believers in other countries.” 23

As part of the effort to meet the $400,000 goal, Christian clergymen signed a 
letter appealing for contributions, and the ACCGR planned a fundraising dinner in 
New York for February 27, 1936. 24 It seemed like a perfect opportunity to draw ER 
into the work of the ACCGR, and Ritchie asked Pickett to urge ER to attend: “Her 
presence ought to bring a thousand people to the dinner.” 25 Despite her sympathy for 
the plight of the refugees and her close relationship to Pickett, ER turned Pickett and 
the ACCGR down. By doing so she avoided being publicly identified with a campaign 
that implied a criticism of German policies and would provide aid to non-Americans 
at a time of economic hardship in the United States.

The following fall, sixty Protestant clergy and laymen gathered at Riverside Church 
in New York City where they issued an appeal to 100,000 clergymen requesting that 
they ask their congregations to support the effort to raise $400,000 to assist the 2,500 
German refugees with the most urgent needs. 26 The ACCGR knew that it would 
greatly strengthen their effort if FDR issued a statement supporting their fundraising 
campaign after the 1936 presidential election and before the big drive by the Protestant 
churches. On November 7, 1936, a few days after the election, Pickett met with ER to 
enlist her help in persuading the president to do so. He also asked her to incorporate 
information on the campaign into her syndicated My Day column, which she began 
writing at the end of 1935. She agreed to ask the president if he would sign a letter to 
the Rev. Harry Emerson Fosdick, the eminent minister of Riverside Church, endorsing 
the campaign. The president agreed to do so, and ER assured Pickett that she would 
make sure he did. 27

Despite FDR’s assent, however, he never signed the letter. The State Department 
had advised against it, arguing that “it would not be appropriate for the President to 
support an appeal for assistance for one particular class of refugees or for refugees 
from one particular country.” 28 If he endorsed this drive, primarily for Christian refu-
gees, how could he refuse to support drives for Jewish refugees without appearing to 
discriminate? The State Department’s caution may also have stemmed from excessive 
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fear of upsetting relations with Germany, despite the fact that the refugees the fund-
raising drive would help had already left Germany. In thanking Pickett for his effort, 
Ritchie wrote: “I regret exceedingly that it did not materialize but one can readily 
understand the delicate position the President is in, and how he would hesitate to do 
anything that would seem to involve him in International complications.” 29

ER did keep her promise to promote the ACCGR campaign in her My Day column, 
however. My Day, which by November 1936 appeared in over sixty papers with a circu-
lation of over four million, gave her direct access to a large national audience. 30 While 
many of her columns, especially in the early years of their publication, simply reported 
on her daily life — where she was, whom she met, what she read, and so on — she 
also used it to call attention to organizations or individuals she thought were doing 
constructive work. Over time, and as changing political circumstances allowed her to 
be more forthright, the column became a means of expressing her opinion on important 
matters. In her December 2, 1936, My Day column, drawing on background provided 
by Pickett, 31 she wrote:

I was much interested this morning to find in my mail an account of the work done 
by the American Christian Committee for non-Jewish German refugees. During the 
past months, churches in this country have been raising a fund to take care of refu-
gees who have come to this country and who are to be found in various European 
and South American countries in still larger numbers. The Jewish people have done 
a wonderful piece of work in caring for their own refugees and have generously 
contributed many thousands of dollars for the care of the non-Jewish refugees but 
there still seems to be a need for further assistance. 32

Frank Ritchie greatly appreciated ER’s column, although “there still seems to be a 
need for further assistance” hardly constituted a ringing appeal or conveyed a sense 
of urgency. Perhaps she felt she should not ask people too directly for money to help 
support foreign refugees when so many people in the United States continued to suffer 
economic hardship. Nevertheless, given the reticence of ER and FDR on this issue up 
to this point, her column represented a breakthrough for those seeking greater public-
ity for the refugee cause. “It was in response to my talk with her and also the material 
that I put in her hands that she wrote that paragraph,” Pickett reported. “It was a little 
slow getting done, but I know she has been terribly crowded.” 33

Despite the efforts of the ACCGR, the response of American Christians to the 
persecution of non-Aryan Christians in Germany remained tepid. 34 In September 1937, 
as it continued its struggle to raise funds, the ACCGR tried once more to persuade ER 
to speak on behalf of Christian German refugees, this time at a luncheon in Cleveland, 
but again they failed. “She still feels that she cannot do it,” Pickett reported to Ritchie: 
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“Relations with Germany are rather tense anyway and she does not want to do anything 
that will unduly jeopardize our relations with Germany. I am awfully sorry we can’t use 
her, but I am sure that we all will want to respect her feeling about it.” 35

ER’s extreme caution about making any statement or even gesture that might 
disturb German-American relations reflected her unwillingness to undermine the 
Roosevelt administration’s strict policy of noninterference in German affairs. FDR 
and State Department officials no doubt told her not to say anything that might upset 
diplomatic efforts the United States was making. ER herself understood the need for 
such limits, even when she chafed under them or disagreed with the policies FDR and 
the State Department pursued. But ER’s silence also stemmed from her own idealistic 
hope that a nonconfrontational approach to Germany would help keep Europe and 
the United States out of war. Even speaking at a fundraising event for an organization 
that sought to assist Christian refugees, which would not require directly condemn-
ing German policies, seemed to her unwise. Keeping out of war, of course, would not 
ease the crisis faced by German Jews, but few Americans, including ER, would have 
been willing to risk war solely for humanitarian reasons, especially in light of the fail-
ure of World War I to open the way to a stable, democratic Europe.

While ER refrained from condemning Nazi policies or publicly supporting efforts 
to assist the refugees who were the victims of those policies, she played an import-
ant role as a speaker for the American peace movement in the 1930s. The brutality of 
World War I and its disillusioning aftermath had instilled in ER, along with many other 
Americans, a deep abhorrence of war. “Judged by the actual accomplishments of objec-
tives,” she wrote in an assessment of the achievements of the Great War, “these four 
years were absolutely wasted. Far from preventing future wars, the settlements arrived 
at have simply fostered hostilities.” 36 After the war many Americans simply withdrew 
into isolationism, thinking that America could avoid involvement in overseas affairs 
altogether. Others, like ER and Carrie Chapman Catt, became ardent international-
ists and pondered the question: if war were so evidently futile, what could replace it? 
Looking at war as a human disease, they tried to study its causes and propose ways of 
curing it. ER worked closely with her friends Esther Lape and Elizabeth Read in their 
campaign to secure entry of the United States into the World Court. In addition, she 
participated in the efforts of Catt, Jane Addams, and Lillian Wald to achieve a broad 
disarmament agreement and create international mechanisms for settling disputes 
among nations through mediation and the rule of law. 37 She also collaborated with 
Clarence Pickett in this search for a peaceful solution to the political crisis in Europe.

ER spoke at conferences of the Women’s International League for Peace and Free-
dom and the Conference on the Cause and Cure of War and made “Peace” one of the 
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principal topics of her paid lecture tours. In 1936 ER helped launch a two-year national 
emergency drive for peace, spearheaded by the peace section of the American Friends 
Service Committee. 38 In her speeches, ER denounced the glamorization of war and 
urged people to find alternatives to the excitement generated by war toys, the romance 
of “gorgeously dressed soldiers,” and stories of military heroism by glorifying the deeds 
performed by “armies of foresters and farmers” instead. 39

ER did not speak about anything at this time more passionately than she did when 
speaking out against war, but her denunciations of violence avoided specific criticism 
of other nations. Hamilton and Pickett had given her horrifying firsthand accounts 
of the Nazis’ brutal treatment of the Jews, but she did not make use of this material 
in her writing or speeches. In the summer of 1934, after receiving Clarence and Lilly 
Pickett’s “To Our Friends” letter reporting on their trip abroad, ER wrote in her column 
in the Women’s Democratic News that the Picketts had provided a “most interesting” 
report on “conditions in Europe.” The only part of their account she mentioned in her 
column, however, was their description of the “different methods which have been used 
in Germany, France and England in their subsistence homestead venture.” 40 Having 
noted ER’s omission of the Picketts’ “presentation of fascist violence and repression,” 
and the plight of Jews and refugees, the historian Blanche Cook asks, “How does one 
understand ER’s failure to impart the Picketts’ message to her readers?” As Cook says, 
her reticence conformed to the policy of her husband’s administration. But that was 
not the main reason for ER’s silence. In this case, she was following Pickett’s explicit 
instructions not to publish the information he and Lilly provided in their report. 
Lilly and I “are writing this letter as a rather confidential note,” he said: “what we say 
here is not for publication. Europe is so sensitive especially in spots that statements 
which are published should be given most careful thought. One may easily do more 
harm than good.” 41

ER was not just abiding by Pickett’s request; she in fact shared Pickett’s view and 
advocated a similar policy of restraint. In a speech at the Tenth Conference on the 
Cause and Cure of War in Washington, DC, in January 1935, she asked what women 
could do to eliminate the causes of war. In answer she proposed a gentle, Quaker-like 
approach to achieving peace. Especially in retrospect, her vision seems hopelessly naïve 
given the character of Nazi Germany:

We can be courteous to other nations and to the inhabitants of other nations, and 
try to make people as a whole understand that every nation has pride just as we have 
pride; the first step toward understanding and good feeling is courtesy between 
nations. We cannot say to another nation, “We do not trust you”; we cannot say, 
“We think your motives are this or that,” without making that nation feel resent-
ful as we would feel resentful. And I think that we could have some influence on 
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the press, which occasionally forgets that there are newspapers which repeat unfor-
tunate things beyond our own borders, just as the radio carries things beyond our 
own borders and makes for bad feeling. 42

In the case of Germany, ER adhered to this prescription for tact and understanding, 
rather than public condemnation.

In her book This Troubled World, which ER wrote in September 1937, she kept 
her discussion of international problems and her prescriptions for peace on a general 
plane. When referring to the Spanish Civil War, the intervention by Germany and 
Italy in that conflict, and the Japanese assault on China, she avoided naming any of 
the countries involved:

To me the whole situation seems intolerable. We face today a world filled with suspi-
cion and hatred. We look at Europe and see a civil war going on, with other nations 
participating not only as individual volunteers, but obviously with the help and 
approval of their governments. We look at the Far East and see two nations, tech-
nically not at war, killing each other in great numbers.

That is as specific as she got in a book about the world’s troubles. She was not much 
more specific about solutions. She called the League of Nations inadequate but said 
she was “not advocating any particular machinery” to replace it. She outlined, instead, 
a general framework for international peacekeeping. She argued that disputes “should 
automatically go before some body which will publish the facts to the world at large and 
give public opinion an opportunity to make a decision. Then, a group of world repre-
sentatives will have to decide with whom the fault lies.” If a nation used force, despite 
the decision of the world body, then the majority of nations would have to “resort to 
some method” to assert their will. Although she did not use the term “world court,” 
the establishment of which she and her friends ardently supported, she said: “We need 
to have a tribunal where the facts in any case may be discussed, and the decision made 
before the world, as to whether a nation is an aggressor or not.” Then there had to be 
sanctions such as withdrawal of trade, and, if that failed, the deployment of an inter-
national police force. Until such mechanisms were in place, however, she rejected a 
unilateral shrinking of America’s army and navy. America had to be ready to defend 
itself militarily if attacked. 43

The creation of an international police force and the maintenance of a strong na tional 
defense until international mechanisms became effective were not the prescriptions 
of a pacifist like Clarence Pickett. But in another respect ER continued to embrace 
the Quaker approach to healing a troubled world. After presenting her outline of an 
international system for settling conflict, ER said she doubted if any plans that anyone 
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had devised for achieving peace would actually bring it about. She proposed instead 
a more utopian goal: “Our real ultimate objective must be a change in human nature 
for I have, as I said, yet to see a peace plan which is really practical and which has been 
thought through in every detail.” Here she expressed an essentially Quaker view of 
conflict: only through inner change, not outward mechanisms, can human beings 
achieve peace. ER admitted that such a transformation of human nature would not be 
easy. It would mean reaching “a point where we can recognize the rights and needs of 
others, as well as our own rights and needs.” Only when brotherly love “becomes our 
accepted way of life” would the nations of the world be able to create effective mech-
anisms for maintaining peace and actually make them work. 44

Neither ER’s dream of brotherly love nor her proposed mechanisms for maintaining 
peace addressed directly the difficult issue of how the international community could 
deal with a nation like Germany that was waging a campaign of repression against a 
group of its own citizens or how other nations should respond to the flood of refu-
gees produced by such policies. The year 1938 would bring these problems sharply to 
the forefront and force ER to take a more active role in dealing with the issue of refu-
gees seeking admission to the United States.
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“ This Troubled World”

T his Troubled World appeared in January 1938. The year that followed 
marked a turning point in the political crisis in Europe and in ER’s response 
to it. The Anschluss, Germany’s absorption of Austria into the Third Reich, 

occurred in March. In October, after the Munich Agreement, Germany occupied the 
Sudetenland in Czechoslovakia, and in November mobs in Germany destroyed Jewish 
businesses and synagogues and attacked Jews on the streets. Over the course of 1938, 
aided by weapons and “volunteers” from Nazi Germany and Fascist Italy, General 
Francisco Franco’s forces gained the upper hand in the civil war in Spain. After its 
defeat at the Battle of Ebro in July, the Republican army began to come apart, and by 
the end of the year only Madrid remained in Loyalist hands.

These devastating events made it tragically clear that the dream of a world at peace 
would not soon become a reality. While Eleanor Roosevelt never gave up her convic-
tion that the world needed to develop adequate international machinery to resolve 
conflicts or altered her belief that in the long run peace required a profound change 
in human nature that could only come about through the education of individual 
people, she increasingly recognized that neither of these cures for the causes of war 
could be applied in time to arrest Hitler’s assault on the world. As violence more and 
more came to rule European politics and the threat of war grew increasingly stronger, 
ER drew further away from the pacifism of her Quaker ally. Pulled toward the view 
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that only force would halt the advance of Nazism in Europe, she became a reluctant 
and, eventually, firm supporter of FDR’s defense buildup.

The war correspondent and novelist Martha Gellhorn was one of those whose 
perspective on the world moved ER toward a more realistic view of events. Harry 
Hopkins had hired Gellhorn in 1934 to travel around the United States as a field 
investigator for the Federal Emergency Relief Administration (FERA), documenting 
the conditions of workers hit hard by the Depression. Appalled by what she saw and 
disturbed by the failure of New Deal programs to meet the needs of distressed work-
ers, Gellhorn returned to Washington and vented her frustration to Hopkins. Hopkins 
told her that he had been forwarding copies of her reports to ER and suggested she 
meet with ER to discuss her concerns. His suggestion led to an invitation to dine at the 
White House, where she described the conditions she had observed to both ER and 
FDR. ER persuaded her to stay with her job and the two began a friendship that would 
last until the end of ER’s life. In 1935, however, Gellhorn encouraged a group of work-
ers in Coeur d’Alene, Idaho, to protest against their exploitation by a corrupt contrac-
tor by breaking the windows of the local FERA offices. They did so, and Hopkins had 
to fire her. 1 ER then invited her to live in the White House while Gellhorn wrote a 
book of short stories (The Trouble I’ve Seen, 1936) based on her experiences. Later, 
as a war correspondent during the Spanish Civil War, Gellhorn sent ER vivid letters 
describing the situation in Spain, warning about the dangers of a Franco victory and 
criticizing American neutrality and the failure of Americans to recognize what was at 
stake. She also wrote about the absorption of Czechoslovakia by Nazi Germany and 
the refugee crisis.

Gellhorn, whose father was a German Jew who left Germany for the United States 
in 1900 because of antisemitism and whose mother was half-Jewish, was passionately 
outspoken, blunt, and partisan (the very opposite of Clarence Pickett). No one regis-
tered the emotional impact of the events of 1938 more intensely than she did. “It 
makes me helpless and crazy with anger to see how the world goes, to watch the next 
Great War hurtling toward us,” Gellhorn told ER, while the leaders of the democra-
cies failed to respond. 2 Gellhorn chafed at the ostrich-like behavior of the American 
people who clung to the illusion that the events happening thousands of miles away in 
Spain and Czechoslovakia could not touch them as long as the United States refused 
to become involved.

ER shared Gellhorn’s dismay but tempered Gellhorn’s outrage by recognizing that 
such shortsightedness manifested the sad reality of human nature. Very few people 
“look far into the future,” she told Gellhorn, “. . . and you can’t blame them, for we have 
been for years a country that felt secure in isolation. . . . I am afraid it is not human 
nature to be unselfish except in great crises. People look at things as individuals from 
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an individual point of view, not from the point of view of history or the whole picture 
of the world.” 3

After the Anschluss, violence broke out in Austria against Jews, non-Aryan 
Christians, and Nazi opponents. Hundreds of people crowded American consular 
offices seeking to leave the country. The situation focused renewed attention on refugees, 
and for the first time, FDR responded decisively, taking several steps to try to address 
the refugee crisis. Although, for various reasons, these initiatives had very limited effect, 
they did indicate his concern and represented his most concerted effort to deal with 
the problem prior to his establishment of the War Refugee Board in January 1944.

At a cabinet meeting on March 18, FDR asked his cabinet for advice on how the 
United States could assist Austrians seeking to flee their country. “After all,” he said, 
according to Henry Morgenthau Jr., “America had been a place of refuge for so many 
fine Germans in the period of 1848 and why couldn’t we offer them again a place 
of refuge at this time.” He suggested merging the German and Austrian quotas and 
introducing a bill in Congress to expand the quotas. He was strongly advised not 
to pursue the second proposal because, as Vice President John Nance Garner put 
it, if Congress could act in secret, it would shut down immigration altogether. The 
German and Austrian quotas, however, were soon combined, allowing more Austrians 
to obtain visas since the German quota was not full at the time. In 1939 the combined 
German-Austrian quota of 27,370 was filled, resulting in a significantly larger number 
of Jewish immigrants entering the United States. 4

FDR also asked Undersecretary of State Sumner Welles and Henry Morgenthau to 
draw up a plan for an international conference to discuss ways of meeting the refugee 
crisis, including the formation of an international committee to facilitate the immi-
gration of political refugees from Germany and Austria. The conference to be held in 
Évian-les-Bains, France, to which Secretary of State Cordell Hull invited twenty Latin 
American and nine European nations, plus Canada, Australia, and New Zealand, had 
a fatal flaw, however: no country, the invitation stated, would be asked “to receive a 
greater number of emigrants than is permitted by its existing legislation.” 5

On April 13 FDR convened an interfaith White House conference on refugees to 
discuss how private organizations and individuals could support the work of the inter-
governmental committee that he expected the conference to establish. Those invited 
included representatives of the State Department, Department of Labor, religious lead-
ers, and other private persons active in refugee issues, including James McDonald, who 
had continued to speak out on the refugee issue after resigning his position as high 
commissioner for refugees. FDR told them that private organizations and individuals 
would have to raise funds to implement whatever plans for emigration emerged from 
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the international conference, and he hoped the group whom he had invited to the 
White House would serve as a permanent advisory committee to act as an intermedi-
ary between the proposed international committee and the private organizations in 
charge of relief operations. After the meeting, the group established by the president 
as the President’s Advisory Committee on Political Refugees (PACPR) chose James 
McDonald to chair the committee. 6 After McDonald became chairman, ER resumed 
her role as liaison between McDonald and the president and again provided McDonald 
with advice and moral support.

FDR’s determination to set up an international mechanism for responding to the 
refugee crisis lifted the hopes of American Jews that something would be done for 
their brethren in Europe. “We all applaud most heartily the president’s interest in the 
persecuted of Europe,” Rose Schneiderman wrote to ER, “and we hope something will 
be worked out for their benefit.” 7 But it was the impression of Joseph Hyman of the 
Joint Distribution Committee, who spoke with Clarence Pickett about German and 
Austrian refugees on April 14, that “the President talked in generalities” and “that the 
government is not likely to receive any great number of refugees.” The following day 
ER told Pickett that in regard to the refugee problem “expectations beyond what is 
possible [have] been created.” 8

ER and Hyman were right. When the conference FDR had called met in Évian-  
les-Bains in July, almost every one of the thirty-two nations that attended refused to 
consider revising its immigration policy and opening its doors to German refugees. The 
only exception was the Dominican Republic, which offered to take in 100,000 refugees. 
The conference did establish the Intergovernmental Committee on Refugees (IGCR), 
whose purpose was to coordinate efforts to assist the refugees and, if possible, negotiate 
an agreement with Germany that would facilitate the exit of refugees from that coun-
try. It soon became clear, however, that the German government would not cooperate 
with the committee in devising a reasonable plan for the orderly emigration of Jews.

Nevertheless, somewhere for the refugees who managed to leave had to be found. 
FDR believed that they could be settled in unoccupied or lightly populated corners of 
the world, where they would not compete with anyone for jobs but contribute, instead, 
to the economic development of these areas. In October 1938 he asked Professor 
Isaiah Bowman, a professor at Johns Hopkins University and America’s leading geog-
rapher, to identify undeveloped parts of the world for refugees to colonize. Little came 
of Bowman’s efforts. With some exceptions, inhospitable conditions, the economic and 
logistical challenges of resettlement, and the resistance of other nations to such plans 
made FDR’s dream unattainable. Antisemitism also played a role. Bowman’s belief that 
Jews lacked the practical bent and physical stamina necessary to undertake the hard task 
of agricultural pioneering — a belief contradicted by the resilience of Jewish settlements 
in Palestine — colored his evaluation of potential sites for colonization. 9 When Sumner 
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Welles, who did succeed in persuading some Latin American nations to accept more 
refugees, looked back at the record of the Intergovernmental Committee on Refugees 
in 1946, he said that it had not succeeded in implementing a “single constructive plan” 
of resettlement, despite the existence of “vast unpopulated territories and great unde-
veloped natural resources.” 10

While the tragic events of 1938 unfolded, and FDR made efforts to address 
the refugee crisis, ER continued to meet regularly with Clarence Pickett to discuss the 
refugee problem and other mutual concerns. In July, Pickett and his wife, Lilly, left 
on another trip to visit American Friends Service Committee (AFSC) service centers 
in Europe. Pickett again recorded his observations for his friends, as he had done in 
1934. 11 In Berlin he discussed the refugee problem with Raymond Geist, the American 
consul. The Saturday before the Picketts’ arrival, 3,000 people came to the consulate to 
apply for visas: “[Geist] was simply deluged with people who had heartrending tales of 
woe — Jews or non-Aryans. They could get no work — were thrown out of their apart-
ments — had property confiscated — lawyers lost clients — doctors must all quit prac-
tice October first, etc.” 12

In Vienna the Picketts visited the AFSC’s refugee center, the only center in the city 
that served non-Aryan Christians. Pickett reported that eight American and British 
workers were interviewing persons seeking to leave the country. In some cases, they 
helped them make arrangements to emigrate; in many cases they could only offer 
sympathy. “There are almost 100,000 non-Aryan people in Vienna,” Pickett estimated, 
“and few of them eventually will be able to earn a living.” 13

On October 27, Pickett wrote to ER to tell her that he would like to speak to her 
about his European trip. ER replied by inviting Pickett to Hyde Park for lunch on 
November 9. At lunch Pickett sat next to the president, “had his full attention,” and 
“reported quite fully to him as to what we saw in Prague and in Germany.” 14 In his 
memoir, Pickett said that he urged the president to try to arrange a face-to-face meet-
ing with Hitler to discuss disarmament and FDR said he had thought about that, 
but Pickett was dismayed that the president’s immediate goal was to strengthen the 
American air force. 15 FDR continued to believe that his first responsibility was to make 
sure that America was prepared if events should draw it into war.

Martha Gellhorn, who was also in Europe in October 1938, sent ER a passion-
ate report from Prague on the plight of refugees in Czechoslovakia after the German 
occupation of the Sudetenland. Gellhorn said that the Czech government had no 
central agency to handle the refugees and that private charities were running out of 
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resources to help them. The refugees themselves had no money, no visas, and no polit-
ical support. At the end of her report, Gellhorn described a group of young refugees 
who were stranded in Prague. They were staring silently at a world map trying to find 
a country where a person “could keep his freedom of conscience and live.” But they 
knew that the borders of the democracies were closed to them. Although they “had 
committed no crime,” they knew that they “were welcome no place.”

In replying to Gellhorn’s report, ER wrote, “I hope the day will come when you can 
write something that will not make one feel ashamed to read it. The pity and horror of 
all these poor people — it is really appalling.” 16 ER sent the report to Hick and to FDR, 
from whom it was returned with a note: “The President has read.”

The following month, the age turned darker still. On November 9 and 10, 
beginning the evening of the day Pickett reported to the president and ER about his 
trip to Germany, Nazi violence against the Jews erupted at a new level. Two days earlier, 
Herschel Grynszpan, a young Jew whose parents had been forced to leave Germany, 
together with thousands of other Jews holding Polish citizenship, assassinated Ernst 
vom Rath, an official at the German Embassy in Paris. In response, on what became 
known as Kristallnacht (the “night of broken glass”), Nazi party leaders, storm troop-
ers, and members of Hitler Youth instigated riots in cities and towns across Germany. 
Crowds looted Jewish stores and homes, burned synagogues, desecrated cemeteries, 
dragged Jews out of their houses, beat them, and forced them to perform humiliat-
ing acts. The SS and Gestapo arrested as many as 30,000 Jewish men, sending most of 
them to concentration camps.

FDR responded by issuing a public statement condemning the atrocities: “The 
news of the past few days from Germany has deeply shocked public opinion in the 
United States,” he said. “I myself could scarcely believe that such things could occur in 
a twentieth century civilization.” He also ordered Hugh Wilson, the American ambas-
sador to Berlin, to return to Washington. He was the only world leader to recall his 
nation’s ambassador. 17

Like the steps he took to address the refugee situation after the Anschluss, FDR’s 
statement gave renewed hope to American Jews. “May I tell you at this time how 
deeply all of us appreciate the President’s statement on the outrages in Germany,” 
Rose Schneiderman wrote to ER. “He has done a lot to awaken our own people of the 
nation to an understanding of how dangerous it is to the cause of democracy to allow 
such cruel and heartless treatment to go unchallenged.” 18

ER too found some relief in FDR’s response. At least the United States was now 
publicly condemning Germany’s treatment of its Jewish citizens. “This German-Jewish 
business makes me sick,” ER wrote to Hick on November 14, and “when F.D.R. called 
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to-night I was glad to know Wilson was being recalled & we were protesting.” 19 ER 
herself refrained from commenting immediately on Kristallnacht publicly, but she 
envied those who did speak out — unrestrained by diplomatic considerations. She had 
particularly high regard for Dorothy Thompson, one of the leading columnists of the 
day, the most outspoken American opponent of Hitler, and a constant defender of 
European Jews. As in the case of Martha Gellhorn, Thompson’s blunt condemnation 
of the Nazis stood in sharp contrast to ER’s cautious public statements on the inter-
national situation.

Thompson’s column, On the Record, appeared for the first time in March 1936, 
not long after ER began My Day. At the pinnacle of Thompson’s influence, in the late 
1930s, an estimated eight to ten million people a day read her column. In 1939 she 
would appear on the cover of Time magazine, which ranked her second to Eleanor 
Roosevelt among “the most influential” women in America.

Thompson was an ardent advocate for refugees. Her plan for addressing the refu-
gee problem, which she laid out in detail in an article in the April 1938 issue of Foreign 
Affairs, may have helped prompt FDR’s proposal for the formation of the intergov-
ernmental committee that was charged with facilitating the emigration of refugees 
from Germany.

On November 14, 1938, four days after Kristallnacht, Thompson published an open 
letter entitled “To a Jewish Friend” in her column. The letter expressed the need for 
Gentiles to recognize that a world in which one group of people could be so deni-
grated was a world in which everyone was in peril. As Peter Kurth, Thompson’s biog-
rapher, notes, the letter was “unique at the time as an expression of solidarity” between 
Gentiles and Jews. 20

Worried that the mob violence of Kristallnacht would spread, Thompson’s friend 
had asked her, “What will become of my child if this goes on?” In her letter, Thompson 
replied, “What will become of my child?” Would her friend rather have her child brought 
up to become the persecutor instead of the persecuted: “Would you like him to be 
taught to burn, and beat, and steal? . . . Would you like him to be trained in prejudice 
and brutality and violence?” Thompson wished to protect her child from that fate as 
much as her friend wanted to shield her child from persecution. And so, they were, “as 
we always were, on the same side, standing for the same things.” Her friend had told her, 
“I feel debased, degraded,” but Thompson refused to accept such an idea of honor: “No 
one is debased by what is done to him. He is debased only by his own actions,” and by 
that measure, Thompson as an “Aryan” in “the idiotic parlance of the day,” had “more 
reason for furious protest” against “abasement” than her friend. Thompson begged 
her friend “to regard this horror as not more personal to you than it is to me” for the 
Nazi assault on the Jews “is not a Jewish crisis. It is a human crisis.” 21
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After reading Thompson’s column during a visit to Cincinnati, ER commented in 
My Day in the constricted, understated manner she sometimes employed when writ-
ing or speaking about sensitive topics:

I cannot somehow believe that under any circumstances in any country it can be 
good for human nature to deal cruelly and oppressively with any group of people. 
It seems to me to show such a woeful lack of imagination not to be able to achieve 
legitimate objectives of orderly government without a procedure which in the end 
harms most those who carry it out. Dorothy Thompson is right, I think, what is 
done to people is never so harmful as what people do. 22

This less-than-wholehearted endorsement of Thompson’s column is ER’s only refer-
ence to Kristallnacht in My Day during the weeks following the event. One wonders 
what “legitimate objectives of orderly government” ER could have supposed the Nazis 
were trying to achieve on Kristallnacht through violent means. She not only slights her 
subject, but quickly moves on to a lengthy description of the peaceful Ohio country-
side and the beautiful décor of the old house she visits on the outskirts of Cincinnati 
that belonged to her cousin, Mrs. Nicholas Longworth. She retreats back into the 
world of privileged Americans in which she grew up and of which she was still a part, 
despite her distaste for its prejudices and intense engagement with social problems.

When Thompson sent a letter to ER and other journalists asking that they join a 
committee to defend Grynszpan or make a contribution to his defense, ER replied: “I 
should love to be as free as you are in the present situation but so many of you do a far 
finer job than I could probably do that I feel real gratitude for your work.” 23 Deeply 
disturbed by Kristallnacht, and glad that people like Thompson were speaking out 
forcefully against Nazi violence against Jews, ER nevertheless operated under such 
constraint that all she felt she could do in response to Thompson’s request was send 
a small personal contribution with a note asking that it remain anonymous. Later, in 
February 1939, she told Thompson, “I have . . . great admiration for the courage which 
you have shown in your stand on the international situation.” 24
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“Love thy neighbor as thyself ”

T he violence against Jews on Kristallnacht shocked people outside Germany 
and focused increased attention on the status of Jewish minorities in other 
countries. On December 24, 1938, a little over a month after Kristallnacht, 

Liberty, a popular illustrated weekly magazine, published an article by the British novel-
ist H. G. Wells on “The Future of the Jews,” followed a week later by “Mrs. Roosevelt 
Answers Mr. Wells on the Future of the Jews.” While the events in Germany gave the 
topic its urgency, H. G. Wells and Eleanor Roosevelt focused on the way the issue 
manifested itself in each of their own countries.

Wells recognized that large numbers of Jews suffered extreme persecution in Ger many 
and in other countries. But he argued that in the French- and English-speaking parts 
of the world, Jews remained “a peculiar people” mostly “by their own free choice.” If 
the Jews had chosen to assimilate, the “Jewish Question” would have disappeared. 
Now, however, in Germany and other countries, “the doors of assimilation are being 
slammed upon him.”

Wells did not regard the “intensification of the Jewish problem” as a separate issue, 
however. It was, instead, just one result of the “immense dismay” that overwhelmed the 
world following the economic collapse of the early Thirties and was driving a return to 
the “dwarfish politics of nationalism and imperialism.” To counter this state of affairs, 
the world needed to evolve into a unified society in which national boundaries and 
identities disappeared. 1 The Jews, however, had “caught the fever of irrational national-
ism” worse than any other people and had “intruded into an Arab country.” In seeking 
to establish a homeland in Palestine, Wells charged, they had, in turn, inflamed Arab 
nationalism and created problems for an already unstable British Empire.
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The only solution to the dilemma in which the world found itself, Wells insisted, 
was for Jews and Gentiles alike to join in an educational campaign to get rid of the “old 
legends that divide and antagonize and waste us.” Jewish thinkers, writers, publishers, 
and capitalists could make a great contribution to this emancipating effort, “if only they 
would forget they are Jews and remember that they are men. The future of the Jews is 
like the future of the Irish, Scotch, Welsh, English, Germans, and Russians — and that 
is, common humanity in one large and varied world order, or death.” 2

Wells’s article presented a narrative about the Jews that ER found unacceptable at 
its core but she did not absolve the Jews entirely of some responsibility for the preju-
dice against them. She wrote with far greater sympathy for the Jews, but less directly 
and forcefully than Wells. This may have resulted, in part, from the fact that she had 
not completely overcome her view of Jews as prone to exhibiting a characteristic set 
of unpleasant traits. In the United States, she wrote, “Many of us might say” that even 
Jews “who have the advantages of education and culture” possess “certain manner-
isms or traits of character which rub us the wrong way.” She quickly added that it was 
not these characteristics that led to the persecution of Jews, “for we feel that same way 
about other nations and we have no desire to wipe out any of them,” but the implica-
tion of her words was that the more Jews (and other ethnic groups) behaved like main-
stream Protestants, the better it would be for everyone.

Wells attacked Zionism because he rejected nationalism in any form and because his 
country had to deal with the consequences of Zionist activities in the British Mandate for 
Palestine, including the death of its soldiers. ER ignored the anti-Zionist part of Wells’s 
argument, except to say that she thought Europeans and Americans “have pushed 
the Jewish race into Zionism and Palestine and into their nationalistic attitude.” She 
focused instead on the issue of antisemitism, which, in the American context, presented 
the central problem. She began by recognizing that Wells was probably correct in his 
prediction that dire consequences would ensue if the human community permitted, 
in her words, “the kind of racial and religious intolerance which is sweeping the world 
today to keep merrily on its way.” But by introducing the word “intolerance,” a term 
Wells never used in his article, ER began shifting responsibility from the Jews to the 
people who harbored prejudice against them.

After altering the terms of the debate, ER continued, in her characteristically gen tle, 
understated, yet piercing manner, by saying to Wells: “I cannot help wondering, how ever, 
if you are not aiding that lack of truth-telling just a little when you start your article 
by putting so much of the blame for the present situation on the shoulders of those 
Jews who are always conscious of their own race?” Having for a long time “lived in 
restricted areas and under restrictive laws” that, among other things, excluded them 
from certain businesses and professions, it seemed understandable to ER that Jews 
should feel separate. Even when most restrictions disappeared, she argued, assimilation 
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takes time. Now, in the 1930s, the Jews in some nations faced a renewal of the kinds of 
restrictions prevalent in the Middle Ages. ER did not believe, as she put it, that “this 
is entirely because of anything which the Jewish people have done.” One could take 
ER’s “entirely” as ironic, it being so obvious that nothing justified the persecution the 
Nazis inflicted on the Jews and therefore blaming the Jews themselves for their trou-
bles, as Wells did, was absurd. Possibly she meant it ironically (she was not without 
guile), but three paragraphs later she gingerly attributed a portion of the blame to the 
Jews for their failure to integrate themselves thoroughly enough into the societies of 
which they were a part: “It is true, perhaps, that on occasions the Jewish people haven’t 
scattered themselves sufficiently through a wide area where they could be less concen-
trated in a racial group” and “have perhaps not grasped all the opportunities open to 
them to diversify their occupations,” thus provoking resentment when they achieved 
“preponderance” in some professions.

ER herself believed in “the melting pot”: America’s ethnic, religious, and racial 
groups should adopt American ways, live among Americans from other backgrounds 
rather than in separate neighborhoods, and fully participate in American life as a whole. 
But her view that Jews should take some responsibility for distributing themselves more 
thinly throughout society and the professions reflected a special concern, shared at 
the time by some Jews as well as by Gentiles and satirized much later in Philip Roth’s 
brilliant novel, The Plot Against America (2004). According to James McDonald, Max 
Warburg, a member of the powerful German Jewish banking family, who emigrated 
from Hamburg to New York in 1938, believed in “the necessity of Jewish commit-
tees everywhere deliberately redirecting the education of their children, so that in the 
course of time their professional, industrial and agricultural occupations might be so 
varied as to avoid giving the sort of excuse which had been so ruthlessly capitalized by 
the Nazis.” 3 In 1934 Maier M. Levin, a fraternity brother in Phi Epsilon Pi, the Jewish 
national fraternity, told Louis Fushan, the fraternity’s Grand Superior, that a fear was 
developing among Jews that “too many Jewish students are selecting the professions of 
Medicine and Law” and this overcrowding “might lead to similar results as we have in 
Germany.” He suggested that the fraternity design a plan to encourage Jewish students 
to enter “less crowded fields.” Fushan thought this an “excellent” idea. 4

The lesson of Germany for Warburg and Levin was that Jews should actively avoid 
becoming too prominent to shield themselves from persecution. ER shared that belief, 
but she did not think that Jews should shed their religious identity. Wells urged Jews 
to abandon their religious traditions as superstitious baggage handed down from the 
distant past and join in building a secular world society. ER, on the other hand, argued 
that Jews derived their identity as a people from their religion: “It is their religion 
which seems to have made them conscious of themselves as a race 5 as well as a religious 
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sect.” And she did not believe that assimilation required any group to give up its reli-
gious beliefs.

Throughout her career, ER warned against the power of fear to distort reality, 
whether it was fear of Jews, African Americans, Communists, immigrants, or some 
other “Other.” For ER, the root of antisemitism was not the assertiveness of Jews, but 
the fears of Gentiles. The real source of the hatred of Jews, she believed, was not their 
traits of character or their prominence but the suspicion of Jews harbored by Gentiles: 
“It is the secret fear that the Jewish people are stronger or more able than those who 
still wield superior physical power over them which brings about oppression.” Those 
nations with confidence in their own standing in the world refrain from persecuting, 
she said. Although Jews “may be in part responsible for the present situation,” the Jews 
were “not as responsible as the other races who need to examine themselves and grap-
ple with their own fears.”

In a passage that once again reflected her assumption that a “Jewish problem” 
existed, ER illustrated the way a confident nation might act, by asking her readers to 
imagine a situation in an American city whose government “had become too much 
ridden by politicians of one racial group.” Americans, she said, would not kill the 
members of this group. They would, instead, “find some other way to bring in new 
blood; to restrict the number of high places which could be occupied by one racial 
strain. A little imagination would scatter and change this population without resort-
ing to tyranny.” 6 Religious and racial quotas, the strategy that American colleges and 
universities had begun using in the 1920s to limit the number of Jewish students they 
would admit, was a solution to the “Jewish problem” that ER found acceptable.

In conclusion, ER said that the future of the Jews “depends almost entirely on the 
course of the Gentiles.” The Gentiles could choose “cooperative, mutual assistance, 
gradual slow assimilation, with justice and fair-mindedness” or they could choose 
“injustice, hatred, and death.” Whichever they choose would determine their future 
as well. 7

After the publication of her article in Liberty, ER’s friend George Carlin, manager 
of the United Features Syndicate that handled the distribution of ER’s My Day column, 
wrote to congratulate her: “I was afraid [your article] would be just conventionally 
flattering. Instead it was completely forthright and honestly met the issue.” 8 But some 
Jews expressed concern about ER’s assimilationist agenda. Rabbi Louis Swichkow of 
Milwaukee felt ER’s article was “written in a fair-minded and unbiased manner,” but 
he asked her to explain more fully what she meant by “gradual slow assimilation.” Did 
she mean “intermarriage on the part of the Jew, with the Jew ultimately losing his iden-
tity as a ‘Jew’”? ER replied that she did “not mean intermarriage or giving up religion. 
I mean becoming an active citizen with a feeling of being an American; for instance, 
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in the same way people of other religions feel. Many people of Jewish faith whom I 
know think of themselves as Jews first and as nationals second.” 9 It is not clear whom 
she had in mind, for many of the Jews she knew, including the Morgenthaus, Lehmans, 
Frankfurters, and Bernard Baruch, were highly assimilated active citizens and strongly 
identified themselves as Americans. Despite ER’s disclaimer, it is likely, considering her 
belief in assimilation, that she regarded the manner in which the Morgenthaus and 
Lehmans had integrated themselves into the society around them as the way she hoped 
Jews (and other minorities) would melt into American society. ER’s belief in assimila-
tion would later reinforce her enthusiastic support for Israel’s program to thoroughly 
assimilate its immigrant population into a unified people.

Hitler’s persecution of German Jews led to heightened insecurity among 
American Jews who already suffered discrimination. The fact that the wife of the presi-
dent publicly defended the Jews against charges that they were primarily responsible for 
the prejudice against them was, therefore, enormously important. After Kristallnacht, 
ER increased her efforts to combat religious intolerance. One of the ways she did so 
was through her support for the National Conference of Christians and Jews (NCCJ). 
Beginning in the winter of 1938, ER regularly praised the work of the NCCJ in My 
Day and sometimes participated in the organization’s meetings. 10 Sharing in its activ-
ities was another way in which ER joined forces with Jewish leaders and drew closer 
to the American Jewish community.

The NCCJ was formed in 1927 as the National Conference of Jews and Christians 
(its name was changed in 1938–39) 11 after Jewish leaders lost faith in earlier efforts at 
establishing respectful relations between Christians and Jews because of the announced 
intention of some Protestants to use the cloak of goodwill to ultimately convert the 
Jews to Christianity. The new organization, which included some Catholics as well 
as Protestants, attracted strong support from nine Jewish organizations that repre-
sented the full range of Jewish religious practice. The NCCJ gradually overcame Jewish 
concerns about its intentions under the able leadership of Rev. Everett R. Clinchy, a 
Presbyterian minister. 12

The NCCJ had responded vigorously to Hitler’s antisemitic program even before 
he came to power. Dr. S. Parkes Cadman, one of the founders of the NCCJ, wrote a 
widely syndicated article condemning Hitler entitled “The Jew’s Lot in Germany,” 
which first appeared in the New York Herald Tribune Sunday magazine in November 
1932. In it, Cadman described the “tragic disease of hate” he had observed in Germany 
and warned that “unless something is done about it the contagion is liable to spread 
to other countries, perhaps to our own.” 13 After Hitler came to power, many other 
Protestant and Catholic leaders condemned Hitler’s racial policies. In March 1933, 
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the Federal Council of Churches’ Executive Committee issued a statement prepared 
by Dr. Henry Smith Leiper, in cooperation with Clinchy, protesting the antisemitic 
policies of the new regime. 14

Although these strong responses to Hitler’s antisemitic program by some of Amer-
ica’s Christian leaders did not translate into a liberalization of American immigration 
laws, they helped fuel a campaign to ensure that what was occurring in Germany did 
not happen in the United States. Hitler’s policies challenged American Christians 
to examine their own treatment of Jews and to reaffirm the principle of freedom of 
worship embedded in the First Amendment. The NCCJ undertook a study of Sunday 
school textbooks to identify passages that could generate antisemitic attitudes and 
to make suggestions for revising them. 15 In 1933 the NCCJ sent a “pilgrimage team” 
composed of a Protestant minister, a priest, and a rabbi across the United States to 
promote understanding among Protestants, Catholics, and Jews. Among the topics 
they discussed in forums large and small were the lessons that religious conflict in 
Germany had to teach Americans. 16

Striving to create amity among the three faiths and “immunize” Americans against 
antisemitism, the NCCJ created “Round Tables” in cities and towns throughout the 
nation, which brought together local Protestant, Catholic, and Jewish leaders to discuss 
their common values; instituted “Brotherhood Day,” an annual celebration of the beliefs 
shared by people of all three faiths; and created programs in schools and colleges to 
combat intolerance. 17 By October 1938, Clinchy reported, the programs of the NCCJ 
reached 1,150 communities in the United States. 18

In her My Day column, articles, and speeches, ER backed the efforts of the NCCJ 
to lead Americans in precisely the opposite direction from the direction in which 
the Nazis were leading the German people. “I have just received a most interesting 
release entitled ‘Ten Commandments of Good Will,’ issued for Brotherhood Day 
by the National Council of Jews and Christians,” she wrote in My Day in February 
1938. She then quoted several of the commandments, including, “I will do more than 
live and let live; I will live and help live.” In February 1940 she called attention to the 
seventh annual celebration of Brotherhood Week and urged her readers to adopt the 
NCCJ’s ten goodwill commandments. This time she published them in full in her 
column because she believed that they should “be kept in a place where all of us can 
look at them day by day.” 19

As ER had made plain in her essay on “The Future of Jews,” she believed the root 
of intolerance was fear. “There is a growing wave in this country of fear, and of intoler-
ance which springs from fear,” she wrote in 1939 in her article “Keepers of Democracy.” 
Propaganda about the dangers of Communism, she wrote, helped create a “fear com-
plex.” In one part of the country she was told that “the schools of the country are 
menaced because they are all under the influence of Jewish teachers and that the Jews, 
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forsooth, are all Communists.” Perhaps it was a measure of how much antisemitism had 
increased in the United States that in her essay “Intolerance,” published in Cosmopolitan 
in 1940, ER identified “the wave of anti-Semitism” in America as “our greatest manifes-
tation of intolerance.” Considering the situation of African Americans in the United 
States at the time, that seems like an odd statement, but it is possible ER was placing 
religious intolerance in a different category from racial prejudice and discrimination. 
ER found the origin of the rise of antisemitism in the fear of war, in the economic 
situation, and the concern that other groups might fare better in the competition for 
jobs. Intolerance could not be eliminated unless people were economically secure and 
free from the fear of war. 20

As she had made clear in her 1938 article on the future of the Jews, acceptance of 
others did not mean blurring distinctions. In April 1939, after attending a meeting of 
the NCCJ, ER wrote: “It is a fine ideal this, that each of us, Catholic, Jew or Protestant, 
preserving our individual differences of religion or race, should still join together to 
preserve democracy and a liberty which allows us to have our differences.” 21

ER’s own religious beliefs were very much in keeping with the values of the NCCJ. 
She was not a strict adherent to a particular theology, but she was a deeply spiritual 
person. She belonged to the Episcopal Church in which she had been reared and to 
which FDR also belonged, and believed in attending church, but the church as an 
institution meant little to her. She regarded attending church as an outward symbol 
that should proclaim “inner growth.” If people felt they could achieve that growth 
without church attendance, that was up to them to decide. The dour religious atmo-
sphere in which she grew up may have soured her on theology, but it left her with a 
love of hymns and a religious cast of mind. When she was fifteen, she left home to 
attend the Allenswood School in England, a school headed by a French woman named 
Marie Souvestre. Although decidedly nonreligious, Souvestre possessed a strong social 
conscience and sought to instill in her students an interest in other human beings, the 
problems they faced, and the question of how to address those problems.

Souvestre’s views stimulated ER’s interest in social problems, but ER did not aban-
don her religious convictions. In her speech at Chautauqua in July 1933, she urged her 
audience to “make a vital, living thing of religion — not a theory, but a mode of living.” 22 
Later that fall, she told a gathering of Presbyterians that government programs aimed 
at bringing about economic recovery “can only do so much. . . .[U]nless we have a great 
spiritual revival, a rededication to unselfishness, there is very little hope for a perma-
nent change.” 23 Over the course of the 1930s, ER frequently articulated and expanded 
on these views.

In an article in Forum Magazine in 1936 entitled “What Religion Means to Me,” 
reprinted, significantly, the same year by the Washington Jewish Review, ER said, “To 
me religion has nothing to do with any specific creed or dogma.” Religion meant living 
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by the highest standard. For Christians “that standard is the life of Christ” but, what-
ever a person’s religion, what really counted, ER felt, was caring unselfishly for others: 
“The fundamental, vital thing which must be alive in each human consciousness is the 
religious teaching that we cannot live for ourselves alone and that as long as we are here 
on this earth we are all of us brothers, regardless of race, creed or color.” 24 Religion, she 
believed, was synonymous with “the spirit of social cooperation.” People grew spiri-
tually by actively participating in efforts to make sure that everyone had the opportu-
nity to at least meet their own basic needs. 25 This view of religion broke down barriers 
among different faiths and formed a strong philosophical basis for her collaboration 
with the NCCJ and her Jewish colleagues who were also working to build a more 
inclusive and just society. The fact that she found Jews especially willing to assist her 
in addressing social problems reinforced this bond. When she was working on refu-
gee issues in the late 1930s with her Jewish friend Justine Polier, she told Polier that 
“whenever I appealed for help for people whether they were sharecroppers, southern 
negroes, poor unemployed, Jews are among the first people in this country who come 
forward and offer to help.” 26

The American Friends Service Committee (AFSC) provided ER with a perfect part-
ner for putting her religious beliefs into practice. Clarence Pickett shared her conviction 
that religious belief should express itself primarily in service to others, not in adher-
ence to a church or synagogue: through action in the world, not through the obser-
vance of ritual. “Religion,” Pickett wrote in “Christianity in Action: Experiments in 
Social Regeneration,” “is a matter of the relation of men to each other and to their God, 
and not an affair of institutions.” 27 An active Christianity, ER and Pickett believed, 
could transform society by helping people find ways to address their own problems.

During the 1930s ER traveled throughout the United States preaching the need for a 
revitalized democracy. In an article in the Richmond Times-Dispatch in May 1938, enti-
tled “Mrs. Roosevelt Is on Stump for New Brand of Citizenship,” Beth Campbell wrote: 
“Her subject may be peace, youth or prisons. Her listeners may be students, workers or 
congressmen’s wives. But always she drives in with homely phrases and amusing expe-
riences her theory that every individual must know conditions in his own commu-
nity in order to make democracy work.” Wherever ER went around the country she 
visited factories, mines, farms, and people’s homes, taking in what she saw, asking ques-
tions, and collecting information and stories with which to educate her listeners about 
conditions in the country. The change that ER sought required an awakened democ-
racy in which citizens became actively engaged in their communities and worked to 
better the lives of everyone. Greater justice and more equitable economic conditions 
would emerge from a participatory, more cooperative society.

Through her “sermons on citizenship,” which Campbell estimated in 1938 were 
heard by more than 100,000 people, ER urged Americans to reject the brutal spirit of 
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Nazi Germany and other totalitarian regimes and to cultivate, instead, a caring spirit 
of love: “If human beings can be trained for cruelty and greed and a belief in power 
which comes through hate and fear and force,” as the totalitarian regimes were doing, 
she wrote in 1940, “certainly we can train equally well for gentleness and mercy and 
the power of love.” 28 In a democracy that worked for everyone — including workers, 
the unemployed, and minorities — the threat of totalitarian ideologies would subside, 
and prejudice abate.

In The Moral Basis of Democracy (1940), a book that expanded on the views ER had 
been preaching in her sermons on citizenship, she contrasted the Nazi and Communist 
forms of government in which individuals “merge their will in devotion and submission 
to the force of the state and of the man who is the symbol of power” to the democratic 
way of life in which “the individual controls his government through active participa-
tion in the processes of political Democratic government.” She argued that as American 
democracy developed, people came to realize “that differences in religious belief are 
inherent in the spirit of true Democracy” and, therefore, individuals had the right to 
practice any religion or, if they wished, no religion. The religious idea “of the responsi-
bility of the individual for the well-being of his neighbors,” which is summed up in the 
New Testament dictum “Love thy neighbor as thyself,” persisted, however, and distin-
guished democracy from every other form of government. 29 (ER might have added 
that this commandment originated in the Old Testament dictum “You shall love thy 
neighbor as yourself ” [Leviticus 19:17] and is a basic tenet of Judaism.)

The Moral Basis of Democracy expressed the central idea that ER shared with Clarence 
Pickett and the Quakers: Christianity required action, not just prayer but deeds that 
built bridges of trust between people and achieved greater equality. Confirming the 
harmony of the book’s viewpoint with Quaker philosophy, the AFSC publicized The 
Moral Basis of Democracy in its newsletter and in three Quaker periodicals. The AFSC 
received one-third of the price of each book ordered through its office and used these 
funds to carry out programs in keeping with the views ER espoused in the book. 30

Although ER would come to firmly reject the pacifism of her Quaker ally, her 
ideal of citizenship in a democracy and belief in the “power of love” were in complete 
harmony with Clarence Pickett’s vision of Christianity in action as expressed in the 
work of the AFSC. Both ER and Pickett formed strong relationships with Jewish lead-
ers and organizations in seeking to achieve their vision of democracy, work for peace, 
fight antisemitism, and aid Jewish and non-Aryan Christian refugees.
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T H E WAG N E R-RO G E R S B I L L

“ The best propaganda for America 
you could possibly have”

A fter FDR became president in 1933, the burden of responding to the 
national crisis brought on by the Great Depression occupied much of Eleanor 
Roosevelt’s time. Hitler’s persecution of the Jews and the refugee crisis created 

by his policies were not among the most pressing issues before her, and not the most 
accessible to her influence. The economic conditions during the Depression, the New 
Deal programs to remedy those conditions, the needs of youth who were dispropor-
tionately unemployed, public health (especially of women and children), workplace 
safety, unionization of American labor, women’s employment, women’s access to public 
office, civil rights, and other issues received ER’s attention. In the case of civil rights, 
the Nazi assault on the rights of Germany’s Jewish citizens and the violence directed 
against them brought home the need for Americans to address the way their nation 
treated African Americans, especially the practice of lynching — a practice unchecked 
by federal law.

ER knew that the practice of lynching made it hypocritical for Americans to de-
nounce German persecution of its Jewish population unless Americans also acted to 
correct their own nation’s shortcomings. Passing the federal antilynching bill that came 
before Congress in the 1930s became crucial. The matter seemed especially urgent be-
cause the number of lynchings in the United States had increased from seven in 1929 to 
twenty-one in 1930 and in each of the following two years and then to twenty-eight in 
1933. 1 ER served as a liaison between Walter White, executive secretary of the NAACP, 
and FDR on this issue. In April 1934 White sent ER a memo reporting that several 
senators had told him that there were now “enough votes and to spare” to pass the 
Costigan-Wagner antilynching bill in the Senate if it were brought up for a vote, but 
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only “insistence by the White House” would guarantee a Senate vote on it. White asked 
ER to discuss this development with the president. 2 ER did so, but, fearing that if he 
pressed for a vote on the antilynching bill, Southern committee chairs in the House 
and Senate would prevent the passage of New Deal legislation he deemed crucial to 
reviving the economy, FDR held back.

Pressure to pass the bill increased in October 1934 after the lynching of Claude 
Neal, one of the most horrific incidents in the history of lynching. In December nine 
governors, including Democrat Herbert Lehman of New York, wrote to the president 
supporting the bill’s passage:

The killing and burning alive of human beings by mobs in the United States is a 
reproach upon our nation throughout the civilized world. The recent shameless 
abduction of a prisoner and transportation across the State line from Alabama to 
Florida to be lynched, with the crime advertised throughout the nation twelve hours 
in advance, is a notorious example of the breakdown of the machinery of justice 
which has grown out of the lynching evil. Since 1882, 5,068 human beings have been 
lynched in the United States, with less than a dozen convictions; in each of these 
cases only nominal prison terms were given the lynchers.

The nine governors urged the president to put the antilynching bill on his “‘must’ 
program” in his opening address to Congress in 1935. 3 This time, FDR supported a vote 
on the bill, but he would not endorse it publicly or speak out against the Southern fili-
buster mounted against the bill’s passage. The president continued to believe that he 
could not risk angering the Southern legislators whom he depended on to move other 
legislation through Congress. His fears were not without basis. When Southern sena-
tors threatened to filibuster as long as necessary to block the bill in the spring of 1935 
and thus prevent passage of the Social Security bill, Costigan withdrew it. 4

Nevertheless, ER continued to press for passage of an antilynching bill. The sooner 
Americans “unite to stamp out any such action,” she said in a speech on December 12, 
1935, “the better will we be able to face the other nations of the world and to uphold 
our real ideals here and abroad.” 5 When the antilynching bill was reintroduced in 1937, 
ER once more pushed FDR to throw his support behind it. 6 But FDR again refused 
to press the issue.

Writing to FDR in December 1938, the month after Kristallnacht, Walter White 
noted that “Seven lynchings have taken place since the Congress adjourned. No 
member of any one of the seven mobs, which total more than 1000 in membership, 
has even been arrested, much less punished.” White urged the president to appeal in 
the strongest terms in his opening message to the 76th Congress to speedily pass anti-
lynching legislation: “A strong word is needed from you as the leader of the nation to 
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the effect that while we rightly condemn racial persecution abroad we as Americans 
should at the same time clean up our own domain.” To drive home the point, White 
enclosed a United Press report from Berlin “in which your own fine pronouncements 
against the horrible persecution of minorities in Germany is discounted by Germany’s 
pointing to unpunished and unrebuked lynchings in America.” After White sent a copy 
of his letter to ER, she replied: “There is a difference [between what is happening in 
Germany and America], which the south will of course point out, but I think there 
is enough similarity to make quite a good argument along these lines.” 7 The fact that 
the president never publicly supported and Congress failed to enact an antilynching 
bill during his tenure placed the United States on morally indefensible ground and 
may have played a role in muting American criticism of Germany’s policies toward its 
Jewish minority.

While the Nazi persecution of the Jews helped spur ER and others to fight for 
a federal antilynching law, she did not actively address the refugee crisis created by 
Hitler’s policies until 1939, by which time it had become acute. The events of 1938 
swelled the number of Jews, non-Aryan Christians, and political refugees applying 
for American visas. The barriers established by American immigration law and State 
Department regulations for obtaining an American visa were high, however, and the 
process of applying for a visa was time consuming. With the rising demand for visas 
after the Anschluss, the waiting list for visas grew and the length of time it took for 
visa applications to be reviewed greatly increased. In addition, consular officers often 
applied the immigration laws and regulations inconsistently. Other obstacles, such as 
the cost and availability of transportation, blocked immigration as well.

In 1939 an applicant for an American visa faced two hurdles. The first was the annual 
quota on German and Austrian immigration imposed by the immigration laws passed by 
Congress in the early 1920s that restricted the number of immigrants the United States 
could admit from each country every year. Although the German and Austrian quotas 
had not been filled in the years 1933–37, the combined German-Austrian quota was 
nearly filled in fiscal 1938, filled in 1939, and nearly filled again in 1940. 8 Since the quota 
was only filled completely in 1939, the immediate problem was not the quota itself, but 
the enormous demand for visas coupled with the long process of screening applications. 
That meant it could take years for an applicant’s name to rise to the top of the quota list. 
Only then would the applicant be even considered for admission to the United States.

The second hurdle was the so-called LPC rule. LPC stood for “likely to become a 
public charge.” From 1882 onward American immigration law excluded people who fell 
into that category. Originally the rule applied to people who did not have the mental 
or physical ability to do productive work and would therefore be dependent on others 
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for support. In 1930, however, because of his concern that immigration would add still 
more people to the masses of unemployed during the deepening Great Depression, 
President Herbert Hoover instructed the State Department to apply the LPC rule more 
stringently in light of the fact that few immigrants would be able to obtain employment 
in Depression America. Those with independent resources or relatives with sufficient 
resources to support them were eligible for visas. But they were required to furnish 
proof of their financial status or submit affidavits from relatives guaranteeing the appli-
cant’s support and backed by bank statements, tax returns, and documents showing 
income. Largely as a result of Hoover’s policy, the number of visas issued to German 
applicants between 1931 and 1933 dropped from 10,100 to 1,324. Although the number 
increased slightly during the early years of the Roosevelt administration to nearly 4,400 
in the year ending June 30, 1934, that was still only slightly more than 17 percent of the 
German quota. A rise in the number of visa applicants, not a more liberal immigra-
tion policy accounted for much of the increase. After the 1936 election, the Roosevelt 
administration adopted a somewhat more liberal interpretation of the LPC rule and 
the number of German immigrants admitted into the United States increased signifi-
cantly in the years immediately following, but the LPC rule remained a formidable 
barrier. 9 Those visa applicants with affidavits from nonrelatives and without indepen-
dent resources failed the LPC test. Finding someone willing to furnish an affidavit and 
provide the necessary documentation was often a challenge to a would-be immigrant. 
Even when he or she succeeded, it was up to the consular officer to make a judgment 
about whether the financial information the visa applicant submitted was sufficient to 
ensure the applicant would not become a public charge. The LPC rule became a power-
ful device for American consular officials acting on behalf of the State Department to 
administratively limit immigration to the United States, and it was one of the obsta-
cles that frustrated ER’s efforts to assist refugees seeking visas.

Given the deep resistance to immigration, Americans who wished to assist refu-
gees sought ways of allowing more refugees into the country in ways that would cause 
less anxiety and circumvent the barriers thrown up by the long quota lists, the required 
affidavits, and the lengthy application process for immigrant visas. In 1939, in response 
to Kristallnacht, a group of ER’s friends initiated an effort to secure the admission of 
20,000 German children to the United States outside the normal German quota. This 
initiative would have bypassed the waiting list for visas and expanded the number of 
refugees entering the United States. Since children aroused the most sympathy and 
posed the least threat, the plan seemed the most promising way of persuading Congress 
and the American people to open America’s doors a bit wider.
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The group that organized the initiative began meeting regularly at the apartment of 
Dr. Marion Kenworthy, a psychiatrist and director of the Mental Hygiene Department 
of the New York School of Social Work, to plot strategy for achieving their goal. The 
group included Clarence Pickett; the philanthropists Marshall Field III and Adele 
Rosenwald Levy; 10 Dr. Viola W. Bernard, a child psychiatrist and child welfare ad-
vocate; and Benjamin Cohen, one of FDR’s most influential domestic advisers, who 
was deeply concerned with the fate of German Jews. Levy, one of the heirs to the 
Sears, Roebuck fortune, remained a friend and ally of ER’s in the field of child welfare 
throughout the rest of ER’s life. Levy, Bernard, and Cohen were all Jews, as was an-
other member of the group, Justine Polier. Polier, a domestic relations court judge in 
New York City, would develop a close working relationship with ER, especially in the 
fields of child welfare and civil rights. Bishop Bernard Sheil of Chicago, an expert on 
child welfare, represented the Catholics. 11

When Polier wrote to ER about the plan, ER spoke to FDR about it. He encouraged 
it but recognized that the initiative had to come from Congress and that its success 
depended on bipartisan approval and wide support from the religious community 
that would put pressure on Congress to act. In early January 1939, ER wrote to Polier,

My husband says that you had better go to work at once and get two people of oppo-
site parties in the House and in the Senate and to have them jointly get agreement 
on the legislation which you want for bringing in children. The State Department 
is only afraid of what Congress will say to them and, therefore, if you remove that 
fear the State Department will make no objection. He advises that you choose your 
people rather carefully and if possible get all the Catholic support you can. 12

On January 9, 1939 as a result of the group’s efforts to solicit support for their plan 
from Protestant and Catholic leaders, a group of over fifty prominent Protestant and 
Catholic clergymen delivered a petition to the White House expressing their support 
for the plan:

To us it seems that the duty of Americans in dealing with the youthful victims of a 
regime which punishes innocent and tender children as if they were offenders, is to 
remember the monition of Him who said, “Suffer little children to come unto me.” 13

Both John L. Lewis, head of the American Federation of Labor (AFL), and William 
Green, president of the CIO, whose unions normally opposed increasing immigration 
for fear that the immigrants would compete for American jobs in a depressed econ-
omy, endorsed the plan, as did former president Hoover.
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While seeking support for the proposed bill, the organizers also made plans for 
the selection and reception of the children. They began identifying families willing 
to accept the children into their homes and raising private funds to cover the costs 
of transportation and the provision of health and other services to the children once 
they were in the United States.

By the time Senator Robert Wagner, Democrat of New York, and Representative 
Edith Nourse Rogers, Republican of Massachusetts, introduced the bill in February 
1939, the organizers had a detailed plan in hand that they could use to persuade Con-
gress and the American public that the children and foster families would be carefully 
selected and the continued welfare of the children ensured, all at no expense to the 
taxpayer. The bill provided for the admission of 10,000 German refugee children to 
the United States in 1939 and another 10,000 in 1940 above the usual German immi-
gration quota. In a press release promoting the bill, ER’s associates noted that the bill 
made no changes in current immigration laws. The committee emphasized that the 
children selected would come from various religious backgrounds:

In Germany, Sudetenland and Austria there are to-day at least seventy thousand 
children, fourteen years of age and under, whose situation is desperate. . . . Many 
are without food, clothing or permanent homes because one or both parents are 
in concentration camps, or are no longer allowed to earn a living. This is not a 
racial problem. Thousands are of Catholic and Protestant parentage but classed as 
“Non-Aryan”; thousands are of families whose political beliefs have made them 
special outcasts. 14

The committee reported that thousands of Americans had already volunteered to wel-
come refugee children into their homes.

ER herself was cautious about endorsing the bill publicly. She told Pickett that 
she would be glad to join the sponsoring group but that the announcement of her 
membership would have to be delayed until after passage of the bill. 15 Jay Pierrepont 
Moffat, one of Sumner Welles’s colleagues at the State Department, told Welles that 
he found even such delayed support on ER’s part worrisome, since “it will inevitably 
remain a controversial issue.” 16 Nevertheless, when ER was asked about the bill at her 
weekly press conference on February 13, she said, “It seems to me to be a wise way to 
do a humanitarian thing. England, France and the Scandinavian countries are taking 
their share of these children, and I think we should.” 17

Many newspapers, including some in the South, endorsed the bill. An editorial in 
the Richmond, Virginia Times Dispatch observed that the children the bill was designed 
to assist were “treated as outcasts, scoffed at in public, and in many cases thrown out of 
orphan asylums and left on the verge of starvation. How can we, who profess to believe 
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in democracy and human rights, sit idly by and allow such atrocities to be committed 
without raising a finger?” 18

Despite this outpouring of support, the assurance that the program would cost tax-
payers nothing, the existence of a detailed plan for the children’s care, and the sense 
of relief it seemed to provide for many people that something meaningful would fi-
nally be done to address the refugee problem, the bill immediately ran into difficulty. 
Representative Rogers reported her alarm to Pickett that two-thirds of the letters she 
received on the issue expressed opposition to the bill. 19

The anti-immigration sentiment was so strong in Congress and among a large por-
tion of the public that those who favored the bill were reluctant to urge FDR to publicly 
support it for fear that Congress might react by tightening immigration restrictions 
rather than relaxing them. 20 ER reported to Justine Polier that when she spoke to James 
McDonald about it, he told her that while he personally supported the bill, he had been 
warned “that pressing the President at the present time may mean that the people in 
Congress who have bills to cut the quota will present them immediately and that might 
precipitate a difficult situation which would result in cutting the quota by ninety per-
cent.” Given that danger, McDonald’s committee didn’t feel it should advise the pres-
ident to make a public statement urging passage of the bill. ER reported to Polier that 
Sumner Welles, who also personally favored the bill, agreed completely with McDonald 
“because his desk is flooded with protests accusing the State Department of conniv-
ing in allowing a great many more Jewish people than the quota permits to enter the 
country under various pretenses.” When she cabled FDR about the matter, ER re-
ported, he told her that she could publicly endorse the bill and tell Welles “he would 
be pleased to have the bill go through. But he did not want to say anything publicly 
at the present time.” 21

On March 2 the group that had initiated the Wagner-Rogers bill announced the for-
mation of the Non-Sectarian Committee for German Refugee Children, with Clarence 
Pickett as its director. The AFSC agreed to select the children in Germany and the 
Non-Sectarian Committee planned to take responsibility for placing them in foster 
homes in the United States. 22

Thorough planning and the establishment of a nongovernmental organization to 
implement the plan strengthened the argument in favor of the bill but proved insuffi-
cient to overcome the opposition. At joint hearings of the Senate and House subcom-
mittees on immigration in April and at hearings before the House Committee on 
Immigration and Naturalization in May, the bill came under sharp attack from the 
American Legion, the Immigration Restriction League, various self-proclaimed patri-
otic societies, and individuals. The American Legion, which advocated halting immi-
gration completely for ten years or until the millions of unemployed American citizens 
had found jobs, opposed any exceptions to the current immigration laws.
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One argument against the bill was that it would lead inevitably to a greater and 
greater relaxation of the immigration laws. Another was that there were many chil-
dren suffering throughout the world, including the United States. Why single out 
German children? And why admit foreign children to the United States when so many 
American children lacked the basic necessities of life? John Cecil, president of the 
American Immigration Conference Board, cited the “half-naked children” of tenant 
farmers who “eat thickened gravy and biscuits as a year-round diet” and lack medical 
care. “Shall we first take care of our own children,” he asked, “or shall we bestow our 
charity on children imported from abroad?”

Some of the testimony was explicitly antisemitic or bore a subtext of antisemitism. 
When Dr. F. W. Buck, representing the Defenders of the Constitution, reported that 
there was no large city in the country where he had not been “importuned to work 
against the Jews,” Representative Samuel Dickstein, chairman of the House Com mittee 
on Immigration and Naturalization, who had emigrated with his Jewish parents from 
what is now Lithuania as a child, cut him off. The committee, Dickstein informed him, 
had “tried as far as possible to keep those questions out of the discussion.” 23

The Non-Sectarian Committee rallied an impressive group of organizations and 
individuals to present opposing arguments. Dorothy Thompson, for example, testified 
that the Wagner-Rogers bill was “the first intelligently planned immigration bill” intro-
duced into Congress: “it will be the best propaganda for America you could possibly 
have. The worst possible propaganda would be for the greatest democracy on earth to 
refuse to do anything about this terrific international problem.” 24

But opposition to the bill because of antisemitism and for economic reasons ran 
deep. One problem was that the supporters of the bill did not get the kind of Catholic 
support they hoped for. Cardinal Spellman of New York, the most powerful leader of 
the Catholic Church in America, refused to back the bill. Justine Polier, whose father 
was Rabbi Stephen Wise, attributed his refusal to religious intolerance: “I personally 
feel and I know my father felt that he was profoundly anti-Semitic.” 25

Most crucially, the prevailing sentiment in the nation, even in the wake of Kris-
tallnacht, was against admitting refugees. A poll in Fortune magazine, published in its 
April 1939 issue and cited during the congressional testimony against the bill, found 
that the number of Americans opposed to admitting more European refugees above 
the current immigration quotas had actually risen from 67.4 percent in July 1938 to 
83 percent in April 1939. The number of Americans who favored allowing more refu-
gees into the country had also risen, but only slightly, from 4.9 percent in 1938 to 8.7 
percent in 1939. The editors of Fortune wrote:

There is about this answer a finality that seems to mean that the doors of this coun-
try should be virtually closed to refugees, and should stay closed to them, no matter 
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what their need or condition. The answer is the more decisive because it was made 
at a time when public sympathy for victims of European events was presumably at 
its highest. 26

By May it appeared that the Wagner-Rogers bill might pass, but only in a form un-
acceptable to its sponsors. On June 30, when the Senate immigration committee fi-
nally voted to report favorably on the bill, it no longer fulfilled its original purpose. 
Although the 20,000 children would receive visas before anyone else on the quota 
list, they would be included within the normal German quota. Adult applicants who 
were in danger and had been waiting a long time for visas would be displaced and the 
number of ref ugees allowed to enter the United States would not increase. On July 
3, Wagner announced that the altered bill was “wholly unacceptable” and he would 
rather “have no bill at all.” 27

The fate of the Wagner-Rogers bill goes to the very heart of why America did not 
respond adequately to the persecution of European Jews or other victims of the Nazis. 
If Congress did not see fit to make an exception to its immigration laws and admit to 
the United States 20,000 German children — a group who would not, in the short run 
at least, compete for American jobs and the least likely group to harbor subversives or 
criminals — then it was unthinkable that Congress would liberalize America’s immi-
gration laws in any other way. ER and her friends would continue to fight to bring 
refugee children to the United States, and have some modest successes, but they never 
again had an opportunity to rescue such a large group or receive such strong public 
and media support for their work.

Another, more successful, though small-scale, way of aiding a single cate-
gory of refugees after Kristallnacht was initiated by a group of Harvard students who 
formed the Intercollegiate Committee to Aid Student Refugees (ICASR). The aim of 
the organization was to provide scholarships to American colleges and universities for 
outstanding students from Nazi-controlled central Europe who were being prohibited 
from pursuing their education in their native lands. Since the students would be admit-
ted on student visas, they would not have to wait for immigrant visas or be counted in 
the German quota. The program would provide them with temporary refuge for the 
duration of the war. The presidents of Harvard, Vassar, and the University of Chicago 
signed on as sponsors of ICASR. 28 When Clarence Pickett approached ER about be-
coming a sponsor, she asked Tommy to get the advice of Sumner Welles. Welles, in turn, 
consulted George Messersmith, the former consul general in Berlin. Messersmith told 
Welles that he was worried that the State Department was already receiving criticism 
for “facilitating the admission of people in one way or another outside of the quotas.” 
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He thought “it would be just as well if Mrs. Roosevelt did not permit the use of her 
name in this connection.” But this was one of the few cases when Welles’s sympathy 
with ER’s efforts on behalf of refugees led him to overrule a State Department col-
league. Finding Messersmith’s reply unsatisfactory, Welles turned to Pierrepont Moffat, 
to whom he said: “it would seem to me rather difficult for me to express the opinion 
to Mrs. Roosevelt that she should not permit the use of her name on this commit-
tee which is apparently composed of some of the outstanding people in this country 
and which, at the same time, is headed by an individual [Clarence Pickett] who is in 
such close touch with the Advisory Committee [the President’s Advisory Committee 
on Political Refugees] and with the Red Cross and who, I understand, is cooperat-
ing most effectively. I cannot see that a student scholarship project would be likely to 
create any particular ill will in this country — much less, in fact, than the proposal to 
admit a large number of children.”

Moffat agreed. Since “the emphasis is on the scholarships rather than on the admis-
sion of refugee students,” he told Welles, he did not think it would “give rise to misun-
derstanding.” Reassured in his opinion by Moffat, Welles enthusiastically endorsed 
ER’s sponsorship of the student program. He thought that “Mrs. Roosevelt’s cooper-
ation would in fact be desirable from any point of view.” 29

Despite Welles’s approval, the student scholarship program ran into another State 
Department barrier. In letters to Secretary of State Cordell Hull and Secretary of Labor 
Frances Perkins, Pickett explained that students and faculty members at American 
colleges and universities had raised enough money to make it possible to offer 200 
scholarships to both Jewish and non-Jewish students from the Nazi-controlled nations 
of Central Europe. But the State Department was blocking their entrance to the United 
States because the students could not demonstrate, as required by American immigra-
tion regulations, that they would be able to return to their native countries once they 
completed their studies. Pickett argued that since the students constituted a small, 
“highly specialized” group and American consuls would be assured that the students 
would leave the United States at the end of their studies (even if it were not to their 
native country), no one could say that issuing them student visas meant “a relaxation 
of existing immigration restrictions.”

Another difficulty some of the students faced was that their passports would expire 
before they completed their studies. These students, Pickett told Hull, needed to be 
provided with some other travel document, such as the Nansen passports that were 
issued to Russian student refugees following the World War.

After Pickett sent a copy of his letter to Hull and Perkins to ER, who had accepted 
the honorary chairmanship of ICASR, ER sent Hull a note urging his “careful consid-
eration” of Pickett’s appeal. 30 Hull replied that he was “keenly sympathetic with and 
understanding of the unfortunate situation of these young people.” The technical and 
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legal officers of the State Department had carefully examined the issue, however, and 
concluded that the State Department could not “properly relax the requirements of 
the regulations in the absence of an amendment by Congress of the controlling provi-
sions of law.” 31

Despite these obstacles, Catherine Doony, executive secretary of ICASR, was able 
to report by the end of June 1939 that “213 colleges, representing 39 states and the 
District of Columbia, have made a constructive contribution to the solution of the 
refugee problem through the establishment of approximately 300 scholarships for 
the best of those young students of Central Europe who have been barred from their 
own Universities by the inhumane decrees of a merciless Dictator.” Because of State 
Department regulations, not all of the students offered scholarships were able to reach 
the United States. For those who did, however, the program saved their lives. In addi-
tion, Doony said, the program helped the more than 300,000 American students who 
contributed to the scholarship fund to recognize “that the denial of racial and religious 
freedom in Nazi Germany constituted a challenge to all of us who cherish the princi-
ples of Democracy and Christianity.” 32

During the summer of 1939, ICASR organized a monthlong Work Camp for De-
mocracy at a site in the Hudson Valley. ER visited the camp just a few days before 
the German invasion of Poland and recorded her impressions in her My Day column 
of August 30. The purpose of the camp, she said, was to bring some American stu-
dents together with a group of refugee students (including “Jews, Catholics and liberal 
Germans”) to “study democracy theoretically and practically through work experiences 
together.” The students engaged in four hours of manual labor each day — painting a 
house, repairing a road — and four hours of study. 33

In September 1939, after the war began and no more students could leave Germany, 
ICASR merged with the International Student Service. ER’s young friend Joseph Lash 
headed the combined organization, which continued to administer the program for 
students who had already left Germany and advocate for those still seeking visas. 34 Like 
the widespread, though insufficient, support for the Wagner-Rogers bill, the endorse-
ment of the student refugee program by prominent educators and the contributions 
made to it by college and university faculty and students demonstrated that there 
was a pent-up desire among many Americans to do something to relieve the refugee 
crisis. Given the strong anti-immigrant and antisemitic sentiment in Congress, the 
State Department, and throughout the nation, however, this impulse found very few 
avenues for expression.
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T H E U N I T E D S TAT E S 
C O M M I T T E E F O R T H E 

C A R E O F EU RO P E A N 
C H I L D R E N

“Red tape ought not to be used to trip up 
little children on their way to safety”

I n September 1939 after the outbreak of war in Europe, prospects for reviving 
the Wagner-Rogers bill grew dim. On September 14, Pickett met with Justine 
Polier and other members of the Non-Sectarian Committee for German Refugee 

Children to decide how to proceed. They concluded that they should not raise the issue 
of the German children at the beginning of the upcoming special session of Congress 
because the president wanted the session to focus on revising the Neutrality Act. He 
hoped a revised act would give him the flexibility to deny aid to aggressors without 
withholding aid to nations that resisted aggression. Polier, Pickett, and Louis Weiss, 
Marshall Field’s attorney, were instead charged with finding alternative methods of 
meeting the committee’s goals. When the members met again in November, they de-
cided to concentrate on bringing into the United States as many refugee children as 
they could within the current quota. 1 They hoped to revive the bill in the future, if 
the time was ripe.

In March 1940, to implement the new plan, members of the Non-Sectarian Com-
mittee created the Non-Sectarian Foundation for Refugee Children. Eleanor Roo-
sevelt agreed to serve as an honorary vice-president of the new organization, along 
with New York governor Herbert Lehman, and others. Pickett kept her up-to-date 
on its work. The foundation’s purpose was to assist children who had become ref-
ugees because of war or religious or racial persecution and could be admitted by 
the United States within the quota. The foundation planned to work with exist-
ing organizations, including the American Friends Service Committee (AFSC), as 
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a clearinghouse for placing refugee children of all religious faiths who arrived in the 
United States in private homes. 2

When the Non-Sectarian Foundation Executive Committee met in mid-May 
1940, however, the German invasion of the Low Countries and France had thrown 
the plans of the foundation into confusion. Then, when France fell in June 1940, 
the danger in which refugees found themselves intensified once again. Nevertheless, 
the crisis seemed to open a window of opportunity in which public pressure might 
move Congress to act: “The time seems to be ripe for aid and comfort to the refu-
gees,” ER’s close friend and ally, Representative Caroline O’Day, wrote to her on June 
14. 3 Galvanized by the situation, ER entered into the period of her deepest involve-
ment with the refugee crisis.

With Great Britain now standing alone in resistance to Hitler and German 
warplanes able to reach the British coast in four minutes, the danger that English chil-
dren faced disturbed many Americans. Clarence Pickett received phone calls from all 
over the country asking that large numbers of British children be brought to safety 
in the United States. This outpouring of sympathy did not signal a radical change in 
American public opinion toward immigration, but the emotional bond between the 
United States and Great Britain generated by the visit of the king and queen of England 
to the United States in June 1939, the outbreak of war in September, and the peril that 
Great Britain now faced increased public concern for the British people. Furthermore, 
antisemitism was not a factor, since most of the children who would come from Great 
Britain were not Jews. Even so, the resistance of the State Department to immigra-
tion of any kind proved daunting. At Pickett’s request, ER chaired a meeting with rep-
resentatives of all the groups interested in evacuating the children for a discussion of 
how to take action. 4

At the meeting on June 20, 1940, ER, Clarence Pickett, Marshall Field, Frank King-
don, Justine Polier, and other veterans of the Non-Sectarian Committee for German 
Refugee Children and the fight for the Wagner-Rogers bill, together with representa-
tives of other child and social welfare groups, formed the United States Committee for 
the Care of European Children (USCCEC). The USCCEC was an umbrella organi-
zation set up to work out arrangements with the State Department for the admission 
of child refugees to the United States and to coordinate their reception, placement, 
and ongoing supervision. While the first group of children the USCCEC sought to 
help were largely Gentiles, the USCCEC would later turn its attention to Jews trapped 
in unoccupied France. ER, who was named honorary chairman of the administrative 
committee of the USCCEC, also chaired the subsequent organizational meetings of 
the group held in New York City on June 25 and 28. Marshall Field became chairman 
of the administrative committee and Agnes Inglis its secretary. 5
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During the week when the USCCEC was formed, the British government rein-
forced the hope that large numbers of children might be brought to the United States 
for safekeeping when Parliament adopted a plan for the evacuation of children from 
Britain to the United States and the British dominions. News accounts and editorials 
about the plans inspired thousands of Americans to flock to immigration and child 
care agencies and offer to care for British children in their homes. Thousands wrote 
letters to the committee, many directly to ER. ER also received unsolicited checks from 
individuals and organizations wishing to support the USCCEC’s work.

The USCCEC’s plans faced a major problem, however: the State Department’s 
inflexible regulations regarding visas and affidavits. The first obstacle was that the 
State Department expected the children, like adult refugees, to apply for permanent 
admission to the United States. That meant that the committee would have to find 
someone to sign an affidavit pledging financial support for each child. It was obviously 
not a method suited to quickly evacuating a large number of children before German 
bombs endangered them. 6

On July 3 Joseph Alsop, ER’s second cousin, telegrammed her a memo drafted 
un der his direction for Francis Biddle, the solicitor general at that time, to send to 
FDR. Biddle was in charge of the Immigration and Naturalization Service. The memo 
stated that State Department policy “imposes a series of elaborate restrictions, both 
as to the number of visas to be issued and the conditions of issuance, which make it 
impossible to plan any important refugee movement to this country.” The result was 
that although the USCCEC reported receiving over 1,000 applications every day from 
Americans willing to care for English children trying to escape the bombing, “the pres-
ent system followed by the Department of State permits the issuance of not more than 
100 visas a day.” The problem could be overcome, Alsop’s memo asserted, if the State 
Department issued the children visitor visas, “on the understanding they would be 
returned to England when the danger ended,” rather than require them to apply for 
admission as immigrants.

The second obstacle was the State Department’s requirement of affidavits of support 
for each child. As Alsop summarized the problem: “All affidavits must be scrutinized 
by the consuls in England. Each affidavit must be made by an individual American 
citizen. And each maker of an affidavit must show, preferably by relationship but at 
least by friendship some reason for his interest in the child whose support he guaran-
tees as well as evidence of his financial condition.” Alsop proposed that this bottleneck 
could be cleared if the State Department centralized the examination of the affidavits 
in Washington and if it would accept corporate affidavits from organizations such as 
“Mrs. Roosevelt’s Committee” (the USCCEC).

At the end of the telegram, Alsop added that Francis Biddle told him that the Justice 
Department saw absolutely no objection to making these changes to the handling of 
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visas for the children, “And as they will save the lives of thousands, there is every reason 
on the other side.” He thanked ER for her help, and ER replied, “[I want] to tell you 
how grand I think you have been about the refugee children.” 7

In a bold move to pressure the State Department to alter its visa policy for the 
British children, ER addressed the issue in her radio address on the evening of July 6, 
1940. Reading from a script prepared by Alsop, 8 ER said that an administrative order 
could direct that English refugee children be allowed to come to the United States 
immediately on traveler or visitor visas for the duration of the war. Under the current 
State Department regulations, she said, the children not only needed to come as immi-
grants, they had to contend with “all sorts of thorny regulations”:

In truth, before they can reach their safe harbor in America, speaking very frankly, 
the children must find their way through a labyrinth of red tape. Red tape has its 
uses in government — for there are many times when it is better that the government 
move slowly and cautiously — but the red tape ought not to be used to trip up little 
children on their way to safety.

ER told her radio audience that the red tape “can all be swept aside, if you, and I, and 
every one else will only insist on it.” By streamlining the application process, visas could 
“be issued freely” and the children could “come in, not in sad little bands, but as they 
ought to come, by the thousands.” ER urged her audience to act:

The time is very short. The Battle of England is at hand, and if the children are to 
be saved we must act now. Make it known you want the children in. If you are able 
to care for a child — but only if you are able — send your application to the Child 
Refugee Committee. 9

In her My Day column for July 13, ER continued to press her case by venting her 
frustration at the “horrid legal details” choking the effort to bring the British children 
to the United States. She pressured the State Department by adopting a stance of naïve 
certainty that they would do what was right by making it possible for large numbers 
of children to enter the country: “Our responsibility is to see that we facilitate their 
coming in every possible way, which I am sure is being done.” 10

ER’s speech put the State Department on the defensive. Caught off guard, State 
Department officials scrambled to figure out how to respond to requests for informa-
tion from citizens prompted to action by ER’s words. Sophonisba Breckinridge, prom-
inent social reformer, professor of public welfare administration at the University of 
Chicago, and distant cousin of Assistant Secretary of State Breckinridge Long, tele-
grammed Secretary of State Hull asking for an explanation of ER’s statement that by 
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executive order the British children could be admitted to the country as visitors for the 
duration of the war. She also asked Hull to identify the “proper authorities” to whom 
she should communicate her wishes, as ER had suggested. 11 Richard Flournoy, the State 
Department official receiving the request, sent a memo to several of his colleagues 
saying that the question was “not easy to answer.” He had not been able to obtain 
a copy of ER’s speech but assumed that Dr. Breckinridge’s summary of it was accu-
rate. He thought it might be possible to revise the regulations to permit some chil-
dren to enter the United States as visitors, but, at first, only for a two-year period. He 
was sympathetic to ER’s idea, however. He assumed that “something will be done to 
carry out the humane proposal of Mrs. Roosevelt, although it may be found necessary 
to amend the existing law in order to admit the refugee children in large numbers.” 12

When Hull responded to Dr. Breckinridge, however, in a letter apparently drafted 
by Breckinridge Long, he ignored the issue of visitor visas entirely and claimed that the 
process of admitting British children to the United States was running smoothly. If a 
problem existed, it lay at the British end: “Officials of this Department have cooperated 
wholeheartedly and enthusiastically” with other government officials and with private 
organizations, including the USCCEC. Red tape had been cut and “all the nonessen-
tial requirements eliminated,” he insisted. The American consuls had refused no visa to 
“a qualified child” and “no delay whatever exists.” The United States was, in fact, ready 
to take more children than British authorities were ready to send. 13

Three days after ER’s radio address, Drew Pearson observed in his Washington 
Merry-Go-Round column: “There is something awfully strange about the way the 
State Department is functioning in regard to the admission of refugee children from 
war-bombed England. Although the sympathies of the entire country are strongly 
pro-Ally, although Mrs. Roosevelt is chairman of the Children’s Refugee Committee, 
and although both Secretary Hull and Sumner Welles sympathize with the admis-
sion of refugee children, the career men in the State Department have turned thumbs 
down.” He reported that Avra Warren had ruled that English children could not enter 
the United States on visitor visas — “given as a matter of routine to German and other 
European business men” — but had to wait weeks or months to obtain quota visas. 14

Although the memo from Biddle to FDR that Alsop drafted with ER’s encour-
agement furnished the president with a legal basis for ordering a dramatic change in 
American policy regarding refugee children, FDR was apparently assured by the State 
Department that American immigration policy was not the problem. Speaking at his 
press conference on July 9, he said that the delay in bringing children to the United 
States resulted from Great Britain’s failure to provide the ships needed to trans-
port them and not from American visa regulations. “Shipping is the bottleneck,” he 
insisted. 15
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He was partly right. There were, in fact, two daunting obstacles to the plan to bring 
British children to the United States: the shortage of ships, cited by the president, 
and the danger from German submarines. On July 10, Joseph Kennedy, American 
Ambassador to Great Britain, informed FDR and Hull that he believed the proposed 
evacuation of British children to the United States would be a “colossal failure” because 
the British had not “given enough serious thought as to how they were going to get 
them there.” There were no ships available to transport the children. German subma-
rines were sinking more and more ships and the ports out of which ships would have 
to sail would soon come under air attack. Once the British realized the problem, they 
would try to blame the United States for the failure. “I hate to see Mrs. Roosevelt’s 
name being used as chairman of a committee that I feel will turn out to be a bust and 
the idea of raising millions of dollars to take care of children who will never arrive just 
doesn’t make any sense.”

Kennedy said that the assertions made in the press that bureaucratic red tape was 
severely limiting the number of children who could reach America were simply untrue. 
According to Kennedy, the American consulate general was issuing visas more quickly 
than the British could obtain passage on ships for them. 16 Hull, however, did not find 
Kennedy’s analysis of the situation satisfactory. Despite Hull’s public statement that 
the State Department was already doing all it could to speed up the process, he insisted 
that Kennedy do more to remedy the problem. ER’s speech and the outcry from the 
press and public about State Department obstruction had lit a fire under the secre-
tary. The uproar may also have persuaded the president that something had to be done. 
After receiving information that the processing of visas was being held up because of a 
shortage of medical facilities for examining the children, 17 Hull demanded in a cable 
on July 11 that the American Embassy streamline the visa process and make it possible 
for a large number of children to reach the United States by August. He told Kennedy 
that he trusted “that all necessary steps have been taken to expedite the issuance of 
visas to qualified refugee children under the minimum requirements” and that medi-
cal examinations of the simplest kind would be conducted to avoid delays:

Interested persons [meaning, no doubt, both ER and FDR] have been assured that 
every step has been taken to facilitate the issuance of visas to qualified applicants, that 
no delay whatever exists in acting in these cases, and that under the present arrange-
ments 13,000 children can leave Great Britain for the United States by August first. 18

During the entire refugee crisis, from 1933 to 1945, this was the only time the State 
Department issued such a clear, forceful directive regarding the speeding up of the 
visa process.
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But the results of ER’s initiative and the pressure from the public and the press 
it helped generate did not end there. On July 13, as a result of the groundwork laid 
by Joseph Alsop’s memo and negotiations with the leadership of the USCCEC, the 
Departments of Justice and State unveiled a new immigration plan for the children. 
The announcement came as a surprise after the earlier assertions by Hull and FDR that 
the delays were not the fault of American visa policy. Under the new plan, the State 
Department would issue visitor visas to about 13,000 British children under the age 
of sixteen by August 1, as long as they expressed a commitment to return home at the 
end of the war. Since foreign governments were now permitted to pay transportation 
costs, a greater number of children without the means to cover their own passage would 
be able to come. In addition, the State Department would accept corporate affidavits 
from organizations approved by the attorney general, such as the USCCEC, rather 
than affidavits from individuals only. The corporate affidavits would be backed by a 
trust fund valued at $50 per child to cover any contingencies that might arise. Finally, 
American consuls could issue visas to children selected by USCCEC representatives 
abroad “from the war zones” without requiring approval of their names by the State 
Department. The department expected that “during the period of emergency” 10,000 
more children would hold visas and possess the required travel documents than avail-
able ships could accommodate, making it possible to move them quickly once trans-
portation was available. 19 The agreement appeared to apply to children from other 
European war zones as well as Great Britain, but this would not turn out to be the case.

By encouraging Alsop’s effort to find a legal basis for a change in the State Depart-
ment’s regulations regarding the British children and by calling on her listeners in her 
radio broadcast to “insist” that the department cut the red tape holding back the issu-
ance of visas, ER publicly challenged the president and State Department to change 
the government’s visa policy. Despite the State Department’s initial denial that a prob-
lem existed and FDR’s support for the department’s position, the State Department, 
in the end, reached a surprisingly liberal agreement with the USCCEC that would 
have permitted a large number of children to find refuge in the United States for the 
duration of the war. It was a remarkable accomplishment. ER worked hard before and 
after American entry into the war to obtain visas for individuals and for groups of ref-
ugees, but aside from her understated endorsement of the Wagner-Rogers Bill, her 
radio address about the British children was her one public effort to alter American 
refugee policy.

Unfortunately, the newly opened door quickly closed again. On the problem of 
transportation, Kennedy was essentially correct. Even if the process of issuing visas were 
expedited, the shortage of ships to transport the children would still prevent many of 
them from leaving. Furthermore, the British were becoming increasingly reluctant to 
expose the children to the danger from German submarines. On July 18, the British 
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government temporarily suspended its plan to send children to the United States be-
cause it could not spare the war vessels to guard the ships that would carry them.

Although the British government withdrew from the program, it permitted British 
parents to send children overseas at their own risk. The London-based American Com-
mittee for the Evacuation of British Children took over responsibility for evacuating 
the children at the end of July. 20 In the hope that it would still be feasible to send chil-
dren to the United States, the USCCEC published “The Bombers Are Coming,” an 
illustrated fundraising flyer that reminded Americans: “Right now children are being 
killed and maimed. Bombs do not discriminate.” The USCCEC appealed for funds to 
transport the children, whose “anguished parents” had registered them for evacuation, 
and to resettle them in homes in the United States. The flyer assured its readers that 
American refugee policy now made it easy for the children to enter the United States: 
“Our doors are now wide open to save as many children as possible.” 21

The danger posed by German submarines operating in the North Atlantic ended 
that hope, however. Although FDR signed a bill at the end of August that modified 
the Neutrality Act to allow American vessels to enter war zones to rescue children — a 
bill that ER worked to get passed — the German government would not guarantee safe 
passage for these ships as the bill required. 22 On September 17, sixty-nine children per-
ished when the Germans torpedoed the British ship City of Benares, and on October 2, 
the British government permanently terminated the program to send children to the 
United States and the British dominions. Soon after that, the USCCEC abandoned 
its plans to facilitate the admission of the children, ended its campaign to raise $5 mil-
lion, and laid off over half its staff. The USCCEC had succeeded in bringing approx-
imately 1,000 British children to the United States and assisted private sponsors to 
bring 1,500 other children. The dream of bringing many more was now unattainable. 23

After the British abandoned the plan of sending children abroad, the USCCEC 
continued to oversee the placement and long-term care of children who had already 
reached the United States. The USCCEC also began planning the evacuation of refu-
gee children from unoccupied France. 24 Unlike the British children, most of the chil-
dren the USCCEC sought to rescue from France were Jews or non-Aryan Christians. 
Some of them were orphans, and some had been separated from their parents by the 
war or had been smuggled out of Germany or countries occupied by Germany. Some 
had parents who had been placed in internment camps by the Vichy government of 
France led by Prime Minister Pierre Laval. Since Vichy authorities were not permitting 
refugees to depart by ship from Marseille or other French ports, the route for getting 
the children out was through Lisbon, the only European port from which passengers 
could still embark for the United States.
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On November 1, 1940, Pickett met in New York City with Marshall Field, Eric 
Biddle, Louis Weiss, Marion Kenworthy, Viola Bernard, Justine Polier, and Adele Levy 
of the USCCEC to discuss bringing 350 Jewish children from France to the United 
States. Pickett told them that the AFSC relief staff in France could gather informa-
tion on the children and provide someone to escort them to Lisbon. 25 The next day 
Pickett met with Ernst Papanek, an Austrian Jew who had helped smuggle 2,000 
children out of Poland, Czechoslovakia, and Germany and helped care for them in 
France. Papanek had immigrated to the United States in 1940. He worked for the 
Children’s Aid Society and would later become closely associated with the circle of 
people around ER, including Justine Polier. In 1949 he became head of the Wiltwyck 
School, a school for delinquent boys on whose board ER, Polier, and Levy served and 
to which Bernard was a consultant. Many of the children rescued by Papanek, includ-
ing the 350 he discussed with the USCCEC, were under the care of the Oeuvre de 
Secours aux Enfants (OSE), the French Jewish humanitarian organization for which 
he had worked. 26 Since the Vichy government could not guarantee reentry of refugee 
children who were not French citizens into France after the war, the children would 
not normally be eligible for visitor visas and the children would have to be admitted 
with immigrant visas under the quota. 27

When Clarence Pickett met with ER in New York on November 9, 1940, he reported 
in his journal that they had a “good discussion” about various topics, including the prob-
lem of obtaining visas for refugees. 28 Pickett no doubt conveyed to her the USCCEC’s 
concern that the State Department was obstructing the visa process and told her that 
Marshall Field, Louis Weiss, and Eric Biddle of the USCCEC would be meeting with 
the president to discuss the problem — plans she no doubt encouraged and, proba-
bly, helped arrange.

Two days later, before meeting with the president, Pickett, Field, Weiss, and Biddle 
met in New York with Edward F. Pritchard Jr., a young lawyer in the Justice Department’s 
Immigration Division who was interested in helping refugees; George Warren, execu-
tive secretary of the President’s Advisory Committee on Political Refugees (PACPR); 
and leaders of three of the principal refugee organizations. These leaders were Joseph 
Hyman of the American Jewish Joint Distribution Committee (JDC), the main Jewish 
relief organization operating in Europe, which worked closely with the AFSC through-
out the Nazi period and helped fund some of its work; William Rosenwald of the 
National Refugee Service, the largest refugee agency in the United States; and Patrick 
Malin of the International Migration Service, each of whom furnished examples of 
problems they had encountered in obtaining visas for refugees. The group concluded 
that “the basic difficulty is an attitude on the part of most of the State Dept [sic] which 
is determined to reduce immigration to a minimum.” As Pickett noted in his journal 
after the meeting:
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It seems evident that there is a definite determination to obstruction on the part of a 
number in the State Department, but that there are some who are on the other side, 
especially Sumner Welles, the secretary. There was fear expressed that the constant 
flow of information to the President about the dangers of immigration was affect-
ing his attitude, and this meeting will attempt to overcome them. 29

The meeting with the president on November 12 yielded no concrete results, but 
Pickett reported that Field, Weiss, and Biddle believed their testimony on the visa 
problem “had made some considerable impression upon the mind of the President.” 30 
Although the president may have been sympathetic to the USCCEC, he left it up to 
the Justice and State Departments to work out their differences over American refugee 
policy with each other. Representatives from the Justice and State Departments reached 
an agreement in late November, but the difficulties of obtaining visas continued.

The effort to bring small groups of refugee children to the United States from unoc-
cupied France sometimes succeeded, but only in a handful of cases. One small success 
that gave the USCCEC hope was the evacuation of twenty-six children from France in 
December 1940 by Martha Sharp and the Unitarian Service Committee in cooperation 
with the USCCEC. In this case, the State Department accepted a combination of indi-
vidual consular affidavits and guarantees by the USCCEC to the Justice Department 
that the children without individual affidavits would not become public charges. 31

In February, however, the State Department ruled that the agreement worked out 
with the USCCEC in the summer of 1940, after ER’s intervention, that permitted chil-
dren from Great Britain to enter the United States on visitor visas and with corporate, 
rather than individual, affidavits, did not apply to unoccupied France. Nevertheless, 
the USCCEC achieved a modest success after the State Department granted another 
exception to a group of 119 children who arrived in New York from Lisbon on June 
21, 1941. It was the first large group of children to reach the United States under the 
sponsorship of the USCCEC since the children rescued by the Unitarian Service 
Committee. 32 Many of the children had been living before the German invasion in 
homes run by the OSE; many were being rescued from French internment camps. 
The AFSC chose and assembled the group in southern France and the JDC arranged 
the transportation of the children to Lisbon. In Lisbon they were given visitor visas 
and affidavits in lieu of passports after a representative of the AFSC or the JDC veri-
fied that each child was covered under the USCCEC corporate affidavit. 33 From 
Lisbon, under the care of the USCCEC, the children sailed for New York on the 
SS Mouzinho, a Portuguese ship chartered by the JDC. Once the children arrived in 
New York, the USCCEC took responsibility for their reception, and since all but 
one of the children were Jewish, German Jewish Children’s Aid handled the place-
ment of the children in families. 34
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On June 7, 1941, after the children had spent four days and five nights traveling from 
Marseille to Portugal, Morris Troper, the JDC’s representative in Lisbon, wrote to ER 
to tell her about the successful rescue of the children. As the children were about to 
leave France, the train stopped at the station at Oloron, where the French authorities 
gave the children three minutes to say goodbye to fathers and mothers interned at the 
Gurs camp who arrived at the station under police escort. “Knowing they were to see 
their parents,” Troper wrote, the children “refused to eat their breakfasts on the train 
that morning but wrapped up bread and rolls and bits of sugar and handed them to 
their parents when they met.”

When the children reached Lisbon, he told ER, “they looked like tired, wan, broken, 
little old men and women. None dared to laugh aloud and few smiled.” While the chil-
dren waited for a ship to carry them to New York, the AFSC supplied them with new 
shoes and clothing and a physician from Vienna, a refugee himself, attended to their 
medical needs. The children enjoyed an unfamiliar opportunity to rest and play in 
accommodations near the beach. “One of the most pathetic sights I have ever seen,” 
Troper told ER, “was that of these children, freed of restraints, trying to learn to play 
again. . . . After a few days here they smiled and laughed a little — but apprehensively, 
as though they might be punished for it. The results of experiences which no child 
should ever have to go through cannot be shaken off easily.”

Troper, who recalled discussing the refugee situation at the White House with ER 
and Adele Levy in April, thanked ER for her “continued activity on behalf of Europe’s 
child victims which has been so largely instrumental in the achievement of the results 
we have had.” 35

In the summer of 1941 the USCCEC published “Our Job Goes On: Rescue and 
Refuge,” a fundraising brochure that sought to build on the publicity generated by 
the arrival of the children from Lisbon on June 21. Nearly 1,000 refugee children had 
arrived in the United States under the auspices of the USCCEC over the past year, 
Marshall Field reported. But the number of other children the USCCEC would suc-
ceed in saving depended “entirely on the funds made available to us now.” 36 A substan-
tial portion of Morris Troper’s letter to ER of June 7, 1941, appeared in the brochure, 
including his moving description of the children’s farewell to their parents at the Gurs 
camp and their strained efforts to play again on a beach near Lisbon.

The USCCEC experienced ongoing difficulties in raising sufficient funds to carry on 
its work. In January 1941, at Marshall Field’s request, ER had written to Norman Davis, 
head of the American Red Cross, in support of the USCCEC’s request for $150,000 to 
help support local child welfare agencies in supervising and caring for the 1,000 child 
refugees already in the United States. 37 On June 21, 1941, Marshall Field again turned 
to ER for help, reminding her of the discussion at the last USCCEC board meeting 
about the need to raise more funds by the end of September if it were to carry on its 
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mission. They would begin the campaign with a dinner in New York City. He said it 
would be an “enormous help” if ER would come to it and “help acquaint the public 
with our needs.” ER agreed to do so but was unable to attend because of the death of 
her mother-in-law, Sara Roosevelt. 38

The dinner launched a campaign to raise $145,000 to care for children already in 
the United States and $358,800 for the rescue of 600 more children who had escaped 
from Nazi-controlled countries to unoccupied France. 39 On October 10, Marshall 
Field reported to ER and the other members of the USCCEC that two groups of chil-
dren sponsored by the USCCEC had arrived in September: forty-five of them on the 
Mouzinho, fifty-six on the Serpa Pinta, another Portuguese ship. 40 By the beginning 
of November, the USCCEC had raised only $200,000 of its $503,800 goal. It decided 
to bring fifty more children to the United States. 41

Limited funds; the difficulty of obtaining visas from the United States, exit permits 
from France, and transit visas from Spain and Portugal; and transportation problems all 
slowed the ability of the USCCEC to accomplish its mission. The entry of the United 
States into the war against both Japan and Germany after the attack on Pearl Harbor 
on December 7, 1941, made the task even harder. The USCCEC continued its efforts to 
bring small groups of children to the United States, but with limited success. In 1942, 
as a later chapter of this book will recount, the USCCEC, with ER’s assistance, would 
nearly succeed in rescuing 5,000 mostly Jewish children from southern France, but 
the developing military campaign against German forces would thwart that initiative.
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“ These poor people may die at any time”

T he fall of France in June 1940 and the extreme danger into which that placed 
antifascist refugees from Germany, Austria, Spain, Italy, and other countries 
who had taken refuge in France shook Eleanor Roosevelt deeply. As a result, 

she became intensely involved not only in the efforts of the United States Committee 
for the Care of European Children (USCCEC) to rescue children endangered by the 
war, but also in the work of the Emergency Rescue Committee (ERC), an organiza-
tion formed for the purpose of rescuing political figures, writers, artists, and intellectu-
als who were trapped in southern France. Some of them were Jews, which made them 
doubly vulnerable since all Jews were in danger, but the ERC’s purpose was to rescue 
them because of their political activities. These political refugees were at risk of arrest 
by the Gestapo or the collaborating French authorities, deportation to concentration 
camps, or execution by a firing squad because of their antifascist activities or writings. 
Many of them had played prominent roles in the political and cultural life of Germany 
and Austria or other countries now occupied by the Germans.

The active role ER played in the ERC’s efforts would pit her against Breckinridge 
Long, whom FDR had appointed special assistant secretary of state in charge of emer-
gency war matters in 1939 after the outbreak of the war. As the man overseeing the 
State Department’s visa division, Long’s antisemitic, anti-immigrant bias and exces-
sive fear of subversives entering the country led him to thwart the work of both the 
USCCEC and the ERC. ER’s work with the ERC also brought her into conflict with 
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her husband, whom she prodded to order the State Department to pursue a more 
liberal refugee policy, and sometimes with Undersecretary of State Sumner Welles, 
whom she frequently contacted about refugee matters.

Welles himself is a puzzling figure. He was an old friend of Eleanor Roosevelt and of 
the president. He had roomed with ER’s brother, Hall, at Groton, and held her wedding 
train when she married Franklin. He was one of the few people who addressed her as 
“Dear Eleanor” in his correspondence. Until his resignation from the State Department 
in 1943, he diligently investigated delays in the issuing of visas to individuals ER brought 
to his attention. Nevertheless, ER’s pressure on Welles to speed up the process of issu-
ing visas yielded frustratingly limited results.

ER’s involvement with the founders of the ERC began on June 15, 1940, when 
Karl B. Frank, an Austrian-born Jewish socialist who headed the American Friends of 
German Freedom, asked to speak to her about the plight of anti-Nazi refugees. She 
agreed, and on June 25 she met in New York with Frank, Clarence Pickett, and Varian 
Fry, a journalist and editor working at the time for the Foreign Policy Association. They 
presented ER with a list of anti-Nazis who were in particular danger. Joseph Lash, who 
also attended the meeting, reported later in a memoir that ER immediately called the 
president. FDR wondered why it wasn’t “taken for granted that everything possible was 
being done” to help get the people on the list out of France. He “kept bringing up the 
difficulties” while ER “tenaciously kept pointing out the possibilities.” 1 After the meet-
ing, ER sent the list on to Assistant Secretary of State A. A. Berle Jr.: “You will see,” she 
noted “that it is compiled and submitted by a responsible committee.” She hoped that

if it is safe and possible to do so, it can be put into the hands of our people in Europe 
with the request that they do everything they can to protect these refugees. I do not 
know what Congress will be willing to do, but they might be allowed to come here 
and [be] sent to a camp while we are waiting for legislation.

Noting that the list includes “a number of names already on lists upon which we have 
been working,” Berle, who was sometimes more receptive to refugee concerns than 
most of his colleagues, responded sympathetically, but not optimistically:

I need hardly tell you that the difficulties are extreme. There is now almost no com-
munication with the occupied parts of Europe. I have been asking the groups with 
which I was in touch to advise these people to get to Africa, or, if possible, to Portugal 
(this last is extremely difficult) in the hope that we might, in time, be able to take 
some of them off from African ports. . . .
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If they are clear of the German lines, we have at least a sporting chance to do 
something to permit their entry. 2

After her meeting with Frank, Pickett, and Fry, ER expressed her own sorrow about 
the situation in her My Day column. “My heart is heavy when I think of the trage-
dies which haunt the lives of many grown people,” she wrote. The United States had 
welcomed some of the refugees “who have been marked people in their own coun-
tries because of their active opposition to Fascist or Nazi regimes,” but many others 
remained in danger. There were reasons beyond the humanitarian one for rescuing 
these people, she noted, for they could be of great value to the United States, just as 
earlier political refugees had been:

They know how Communists, Nazis and Fascists work. They know how propaganda 
is spread, how young people are influenced. They are as good material as the politi-
cal refugees who came with Carl Schurz, the German, or Kosciusko, the Pole, whose 
statues we have taught our young people to honor because of their love of liberty.

On July 2, she prodded Sumner Welles to assist the German refugees in France: 
“Their situation and the situation of the Spanish refugees seems to me particularly 
pitiful and if there is anything that can be done to help them I hope we are going to 
be able to do it.” Welles assured her “that we are doing everything that we can. . . . The 
practical way in which we can be of help, however, is not easy to find under present 
conditions. I know you understand the situation.” 3 She did and she didn’t. She recog-
nized the difficulties but would grow increasingly disgusted with State Department 
policies that created additional obstacles.

Aware that they could not rely on the American government to take an active role 
in rescuing political refugees, Frank, Fry, and their associates concluded that only a 
determined private initiative could do the job. Someone had to contact the refugees 
who were in hiding, help them secure the necessary papers, and assist them in finding 
their way out of France. At the meeting with ER on June 25, Pickett offered the assis-
tance of the American Friends Service Committee’s (AFSC) staff members already in 
France, but Fry later reported to ER that he and Frank had told Pickett that the AFSC 
staff could accomplish very little. The circumstances required a different sort of person, 
one willing to work under cover and take risks:

Since the French government has seen fit to agree to turn over to the German govern-
ment all German nationals in their territory requested by the German government, 
what is urgently needed now is a new Scarlet Pimpernel 4 who will go to France and 
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risk his life, perhaps many times over, in an attempt to find the intended victims of 
Hitler’s chopping block, and either provide them with means to keep alive in hiding or, 
if that is possible, to get them out of France before the French authorities reach them.

Fry asked ER if she or the president could recommend a person capable of doing the 
job. Fry himself had offered to go if no one else could be found, he told her, but in 
many respects, he did not think he was the most suitable person for the assignment:

My French and German are both halting, I have published things which have aroused 
the ire of the German government, and I have had no experience whatever in detec-
tive work. The ideal candidate for the job would, it seems to me, be an adventurous 
daredevil who speaks French and German fluently, can play the innocent American 
convincingly, understands the political implications of the work he is doing, and 
is entirely willing to risk his life to see that it is done to the best of his or any man’s 
ability. If you or Mr. Roosevelt can find such a man for us, you will remove the one 
barrier that still prevents us from bringing effective aid to the German anti-Nazis 
now trapped in France.

Asking the First Lady and, through her, the president of the United States, to recom-
mend such an agent, was an extraordinary request. It expressed faith in her and trust 
that the president would do nothing to block the plan — a faith and trust that ER must 
have encouraged by the depth of her support for the goals of the proposed mission.

Fry assured her that he and his colleagues knew the names of the men in need of 
rescue, had the money to assist them, and could raise more money, if necessary. The 
nature of the mission, however, required a degree of subterfuge:

[I]t is obvious that no one who went to France for the avowed purpose of doing 
what we want to do would have any success at all. He would either be arrested or 
requested to leave the country within twenty-four hours. In the circumstances, we 
may have to set up another committee whose ostensible purpose would be some-
thing quite different — such as locating missing Americans. 5

Could the president of the still neutral United States actually condone such an un-
dercover operation by a private organization? When ER sent Fry’s letter to FDR on 
July 2 with the question, “What about this?” FDR told her that Fry’s “suggestion may 
have all the merit in the world but it most certainly cannot be authorized or abetted 
by the Government of the United States.” When ER replied to Fry, she didn’t mention 
this exchange with her husband. She merely said, “the President has seen your letter.” 6
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On July 17 Karl Frank wrote to ER asking once more for her help. He informed 
her of the formal establishment of the Emergency Rescue Committee, which had 
selected Frank Kingdon, a clergyman and the president of the University of Newark, 
as chairman. Ingrid Warburg, a member of the German Jewish banking family who 
had immigrated to the United States in 1936 and dedicated her life to assisting German 
refugees, took on the position of Kingdon’s executive assistant. The committee also 
included the theologian Reinhold Niebuhr; Freda Kirchwey, editor of The Nation; 
and Robert Hutchins, president of the University of Chicago, among others. Since the 
ERC needed to send someone to France in whom everyone had confidence, as soon as 
possible, Frank told her in his letter, Fry had agreed to assume this role. He described 
Fry as “one of those silent, sincere and modest persons who would be best fitted to do 
the necessary work,” and, contrary to Fry’s own assessment of his qualifications, told 
her that “we are all sure he will be the right person for the next steps.” The problem 
faced by the ERC was to obtain a passport for Fry as soon as possible. Frank asked ER 
to help secure it. When Frank wrote again in mid-August, he thanked ER for helping 
Fry “get his papers so quickly.” 7 While the American government could not abet the 
ERC’s plan, ER could and did.

During the period when the ERC was getting organized, other individuals and 
groups were also pressing the State Department to act. Initially the department seemed 
willing to cooperate. Assistant Secretary of State Breckinridge Long agreed to au-
thorize consuls to issue emergency visitor visas to a list of European intellectuals and 
labor leaders compiled by the Jewish Labor Committee (JLC) once they had been 
vetted to make sure they would not engage in activities hostile to the United States. 
The JLC sent Dr. Frank Bohn to Marseille to make arrangements for the people on its 
list. Other groups also submitted lists, sometimes quarreling among themselves about 
whose list should take priority.

To create an orderly process, Justice and State Department officials reached an 
agree ment on July 26 with James McDonald, in his role as chairman of the President’s 
Advisory Committee on Political Refugees (PACPR), and its executive secretary, 
George Warren, authorizing the PACPR to serve as a preliminary screening committee. 8 
Under this arrangement, the ERC would screen candidates proposed to it for rescue, 
write summaries of their background indicating why they were in danger, and send the 
names and biographical information to the PACPR. The PACPR would then review 
the lists and information compiled by the ERC and other groups, identify the refugees 
it judged had a good reason to come to the United States and would make good citi-
zens, then submit their names to the Justice Department. After the Justice Department 
checked its files for information on the individuals on the lists, it would send an ap-
proved list on to the State Department. Finally, the State Department would search 
its own files, and if it found that the individual had a legitimate reason to immigrate 
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to the United States and posed no threat to the United States, it would send a cable 
to the appropriate consulate authorizing it to issue an emergency visa. By law, the con-
suls retained the power to make the final decision, but Long said he would send out 
instructions to all the consuls indicating that the department expected the consuls to 
issue visas to those recommended in the manner just described. 9

The State Department agreed to admit the political refugees on special visitor visas 
outside the quota and not to require that the refugee have an exit permit from France 
before the consul issued a visa. Normally, as was the case with the British children, 
someone applying for a visitor visa had to demonstrate that they would be able to 
return to a home outside the United States after the visa expired. Since that was clearly 
not going to be possible for political refugees, the State Department waived the usual 
six-month limit on visitor visas on the condition that the refugee begin efforts as soon 
as they arrived in the United States to move on to another country. 10

A few days after the PACPR and the State Department reached their agreement, 
Mildred Adams, the ERC’s executive secretary, asked Tommy, ER’s secretary, to tell ER 
how pleased the ERC was with the new arrangement: “We realize that the quick action 
which has come in this matter is in large part due to her understanding and efforts.” 
When Tommy forwarded information on the visa case of Dr. Willi Wolf to the ERC 
in early August, Adams promised to process it as quickly as possible and added, opti-
mistically: “It sounds like a simple case and the newly established visa routine should 
make it easy.” Adams was pleased to learn that the ERC could use ER’s name in advo-
cating in such cases: “Her backing helps a great deal.” 11 When Varian Fry left for France 
in August, the ERC believed that with ER’s assistance the emergency visa process was 
now on track. Despite his cooperation in establishing the procedure, however, Long 
had other intentions, which would soon become apparent.

Varian Fry arrived in France in mid-August 1940 to carry out the ERC’s mission 
and set up headquarters in Marseille. He disguised his agency as a relief operation 
called the Centre Américain de Secours (American Assistance Center). Although he 
lacked some of the qualifications he had identified in his letter to ER as necessary for 
the job, Fry did possess a passionate opposition to Nazism that sprang, in part, from 
a visit to Berlin in 1935, where he witnessed a mob pulling Jews from cars along the 
Kurfuerstendamm and beating them. The mixture of viciousness and gaiety the crowd 
displayed made an indelible impression on him. 12

Fry also possessed the ability to conduct interviews, track down leads, and gather in-
formation that he had acquired as a journalist. And, although he completely lacked any 
experience in managing a clandestine operation, it turned out that he had a talent for 
finding illegal ways to accomplish his ends. When refugees failed to obtain documents 
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legally, he employed Bill Freier (the political cartoonist later known as Bill Spira) to 
create false French exit permits. 13

Fry faced formidable obstacles. Not only did the armistice agreement between 
Germany and the French government at Vichy require the French to turn over to Nazi 
authorities, “on demand,” any German refugee within its territory, but the Gestapo 
itself was searching for German anti-Nazis in unoccupied France. 14 To get refugees 
to Lisbon, where they could depart for North or South America, Fry arranged for a 
network of guides to usher them to the Spanish border and over the Pyrenees into 
Spain. Refugees then had to cross through Spain and into Portugal, both of which 
remained neutral, though under the rule of right-wing authoritarian governments. 
Initially, Spain allowed the refugees to travel on to Portugal if they had a Portuguese 
transit visa, and Portugal accepted large numbers of refugees on a temporary basis. 
But by late September 1940, as a shortage of vessels stranded thousands of refugees 
in Portugal, the Portuguese consuls in France stopped issuing transit visas unless the 
applicants could show they had a valid visa for another country and had already booked 
passage on a ship departing Lisbon. The situation improved in January when the Vichy 
government began to issue exit permits, but by then the Spanish government required 
that transit visas be screened in Madrid by the Gestapo before being issued. 15 Therefore, 
even if a refugee received an American visa, the difficulty of getting exit permits and 
transit visas to cross through Spain to Portugal as well as the difficulty of obtaining 
passage on a ship leaving Lisbon caused further delays or blocked the refugee from 
leaving France altogether. ER would become painfully aware of all of these obstacles 
as she sought to support the efforts of the ERC and to assist other refugees trying to 
flee Hitler’s Europe.

Although these other problems often stymied refugees seeking to escape from 
France, obtaining American visas in a timely manner or obtaining them at all remained 
a major obstacle. The cumbersome system set up in July, which provided for a careful 
two-layered review of political refugee cases by the ERC and the PACPR even before 
the PACPR made recommendations to the Departments of Justice, followed by re-
views by the departments of Justice and State and finally by the consuls, would have 
been a time-consuming process, even if it had been faithfully carried out.

When Fry first arrived in France he received support for his work from Hiram 
Bingham IV, the American vice consul in Marseille in 1940–41, who was sympathetic to 
political refugees. 16 Despite the bureaucratic hurdles imposed by the State Department, 
Bingham cooperated with Fry by issuing visas whenever possible to the refugees on 
the ERC’s list. But the Vichy authorities, under pressure because of the terms of the 
German armistice agreement, objected to Fry’s activities. The prefecture complained 
about Fry to Hugh Fullerton, the American consul general in Marseille. Fullerton, in 
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turn, reported the complaint to the State Department. He then called Fry to the consul-
ate to show him the State Department’s cabled response, which stated:

This government cannot countenance the activities as reported of Dr. Bohn [the 
Jewish Labor Committee representative in Marseille] and Mr. Fry and other persons 
in their efforts in evading the laws of countries with which the United States main-
tains friendly relations. 17

On September 23 Fullerton told Fry to close the Centre Américain de Secours imme-
diately and get out of France before the Vichy government arrested or expelled him. 
In addition, after the State Department complained to the ERC about Fry’s activi-
ties, the ERC itself asked him to return to the United States. The ERC worried that 
the antagonism between Fry and the American consulate and embassy would make it 
harder to obtain urgently needed visas for the political refugees on its list. Fry refused 
to leave. Fry’s task became still more difficult when Bingham was transferred to Lisbon 
and later on to Buenos Aires. Fry later reported that Bingham’s successor, William L. 
Peck, “seemed to delight in making autocratic decisions and refusing as many visas as 
he possibly could.” 18 As Fry’s difficulties with the consulate in Marseille and the State 
Department, as well as with his sponsoring organization, increased, it became harder 
for ER to support his activities.

During the early fall of 1940, while ER continued to help facilitate the work 
of the ERC and USCCEC, she intervened to assist another group of refugees seeking 
to escape from Hitler’s Europe. On September 10, a Portuguese ship, the SS Quanza, 
arrived at Norfolk, Virginia, with approximately eighty-one refugees aboard, most of 
whom were Jewish. The passengers had obtained what they thought were valid Mex-
ican visas, but when the ship docked in Vera Cruz, Mexico, because their visas were 
fake, the Mexican government refused to admit them. The situation resembled that of 
the St. Louis, whose predominantly Jewish passengers thought they had valid Cuban 
visas but were denied permission to land when they arrived in Havana in May 1939. 
As the St. Louis slowly made its way up the East Coast of the United States on its way 
back to Europe, the passengers and the refugee organizations advocating for them ap-
pealed to the American government and FDR personally to permit them to enter the 
United States. The government refused. Granting them visas without the usual review 
would have violated American immigration regulations and taken up quota num-
bers for which other refugees had been waiting for months. When the St. Louis re-
turned to Europe, Great Britain, France, Belgium, and the Netherlands agreed to take 
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them in, rather than force them to return to Germany. Some later died in concentra-
tion camps after the Nazis occupied most of Western Europe, but about two-thirds 
of them survived, and half of the 937 refugees who had been on the ship immigrated 
to the United States later on. 19

No record of ER responding to the plight of the refugees on the St. Louis has been 
found, 20 but the passengers on the Quanza experienced a different fate, partly due to 
ER’s intervention on their behalf. When the Quanza stopped in Norfolk to load coal 
as it began its journey back to Europe, members of the USCCEC and the PACPR lob-
bied the State Department to allow the passengers to enter the United States. ER her-
self appealed to FDR and called Breckinridge Long to ask him to talk to FDR about the 
case. The Justice Department favored admitting the refugees aboard the ship, and when 
James McDonald communicated this to Long, it seemed to sway him. 21 Nevertheless, 
Long argued for admitting only half the refugees, at most. After lengthy negotiation, 
however, the Immigration Service of the Justice Department arranged for the admis-
sion of all of the refugees aboard the Quanza. The incident was among the small, in-
frequent victories for those seeking to open America’s doors wider. 22 Rabbi Stephen 
Wise attributed the success of the PACPR in this case partly to ER: “One of the things 
that could be done could only be done because Eleanor Roosevelt and Marshall Field 
appealed to the Skipper [FDR] for the liberation of the refugees on the Quanza. All 
of them were released.” 23

Throughout the fall of 1940, ER received news of delays and obstruction in 
the issuing of American visas to political refugees screened by the ERC and PACPR. 
As Fry ran into obstacles at the American consulate in Marseille and at the embassy in 
Vichy, he sent cables back to the ERC reporting on the difficulties he was having. The 
ERC, in turn, asked ER to assist in trying to speed up the process.

On September 6, 1940, ER forwarded a letter to Sumner Welles that she had re-
ceived from Karl Frank about the difficulty of securing visas for refugees in France: “I 
am enclosing this letter,” she wrote, “because it explains the situation better than I can 
do. Is there no way of getting our Consul in Marseille to help in getting a few more of 
these poor people out?” In response, Welles tried to allay her concerns about the slow-
ness of the visa process, but when she shared Welles’s reply with Karl Frank, he told 
her that he was grateful for Welles’s “careful words” and “reassuring tone,” but that “in-
formation reaching us daily indicates that matters in Marseille and Lisbon, while im-
proved, are not yet as satisfactory as they should be.” 24

While the ERC was urging ER to intervene to speed up the issuing of visas to polit-
ical refugees, the State Department was proceeding, instead, to tighten its policy. On 
September 10, Herbert C. Pell, the American minister in Lisbon, sent a memo to the 
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State Department warning that the special emergency visa system was not function-
ing as intended. Those on the approved lists of political refugees were often among 
“the least desirable element” of those applying for visas, and in some cases there was 
reason to believe they were German spies. Pell especially resented the fact that “some 
of the most active organizations pushing immigration cases” were “racial” (meaning, 
presumably, Jewish). Other applicants whom Pell considered more “desirable” failed 
to meet emergency visa requirements because they had no one in the United States 
advocating for them. Pell suggested reinstituting the system in place before the July 
agreement that directed consuls to reject visa applications if there existed “any doubt 
whatsoever concerning the alien.” 25

Adopting Pell’s line of reasoning, Breckinridge Long sent FDR a letter on Septem-
ber 18 stressing the State Department’s security concerns and proposing that the State 
Department “modify slightly” the emergency visa process. He charged that the PACPR 
had stretched the definition of “political refugee” and had not investigated the back-
grounds of the refugees thoroughly enough. Instructing the consuls to conduct “a 
more careful examination” of visa applications “would contribute largely to closing the 
loopholes against the penetration of German agents.” Therefore, he proposed limiting 
the special emergency visa program to a few special cases of individuals in imminent 
danger — hardly a slight modification. The president agreed with Long’s recommenda-
tion and on September 19 the State Department informed the PACPR of the change 
in policy. The State Department circulated new instructions to its diplomatic posts in 
Europe directing consuls to examine visa applications more thoroughly and reject any 
applicant who had engaged in suspicious political activity in the past or could possi-
bly pose a danger once in the United States. 26

The effect of the change of policy on the number of visas issued to political refugees 
was devastating. On September 23, Karl Frank informed ER that the ERC had received 
a report from Fry that the Department of State had ordered the consul in Marseille not 
to issue any more visitor visas after October first. 27 ER forwarded Frank’s telegram to 
Sumner Welles for an explanation and Welles turned to Breckinridge Long for advice: 
“What reply do you think I should make to Mrs. Roosevelt . . . ?” His question suggests 
that he himself may not have been fully informed about the details of how the system 
operated and, like FDR, depended on Long’s judgment without challenging it. In his 
reply, drafted by Long, Welles told ER, “The news from Mr. Frank is not quite accurate. 
The authority to issue visitor visas for the refugees was limited to October 1 by origi-
nal order. However, before the expiration of that date it was extended to November 1. 
Of course it can be extended again depending upon developments there.” Welles did 
not inform ER of the change of policy that resulted from Pell’s memo, but claimed, 
instead, “We have been giving every attention to the plight of the refugees.” He blamed 
the problems that were occurring on “the extracurricular activities” of Fry and Frank 
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Bohn, to which the French government had objected. He also informed her of the State 
Department’s request to the ERC that it ask Fry and Bohn “to cease and desist” their 
illegal actions and suggest that they come back to the United States. 28

As the virtual strangulation of the emergency visa program became evident to 
the PACPR, James McDonald and George Warren met with Welles and Long to ex-
press their anger that the State Department was not living up to its agreement. The 
September 24 meeting was lengthy and contentious. Long recorded in his journal that 
McDonald saw him as an “obstructionist and was very bitter and somewhat denuncia-
tory.” Sure, however, that he could persuade FDR that he was doing what was necessary 
to protect the United States against radicals and subversives, Long did not worry when 
McDonald threatened to take the matter up with the president. After the meeting, how-
ever, Sumner Welles sent a cable to the consulates abroad reaffirming the procedures for 
issuing emergency visas established by agreement in July. Welles’s intervention, which 
indicated that he had not adopted Long’s obstructionist approach, improved the sit-
uation temporarily. George Warren reported to the PACPR on October 30 that after 
Welles sent his cable “a remarkable improvement in the issuance of visas” occurred. 29

A few days after the meeting with Long and Welles, George Warren met with ER 
to inform her at length about the problems created for the PACPR by Breckinridge 
Long. He then followed up with a letter to which he attached documents refuting the 
claims Long had made in his September 18 letter to the president. Once again, as in 
the case of the British children, ER became deeply involved in the debate over refugee 
policy. On September 28 she sent Warren’s letter and accompanying material on to 
FDR with a cover note: “Mr. Welles promised to explain to you that Mr. Long’s letter 
to you was entirely erroneous regarding the situation.” The consuls had approved visas 
for only a small number of the names submitted by PACPR to the State Department. 
The situation might be resolved if the consuls were instructed to carry out the terms 
of the agreement between the State Department and the PACPR. She explained that 
McDonald felt that the committee’s “good faith” had been “impugned” and was “so 
wrought up about it” that he wished to speak with the president. “These poor people,” 
she told FDR, “may die at any time” and “are asking only to come here on transit visas.” 
She requested that he meet with McDonald and get the matter resolved as soon as 
possible. 30

The president agreed. “Please tell me about this,” he wrote in a memo to Welles. 
“There does seem to be a mix-up. I think I must see McDonald.” But he met first with 
Long, who came armed with some exceptionally effective ammunition. FDR was al-
ready convinced of the danger of German espionage and sabotage. He believed that 
the background of every visa applicant needed to be thoroughly checked to weed out 
individuals who could threaten American security. Long reinforced that conviction. To 
bolster his argument, he supplied FDR with cables he had just received from Laurence 
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Steinhardt, the American ambassador to the Soviet Union, who expressed his belief 
that many of the labor leaders and intellectuals whom the PACPR had recommended 
for visas were not what the PACPR claimed them to be and that the PACPR was de-
liberately misrepresenting them to the State Department. Steinhardt, whose charges 
possessed greater authority because he was a Jew, complained that contrary to the provi-
sions of the Immigration Act of 1924, the arrangement with the PACPR now placed the 
burden of proving that a refugee should not be admitted to the United States on State 
Department officials, rather than placing the responsibility on the refugee to demon-
strate that they were worthy of admission. Entry into the United States was a “privi-
lege, not a right,” he insisted. After meeting with FDR, Long recorded in his journal 
that the president completely supported the State Department’s handling of visa ap-
plications. 31 FDR often left visitors with the impression that he agreed with them even 
when he was just listening, so Long’s assertion may not have been entirely true. But the 
fall of France in June and the massive air campaign against Great Britain that followed 
shocked the United States and intensified FDR’s concern for national security. Under 
these conditions the arguments Steinhardt and Long were making carried great weight.

When McDonald and Warren laid out their case on behalf of the political refu-
gees in a memo to the president on October 8, they were unaware of Long’s preemp-
tive lobbying of FDR in support of the State Department’s position. In the memo, 
McDonald and Warren objected to the very limited number of visas issued to date 
and told FDR that they could find no basis for fearing that the refugees whom the 
PACPR had carefully screened would be a threat to American security. At the meet-
ing with FDR on October 9, in which Francis Biddle and Henry Hart of the Justice 
Department, who were more sympathetic to the refugees than Long, also participated, 
FDR cited the concerns raised by Long about national security and read passages from 
Steinhardt’s cable. When McDonald began to criticize Long, the president reportedly 
stopped him. Nevertheless, FDR recognized the peril the political refugees were in and 
expressed sympathy for them. According to George Warren’s report on the meeting, 
the president wanted “properly qualified intellectual, political, and other refugees” to 
be rescued but “expressed concern that extreme care be taken to prevent the admission 
of those whose activities might be inimical to the interests of the United States.” He 
wanted the Justice and State departments to speed up the process so that those quali-
fied could be “rescued from the trap” in which the invasion of France had put them. 32

Reporting to ER on the October 9 meeting with FDR, McDonald thanked her for 
“having made possible the conference with the President.” He expressed optimism “that 
the new arrangements to be worked out by Mr. Biddle and the State Department will 
offer a basis for the rescue of those in imminent peril.” 33 McDonald was impressed with 
the president’s knowledge of the issues and told Justice Frankfurter that he thought 
the meeting had served “to sharpen his perception of those points on which attempts 
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had been made to mislead him. At the end, he must have known who are responsi-
ble for thwarting his will.” 34 If FDR did, indeed, recognize that he was being misled 
or understand who was blocking the issuance of visas to political refugees, it did not 
motivate him to insist on a change in the State Department’s handling of the process 
or in who was managing it. The results of the meeting with McDonald and Warren 
were the same as those of the later meeting, on November 12, between the president 
and representatives of the United States Committee for the Care of European Children 
(USCCEC), at which Marshall Field, Louis Weiss, and Eric Biddle tried to counteract 
“the constant flow of information to the President about the dangers of immigration” 
and unlock the gates barring the admittance of refugee children to the United States. 
Both meetings raised hope but in the end led to no real change. In both cases, relying 
apparently on the Justice Department’s more liberal approach to the refugee problem to 
moderate State Department policy, FDR asked the two departments to work out their 
differences and agree on an efficient system for screening refugees and issuing visas. 35

At the meeting between the Justice and State Departments on October 18, Welles, 
Long, Biddle, and Hart agreed that the PACPR would continue to screen political 
refugees and forward their recommendations to the Justice Department. Although 
the questions of who should be considered a “political refugee” and in immediate 
danger and how to speed up the issuing of visas to those who qualified remained unre-
solved, McDonald wrote optimistically to ER: “You will, I know, be glad to hear that 
the meeting last Friday of the representatives of the Departments of State and Justice 
made real progress. Mr. Welles and Mr. Biddle, according to my information, drove 
straight through to an agreement which clears the way for effective action.” He was 
grateful to ER for her “indispensable helpfulness.” 36

ER had no reason to doubt the good intentions of Welles and Biddle, but the result 
of the negotiations between Justice and State reflected increased anxiety about na-
tional security, not a desire to speed up the process of admitting to the United States 
the political refugees who were in danger. Contrary to McDonald’s optimistic report 
on the meeting, the Justice and State Departments continued to wrangle over the 
emergency visa program and the role of PACPR before reaching an agreement in late 
November. Under this new agreement, the PACPR would continue to carefully exam-
ine the background of political refugees seeking visas. It would also check the ability 
of their sponsors to support them. But a new committee was created, which included 
the State Department, Immigration and Naturalization Service, Army Intelligence, 
Naval Intelligence, and, later, the FBI. By the spring of 1941, the Interdepartmental 
Committee, as it was called, was reviewing all visa applications from the point of 
view of national security before making recommendations to the consuls for expe-
dited consideration. The consuls would still make the final decisions and might be 
asked by the committee to look further into the cases or verify facts presented by the 
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PACPR. If a consul planned to exclude the applicant, he had to wire his reasons for 
doing so to Washington, so that the Interdepartmental Committee could try to re-
solve the issue. The new system added another layer of bureaucracy, creating additional 
opportunities to question whether a visa applicant might be a threat. Pickett would 
report in his diary eighteen months later that George Warren described the effect of 
the Interdepartmental Committee on the visa application process as “one of incredi-
ble obstruction to any possible securing of a visa.” Pickett regarded it as “a profligate 
waste of time and energy because it takes time of personnel from the army, the navy, 
the FBI, Justice and State Department and results in almost no visas being granted.” 37 
McDonald, Pickett, Warren, and ER had tried to speed up the State Department’s man-
agement of the emergency visa process but were met instead with further obstruction.

While ER sought to help the ERC and the USCCEC secure visas for political 
refugees and for children in danger in unoccupied France, she also received appeals for 
assistance in the cases of refugees from other parts of Europe who were experiencing 
difficulty obtaining visas. She usually followed her practice of sending these appeals on 
to Sumner Welles, but she occasionally used these cases to press the president hard to 
intervene with the State Department. Her note to FDR about the cases of Rosa Vogl 
and Erna (Vogl) Fischer of October 1, 1940 indicates that she was engaged in an ongo-
ing argument with the president about State Department obstruction. The Vogls, she 
wrote, were “A good case in point. They have been able to come for a long time, but the 
Consul won’t grant visas.” FDR, obviously irritated by ER’s insistence, replied: “I do not 
think this is a good case in point at all.” 38 He pointed out that Eliot Coulter, chief of 
the Visa Division, had written to Edith Vogl on September 21 telling her that the docu-
ments supporting her mother and sister’s visa applications were being sent to Prague by 
diplomatic pouch and would take about ten days to arrive. Coulter, FDR continued, 
told Vogl that “visas are not issued only on the recommendation of the Department 
of State,” but Vogl “prefers not to believe it.” Coulter’s letter seemed to FDR “entirely 
correct” and went “as far as any human being can go.” He suggested that Vogl wait for 
a response from the consul in Prague, which “may take two months.” That much delay 
seemed reasonable to FDR, but not to ER, who believed that part of the delay was 
deliberate. 39 ER continued to challenge the State Department’s handling of the process; 
FDR, trusting that the State Department procedures were necessary for national secu-
rity, did not question either the procedures or how they were being implemented.

Another case in which ER became involved documents the deliberate obstruction 
to which ER objected. In early October, Frank Kingdon at the ERC sent ER a copy 
of a letter written by Hans (Bohumil) Lustig to an American contact (identified as 
“C”) recounting his difficulties in obtaining visas for his wife and himself from the 
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American consulate in Lisbon. Kingdon did not know what could be done about the 
case, but “as a human document and a detail of one family’s experience,” he told ER, 
“it will stir you.” 40

Lustig, who was born Czech, was a screenwriter who had worked for the prominent 
Ufa film studio in Berlin, then taken refuge in Paris in 1933 along with several other 
Jews associated with Ufa (including Billy Wilder and Peter Lorre), fled to the south of 
France after the German invasion, and finally reached Lisbon where he waited for visas 
for himself and his wife. 41 The State Department had sent a “preferential cable” to the 
American consulate in Lisbon giving its approval for issuing visas to him and his wife, 
and Lustig had received a telegram from the source identified as “C” confirming the 
department’s approval. When he went to the American consulate, however, Consul 
Taylor Gannett told him, at first, that the consulate had no dossier on their case. After 
Lustig showed him the cable from “C,” Gannett “flushed,” according to Lustig, “and said 
excitedly, ‘Only the Consul may decide whether you will receive the visa. Washington 
can only suggest it, that is all.’” Since the Germans occupied Czechoslovakia, Lustig 
had no homeland to return to. “If we want to get rid of you after six months,” Gannett 
told him, “we will not know where to send you.” The fact that Lustig had a contract 
with MGM film studios was “of no interest to him,” even when Lustig told him the 
arrangement had State Department approval. Later Lustig learned that Gannett had 
recently been informed of his “disciplinary transfer” from Lisbon because so many 
people complained about him. That may explain why Lustig found him so “unusually 
unobliging and extraordinarily unnerved.”

The next day, when Lustig and his wife met with Douglas MacArthur II, another 
consul, their dossier miraculously reappeared. MacArthur read it thoroughly, includ-
ing Gannett’s notes made on the previous day. Lustig managed to satisfy Gannett’s 
concern that there was no country to which he and his wife could return, by tell-
ing MacArthur that they had obtained visas for Costa Rica, where the United States 
could send them if it wished to expel them after six months. MacArthur “seemed to 
be willing to make things easier for us,” but after speaking with Gannett, asked Lustig 
to provide “a thorough account of my journalistic and film career.” Lustig emphasized 
that he was “particularly endangered” because he had composed anti-Nazi pieces for 
Radio Mondial and wrote the screenplay for an anti-Nazi film. There was no danger 
of his becoming a public charge, he pointed out, because of his contract with MGM. 
“All this seemed to have a favorable reaction,” he reported, yet a committee composed 
of all four consuls in Lisbon would again review his case, and the cases of the six or 
seven other intellectuals named in the cable from the State Department for preferen-
tial treatment. The consuls’ report would then have to be sent to Washington so that 
the State Department could check its own files for information on the applicants. 
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Meanwhile, the Portuguese government had granted a final extension of the Lustigs’ 
transit visas for only one more month. 42

Lustig was precisely the kind of person whom ER believed the United States should 
welcome because he had been a leader in the fight against Nazism and Fascism in 
Europe, but also because he would make a valuable contribution to American cul-
ture. Lustig’s description of the convoluted procedure and deliberate delaying tactics 
to which he and others were subjected — which he generously characterized as “cer-
tainly not in keeping with the intentions of Washington” — gave ER ammunition 
in her ongoing argument with FDR about the way American consuls and the State 
Department were carrying out the emergency visa program. It was the kind of “case 
in point” that she hoped would prompt him to intervene and order the department 
to speed up the process. She sent Lustig’s letter to FDR with a penciled note: “FDR 
Can’t they be helped?” 43

The president referred the matter to the State Department as he normally did. He 
asked Breckinridge Long to draft a memo in response and then sent Long’s memo to 
ER without comment. It is impossible to know how carefully FDR read Lustig’s letter 
and, if he did, whether it made any impression on him. In any event, he did not use 
the letter as a basis for questioning State Department behavior. Perhaps he felt that 
since Gannett was being transferred because of the complaints about him, the State 
Department had matters in hand, but the repeated scrutiny of Lustig’s case, unwilling-
ness to accept his anti-Nazi record and MGM contract as sufficient reasons to admit 
him, and the whole length of the process should have alerted FDR to the fact that the 
preferential visa program was failing to respond effectively to the desperate situation 
in which many political refugees found themselves.

As Long’s memo to ER indicated, the State Department did not regard respond-
ing to the emergency refugee situation as an urgent responsibility of the department. 
Addressing a woman whom he probably regarded as overly emotional, he acknowledged 
that cases such as Lustig’s were “distressing” and that reading about them produced a 
“definite sentimental reaction.” But, he asserted, Washington could not “superimpose 
judgment upon that of the consul” in whom the law vested authority. He claimed, dis-
ingenuously, that the department had instructed the consuls to “regard generously” 
the preference lists submitted to the department by PACPR, while making sure that 
the intentions of the applicants were not “subversive” and their records were “clean.” 44

Long’s explanation may have seemed reasonable on the surface and probably reas-
sured FDR, whose first obligation as president was to protect the nation from danger 
and not to engage in humanitarian acts if he believed they might undermine American 
security. But while Long acknowledged that individual cases were “distressing” to read 
about, his memo makes no allusion to the emergency situation that existed, with which 
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the preferential visa system was supposedly designed to deal. Moreover, the consuls had 
not actually been instructed to treat applicants on the preference list “generously.” On 
the contrary, the directive sent to them on September 19 had instructed them to screen 
candidates for emergency visas with great care and reject the applications of anyone 
they suspected might not serve the interests of the United States. In fact, Long had 
written a memo to two of his State Department colleagues back in June in which he 
outlined his strategy. It was probably not a strategy he would have shared with FDR. 
With the president, he focused on national security concerns. The June memo reflects, 
instead, Long’s cynical determination to obstruct the visa process in every way possi-
ble. The State Department, he said, could

delay and effectively stop for a temporary period of indefinite length the number of 
immigrants into the United States. We could do this by simply advising our consuls 
to put every obstacle in the way and to require additional evidence and to resort to 
various administrative advices which would postpone and postpone and postpone 
the granting of the visas. 45

It was not difficult for consuls to slow the visa process in this fashion, and the Lustig 
case was a good example of how it was done. In his October memo to ER about the 
Lustigs, having made it clear that the Department of State could not order the consul-
ate to issue them visas, Long concluded by telling ER that the Department of State 
had cabled the American consulate in Lisbon about Lustig and asked it to cable back 
a report on “the circumstances of the applicant’s case.” ER sent a copy of Long’s memo 
to Frank Kingdon, regretting that it was “not more encouraging” and telling him that 
she knew “of nothing else which might be done,” but her intervention, in the end, 
had an effect. In November 1940, Lustig and his wife sailed for New York. Although 
Lustig finally reached the United States and resumed his career as a screenwriter in 
Hollywood, his case provided ER with further evidence that the State Department 
was obstructing efforts to rescue even those who most deserved rescue. 46

Other people close to ER also recognized that State Department policy was con-
tributing to the tragic situation that trapped the political refugees. In a letter to ER 
on November 8, 1940, Martha Gellhorn expressed outrage at the State Department’s 
obstructionism:

How is it that practically any royalty can get into this country, and that visas for 
anti-Fascist refugees, who have proved their good faith in the prison camps of two 
or three countries, cannot be obtained? What is happening, when such things go 
on? Who decides it? Who runs such a show? Doesn’t it look pretty grim and godaw-
ful to you? It scares me. 47
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Breckinridge Long’s role in preventing the rescue of many of the refugees also re-
ceived public criticism even at the time. Joseph Alsop, who had helped ER in July to 
loosen regulations strangling the program to bring British children to the United States, 
said of Long in his syndicated column for November 25:

Those who worked for easier admission of the English children to this country saw 
him use every resource of his position to obstruct their effort and know that he 
would have succeeded if the President had not rapped him smartly over the official 
knuckles. Those who tried to help the European political refugees heard him argue 
that visas could not be issued to these unfortunates except in the discretion of the 
“independent” consuls, despite several indications that the “independent” consuls 
had received informal instructions from Washington. Mr. Long seems to have a 
knack for these imbroglios. 48

In the person of Breckinridge Long, ER faced a skillful and determined bureau-
cratic infighter who used his long relationship and direct access to FDR and the warn-
ing of possible subversion from Ambassador Steinhardt to persuade FDR that the 
State Department’s complicated, drawn-out screening process for visa applicants was 
justified. The fact that Sumner Welles believed that the operations of fifth columns in 
France and Norway had played a role in the rapid capitulation of those countries, and 
that the United States had to guard against subversion as a result, reinforced Long’s 
case. 49 Neither FDR nor Welles appear to have recognized that Long’s plan was not 
simply to screen visa applicants carefully, but to deliberately delay the process of is-
suing visas. Taking Long’s explanations of the lengthy process of issuing a visa at face 
value, FDR did not question whether or not State Department procedures were ad-
equately responding to the emergency situation that existed. ER, on the other hand, 
detected Long’s intentions and repeatedly told her husband that something was very 
wrong. When she challenged him again a few days after Long drafted his memo on 
the Lustig case, FDR responded impatiently (or perhaps just unknowingly), “What 
does seem wrong?” 50

On December 4, 1940, ER received a letter from Ingrid Warburg, Kingdon’s exec-
utive assistant at the ERC, indicating that the November agreement between Justice 
and State had not solved the problem of long delays in the issuing of visas. The lists of 
refugees recommended for special consideration were now being sent to the Justice 
Department and the Justice Department was sending the names “very quickly” to the 
State Department, but there the process slowed to a crawl. Warburg asked ER to seek 
a solution. 51
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When ER passed this information on to Welles, asking him once again if there was 
anything he could do to speed up the procedure for issuing visas, he sent her a long, 
detailed letter, prepared for him by Breckinridge Long, defending Department of 
State procedures: “I have made careful inquiry about the possible delay,” Welles said, 
“and I can assure you that there is no unnecessary delay.” Although the processing of 
visas involved “an enormous volume of work,” he told her, and it had been necessary 
to expand the department’s staff to handle it, he claimed that “every visa application 
received up to this date will be transmitted and out of the Department by tomorrow 
night.” The department had to follow certain procedures: checking the department’s 
files to see if they contained any negative information on the applicant, composing a 
summary of the facts of the case, and giving this memorandum to a department offi-
cial for review. If the review uncovered no problems, the department sent a telegram 
to the consulate to which the applicant had applied authorizing the issuing of a visa. “I 
have gone into this at some length,” Welles said, “because I thought you would like to 
understand exactly what happens and to realize that while some time elapses between 
the receipt of the case and the dispatch of the telegram, there is no delay, though the 
process does take several days.” 52

The problem with the explanation provided by Welles and Long was that the entire 
process was taking far more than “a few days.” While ER appreciated his “writing her 
in detail,” his assertion that there was “no unnecessary delay” contradicted what she 
learned through the ERC about the plight of refugees. It left her frustrated. 53 She 
knew from lengthy reports received by the ERC from Varian Fry and Jay Allen, a cor-
respondent for the North American Newspaper Alliance, and forwarded to her by 
Ingrid Warburg, that the problems went much deeper than the bland assurances, com-
posed by Long and provided to her by Welles, suggested. If the bottleneck wasn’t in 
Washington, then it was at the consulates abroad.

Fry’s reports focused on the difficulty of obtaining French exit visas and Spanish 
and Portuguese transit visas, as well as emergency visas from the American consulate, 
and on the need for more funds to support the refugees while they waited to secure 
the papers required to reach Lisbon. Allen’s report, written in mid-November, painted 
a dismal picture of the American consulate in Lisbon. It indicated that the difficulties 
experienced by Hans Lustig in obtaining a visa from the American consulate there 
were endemic and not limited to Gannett, the consul with whom Lustig had initially 
dealt and who had already left by the time of Allen’s report. Allen frequently heard 
“stories of crudeness and prejudice,” especially on the part of one of the vice-consuls. 
He himself had witnessed “anti-Semitic outbursts, etc.” Allen believed that “the delays 
and difficulties here seem to me due almost entirely to the conviction of the men in 
the visa office that the powers-that-be in the State Department have their thumbs 
down i.e. are exclusionist.” The consuls believed, after Avra Warren, the chief of the 
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Visa Division, had paid them a visit, that Hiram Bingham was losing his post in 
Marseille because he had interpreted his instructions too liberally and issued too 
many visas.

After receiving Warburg’s letter and the enclosed reports, ER learned that Fry had 
been arrested. On December 12, 1940, acting once again as a conduit for firsthand, 
unvarnished reporting on the effects of Nazi policies and the inadequate American 
response to the refugee crisis, ER sent Warburg’s letter and the reports from Allen and 
Fry on to FDR. She wrote at the top of the letter: “Varian Fry, an American citizen, 
has been arrested in Marseille and is now on a prison ship.” 54

ER also contacted Sumner Welles about Fry’s situation. Welles told her that Fry, 
along with several other people associated with Fry’s organization, had indeed been 
jailed by the French police on December 2 but had experienced “no physical hardship” 
and was released on December 5. 55 Welles suggested that there were good reasons for 
Fry’s arrest:

The fact is that Mr. Fry had been directed by his principals in this country to leave 
France. This order was sent to him some weeks ago but he continued in his activi-
ties there. His activities brought him into contact with various persons whom the 
French police had on the suspect list and he was in company with some of those 
persons when arrested. 56

On December 18, in response to Warburg’s December 4 letter and the reports ER 
had sent him, FDR simply replied: “I suggest you take up with the State Department.” 57 
He did not comment on the issue of State Department delays in forwarding recom-
mendations for emergency visas to the consulates, or on Allen’s or Fry’s reports on the 
desperate plight of political refugees and the behavior of American consular officials, 
or on Fry’s imprisonment. Once again, he preferred to leave these matters to the State 
Department without, apparently, giving them specific instructions for what he would 
like to see done. At the same time, however, he invited ER to press her case with the 
department.

One of Fry’s chief complaints in the report he sent to the ERC at the end of 
October 1940 was the lack of funds to carry out his work. 58 In December, the ERC 
launched a fundraising campaign to remedy the problem. 59 ER supported the ERC’s 
efforts financially by sending $25 (equivalent to approximately $450 in 2020) and 
contributed regularly thereafter, 60 but, following her usual practice of not participat-
ing in fundraising events for causes that had political implications, she declined invita-
tions to participate in the ERC’s fundraising drive. She even turned down an invitation 
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to speak at a Hollywood fundraiser for the ERC despite the offer of film director and 
producer Ernst Lubitsch to contribute $25,000 if she came to speak. 61

She supported the ERC’s cause publicly, however. In a My Day column on Decem-
ber 21 she argued vigorously that many of the refugees the ERC sought to rescue would 
strengthen the nation:

We have today a very great opportunity. People who have been known and recog-
nized in the world as great scientists, educators, writers and sociologists are all seek-
ing new homes. It will be short-sighted indeed on our part, if we do not continue 
the policy which has worked so well in the past — to enrich our own land by invit-
ing into our midst these people who have a contribution to make to civilization. 62

Eleanor Roosevelt played a key role in the work performed by the Emergency Rescue 
Committee by responding immediately to its appeals for help, facilitating the issuing 
of a visa to Varian Fry, prodding her husband to act, helping to arrange meetings for the 
leaders of the ERC and PACPR with the president or State Department officials, repeat-
edly asking Sumner Welles to intervene in cases where someone was having difficulty 
obtaining a visa, and publicly drawing attention to the importance of the ERC’s work. 
She continued her efforts throughout December 1940 and into the following year 
as the political refugees still trapped in unoccupied France remained in grave danger.
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V I S A A P P L I C A N T S

The “little officials” in the State 
Department “still  hold their places”

I n early December 1940 Dr. Anna Stein, a leader of the Buffalo, New York, chap-
ter of the Emergency Rescue Committee (ERC), wrote to Eleanor Roosevelt asking 
for her help with the cases of twelve refugees whose names had been submitted 

to the President’s Advisory Committee on Political Refugees (PACPR) but who had 
not yet received visas. The twelve people, mostly Gentiles but some Jews, were asso-
ciated with an organization of non-Marxist socialists known as the Internationaler 
Sozialistischer Kampfbund or ISK (International Socialist Fighting Alliance). Some 
members of this anti-Nazi group continued to work underground in Germany for 
five years after Hitler came to power; others reestablished themselves in Paris and 
continued to carry on their anti-Nazi activities, including publishing and distributing 
anti-Nazi literature and lending support to the underground movement in Germany. 
When Germany invaded France, the French government interned some members of 
the group, along with other nonnatives of German origin, in the Gurs camp in south-
ern France; others fled to the south in advance of the German army. Because “their 
names are well known to the Gestapo,” they are in “great danger,” Stein wrote in her 
appeal on the group’s behalf. “Their devotion to the ideals of justice and liberty recom-
mends them as desirable citizens in America.” 1 Like Hans Lustig, they were exactly the 
sort of people ER believed it was essential to rescue.

Dorothy Hill and Eva Lewinski delivered Dr. Stein’s letter to ER at her apartment in 
New York and discussed the refugee cases with her. Hill was one of the founders of the 
Buffalo chapter of the ERC and well known to ER as an active member of the network 
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of women reformers to which ER belonged; Eva Lewinski was a Jewish member of the 
ISK group who had managed to get an American visa because she was on the endangered 
refugee list sent to the State Department by the Jewish Labor Committee. 2 Dr. Stein, 
herself a refugee from Germany, had arrived in the United States in September 1938. 
She had been a teacher at Country College in Walkemühle, Germany, the educational 
center of the ISK movement before 1933. Lewinski, who had been one of Stein’s pupils 
at Walkemühle, joined Stein in exile in the United States in October 1940. Both of them 
began to work closely with the ERC and the Jewish Labor Committee to bring out other 
members of their group. 3 At ER’s direction, Tommy forwarded the letter from Stein to 
Sumner Welles, who promised to check on the status of the twelve cases.

On December 27, ER met again with Eva Lewinski, this time at the White House. 
Paul C. Benjamin, a prominent social worker and champion of the unemployed during 
the Depression, who was also a member of the Buffalo chapter of the ERC, accompa-
nied Lewinski. They had come to Washington to press the cases of those on the list that 
Lewinski had helped deliver to ER in New York on December 2, together with those of 
fifteen additional refugees. 4 Before ER had a chance to send the expanded list to Sumner 
Welles, Welles finally reported on the initial group of visa cases. He told ER that six of the 
cases had already been approved by the State Department and sent on to the consulates 
“for special consideration,” two were under consideration by the State Department and 
would be “expedited,” and four had not yet been sent to the department by the PACPR. 5

On the same day Welles was writing to her, ER sent him the revised and expanded 
list that Lewinski and Benjamin had left with her and asked him for “a report as to why 
many of these people who actually have visas are finding so much difficulty.” As he had 
done in the past, Welles sent ER’s letter and the new list of refugees to Breckinridge 
Long and asked him to draft a reply. 6

In the letter Long drafted, Welles told ER that the difficulty that people who already 
had visas were having lay with barriers that the Department of State had no power to 
remove: “traveling through hostile territory in which the Gestapo is active,” “getting 
permits to cross frontiers,” and “getting over borders and through lines which are con-
trolled by the military authorities.” He was referring to the same obstacles that Fry had 
detailed in his reports: getting exit permits from France and transit visas for passage 
through Spain and Portugal. In the case of Spain, where an agent of the German govern-
ment (“presumably a Gestapo officer”) screened the names of anyone wishing to travel 
through the country, Welles said that the State Department had appealed in “exceptional 
cases” to the Spanish Government, but not always successfully. Providing the names 
and addresses of particular individuals to the Spanish government might put them in 
danger, since it could make it easier for the German agent to locate and arrest them.

ER passed the information Welles had provided on to Lewinski and Benjamin in 
Buffalo. She also asked Tommy to send copies of Welles’s letter and report to James 
McDonald at the PACPR and Frank Kingdon at the ERC. 7
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As her correspondence makes clear, ER played a significant role in pushing for a 
resolution to the cases on the ERC lists. When the ERC learned of inexplicable delays 
in the processing of visas for the individuals it sought to rescue and brought the prob-
lem to ER’s attention, she sent the names directly to Sumner Welles and demanded 
an explanation. When she found that some of the names had never reached the State 
Department, she submitted the list to the PACPR and asked them for the reason. Thus 
she put pressure on both the State Department and the PACPR to act on the cases and 
to speed the processing of the visa applications whenever possible. Despite Welles’s 
assurance that the cases were being “expedited” and that the consulates had been in-
structed to give them “special consideration,” some of them dragged on for another six 
months. With the assistance of his colleagues, Welles sought information on each case 
and tried to explain the delays. In the case of Otto Pfister, Lewinski’s fiancé, who was 
on one of the lists delivered to ER, the Interdepartmental Committee wondered how 
Pfister had managed to secure his release from a German internment camp by posing 
as a French soldier (he had actually posed as a French civilian). French soldiers ordi-
narily carried identification papers and Pfister was a native German. Wouldn’t the Nazis 
have been able to recognize that? The Interdepartmental Committee apparently feared 
that the Nazis had coerced or persuaded him to become a German spy, despite his past 
engagement in anti-Nazi activities. Pfister had lived in France for twelve years, how-
ever, and his French was good enough to fool the Germans, as apparently the consul 
in Marseille eventually concluded. Pfister got his visa, but it took months and required 
the tenacity of Lewinski and her friends, who submitted testimony to Pfister’s good 
character, plus ER’s persistent application of her influence, to overcome the resistance 
of the State Department and the consul in Marseille. 8 Welles’s intervention, while it 
focused special attention on a case, had a limited effect on speeding up the process.

The depth of ER’s distress about State Department obstruction and her views on 
what needed to be done about it were recorded by Eva Lewinski in a memorandum 
of conversation she wrote after she and Paul Benjamin met with ER on December 27, 
1940. The document provides the fullest available window into ER’s private views on 
the refugee issue. Lewinski said in the memorandum that ER “knew all the details we 
came to explain to her of the difficulties which the refugees seeking to come to this 
country are meeting” and agreed that the pace at which emergency visas were being 
issued was “by far insufficient.” 9

One week earlier the State Department had issued a statement in response to crit-
icism of its policies that claimed that the department had approved most visa appli-
cations for political refugees. 10 A New York Times (NYT ) editorial took the State 
De partment’s assertions at face value and declared, “It is something of a triumph over 
red tape that out of about 2,000 individuals for whom various refugee committees have 
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asked admission to this country half have already received visas, nearly all the others 
will receive them as soon as they can make use of them, and only about a dozen have 
been rejected.” 11 But ER did not buy it. Lewinski reported that ER

did not think that the articles in the New York papers give a real picture of the sit-
uation, nor did she agree with Mr. George Warren who, after a conversation with 
the officials of different administrations, and also with Mr. Cordell Hull himself, 
seemed to be reassured and to think that things would go on better now. In her 
opinion things are going on too slowly even after the examination of each case. 
Those who are obstructing a more liberal refugee policy still hold their places in the 
State Department. She herself makes many interventions, but not always with suc-
cess. . . . She felt very sorry for all these facts. 12

ER clearly believed that those officials who obstructed a more liberal immigration 
policy and continued to “hold their places in the State Department” should be re-
moved. Given her ongoing argument with FDR about delays in the issuing of visas 
during the fall of 1940, she no doubt had urged FDR to do so. She expressed her low 
opinion of Breckinridge Long to FDR more than once. Justine Polier later remem-
bered ER saying to the president in regard to Long,

“Franklin, you know he’s a fascist.” And really cross, he said, “I’ve told you, Eleanor, 
you must not say that.” She said, “Well, maybe I shouldn’t say it, but he is.” 13

Since Long and the other obstructionists had not been removed, the only way to change 
the State Department’s attitude, ER advised Lewinski and Benjamin, was to arouse 
public support for admitting more refugees and to put pressure on Congress:

You have to push the public opinion all over the country, to make them understand 
that we do not object to investigation of these people who seek entrance to the 
United States, but that we have to go on quickly. And that these people for whom 
applications for visas are made are for the most part not Communists or fifth col-
umnists, they are known for their fight for the democratic ideals of this country.

Lewinski, Benjamin, and their colleagues needed to make their congressmen under-
stand that if they conducted “a reactionary campaign inside the Congress concerning 
the refugee problem,” they could lose their seats. If Congress could be persuaded to sup-
port a liberal refugee policy, ER told them, that would influence the “little officials” in 
the State Department in Washington and in the consulates abroad, who “do not want 
to take any risk,” to change their behavior. 14 She urged Lewinski and Benjamin to ap-
proach their local newspapers and hold mass meetings (as they had already done in 
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Buffalo). ER understood that the “little officials” in the State Department would con-
tinue to act, out of fear, with excessive caution unless the American public demanded 
the admission of more refugees.

ER’s personal concern, her warmth and candor, made a deep impression on Lewin-
ski. When Lewinski reflected on this meeting with ER in a memoir she wrote for her 
children years later, she said: “That I, an unknown refugee, should be able to enter 
the White House; that the wife of the President would receive me, shake my hand 
with great warmth, listen to what I had to say, ask questions, and then promise to try 
to help — was perhaps one of the most profound experiences that I had ever had.” 15

Back in Buffalo, Benjamin and Lewinski followed ER’s advice about reaching out 
to the public, the press, and their congressmen. Benjamin wrote ER that he would ask 
the members of the Buffalo branch of the ERC “to write and to see their congressmen, 
urging consideration for these refugees now marooned in southern France.” 16 He in-
formed the press that as a result of their discussion of the refugee problem with ER, 
the Buffalo chapter of the ERC planned to invite local congressmen to a luncheon or 
dinner in order “to enlist their interest in speeding issuance of visas for political refu-
gees in Lisbon, Portugal, and southern France.” Benjamin said that after speaking with 
ER he felt “that there needs to be a tremendous upsurge of concern in this country 
for the democratic way of life and a swinging back to the old doctrine that the United 
States is and should remain a haven for the oppressed. Mrs. Roosevelt expressed the 
greatest concern for these people, who are in such danger,” he said, “and I feel that it 
is up to us to arouse public opinion against racial and religious prejudices that might 
arise out of the attempt to give refugees a place in the United States.” 17

During her meeting with Lewinski and Benjamin at the White House on De-
cember 27, 1940, ER expressed a special interest in the case of Rainer Litten, the son 
of Irmgard Litten, a German refugee now living in England. ER had reviewed Irmgard 
Litten’s book, Beyond Tears, in her My Day column in September 1940 after its publi-
cation in the United States. The book recounts the arrest, detention in several concen-
tration camps, and torture of Hans Litten, another of Irmgard’s sons, and her efforts 
to rescue him from the time of his arrest in 1933 until his death in Dachau in 1938. 
Irmgard was a Gentile, but Hans and Rainer’s father was a Jew who had converted to 
Christianity to advance himself professionally. Hans, however, went to synagogue, stud-
ied Hebrew, and became active in a Jewish youth group while a teenager, reaffirming 
his Jewish heritage in defiance of the wishes of his father, who had become a promi-
nent Königsberg jurist. 18 After Hans became a lawyer, he often defended leftist work-
ers and Communists, although he was not a Communist himself. In 1931 he tried to 
bring criminal charges against several members of the Sturmabteilung (SA), the Nazi 
paramilitary group, who had murdered three people in an attack on a dance hall where 
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Communists often gathered. He called Hitler to the witness stand in hopes of show-
ing that such violence was a deliberate policy of the Nazi party aimed at destroying 
democracy. When, to prove his point, he quoted from a pamphlet written by party 
propagandist Joseph Goebbels proclaiming that the Nazis would “make revolution” 
and “chase parliament to the devil” with the help of “German fists and German brains,” 
Hitler became enraged and could not respond. From then on Litten was on Hitler’s 
enemies list and was among the first people rounded up after Hitler came to power. 19

Beyond Tears had originally been published by Editions Nouvelles Internationales, 
a publishing house established in Paris by ISK, the German anti-Nazi group to which 
Eva Lewinski and Otto Pfister belonged. This “deeply moving” book, ER wrote in My 
Day, was “painful to read” but made her feel “proud for the whole human race that 
such people as Hans Litten and his mother have lived in the world and kept faith to 
the end.” She hoped the book would sound the alarm to the “many people who are 
not yet awake to the menace of power which knows no restraints except the measure 
of its own physical force.” 20

In September 1940, ER was also helping promote Pastor Hall, a British film based 
on a play by the German Jewish playwright Ernst Toller. The film dramatized the resis-
tance of a German pastor to the Nazi suppression of Christian and democratic values 
in a German village and his eventual murder. In a prologue to the film, ER told viewers 
that she found the film “deeply encouraging,” for it told the story of a man of “undying 
faith” who was willing to perish for his beliefs. Men like Pastor Hall, she said, repre-
sented the hope of future generations who must enter a world “dominated not by the 
destructive force of hatred, but by the creative power of love.” 21 Like the story of Hans 
Litten, the film gave her a way to speak out much more directly against the persecu-
tion of innocent people by the Nazis than she had in the past. One of ER’s correspon-
dents told her that she “was deeply impressed by the fact that the wife of the President 
of the United States had the courage to prove that humanity and loyalty to democratic 
principles rank higher than diplomacy.” 22

Rainer Litten’s case was on ER’s mind when she met with Lewinski and Benjamin 
because she had recently received a letter from Gunther Jacobson, a New York immi-
gration lawyer, telling her that Rainer had fled from Germany to Switzerland but was 
in danger of being sent back to Germany if he could not obtain an American visa. 
Jacobson appealed to ER for help and ER forwarded Jacobson’s letter to Sumner Welles, 
asking him what he could do. Although Welles quickly cabled the consul general in 
Zurich, he received back a discouraging report. Rainer was an actor, did not speak 
English, and was without financial resources. He had obtained an affidavit from “a 
Mrs. Master” through a friend, but “Mrs. Master is understood to be in only moder-
ate circumstances and is unknown to Mr. Litten.” Therefore, the consulate did not 
consider it an adequate guarantee of support. 23
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Litten’s case is an example of the overzealousness of consuls in excluding would-be 
immigrants on the grounds that they were “likely to become a public charge.” Like the 
cases of Rosa Vogl and Erna Fischer, which ER had employed in her ongoing argu-
ment with FDR about the length of time it was taking to process visa applications, 
and the case of Hans Lustig, who suffered a long delay in obtaining a visa, this was “a 
good case in point.” On January 23, after asking the ERC for assistance with Litten’s 
case, ER sent Welles a note telling him that Ingrid Warburg thought that the American 
consul in Zurich was “unduly cautious” in questioning whether Mrs. Master, who, it 
turned out, was the sister of Edith Lehman, the wife of New York governor Herbert 
Lehman, had sufficient means to sponsor Litten. 24 She noted that Litten’s mother had 
also pledged to turn over the American royalties from Beyond Tears to her son for his 
support. Later that day, Welles telephoned to say that he had sent a telegram to Zurich 
requesting that the consulate issue a visa for Litten. 25 A month later, on February 27, 
1941, the consulate in Zurich finally did so. In this case, the weight of ER’s influence, 
plus, no doubt, the risk of annoying the wealthy and politically prominent Lehman 
family, tipped the scales.

Despite ER’s success in helping Litten obtain his visa, Litten remained stranded in 
Switzerland for many months while ER became increasingly irritated. When ER wrote 
Welles for a report on the case toward the end of March, Welles replied that he had 
requested a telegraphic report from Zurich on “Litten’s alleged difficulty in making 
the necessary travel arrangements for his journey to the US.” Over two weeks later, ER 
wrote: “I hope I will soon get the report on Rainer Litten. It seems to take a long time 
to get anything through!” When Welles replied two days later, he reported that Litten 
had not visited the consulate since receiving his visa on February 27. In the middle of 
May, ER received word from Morris Troper, the agent of the Jewish Joint Distribution 
Committee in Lisbon, that the JDC had hoped to send Litten to the United States in 
June, but their office in Zurich advised “case still unready.” ER sent the message on to 
Welles and again exploded: “This message seems incredible. Is it true that the Litten 
boy’s case is not yet in order?”

Welles responded that the delay Litten had experienced since receiving his visa 
apparently arose from his failure in trying to obtain the transit visas from Spain and 
Portugal that would enable him to reach Lisbon. Although the United States could 
not officially ask foreign governments to issue transit visas, the State Department had 
telegraphed the consul general in Zurich to find out what the obstacles were and prom-
ised that after receiving a report “if I feel there is anything we can do to be of help, 
I will have it done.” In response to ER’s incredulousness and in defense of the State 
Department’s handling of the case, Welles said, “I do, however, want to make it clear 
that the Litten boy was given an American visa on Feb 27, and that he has not subse-
quently appealed to any of our officials for assistance.” 26
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In August, Irmgard Litten sent a cable to the ERC reporting that her son had 
be come very ill with an inflamed middle ear, required an operation, and could not 
travel before September 26 when his visa expired. Now he faced losing his American 
visa because of illness at a time when she understood there are “enormous difficulties 
in obtaining American visas or prolongations of previous ones,” because “the authori-
ties wish to protect the country from being infiltrated with doubtful individuals.” At 
Ingrid Warburg’s request, ER again contacted Sumner Welles to see what he could 
do. In Welles’s absence, Breckinridge Long responded on September 3 reporting that 
the State Department had cabled “its advisory approval” to the consulate in Zurich 
of a new visa for Litten. ER’s intervention had again been effective, but two weeks 
later Long reported that Litten told the consulate that he could not depart for the 
United States until after his operation and had not yet secured transit visas or steam-
ship passage. 27 Litten never made it to the United States, but fortunately Switzerland 
did not deport him back to Germany and he survived the war. He resumed his acting 
career in Switzerland and died in Zurich in 1972. 28

Litten’s case illustrates some of the reasons for the long delays that characterized 
the manner in which the State Department and American consulates processed visa 
applications. These delays, which Breckinridge Long encouraged, angered ER. But 
Litten’s case also highlights the other daunting obstacles, which ER recognized were 
not under the control of the State Department, that also blocked the rescue of even 
a small number of refugees seeking to escape from southern France and other parts 
of Europe: the difficulty of obtaining exit and transit visas from France, Spain, and 
Portugal, the shortage of transportation, and the slowness of communication, as well 
as unavoidable complications such as illness.

In a letter to ER in January 1941, in response to further complaints ER had re-
ceived from Varian Fry, Sumner Welles once again expressed confidence in the proce-
dures established by the State Department:

I believe that, despite some critics who are not aware of the facts, the machinery 
which we have set up to deal with the emergency refugee problem is functioning 
effectively and well.

He went on to assert that the State Department “acts promptly” on the names of ref-
ugees recommended by the PACPR and sends the recommendations to the consuls 
who grant these applicants “an immediate hearing.” Refugees are arriving in the United 
States “in large numbers” and in other American countries as well. 29

There is no reason to believe that Welles was insincere in what he told ER. He may 
have been misled by Long and others in the State Department into thinking that the 
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review process was working more effectively than it actually was. The reports ER re-
ceived from the ERC, relatives and friends of refugees, Jay Allen, and Varian Fry about 
the refugee situation continued to contradict Welles’s complacent interpretation of 
the situation, however. As a result, she persisted in challenging the wall of reassurance 
that Welles threw up with the help of Long and Avra Warren. She had some success 
in moving forward the visa cases of individual refugees, but ER’s pressure failed to 
motivate Welles to advocate changes in the system or in the way it was administered.

During the first few months of 1941, up against the same obstacles encountered 
by ER, James McDonald became discouraged by the ineffectiveness of the President’s 
Advisory Committee on Political Refugees (PACPR). In early February 1941, he turned 
to ER, who had continued to provide him with advice and moral support, in addition to 
serving as his liaison with the president. McDonald asked to see her about “a personal 
matter on which I covet your counsel.” 30 He felt defeated by the State Department’s 
rejection of emergency visas for some of the political refugees recommended by the 
PACPR and the slow processing of the applications it did approve. He had gotten the 
impression from the State Department that it believed the president did not want 
refugees to come to the United States and wished to see the work of the PACPR ter-
minated. McDonald’s reference to a “personal matter” in asking to meet with ER sug-
gests that he was considering resigning his position as head of the PACPR. On March 
2, after meeting twice with McDonald, ER wrote to him:

I spoke to the Pres [sic] and he says he certainly does not believe that the people in 
the State Department thought that he wanted the committee’s work to come to an 
end, or that he does not want to get proper refugees over here.

The Pres thinks you are doing a very remarkable piece of work and he wants you to 
continue, and he wants the skeleton committee held together, because of the future.

He feels that if a few of the people are turned down you should not become dis-
couraged, because sometimes things are discovered in an investigation which make 
it necessary to refuse, and these investigations have to be made.

FDR continued to believe that the time-consuming review of visa applications con-
ducted by the State Department was necessary for the nation’s security. When he told 
ER that he wanted “the skeleton committee held together, because of the future,” FDR 
apparently meant that he didn’t expect much to be accomplished while the war went 
on but expected there would be opportunities once the war was over to resettle a greater 
number of refugees. When McDonald thanked ER for speaking with FDR, he asked her 
“to tell the President that we are appreciative of his expression of confidence and that as 
long as he feels we can be of use, we shall consider it a privilege to continue to serve.” 31
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While ER pressed the cases the ERC brought to her attention and helped reas-
sure McDonald about the usefulness of the PACPR, the issue of Varian Fry’s status 
remained unresolved. He continued to defy both the ERC’s attempt to recall him and 
the State Department’s demand that he cease operations and return to the United 
States. After Fry’s passport expired on January 22, 1941, ER responded to an appeal for 
help from Fry’s wife, Eileen, by trying to arrange for her to meet with Sumner Welles. 
When Eileen Fry called ER again to report that Welles could not see her and, instead, 
had made an appointment for her to see Breckinridge Long, ER expressed her irrita-
tion that Welles had shunted her off to his less sympathetic colleague: “Will you please 
look into this situation yourself and let me know?” Welles replied on February 22 that 
he was sorry he had been too busy to see Eileen Fry and enclosed the memo of conver-
sation Long had written after he spoke with her.

“I reviewed with Mrs. Fry some of the activities of her husband which I said had 
been, from the point of view of the Department, of doubtful wisdom,” Long wrote. 
“She said that those particular extralegal activities were no longer being prosecuted” 
and that her husband, as an agent of the ERC, was now “giving relief in the form of 
small sums of money to persons of Jewish or foreign nationality or who had lost their 
nationality.” 32 This was, in fact, what Fry had told his wife in letters meant to mislead 
the Vichy censors and provide her with cover to plead his case.

Long then asked Eileen Fry if the ERC would be willing to request that the State 
Department issue Fry a passport for him to continue to carry out the relief mission 
she had described. When she said she was confident that they would, he asked her to 
obtain such a letter. By this time, however, relations between Fry and the ERC had 
become antagonistic and Kingdon would not endorse the renewal of Fry’s passport 
or even meet with Eileen Fry. Fry, however, feeling that he could not “abandon my 
people,” continued stubbornly on without the security of a passport. 33

In March 1941 Warburg sent ER a copy of a letter Fry had written to the ERC back 
on January 24, which had been brought out of France by hand and thereby escaped cen-
sorship. “[It] is really a document,” she told ER and suggested that the president might 
wish to read it, and Sumner Welles too, “if you think it wise.” 34 In his thirteen-page 
letter, Fry expressed his “disgust” at the embassy’s lackadaisical attitude toward the ref-
ugees he was trying to help. With “a few honorable exceptions,” he charged, the mem-
bers of the foreign service

have no more interest in the refugees than they have in the Chinese coolies. Fur-
thermore, many of them are violently anti-Semitic. Nearly all of them are snobs, and 
some of them are constitutionally dishonest.

Fry pleaded with the ERC to “get someone with the connection of Hamilton Fish 
Armstrong [editor of Foreign Affairs] and his upper-class background, to take the State 



 CONTINUING THE FIGHT ON BEHALF OF VISA APPLICANTS 103

Department by the scruff of its neck and the seat of its pants and shake it until all visas 
fall out of its pockets.” 35

We don’t know what ER thought of Fry’s letter (or FDR, if he read it), but it must 
have added fuel to her anger at the State Department that she had expressed to Lewinski 
and Benjamin. Nevertheless, on May 13, when Eileen Fry appealed to ER once again for 
her help in renewing Fry’s passport, ER replied, “Miss Thompson gave me your mes-
sage and I am sorry to say that there is nothing I can do for your husband.” Despite her 
deep sympathy with Fry’s aims, she understood that the State Department could not 
approve the use of illegal methods by a private American citizen in a nation with which 
the United States had diplomatic relations. “I think [your husband] will have to come 
home,” she told Mrs. Fry, “because he has done things which the government does not 
feel it can stand behind. I am sure they will issue him a passport to come on even though 
it means that someone else will have to be sent to take over the work which he is doing.” 36

Even after his failure to get permission to stay in France, Fry stuck tenaciously to 
his task, but events made his work nearly impossible. In June 1941, because of its con-
cern about Nazi subversion, the American government demanded the withdrawal of 
German consulates in the United States by July 10. Germany responded by ordering 
the closing of American consulates in both Germany and German-occupied territory. 
This brought the emergency visa program to an end, although the cases of political ref-
ugees for whom visas had already been authorized but not yet issued remained active. 37

In addition, driven by fears that undesirable persons would enter the United States 
if the State Department did not exert even stricter control over the process, the State 
Department once again tightened immigration restrictions. Beginning July 1, the spon-
sors of visa applicants would submit affidavits to the State Department in Washington 
rather than to the consulates and, after investigating the affiants, the State Department 
would cable its recommendations to the consulates. The consulates would continue to 
retain the power to reject the application if they deemed it advisable. The new proce-
dure “will highly centralize the granting of visas and slow up the process,” Clarence 
Pickett complained in his journal.

The State Department also erected another new barrier to immigration: it would 
no longer issue visas to people who had relatives still living in countries under Nazi 
control. The reason for this new policy, Long explained to Pickett, was that the Polish, 
Russian, and German governments required anyone coming to America to send money 
to their relatives back home or distribute propaganda for their country in the United 
States. If they did not comply, their relatives would receive punishment. The State 
Department seemed to have “a plausible case,” Pickett noted in his journal, “but also 
it is another item in the suppression of individuals.” The new policy meant “almost a 
complete elimination of immigration.” 38

News of the stricter State Department regulations provoked anguish among those 
who cared deeply about the survival of refugees. Albert Einstein, knowing “no one 
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else to whom to turn for help” and believing that ER always stood “for the right and 
humaneness, even when it is hard,” wrote to her on July 26:

A policy is now being pursued in the State Department which makes it all but impos-
sible to give refuge in America to many worthy persons who are the victims of Fascist 
cruelty in Europe. Of course, this is not openly avowed by those responsible for it. 
The method which is being used, however, is to make immigration impossible by 
erecting a wall of bureaucratic measures alleged to be necessary to protect America 
against subversive, dangerous elements.

Einstein urged ER “to bring the matter to the attention of your heavily burdened hus-
band in order that it may be remedied.” 39 ER sent Einstein’s letter on to the president 
and reinforced Sumner Welles’s recommendation that the president meet with his 
Advisory Committee on Political Refugees to discuss the issue.

At the meeting, McDonald read a memo prepared by the PACPR that called the 
new policy “unnecessary, illogical, ill-adapted to the purposes claimed for it, and cruelly 
burdensome on the refugees affected by it.” The members of the committee asked that 
it be “cancelled or substantially modified.” 40 In addition, they asked that the State 
Department simplify procedures, establish a board to review cases on appeal from 
the Interdepartmental Committee, and allow the sponsors of visa applicants to testify 
before the review board. FDR, in characteristic fashion, “did not commit himself defi-
nitely,” McDonald told ER, but the members of the committee “received the impres-
sion” that the changes they had recommended would be adopted. At the PACPR’s 
meeting in December, George Warren reported that “experience seemed to indicate 
that the so-called relative clause had been less rigidly applied in recent weeks.” A review 
board had also been established. But in regard “to the simplification of procedures 
Mr. Warren said he could report no progress whatsoever.” 41

For Pickett and ER the unique circumstances of individual people took priority 
over blanket bureaucratic regulations, which by their very nature suppress individual 
freedom and ignore individual merit, and over the magnified fear that officials like 
Long employed in order to justify those regulations. Their interventions on behalf 
of individual visa applicants sometimes succeeded, usually with the help of Sumner 
Welles, but their protests had little impact on the “plausible” arguments and policies 
of government bureaucracy, which Welles himself endorsed.

ER fought with Sumner Welles over the new State Department rules when Joseph 
Lash, executive secretary of the International Student Service (ISS), and Trude Pratt, 
vice-chair of the ISS’s executive committee, brought to her attention the plight of 
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twenty-three Czech students whom they were trying to assist. The primary aim of 
the ISS, which had taken over the administration of the program begun by the In ter-
collegiate Committee to Aid Student Refugees, was to enable students to remain safely 
in the United States for the duration of the war. 42 ER played an important role in the 
organization by helping to secure the participation of prominent people in ISS pro-
grams, speaking at ISS events herself, and contributing to the ISS scholarship fund. 43

On October 6, 1941, Lash sent ER a list of the Czech students, most of whom had 
been studying in French universities at the outbreak of war and had refused to return to 
Czechoslovakia after the Germans occupied it. When the Germans invaded France, the 
students had found temporary refuge in Marseille or Switzerland. The Czechoslovak 
Consulate General had filed requests for emergency visas for the students through the 
PACPR and the visas had been authorized by the State Department in the spring. But 
when the new regulations went into effect in July, the students had to get their visas 
reapproved and, since all of them had relatives still living in Bohemia and Slovakia, 
they had not yet succeeded in getting their visas reapproved. Lash asked ER, “Is there 
any possibility of waiving the requirements with respect to relatives in occupied terri-
tories? I do not believe that Czechoslovaks are the kind of people whom the Germans 
can use for espionage purposes in this country.” 44

When Tommy asked Sumner Welles for information that ER could use to frame 
her reply to Lash, Welles asked Avra Warren to draft a response. In the reply drafted by 
Warren, Welles told ER that after reexamining the cases of the students in question “in 
the light of information relating to the presence of close relatives in German-occupied 
territory,” the State Department concluded that “the issuance of visas to the aliens in 
question would not be in the interest of the United States at this time,” with the excep-
tion of a few students who planned to continue their theological studies in the United 
States. The Czechoslovakian Legation was now seeking admission of the students to 
England, Canada, or another British territory where they might enlist for military 
service in the Czech Legion. The United States had agreed to issue them transit visas 
for that purpose. 45

Welles’s explanation angered ER. She objected to a policy that made no distinctions 
among visa applicants from German-occupied territories: “I do not think the relations 
clause should apply to Czechs. I think it lays us open to accusation of not wanting to 
help any refugees.” Welles replied, with an even greater than usual degree of rhetorical 
tiptoe, that the existence of close relatives in German-occupied territory was “a factor 
which must necessarily be taken into consideration along with all other factors in the 
case and which may or may not, in the aggregate, result in an unfavorable conclusion. I 
can assure you that there is no rule which interferes with our policy of granting asylum 
to worthy refugees.” Unsatisfied with Welles’s explanation, ER, in one of her sharp-
est responses to Welles’s explanations, demanded action in the particular cases of the 
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students for whom Lash had sought help: “If it isn’t a hard and fast rule, please look 
into it again. Everyone feels they would not be influenced.” 46

While ER wrangled with Welles over the Czech students, Varian Fry was return-
ing to the United States. After his arrival in New York via Lisbon on November 2, 1941, 
the New York Herald Tribune (NYHT ) reported that he “bitterly reproached the State 
Department for following a ‘stupid policy’ in controlling visas.” Because many refu-
gees were “entangled by red tape,” they were “falling victims to a systematic round-up 
of anti-Nazis by Gestapo agents in unoccupied France.” 47

In October 1941, Frank Kingdon asked ER if she would speak at a luncheon on 
November 4 welcoming Fry home. The ERC planned to invite 2,500 of its donors to 
attend. Tommy replied that ER’s busy schedule and the work she was now doing as assis-
tant director of the Office of Civilian Defense prevented her from accepting any more 
speaking invitations at that time. A week later Kingdon sent a second invitation, this 
time reminding her that despite being “constantly under the surveillance of Gestapo 
agents,” Fry had carried out “one of the most important works of these times.” Once 
again, ER regretted that she could not attend. 48 ER was indeed busy at this time, but 
she may also have felt that she had done all she could do for Fry behind the scenes and 
did not want to be publicly identified with a man whose surreptitious activities had 
angered the State Department.

Fry assisted in the rescue of about 2,000 people during his nearly fifteen months 
in France. Many of them, including Marc Chagall, Jacques Lipchitz, Heinrich Mann, 
Marcel Duchamp, and Hannah Arendt, were prominent in their fields and some would go 
on to make significant artistic or intellectual contributions to cultural life in America, as 
ER and others had predicted. Although modest compared to the scale of the problem, 
Fry’s achievement stands out as one of the few significant rescue efforts made during 
the war. ER supported Fry’s work by encouraging him at the outset, helping him get a 
visa, passing his reports and requests on to FDR and to Sumner Welles, and pressing 
Welles to expedite visas for individuals recommended by the ERC. When Welles told 
her that Fry was engaged in illegal activities that the American government could not 
tolerate, however, she recognized that she could do no more to help him.
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C O M BAT I N G A N T I-
I M M I G R A N T S E N T I M E N T 
A N D A N T I S E M I T I S M O N 

T H E H O M E F RO N T

“I’m not afraid and I don’t 
want you to be afraid”

H ans Lustig was fortunate in having a job at MGM waiting for him 
when he arrived in the United States in the fall of 1940, but the problems of 
most refugees did not end with admission into the United States. The Great 

De pression and the increasing turmoil in Europe reinforced the anti-immigration sen-
timent in the United States that had led to the passage of the 1917, 1921, and 1924 immi-
gration laws. The unemployment rate in the United States, which had reached nearly 
25 percent in 1933, dropped to 14 percent (7.5 million people) by early 1937, but FDR’s 
decision to cut spending that year precipitated a recession that pushed the unemploy-
ment rate back to 19 percent (8–10 million people) in 1938 and well into 1939. 1 Many 
American workers feared that an influx of European refugees would displace them, and 
those still unemployed worried that they would have to compete with the new immi-
grants for the scarce jobs available. 2 Antisemitism and fears that Communists would 
be among the immigrants further stoked anxiety.

These anxieties created opposition to a liberalization of immigration restrictions. 
They also made it hard for refugees who did make it to the United States to find work 
and achieve acceptance in their new country. Refugees needed assistance adjusting to 
their new condition. To meet that need, refugee organizations created facilities for 
welcoming the newcomers, provided temporary quarters for housing them, and sought 
to place them with families or find them homes of their own. They assisted them with 
finding work and provided health and other human services. The American Friends 
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Service Committee (AFSC), which was at the forefront of refugee efforts domestically 
as well as in Europe, worked with the National Coordinating Committee for Aid to 
Refugees, whose members included both Christians and Jews, on placing newly arrived 
refugees in American communities. 3 The AFSC and other organizations also sought to 
educate Americans about the contributions immigrants made to the United States and 
win acceptance for people who came from different cultural and religious backgrounds.

Eleanor Roosevelt warmly embraced these efforts, praising them in her My Day 
column and encouraging those individuals and organizations that were addressing the 
problems immigrants faced. Her interest in programs that helped immigrants become 
oriented to American society went back to her earliest experience in social service when 
she worked with Jewish and Italian immigrants at the Rivington Street Settlement on 
the Lower East Side of New York. ER also addressed the issue of discrimination against 
immigrants in her speeches and took a special interest in initiatives aimed at overcom-
ing the misinformation that created prejudice against them.

Although this work had begun before 1938, the events of that year, culminating in 
Kristallnacht, and the large increase in the number of refugees admitted to the United 
States as a result of the Roosevelt administration’s somewhat more liberal policy during 
this period, made the task of absorbing new immigrants into the United States urgent. 4 
In December 1938, when Dr. John Elliott, senior leader of the Ethical Cultural Society, 
came to tell her about plans to create “friendship houses” in many cities around the 
country to assist refugees, ER wrote Clarence Pickett that she thought it “a very wonder-
ful idea.” Elliott assured her that he could raise the money but said he needed guidance 
from Pickett and the AFSC, which had become expert at managing programs in which 
“people train by working together.” Pickett replied that he thought the chairmanship 
would demand too much of his time but that one of his colleagues was helping Elliott 
flesh out the plan. Elliott went on to help found the Good Neighbor League Committee 
on the Émigré and the Community, an organization for fostering greater acceptance 
of immigrants by American society, and ER agreed to serve as its honorary president. 5

One of the earliest organizations to establish hostels or friendship houses for refu-
gees was the Women’s Division of the American Jewish Congress (AJC). According to a 
fundraising pamphlet sent to ER in 1940, the refugee hostels operated by the Women’s 
Division of the AJC had provided shelter to 3,000 men, women, and children since 
they opened in 1934. 6 When Carrie Chapman Catt wrote to ER in May 1940 urging her 
to visit Congress House, a refugee hostel in New York City founded by Louise Wise, 
the wife of Rabbi Stephen Wise, and write about it in her My Day column, ER read-
ily agreed to do so. She wrote in her column that Congress House “must indeed seem 
a cheerful haven to strangers landing on our shores. I wish we could receive everyone 
who comes to this country with the same spirit which Mrs. Wise and her colleagues 
have been able to create in these houses.”
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In a later column, ER noted that she had failed to mention “one rather important 
fact” about Congress House: the Women’s Division of the AJC “accepted refugees on 
an entirely non-sectarian basis. Not only Jewish, but Catholic and liberal Protestant 
refugees from Germany, have found a haven here.” 7

But while some individuals and organizations welcomed the new immigrants, hostil-
ity toward them remained strong. In January 1939, when the eminent Jewish American 
violinist Mischa Elman, himself an immigrant, launched a tour of twenty-five cities 
to raise funds for German refugees of all religious backgrounds, he received a threat-
ening letter and had to have two plainclothes policemen escort him to Carnegie Hall 
and sit backstage during the concert. “What has happened to us in this country?” 
ER asked in My Day the next day. “If we study our own history we find that we have 
always been ready to receive the unfortunates from other countries, and though this 
may seem a generous gesture on our part, we have profited a thousand-fold by what 
they have brought us.” 8

Many organizations opposed to immigration spread false information about refu-
gees to stir up prejudice against them. The American Coalition, for example, an organi-
zation of self-proclaimed patriotic groups formed in 1937 by Senator Robert Reynolds 
of North Carolina, campaigned not only to restrict immigration but to deport aliens, 
who, Reynolds claimed, populated American prisons, asylums, and relief rolls, in addi-
tion to taking jobs from Americans. 9

To counter misinformation about immigrants, the AFSC distributed a pamphlet in 
the spring of 1939 entitled Refugee Facts. The manuscript “came into our hands,” Pickett 
explained to ER, and “it seemed so pertinent” that the AFSC decided to publish it. 
The pamphlet had actually been produced by the American Jewish Committee, which 
had asked the AFSC to publish it but had covered the cost of printing. The American 
Jewish Committee no doubt felt that the pamphlet would carry greater weight with 
the public if it were published by a Christian organization. In addition to carefully 
checking the statistics, the AFSC added an introduction.

Pickett asked ER to write about Refugee Facts in My Day, but he worded his request 
carefully because of his sensitivity to the constraints that limited ER’s freedom: “If you 
feel strongly impelled to say something about it in your column, we hope you will not 
feel restrained.” 10 Probably because the issue mainly concerned refugees once they were 
in the United States, ER did not feel restrained. Although she rarely devoted a whole 
column to one topic, in this case she did. One of the most surprising statistics cited 
in the pamphlet, she noted, was that the nation had actually experienced a net loss of 
immigrants over the past six years:

From 1932 through June 1938, a total of 241,962 immigrants were admitted into the 
United States for permanent residence. During this same period 246,449 immigrants 
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previously admitted to this country for permanent residence moved away, so that 
roughly, during the six years of the Nazi regime in Germany, 4,487 more aliens 
departed than were admitted to the United States.

ER called special attention to the refugees described in the pamphlet who had 
created jobs by bringing their technical knowledge with them and restarting their 
businesses in the United States. Three refugees whose wool hosiery firm previously 
exported goods to the United States from Germany had reestablished their business 
in Massachusetts and employed thirty-eight American workers. A refugee who arrived 
with a patented process for making gloves now sold $100,000 worth of goods in the 
United States each year. These facts, she wrote, “seem to indicate that these immi-
grants will contribute to our well-being as have similar groups in our past history.” 11

To ER, integrating immigrants into American society was part of making democ-
racy successful. In the fall of 1939, when she gave one of her “sermons on citizenship” at 
the New York Herald Tribune Forum on Current Problems, she noted that the other 
speakers had focused on the threat from Communist and Nazi groups. She agreed that 
it was necessary to protect the nation against the influence of such groups but argued 
that it was more important to address human needs, including those of immigrants. 
She told her listeners that they need not fear the threat of Communism and Fascism 
if they made democracy serve everyone:

I believe in democracy and in my inward power to work for democracy and to make 
it seem worthwhile to other people. And for that reason I’m not afraid and I don’t 
want you to be afraid. I want you to make this country a land where we do not live 
under fear, but where we work to make life worth living. 12

ER’s attitude toward the refugee problem, both in its overseas and domestic 
manifestations, was bound up in her evolving conception of national defense. After the 
fall of France she came to the firm conclusion that the United States could reach no 
accommodation with Hitler. She hoped that someday military force would no longer 
be needed to settle disputes, but as the menace of Nazi military aggression grew, she 
became more and more committed to FDR’s program of building strong military 
defenses and supplying the French and British with weapons to defend themselves. At 
the same time, she continued to believe that an essential element of national defense was 
for citizens to make a deeper commitment to improving the lives of everyone. Modern 
weapons and men trained to use them constituted the first line of defense, she said in 
a speech to the Herald Tribune Forum in 1940, but a well-armed, well-prepared mili-
tary force also needed “something which will create in these trained men an unbeatable 
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spirit.” Citizens in totalitarian states felt that they were participating in a revolution; 
citizens in the United States must feel that they, too, were participating in an inspir-
ing process of transformative change. 13

ER was adapting her “sermons on citizenship” to the new circumstances in which 
America found itself. The nation was now preparing for war. Building a society that met 
everyone’s needs would create national unity and lift morale; it would give Americans 
something worth fighting and dying for. The reception of refugees to the United States 
continued to be one of the areas needing improvement.

The passage of the Alien Registration Act (Smith Act) at the end of June 1940 
required anyone residing within the borders of the United States who was not a citi-
zen or national to register as an “alien.” Each alien was finger-printed and filled out a 
questionnaire about his or her background, memberships in organizations, occupa-
tion, and employment. He or she was then assigned a registration number and issued 
an identification card by the Immigration and Naturalization Service (INS). Although 
the INS attempted to soothe the fears of immigrants about this process in a series of 
public service announcements over the radio, the law did nothing to dissipate the wide-
spread suspicion of recent immigrants and it officially stigmatized them as outsiders. 
Over five million immigrants eventually submitted alien registration forms.

To dispel prejudice against refugees, ER, Clarence Pickett, and their colleagues 
sought to strengthen the argument made in the 1939 pamphlet Refugee Facts that 
far from becoming a drain on American resources, immigrants had made substan-
tial contributions to the American economy. At the end of 1940, at ER’s instigation, 
Agnes Inglis, in her role as executive secretary of the Committee for Selected Social 
Studies, began a study of refugees and employment that ER hoped would illuminate 
the situation of refugees nationwide. In May, as the study proceeded, ER wrote a My 
Day column deploring the prejudice against immigrants that arose, in part, from the 
fear of spies infiltrating America’s growing defense industry. She thought it “perfectly 
natural” that Americans “should be extremely anxious now to keep foreign agents 
from retarding our defense industries, or from creating dissension among us through 
their activities.” She recognized that identifying aliens who had entered the country 
illegally required the authorities to “question many people who are entirely innocent 
of any subversive activity.” But because that was necessary, only government officials of 
“the highest caliber” should “have anything to do with these activities.” Ordinary citi-
zens should report suspicious activity to these authorities. But most people who had 
entered the country recently were either citizens or becoming citizens and were “prob-
ably more devoted to the democratic form of government than many of our citizens 
who have taken their allegiance to democracy for granted.” These new citizens “must 
be given the same opportunity that the rest of us have to earn a living and to lead their 
own lives protected by the laws of our land.” 14
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In her weekly radio broadcast on November 3, 1941, in order to refute the view of 
“very simple people” that the government cared more about assisting refugees than in 
helping “what they call ‘Americans,’” ER asked Agnes Inglis to report on some of the 
results of her study. According to the New York Herald Tribune, Inglis said that “since 
1933 150,000 refugees from Hitler-dominated countries had settled in the United 
States, approximately half of them in New York and only 3 percent were wholly depen-
dent on relatives or relief agencies. The remainder, she said, earn an average of $18 a 
week, while 2,700 of them in New York alone manage or have set up enterprises that 
employ 9,000 persons.” 15

Broadcasting these facts may have moderated the attitude of some people toward 
refugees, but not enough to alter the resistance in Congress and among the majority 
of American citizens to liberalizing the nation’s immigration policy.

Antisemitism also remained an obstacle to national unity and intensified as 
the threat of American involvement in another European war increased. It also became 
a propaganda tool for anti-interventionists, such as the America First Committee and 
its spokesman, Charles Lindbergh. On September 11, 1941, Lindbergh gave a speech in 
Des Moines, Iowa, in which he charged that since September 1939 three groups had, by 
devious means, pushed the United States toward involvement in the European conflict: 
the British, the Jews, and the Roosevelt administration. To Lindbergh the Jews were not 
a part of “us.” Like the British, they had “reasons which are not American” for push-
ing the United States into the war. They were understandably “looking out” for their 
own interests as a people, but Americans “cannot allow the natural passions and prej-
udices of other peoples to lead our country to destruction.” The “greatest danger” of 
the Jews “to this country,” Lindbergh charged, “lies in their large ownership and influ-
ence in our motion pictures, our press, our radio and our government.” They used the 
media they controlled to celebrate the glory of war in plays and movies, provide biased 
coverage of events in newsreels, withdraw advertising from newspapers and magazines 
that published antiwar articles, and label people advocating nonintervention “traitor,” 
“Nazi,” and “anti-Semitic.” 16

ER did not respond directly to Lindbergh’s speech in My Day but continued to 
fight prejudice in her column, speeches, and in correspondence with supporters of 
Lindbergh’s position who wrote to her. When one correspondent complained to her 
about “the Jews who are madly trying to bring pressure on the administration to start 
the shooting” and about Henry Morgenthau, who “naturally wants us to save several 
million Jews at the sacrifice of several American Gentile boys’ lives,” ER replied: “If 
we sit back and accept whatever may be done to us, and allow Hitler to dominate the 
world, you will be far worse off than you or anyone can imagine. . . . You are extremely 
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unwise to be prejudiced against any group, because one prejudice leads to another, and 
who knows when one’s own particular group may be attacked.” 17

With the Japanese attack on Pearl Harbor on December 7, 1941, the American 
declaration of war on Japan the next day, and the declaration of war by Germany on the 
United States four days later, the debate ended over whether the United States should 
and could isolate itself from a conflict that raged all over the world. Antisemitism 
remained a corrosive and undermining force in America during the war, however, 
and ER remained determined to resist it together with intolerance directed against 
African Americans. Not wanting Americans to lose sight of what they were fighting 
for, she continued to campaign for greater equality both within the military and on 
the domestic front.

The United States Congress itself was rife with antisemitism. In 1944, the colum-
nist and radio commentator Walter Winchell criticized Congressman John Elliott 
Rankin of Mississippi for the manner in which he spoke the Jewish names of voters 
who urged him to support a bill that would create a federal ballot for soldiers voting 
in presidential and congressional elections. He called him “Rankin of the House of 
Reprehensibles.” Rankin responded on the floor of the House by saying that Winchell’s 
true name was “Walter Lipshitz” and spelled it out to make it appear obscene. Many 
of his fellow congressmen laughed at this, and when he said he had told a friend that 
Winchell was a “kike — a Jew so loathsome that other Jews despised him,” they laughed 
again. When Rankin finished his speech, according to the newspaper PM, “virtually all 
the Republicans and about half of the Democrats rose to their feet applauding Rankin.”

When Morton Greenwald, one of ER’s correspondents, read an account of Rankin’s 
speech and the reception it received, he sent the clipping on to ER and asked her:

“Is this the America of the 4 Freedoms? . . . .
“Is this what thousands of soldiers, sailors, marines, many of whom are Jews, are 

fighting to preserve and come home to?
“Is this the America I, a Jew, am supposed to live and fight, and die for?
“Is it? ”

ER replied, “Unfortunately, there are always small minded and mean men in this world. 
That, however, should not make you feel our freedom is not worth fighting for because, 
fortunately, there are a great many who are shocked by such statements and whose 
determination to eliminate prejudice is strengthened by them.” 18

One way ER expressed her commitment to fighting antisemitism was by continu-
ing to support the work of the National Conference of Christians and Jews (NCCJ). 
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In 1943, while promoting a reading list published by the Chicago Round Table of the 
NCCJ entitled “Reading for Democracy,” she reported that she kept receiving letters 
“which point up the prejudices in which so many of us indulge, even in wartime.” 
Prejudice against race or religion seemed “out of place,” she wrote, “in a country with 
so many racial origins and so many religions.” Now, as America fought in Europe and 
Asia, its “soldiers fight and die, side by side, and are comforted by priests, ministers 
or rabbis, as the case may be, quite regardless of whether the dying boys belong to the 
particular church represented near them at the moment.” 19

At the end of July 1942, James Waterman Wise, research consultant to the Council 
Against Intolerance in America, asked ER to contribute the lead article to American 
Unity, a monthly manual for teachers and other educators, which the council planned 
to launch in September and distribute free of charge to 10,000 teachers, principals, and 
superintendents throughout the United States. American Unity would provide educa-
tors with “factual material keyed to current events, lesson plans, assembly programs, and 
discussions of vital problems.” By highlighting “the contribution of men and women 
of every race, faith and color to the upbuilding of our nation,” it would “expose the 
hate-mongers as traitors to our country.”

In her article ER wrote that democracy could not achieve victory unless it succeeded 
in promoting attitudes that went beyond mere tolerance:

Tolerance is not a word which I like, when it means mere apathetic acquiescence in 
the rights of other people. If democracy is to win out, we must do more than acqui-
esce. We must fight for the basic rights of individuals and of nations. No child must 
leave school without the realization that these rights are dear to him and can not 
be retained by him unless he makes sure that they apply to all other people as well.

She went on to vigorously articulate a set of human rights that reflected FDR’s vision 
of the Four Freedoms and foreshadowed the Universal Declaration of Human Rights. 
As she and her colleagues would do in 1948 in drafting the declaration, she included 
economic and social rights, as well as civil and political rights in her list:

More people must feel that their right to worship God as they see fit does not hamper 
their political, economic or social rights. All people have a right to free worship and 
free self-expression. All people have a right to be governed in a way which they them-
selves choose. All people have a right to demand an economic system which will 
free the world from starvation and give everyone an opportunity, throughout the 
world, to work for the standard of living which they desire. All people have a right 
to freedom and respect as individuals regardless of race or creed.
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In a passage that anticipated the famous statement she made in 1953 that human rights 
“begin in small places, close to home,” she added: “We must learn to accept the demo-
cratic processes in the school room and in the home, and we will then live our lives so 
that each generation will move forward with a real understanding of democracy. Only 
thus can we achieve a real victory over insecurity and fear, for which all of us strive.” 20

Although ER had not relinquished the idea, expressed in her 1938 article on the future 
of the Jews, that there was a “Jewish problem” that needed some kind of remedy, such 
as a wider dispersion of the Jews geographically and professionally, her commitment 
to racial and religious equality ran deep. The stereotypes of Jews that she still some-
times repeated echoed the culture of her time, but for her they did not express a desire 
to deny Jews their civil, political, economic, or social rights. She spoke out against prej-
udice, advocated equal rights to housing and jobs for all people, and refused to speak 
to groups that she knew rejected Jews as members. There is no evidence that her occa-
sional references to the negative stereotypes of Jews that she had absorbed as a child 
and whose expression remained socially acceptable among many people at the time 
made her less active in combating antisemitism, less sympathetic to the plight of Jewish 
refugees, or, later on, less horrified by news of the Holocaust.
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A FA I L E D AT T E M P T 
AT R E S C U E

“Only prompt emigration can save the 
children from deportation and early death”

W ith America’s entry into the war in December 1941, the efforts to 
rescue European refugees had entered a new phase. As long as the south-
ern part of France remained unoccupied by the Germans, some oppor-

tunities to get refugees out of that region remained, but the difficulty increased. In 
August 1942, Varian Fry, now living in New York City, wrote to Eleanor Roosevelt 
warning that “the refugees in France now face the greatest danger which has come 
their way since the armistice of June 1940.” Information sent to the Joint Distribution 
Committee (JDC) and the Emergency Rescue Committee (ERC) by underground 
contacts in France indicated that the Vichy government had agreed to deport 16,000 
foreigners and French Jews from the occupied zone and 10,000 Jews and Gentiles 
from the unoccupied zone of France “to an unknown destination in eastern Europe.” 
Three thousand six hundred internees from the Gurs, Vernet, and Les Milles deten-
tion camps had already been deported. Children over five years old in the unoccu-
pied zone and over two years old in the occupied zone were being deported with their 
parents. Children under those ages were being left behind, virtually as orphans. The 
Vichy government had ceased issuing exit permits altogether “without distinction of 
race or nationality” and Spanish and Swiss authorities were barring entry into their 
countries of those attempting to escape.

“My own feeling,” Fry wrote in his letter accompanying the report,

is that we ought not to seem, by official silence, to condone such brutal and bar-
baric treatment of defenseless men, women and children. I hope that you will 
agree with this and that you will use your influence to get the State Department to 
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make a vigorous public statement. I also hope that you will mention these events 
in your column.

ER sent a copy of the report to Sumner Welles: “Could we protest and may I men-
tion in my column?” 1 Welles replied that the State Department had

protested not once but several times to the head of the French Government against 
this inhuman program. Heads of our relief organizations in unoccupied France have 
protested to Marshal Petain. Representatives of other civilized states have followed 
suit. All this, however, has made no impression on Laval.

Although Welles saw no reason why ER could not use the information in the report 
in her column, she chose not to because of Welles’s assurances that both the American 
government and relief organizations had strongly protested. These protests had also 
been publicized in the press. 2

ER did write in My Day at this time about another atrocity: the treatment of Polish 
women at the Ravensbrück Women’s Preventive Detention Camp in Germany. In 
July 1942, she received a letter from Flora McPherson, a British woman in London 
whose husband still lived in Warsaw. McPherson enclosed a detailed report on the 
Ravensbrück camp, where many women had already “died from maltreatment, tor-
ture, massacre, murder and hunger.” McPherson asked ER to publicize the Nazis’ brutal 
treatment of the women in the camp in hopes of raising such “a storm of protest 
from women all over the free parts of the world” that they would save at least some 
of their lives.

The Ravensbrück concentration camp, which opened in 1939, was unusual in that it 
housed only women, although a small camp for men was later established next to it. The 
largest group of prisoners in the camp were Polish women, but it also included Roma, 
Germans, and other women from all over occupied Europe. About 15 percent of the 
women were Jewish, many of whom, if they survived their treatment in Ravensbrück, 
were shipped to Auschwitz in 1942–43 and murdered. Toward the end of the war the 
installation of gas chambers would accelerate the death rate at the camp. Of the approx-
imately 130,000 women who were housed at Ravensbrück at one time or another, only 
15,000 to 32,000 survived.

In August, ER sent McPherson’s letter, together with the enclosed report, to Archi-
bald MacLeish, then head of the Office of War Information, asking him if it would 
be wise for her to write anything about it. MacLeish answered that he did not ordi-
narily think it was constructive to publicize atrocities unless doing so was related to “a 
possibility of action.” But the “heartbreaking and yet subdued” style of the report on 
Ravensbrück and his trust in ER led him to encourage her to use the material. In ER’s 



118 REFUGE MUST BE GIVEN

hands, he felt sure, the story could be made into “an affirmative, moving instrument.” 
It was clear to MacLeish that “the German purpose is not merely to visit horrors upon 
defenseless people for the sake of horror but rather to maim and cripple and eventu-
ally to exterminate races of which the Nazi government disapproves.” For that reason, 
he believed that the story had great value in the ideological struggle between Nazism 
and democracy for it presented “the most precise opposite to our purpose to provide 
a greater freedom and a richer life for all men everywhere.” 3

After receiving MacLeish’s blessing, ER participated, along with Dorothy Thomp-
son, Clare Booth Luce, and Pearl Buck, in a broadcast on September 23, 1942, to the 
women of Poland. ER told them that if young people, like the young Polish soldier 
who had recently visited the White House, committed themselves to the fight to win 
the war and then make an equal effort to create a better world for everyone after the 
war, then “I think there is no question but what the reward for your sufferings, the 
reward of your courage, will surely come.” 4

In her My Day column, ER quoted from a passage in the report on the Ravensbrück 
camp that described how the women prisoners were forced to go barefoot on streets 
strewn with hard gravel until their heels developed festering sores. They were not con-
sidered ill until they collapsed. If one of the women talked to a Jew, she was shut in a 
dark cell for 42 days. 5 ER expressed outrage at the treatment of the women prisoners 
simply by presenting these facts, then responding to those facts in her seemingly inno-
cent fashion: “How can the Nazis hope to create loyal and friendly citizens in a coun-
try which they have conquered by cruel treatment? Certainly, if they want goodwill, 
they go about it in a strange fashion.”

Like ER’s statement after Kristallnacht that the Nazis had exhibited “a woeful 
lack of imagination” in seeking “to achieve legitimate objectives of orderly govern-
ment” through violence, ER’s criticism of the treatment of the women prisoners at 
Ravensbrück seems woefully inadequate to the situation she is describing. But it also 
possesses a certain canniness. The fact that the Nazis obviously had no intention of 
generating “goodwill” or creating “loyal and friendly citizens” transforms the naïve sur-
face of her question and statement into irony. Was ER responding in this indirect way 
because of instructions from FDR and the State Department or because she herself 
believed that in her role as wife of the president she should not too bluntly condemn 
Nazi atrocities? Or was this style an intentional strategy for exposing evil? Judging 
from the way she sometimes used this indirect method to express disapproval even 
after FDR’s death when she was freer to speak out (and did so), it is apparent that 
her style expressed an instinctive, perhaps deliberate intention. Jacob Blaustein, who 
worked closely with ER when she chaired the UN Human Rights Commission during 
the postwar years, noted that behind an “attentive, innocent expression,” ER possessed 
“a thoroughly practical mind, capable of unsuspected toughness. Much like Socrates,” 
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he recalled after her death, “she would ask questions in a tentative manner, hesitating, 
often professing ignorance. And by this gentle strategy she often extracted a ‘yes’ or 
‘maybe’ where a frontal attack would have produced a ‘no.’” Blaustein quoted a State 
Department diplomat who, after watching her exercising this talent, remarked: “Never 
has anyone seen naiveté and skill so gracefully blended.” 6

Perhaps ER developed her naïve yet pointed style partly because of her position 
as wife of the president and pressure from her husband’s administration not to take 
confrontational stands on foreign policy, but its roots lay deep in her spiritual nature. 
While she reluctantly came to the conclusion that only armed conflict would stop the 
Nazis, her focus throughout the war was on relieving human suffering: advocating for 
and assisting refugees, promoting equal rights for African Americans, mitigating the 
effects of internment on Japanese Americans, providing services to women workers in 
the armaments industry and their children, and bringing comfort to American soldiers. 
Like the Quakers, whom she continued to admire, support financially, and rely on in 
doing some of her good works, she concentrated on helping the victims of oppression, 
not on condemning the oppressors. She says nothing to sugarcoat or excuse the Nazis’ 
treatment of the women prisoners at Ravensbrück, but instead of simply condemn-
ing it, sets up a contrast between Nazi cruelty and the behavior of a good government, 
which would indeed solicit the “goodwill” of the people and seek to create “loyal and 
friendly citizens” through its policies. Such a government, supported by an active citi-
zenry, was, of course, the goal that ER and Clarence Pickett ardently promoted through 
their words and actions. ER admired Dorothy Thompson’s eloquent expressions of 
outrage, but she herself often preferred to expose evil gently and indirectly.

After American entry into the war, ER continued to take a special interest in 
the rescue and care of refugee children. Because of the increased obstacles to rescue 
caused by the conflict and the limited funding the United States Committee for the 
Care of European Children (USCCEC) succeeded in raising, most of the efforts she 
participated in had modest goals and results. In May 1942, after the USCCEC had been 
unsuccessful in bringing children to the United States for several months, ER reported 
that fifty children, many of whom had been interned in concentration camps in France, 
would be arriving shortly in the United States under her organization’s sponsorship. 7 
Another group of thirty-nine children, whose parents had died or disappeared into 
concentration camps, were rescued from internment camps in unoccupied France by 
the American Friends Service Committee (AFSC) and arrived in the United States 
under the sponsorship of the USCCEC on July 30. 8 The numbers were pitifully small, 
but under the circumstances the USCCEC faced, the rescue of each child represented 
a small victory.
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A month later, on August 31, a few days after receiving the report from Varian Fry 
about the deportation of Jews from France, ER received a telegram from an emergency 
committee made up of leading relief organizations in Geneva that proposed a much 
larger rescue operation. The committee urgently sought her assistance in gaining the 
admission to the United States of 5,000 Jewish children under the age of sixteen who 
remained in France after the deportation of their parents. The committee called upon 
the USSCEC to act immediately. 9 After ER sent the telegram on to Marshall Field, the 
USCCEC met in emergency session and committed itself to evacuating 1,000 of the 
children. The American Jewish Joint Distribution Committee agreed to contribute 
$400,000 to $450,000 to the effort. It planned to use some of that money to charter a 
Portuguese ship to transport the children to the United States. The USCCEC planned 
to raise approximately $500,000 to meet the remaining expenses. 10

At its meeting on September 9, the President’s Advisory Committee on Political 
Refugees (PACPR) voted to endorse the plan to rescue the children. At the sugges-
tion of James McDonald, ER helped arrange a series of meetings with Justice and State 
Department officials for the PACPR’s executive secretary, George Warren. 11 Afterward, 
McDonald reported to ER that Warren felt that “the prospects of rescuing at least 
some hundred of the children are now excellent.” 12 Given her lack of trust in the State 
Department, ER no doubt spoke with the president about the plight of the children 
as well and urged him to act.

On September 17, the State Department sent messages to the consuls in Marseille, 
Nice, and Lyon authorizing them to issue quota visas for 1,000 of the children. In this 
case, to make it possible to act quickly, the State Department agreed to accept guar-
antees of support from the USCCEC for all the children rather than requiring indi-
vidual affidavits for each child.

ER, meanwhile, met with members of the USCCEC board to discuss how the orga-
nization would implement the initiative. By this time, the AFSC, Joint Distribution 
Committee, the International YMCA and YWCA, and French child welfare agen-
cies were already preparing to select the children who faced the most danger, provide 
adults to escort them, and secure transportation for them from Lisbon to the United 
States. Assurances had already been received that private homes would be available for 
the children once they arrived in the United States. 13

After receiving cables from France indicating that children facing deportation were 
in more urgent need of rescue than previously thought, the USCCEC decided at its 
meeting on September 21 to try to rescue all of the 5,000 children who needed to 
escape. McDonald and Warren presented the request to Sumner Welles, who promised 
he would recommend to the president that he endorse the proposal. 14 When Welles 
got back to them, he informed McDonald and Warren that the president had approved 
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the request. The president did not think it “desirable, however, that any public state-
ment be made concerning this decision on the part of this Government.” 15

Even with the United States now engaged in the war against Germany and even 
in a situation crying out for a humanitarian response, FDR felt he would risk arous-
ing antisemitism, perhaps anger the Vichy government headed by Laval, and derail 
the project if his administration announced a plan to rescue Jewish children before 
an agreement and arrangements were firmly in place. In keeping with the president’s 
wishes, the USCCEC withheld an announcement of the rescue plan. When the press 
asked Welles on October 8 to comment on a report that 1,000 refugee children would 
be coming to the United States from France, he downplayed the decision. Without 
mentioning the children’s Jewish identity, he confirmed that the United States planned 
to admit refugee children whose parents had been deported from France but declined 
to disclose how many were coming. 16

The following day, Marshall Field announced the USCCEC’s plans for the refugee 
children, although he, too, did not say how many would be coming or identify them 
as Jewish. “Urgent cables from overseas relief organizations,” he said, “warn us that 
only prompt emigration can save the children from deportation and early death.” 17 
Finally, on October 15, the extent of the rescue effort and the fact that the children 
were Jewish were made public when the New York Times reported from Vichy, France, 
that the French government had agreed to accept American visas for 5,000 Jewish 
children under the age of 18 and permit them to leave for the United States. The State 
Department had authorized American consuls in France to issue emergency visas that 
would enable the children to enter the United States for the duration of the war. Under 
the agreement with the French government, which had been negotiated by S. Pinckney 
Tuck, the American charge d’affaires in Vichy, the children would return to Europe 
after the war if their parents could be found. 18

For once, it appeared that the State Department and the president fully backed 
the USCCEC effort. As in the case of her success in getting the State Department 
to revise the terms on which British children could come to the United States in the 
summer of 1940, ER had used her influence to alter American policy. By facilitating 
the USSCEC’s negotiations with the department, she appeared to have helped rescue 
a large number of Jewish children from unoccupied France.

Unfortunately, it was not to be. Notwithstanding the Times report that the French 
had agreed to the plan, obstacles remained. Laval would have been happy to have unbur-
dened France of the children, but German officials opposed sending them to the United 
States for fear that their story would generate anti-Nazi propaganda. Laval, whose 
freedom of action was circumscribed by his need to appease the Germans, was also 
angry that the plan had been made public. When his government issued instructions 



122 REFUGE MUST BE GIVEN

for exit permits for the children, only “bona fide orphans” were included. Since the 
parents who had been deported to Eastern Europe were considered to be still alive, this 
ruling excluded all but about one hundred of the children. Tuck managed to get the 
number increased to five hundred and arrangements for their departure were under-
way when, as in the case of the British children in the summer of 1940, the progress 
of the war intervened. 19

On November 8, 1942, United States forces landed in North Africa and the Vichy 
government broke diplomatic relations with the United States. Two days later, Ger-
many broke its armistice agreement with the Vichy government and invaded unoccu-
pied France. Although Vichy continued to function under Laval with limited powers 
in most of metropolitan France until August 1944, it did so under German domina-
tion. On November 30, 1942, Marshall Field reported to ER that the refugee children 
would be unable to emigrate, but that negotiations were continuing with the French 
and Swiss Red Cross on providing transportation for the children to the Swiss border. 
He requested that the USCCEC urge the State Department to ask the Swiss govern-
ment to instruct the Swiss legation in France to resume the negotiations with the Vichy 
government for the children’s release that Tuck had begun. While the negotiations 
for the children still in France continued, the USCCEC hoped that as many as 500 
children who reached Spain and Portugal might be rescued. 20 These hopes, too, were 
dashed. Although some of these children were later rescued, the hope of rescuing a sub-
stantial number of children from southern France soon faded. The relief groups had 
run out of time. Although political and bureaucratic resistance in the United States 
had finally been overcome, the circumstances of the war thwarted what would have 
been one of the largest rescue operations in the history of the European refugee crisis.

Some children from southern France continued to slip across the border 
into Spain, and during the winter of 1943, the USCCEC succeeded in bringing several 
small groups of children who had managed to reach Portugal to the United States. 21 
In the spring of 1943, however, the State Department dealt yet another blow to efforts 
to rescue children by ruling that anyone who departed from Germany before March 
15, 1938 (the date of the Anschluss) could not be classified as a refugee. The reason 
for this ruling was unclear, but it meant that many children in Spain and Portugal 
became ineligible for evacuation to the United States under the arrangement that the 
USCCEC had worked out with the State Department. “Many of these children were 
refugees in the same sense that they had been on the road ahead of Nazi pogroms prior 
to the 1938 Anschluss date,” Robert Lang, now the executive director of the USCCEC, 
wrote to Louis Weiss. The Spanish would not allow these children to stay in Spain 
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permanently and they now faced the same risks as the children who had been trapped 
in unoccupied France. 22

On May 20, 1943, as ER and her colleagues became increasingly discouraged by the 
resistance of American consuls to issuing visas for refugee children, Tommy relayed a 
telephone message from ER to Sumner Welles:

We are finding a great deal of trouble, not only in the United States Committee for 
the Care of European Children, but in other committees working to bring children 
out of Europe. It seems almost impossible to get visas. These people want to know 
whether they should keep on trying. 23

Welles replied that the State Department had instructed consuls in Spain and Portugal 
to issue visas to children recommended by the USCCEC who were under sixteen years 
of age and had arrived there before March 1938. Some of the eligible refugee chil-
dren had already arrived in the United States; others would be sailing soon. The State 
Department’s willingness to make an exception for these children was welcome. The 
fact was, however, that very few children who were unaccompanied by parents fit into 
this category. 24

The USCCEC did keep trying, but from January 1943 until the end of the war only 
111 more refugee children arrived in the United States under the care of the USCCEC. 
After the war, when it was again possible to rescue European children, the USCCEC 
continued its work before finally disbanding in 1953. By that time, it had brought a 
total of 4,177 refugee children to the United States, a tragically small number consid-
ering how many were lost in the Holocaust, but a significant achievement consider-
ing the obstacles the USCCEC faced. 25

The USCCEC’s achievement was significant in another way as well. The way in 
which the USCCEC carried out its rescue effort reflected the democratic values, espe-
cially a person’s right to be treated as an individual, not as a stereotyped member of 
some group, that ER and her colleagues fought for throughout the refugee crisis. As 
Kathryn Close put it in her final report on the USCCEC program:

From the moment of selection in Europe each child began to have the experi-
ence — perhaps his first in many years or even in his entire life — of being regarded 
as a person in his own right, with his own reactions, fears, wishes, hopes and poten-
tialities adding up to his own personal needs. In America he participated in plans 
being made for him not as a representative of a group of unfortunates but as one par-
ticular person. What firmer support could be offered for a deprived child’s future 
than such a consistent regard of his own individuality? Here was foundation stone 
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quarried by the experience and basic theories of all American social work, from the 
bedrock of American democracy. 26

From 1939 onward, ER’s relationship with Sumner Welles provided a bridge be-
tween her and those who had the power to issue visas. When he resigned as Under-
secretary of State in August 1943, she lost the personal channel to the State Department 
that had sometimes made her efforts effective. 27 Cordell Hull and William Bullitt, 
Welles’s rivals at the State Department, had used information they had obtained about 
Welles’s homosexual activities to pressure FDR to get rid of him. 28 ER’s correspondence 
with the State Department had fallen off as it became more difficult to get refugees 
out of occupied Europe and as she received fewer appeals for help in individual cases. 
After Welles’s departure, it fell off still further.

As old friends, ER and Welles mutually respected and trusted each other. She could 
be frank with him and she could rely on him to respond to her complaints. Although 
Welles vigorously defended American refugee policy and its implementation by the 
State Department, he occasionally pushed his colleagues to act more flexibly. In the 
case of individual refugee cases referred to him by ER, Welles sought detailed informa-
tion from American embassies or consulates in Europe about what was causing delays. 
When regulations permitted, he requested State Department staff and consuls to expe-
dite the processing of visa applications. At times, he too became impatient with his 
department’s rigidity. In a memorandum to Avra Warren about a query from ER about 
the case of Mr. and Mrs. Oscar Von Halle and their son Gerd, Welles told Warren that 
he was “getting increasingly concerned about cases of this kind”:

It is, of course, obvious that as a matter of proper procedure visas cannot be issued 
in regions where there are no American consuls to issue them. On the other hand, 
in order to take care of thoroughly deserving, bonafide cases where we can obtain 
all of the evidence that is absolutely necessary to assure us that the applicants are 
desirable, is it not possible to conceive of some exception to the general rule so as 
to make it possible for these people to get exit permits? 29

Nonetheless, while ER’s colleagues in the rescue campaign expressed their convic-
tion that the Department of State and the consuls abroad deliberately obstructed the 
issuing of visas as a matter of policy, Welles continued to insist that in most cases the 
time it took to issue a visa was perfectly normal. His insistence that the visa process 
was functioning well made it more difficult for ER and her allies to persuade FDR 
that something was wrong with the way the State Department was managing the visa 
process and to do something to correct it.
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Often Welles gave her a specific reason why someone’s visa was delayed or denied. 
Sometimes the problem was that the applicant was so far down on the quota list that 
Welles estimated it would take as long as several years before the consulate would even 
consider the case. At other times, the consulate reported that it had not received the 
person’s application or the necessary affidavit of support or that the affidavit they had 
received did not offer sufficient proof of the sponsor’s financial ability to support the 
refugee in the United States. Sometimes the applicant was found to have been a mem-
ber of the Communist Party or some other political organization believed hostile to 
the American government or was suspected of being a Nazi or Soviet agent. In other 
cases, Welles told her that the problem lay in an area over which the State Department 
had little or no power — such as obtaining an exit visa from the Vichy government, 
transit visas from Spain and Portugal, or transportation to America and the funds to 
pay for it — not in the visa process itself.

ER recognized that there were legitimate reasons why the State Department would 
refuse to issue visas to certain individuals, but she did not accept the long delays in 
processing applications and grew exasperated with the bureaucratic explanations, often 
written by Breckinridge Long, that she received from Welles for why such a lengthy 
process was necessary. Her efforts ensured that the cases she wrote to Welles about got 
careful attention, however. In some of those cases her intervention did in fact shorten 
what would have been an even longer process or would not have happened at all.

Although she achieved some modest success, it is impossible to conclude that ER’s 
bombardment of Welles for information on individual visa cases and her expressions 
of impatience and, at times, incredulity and outrage, at the glacial pace of the process 
had more than a small impact on accelerating the issuance of visas. Only a fundamen-
tal change in policy, procedure, and the attitude of those implementing the regulations 
would have significantly increased the flow of refugees to the United States.

The degree to which Welles himself was captive to the system is striking. Welles was 
in charge of the overall supervision of American visa policy, but Assistant Secretary of 
State Breckinridge Long and the chief of the visa division (Avra Warren and, later on, 
Howard Travers), who were far less sympathetic than Welles to the refugees, were re-
sponsible for carrying out policy and directing the activities of the consulates abroad. 30 
While Welles asked the State Department’s visa division or the consuls abroad to look 
into why the processing of individual cases dragged on for so long, he failed, nearly 
always, to challenge the explanations drafted by Long, Warren, or another colleague or 
insist that they interpret the standards for admission to the United States more liberally. 
During their struggle with the State Department in October 1940, the members of the 
President’s Advisory Committee on Political Refugees concluded that Welles was “fair 
and objective when actually confronted with a situation” but would “not make an ini-
tial move.” 31 His troubled relationships with Cordell Hull and William Bullitt at the 
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State Department, who disliked and distrusted him, might have limited his power to 
make changes, but, in fact, there is no evidence that he felt change was necessary. The 
historians Richard Breitman and Allan Lichtman point out that one of the reasons 
for the rigidity of America’s restrictionist refugee policy had to do with bureaucracy: 
“Even those who championed the cause of European Jews found themselves confined 
to the channels and bound by the procedures of the bureaucratic system.” 32 Welles ap-
pears to have been a captive both of the system and his own personality. The historian 
Irwin Gellman describes Welles as “rigid, dogmatic, and opinionated” throughout 
his career and too focused on “technical details.” By maintaining a “narrow focus,” 
he “often missed the larger picture.” Welles’s devotion to bureaucratic procedure may 
have blinded him to the failure of the system to do the work of rescue effectively. 33

Despite his consistent defense of State Department procedures, Welles was sympa-
thetic to the plight of refugees and the suffering of European Jews. 34 Refugee advocates, 
such as Stephen Wise, felt they could trust him, while they did not trust Breckinridge 
Long. 35 But Welles shared the fears of FDR and his State Department colleagues that 
subversives would infiltrate the United States among the refugees and threaten the 
nation. 36 He was also keenly aware that the majority of Americans opposed allowing 
more refugees into the country and worried that if the State Department loosened its 
regulations, it would expose the department to more criticism from Congress and the 
public. Despite its restrictionist policies, the department already had received criti-
cism from some Americans for admitting too many Jews.

One indication of Welles’s ongoing sympathy for refugees — especially Jewish refu-
gees — is that after leaving office, he expressed dismay that the Allies had no specific 
plans for the care of refugees once they won the war. In August 1944, a year after his 
resignation, he called for the Intergovernmental Committee on Refugees to do what 
it had failed to do in the past. “It is regrettably true,” he wrote, “that the plans which 
should long since have been completed to deal with the refugee crisis which will become 
acute as soon as the war in Europe is over have not yet been formulated, much less 
adopted.” He noted: “Pitifully few Jewish refugees have been enabled to make their 
way to Palestine” and urged that the British lift the bars to immigration. He envi-
sioned Palestine becoming “an autonomous state, under an international trusteeship, 
constituted after agreement with the Arab states of the Near East.” 37 As early as the 
fall of 1942, he had privately expressed the conviction that only the establishment of 
a Jewish state would provide a solution to the Jewish refugee crisis. 38 ER would only 
come to that conclusion much later.
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R E S P O N D I N G TO N EWS 
O F T H E E X T E R M I NAT I O N 

C A M P S ,  1942–45

“ This hour of extremity”

I n late August 1942, at about the same time Varian Fry sent his report to Elea-
nor Roosevelt about the deportation of thousands of foreign Jews and Gentiles 
from France “to an unknown destination in eastern Europe,” Gerhart Riegner, 

the World Jewish Congress representative in Geneva, received information from a 
German industrialist that the Nazis had begun to implement plans to deport all Jews 
in German-occupied territory to camps in Eastern Europe. There the Nazis would ex-
terminate them with poison gas. Riegner asked the American consulate in Geneva to 
pass this report on to the American government, seek its verification, and inform Rabbi 
Stephen Wise of the news. He also asked the British consulate to convey the informa-
tion to Sidney Silverman, Great Britain’s representative to the World Jewish Congress. 
After Wise received a copy from Silverman, he questioned Sumner Welles about it. 
Welles asked him to keep the report private until the department could assess its verac-
ity. On November 24, three months after receiving the alarming news, Welles finally got 
back to Wise to tell him that further convincing evidence confirmed Riegner’s report. 1

In response to this revelation, the leaders of the major American Jewish organiza-
tions called upon the Jews of all free lands to observe a day of mourning, fasting, and 
prayer for the Jews of Europe on December 2. Editorials condemning the murder of 
the Jews appeared in some of the nation’s leading newspapers, and Christian leaders 
urged Christians to join their Jewish brethren in this day of prayer and mourning.

Although the New York Times and other papers reported on the Nazis’ mass murder 
program on November 26, ER did not express her shock at the terrible news in her My 
Day column until December 3, following the day of mourning. 2 Responding cautiously, 
she wrote as if she had just learned of the killings:
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There was a small item in the paper this morning which filled me with horror. I 
noticed yesterday that in many parts of the country work had stopped for a few 
minutes while people prayed for the Jewish victims of Hitler’s cruelty. This morn-
ing I saw that, in Poland, it was reported that more than two-thirds of the Jewish 
population had been massacred.

There seems to be little use in voicing a protest, but somehow one cannot keep 
still when such horrors are going on. One can only pray that it will dawn upon Hitler 
that the Lord is not patient forever and that he who puts other people to death by 
the sword, is often meted out the same fate. 3

Although oddly muted by the way she places the events she is describing at a distance 
from herself (“There was a small item in the paper,” “I noticed yesterday,” “This morn-
ing I saw that”), and by her statement that “There seems to be little use in voicing a 
protest,” her column is more explicit in identifying Hitler’s crimes than any statement 
she had made previously. She “cannot keep still” and must express her anguish. “Hitler’s 
cruelty” fills her “with horror.” More importantly, she names the group that is suffering 
(“the Jewish victims”) and conveys the scope of the massacre (“more than two-thirds of 
the Jewish population”). FDR had condemned Nazi crimes in more forceful language 
in recent months, but until December he had chosen to focus on “all the victims of 
Nazi crime” rather than calling particular attention to Hitler’s program to extermi-
nate the Jews as ER was doing in her column.

The previous summer, at Rabbi Wise’s request, FDR sent a message to the Madison 
Square Garden protest rally held on July 21 in which he said, “The Nazis will not suc-
ceed in exterminating their victims any more than they will succeed in enslaving man-
kind. The American people not only sympathize with all victims of Nazi crime but 
will hold the perpetrators of these crimes to strict accountability in a day of reckon-
ing which will surely come.” In August, he again pledged that the perpetrators of the 
crimes would be punished, but he did not mention the Jews specifically. In October 
he called for the establishment of a United Nations Commission for the Investigation 
of War Crimes. 4 Now, in December, with the knowledge of the scale and systematic 
character of Hitler’s extermination plans verified and made public, leaders of the major 
Jewish organizations in the United States met with FDR to urge the president “to act 
now in behalf of the Jews of Europe.” One of the memoranda they presented to him 
described in horrifying detail the methods of “outright slaughter and slow death” em-
ployed by Hitler. Two million Jews had already perished and the five million Jews re-
maining in Nazi-occupied Europe now faced total annihilation. The members of the 
delegation said that the expectation that the victory of the democracies would bring 
an end to the Nazi menace gave the Jewish people hope, but asked: would the Jews of 
Europe “live to see the dawn of this day of freedom? Unless action is taken immedi-
ately, the Jews of Europe are doomed.” 5
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FDR responded by assuring the Jewish leaders that the United States would do 
everything possible to save the European Jews who were still alive. 6 On December 17, 
the United States joined Great Britain and nine exiled Allied governments in issu-
ing a statement condemning Germany “for carrying into effect Hitler’s oft-repeated 
intention to exterminate the Jewish people of Europe” by transporting Jews from all 
of the occupied nations to camps in Eastern Europe under “conditions of appalling 
horror and brutality” to be “massacred,” worked to death, or left to die of exposure. The 
declaration promised “that those responsible for these crimes shall not escape retri-
bution.” 7 The statement did not, however, specify what the Allies would or could do 
to rescue the Jews still alive.

On December 10, 1942, Rabbi Wise sent ER the latest issue of the Congress Weekly, 
which contained the texts of the two memoranda the Jewish leaders had given to the 
president. Wise asked ER to convey the facts about “this titanic horror” to the readers 
of her My Day column and suggest some ways in which “the civilized world should act 
to save Hitler’s victims.” ER, who apparently felt that her December 5 My Day column 
was a sufficient response on her part, replied: “I am, of course, horrified as is every one, 
but I have written and spoken on the subject and do not know what more I can say.” 8 
She had spoken out, but not with forcefulness or in the kind of detail Wise believed 
the crisis demanded.

Two months later, as Rabbi Wise became more and more deeply disturbed by the 
failure of the Roosevelt administration to attempt the rescue of Jews who still sur-
vived, Wise again appealed to ER, who had “led the country on so many occasions in 
demanding compassion and justice for oppressed peoples.” Although Wise contin-
ued to support the administration’s position that the successful prosecution of the 
war must take first priority, he also knew that time was running out for the Jews. In 
“this hour of extremity,” he told ER, before the Allies can achieve victory, the Jewish 
people of Europe “are threatened with total extermination.” Would she address a pro-
test rally being planned for March 1 at Madison Square Garden and “utter that word 
of compassion which may give courage to the imperiled and even to those who have 
the power to save them?” ER once again rebuffed Wise, citing “a previous engagement,” 
but added, “I join with you in hoping that something can be done.” 9 The participants 
in the event, attended by 21,000 people, passed a resolution demanding that the Allies 
take practical steps to rescue as many Jews as possible.

One of the reasons ER stayed away may have been that she anticipated the criticism 
of the administration’s lack of action in attempting to rescue Jews that Jewish lead-
ers expressed at the rally. Herman Shulman, chairman of the special committee of the 
American Jewish Congress on the European situation, said at the rally that “months have 
passed since the United Nations issued their declaration denouncing the unspeakable 
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atrocities of the Nazis against the Jews and threatening retribution.” The nations prom-
ised that “immediate practical steps would be taken to implement it” but had taken no 
action. 10 ER would not have wanted to be in the position of defending the adminis-
tration and was not herself in a position to offer a possible course of action. Whatever 
the reason for her silence, Rabbi Wise must have been disappointed that ER, known 
more than anyone in America for her humanitarian concern, was unwilling to “utter 
that word of compassion” or mention the rally afterward in her column.

As Jewish leaders, like Wise and Shulman, grew frustrated that the Roosevelt 
administration was failing to act swiftly to rescue European Jews before it was too late, 
a different kind of pressure began coming from a new organization not associated 
with the mainline Jewish groups. Its leader was a Palestinian Jew named Hillel Kook, 
who had changed his name to Peter Bergson when he came to the United States. In 
December 1941 he and others had formed the Committee for a Jewish Army of Stateless 
and Palestinian Jews, which sought the establishment of an army of 200,000 soldiers 
based in Palestine that would fight alongside British forces in the region. But Bergson 
and his colleagues soon turned their primary energies to demanding that the Roosevelt 
administration act to save as many of the Jews still trapped in Europe as possible.

Bergson successfully recruited some members of Congress, including freshman 
congressman Will Rogers Jr., Democrat of California, and a few prominent figures 
from the theater and film world to join his organization and press for action. With 
the help of the Hollywood scriptwriter Ben Hecht, he employed bold public rela-
tions tools, such as full-page newspaper ads sounding the alarm, demanding vigorous 
rescue efforts, and soliciting funds. The aggressive tactics of Bergson and his colleagues 
disturbed the established Jewish organizations in the United States, whose leaders 
worried that the wrong kind of pressure would alienate the president and undermine 
their efforts to persuade him to act.

After Hitler’s extermination plans became public in late 1942, Hecht created a pag-
eant to convey the scope of the tragedy to American audiences. “We Shall Never Die,” 
staged by Moss Hart with music by Kurt Weill, was first performed before 40,000 
people at Madison Square Garden on March 9, 1943, and then traveled to other cities. 
ER saw the pageant in Constitution Hall in April as part of an audience that included 
seven Supreme Court justices, two cabinet members, thirty-eight senators, and hun-
dreds of congressmen. ER praised the memorial to “the two million Jewish dead of 
Europe” in her My Day column for its heartrending portrayal of Nazi cruelty:

The music, singing, narration, and actors all served to make it one of the most impres-
sive and moving pageants I have ever seen. No one who heard each group come 
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forward and give the story of what had happened to it at the hands of a ruthless 
German military, will ever forget those haunting words: “Remember us.”

The pageant brought home to ER the agony of Hitler’s victims. Later on, after at-
tending a ceremony at which “The Black Book of Polish Jewry,” an account of the an-
nihilation of the Warsaw ghetto, was presented to some members of Congress, she 
would again express the pain she felt: “I hope that many people will see this book,” 
she wrote. “It is a horrible book, a book which explains the terrible statistics of mar-
tyrdom of the Jews in Warsaw, and makes one ashamed that a civilized race anywhere 
in the world could treat other human beings in such a manner.” 11

Despite her anguish, however, ER did not make the “We Shall Never Die” pageant 
the basis of a call to action to rescue the Jews who still remained alive. She used it, 
instead, to reinforce her warning to Americans that they must refrain from the cruel 
treatment of minorities in their own country and overcome prejudice toward refu-
gees from abroad:

All the way through, I thought how important it is in this country that we do not 
for a moment allow intolerance and cruelty to creep into our dealings with any of 
our own people, or with any people who have taken refuge among us. 12

In June ER received a letter from a correspondent warning that Hitler was slaugh-
tering Jews “systematically at the rate of Eight Thousand each day.” If something was 
not done immediately, “there will be no Jews left in Europe at the end of the war.” ER 
replied, “I am just as concerned over this situation as you are,” but insisted that “until 
the war is won, there is very little anyone can do.” 13 That was, in essence, the Roosevelt 
administration’s position at the time.

A month later, the journalist and educator Max Lerner sent a telegram to ER asking 
her to send a message “of hope and encouragement” to the Emergency Conference to 
Save the Jewish People of Europe planned for July 20–25 in New York. The confer-
ence, Lerner told her, would propose plans to the Allied governments “for immediate 
action” to rescue those who could still be saved.

In response, ER sent a carefully worded message, which expressed deep sympa-
thy for the goals of the conference, but, in a series of qualified statements (“any help 
that can be extended,” “it is hard to say what can be done,” “if it is possible to evacu-
ate them”), communicated skepticism about whether much could actually be done to 
save the European Jews:

No one in this country will withhold any help that can be extended and I send every 
good wish to your committee which is trying to save the Jewish people of Europe. 
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It is hard to say what can be done at the present time but if you are able to formu-
late a program of action I am quite sure that the people of this country who have 
been shocked and horrified by the attitude of the Axis powers toward the Jewish 
people will be more than glad to do all that they can to alleviate the sufferings of 
these people in Europe and to help them reestablish themselves in other parts of the 
world if it is possible to evacuate them. 14

Although she said it was difficult to know what could be done, she certainly knew 
about the proposal to create temporary havens for refugees in the United States, Africa, 
or elsewhere. She may not have known how to rescue Hitler’s victims and get them to 
those camps but, if a way were found, she believed — with greater optimism than the 
record of the American response to Nazi persecution warranted — Americans would 
support doing it.

The Emergency Conference to Save the Jewish People resulted in the establishment 
of the Emergency Committee to Save the Jews of Europe. A fortnight after the confer-
ence ER met with Bergson to discuss the goals of the new organization. After the visit, 
Bergson sent her the report of the Emergency Conference, whose principal recommen-
dation was the establishment of a government rescue agency. ER sent Bergson’s letter 
on to the president who responded: “I do not think this needs an answer at this time.” 15

ER did not reply directly to Bergson’s letter, but on August 13, before hearing back 
from FDR, she wrote a My Day column in which she again expressed her distress at 
the plight of the Jews, who had “suffered in Europe as has no other group.” She empha-
sized the horrifying scope of the slaughter: “The percentage killed among them in the 
past few years far exceeds the losses among any of the United Nations in the battles 
which have been fought throughout the war.” She also made a deeper commitment to 
the need for rescue than she had before, ending her column with a warning about the 
consequences of not acting:

I do not know what we can do to save the Jews in Europe and to find them homes, 
but I know that we will be the sufferers if we let great wrongs occur without exert-
ing ourselves to correct them.

This was not the urgent call for rescue that the Emergency Committee to Save the 
Jewish People of Europe no doubt hoped for, but it was a stronger statement than 
Rabbi Wise had persuaded her to make. Apparently moved by the impact of “We 
Shall Never Die,” the appeal from Max Lerner, and her meeting with Bergson, ER 
now went beyond her version of the administration’s mantra — “until the war is won, 
there is very little anyone can do” — to a moral commitment to the need for rescue. 
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She said she did not know how it could be done, but it was morally imperative that 
America make the effort. 16

Most of her August 13 column, however, was not about the suffering of the European 
Jews and the need for rescue. It was about the shortsightedness of antisemitism. She 
held a mirror up to her audience. She knew that many of her readers were antisemitic, 
and she knew that antisemitism was one of the principal obstacles to generating suffi-
cient pressure within and without the administration to persuade it to take effective 
action to save the Jews. Her goal was to warn her readers about the danger of prejudice, 
but the way she addresses the issue also reveals the way negative stereotypes of Jews re-
mained part of her consciousness. She began by stating, more strongly than in her 1938 
article on the future of the Jews, that the Jews are like every other people in the world:

There are able people among them, there are courageous people among them, there 
are people of extraordinary intellectual ability along many lines. There are people of 
extraordinary integrity and people of great beauty and great charm.

On the other hand, largely because of environment and economic condition, 
there are people among them who cringe, who are dishonest, who try to take advan-
tage of their neighbors, who are aggressive and unattractive. 17 In other words, they 
are a cross section of the human race, just as is every other nationality and every 
other religious group.

Despite her assertion that people with such personal qualities may be found in any 
group of human beings, in listing the negative characteristics often attributed to Jews 
in particular, ER reinforced the stereotype. But she also laid the foundation for her 
argument that whatever her readers might think of Jews, they would be wise to support 
efforts to rescue those being persecuted in Europe. Many Jews, she pointed out, had 
lived in Germany, Poland, Romania, or France for generations and regarded them-
selves as natives of those countries. Any group in any country, including the group to 
which her readers belonged, could suffer the same fate as the Jews. It was therefore a 
matter of self-protection for people everywhere to protest “against wholesale perse-
cution, because none of us by ourselves would be strong enough to stand against a big 
enough group which decided to treat us in the same way.”

From the beginning, the struggle in the United States to aid the Jews of Europe had 
been carried out in the face of widespread antisemitism. While ER directed her efforts 
both toward rescuing Jews and other refugees from Europe and toward fighting prej-
udice against Jews and other immigrants in the United States, she functioned within 
the antisemitic ethos of her time. She had not entirely shed her consciousness of the 
old Jewish stereotypes, but she also appears at times, as she does in this column, to be 
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deliberately making concessions to her prejudiced readers in order to persuade them 
of a larger point: yes, you may keep your negative attitudes, but you must, at the same 
time, respect the human rights of all people. She employed the same strategy when 
she argued for equal rights for African Americans without publicly advocating an end 
to social segregation. ER grants her readers a basis for their prejudices (some Jews do 
have unpleasant characteristics) but urges them to recognize that the crisis of European 
Jews requires them to look beyond their “individual likes and dislikes.” Mass persecu-
tion is a problem that “far transcends prejudices or inclinations.” All human beings, 
whether we are fond of them or not, have a right to survive and grow. 18 Americans, 
like the schoolchildren she had written about in American Unity, needed to recog-
nize that the individual rights they held dear could only be preserved if they applied 
“to all other people as well.” 19

In November 1943, the Emergency Committee’s allies in Congress increased 
the pressure on FDR to take practical steps to rescue the Jews. Will Rogers Jr. and 
Representative Joseph C. Baldwin, a New York Republican, introduced a resolution 
calling on the president to establish a rescue commission whose purpose would be to 
set up refugee camps in Spain, Portugal, Morocco, Switzerland, Turkey, and Sweden 
as temporary havens where Jews would remain safe until the end of the war. Although 
the House Foreign Relations Committee failed to act on the resolution, it passed the 
Senate in a unanimous vote on December 20 and it appeared likely that the House 
would take up the matter again after the Christmas recess. 20

Another development, however, obviated the need for the resolution. During the fall 
of 1943, pressure for vigorous action to rescue European Jews grew within the Roosevelt 
administration itself. Under Henry Morgenthau’s direction, a group of Treasury De-
part ment officials, including Josiah E. DuBois Jr., John Pehle, and Randolph Paul 
(all of them non-Jews), documented the State Department’s deliberate subversion of 
proposed rescue efforts. At the end of December, DuBois prepared a “Report to the 
Secretary on the Acquiescence of this Government in the Murder of the Jews.” In it, 
DuBois accused Breckinridge Long of systematically blocking the issuing of visas. He 
also blamed the State Department for obstructing the transfer of funds the World 
Jewish Congress proposed to use to finance the rescue of Jews from Romania and 
France. Before submitting the report to the president, Morgenthau softened the title 
to “Personal Report to the President,” but he included the charge that some members 
of the State Department were antisemitic and the warning that public knowledge of 
State Department behavior could cause the administration considerable political harm.

The thorough work performed by the Treasury Department officials, together with 
the growing public and congressional pressure, persuaded FDR to act. At a meeting on 
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January 16, 1944, at which Morgenthau, Pehle, and Paul presented the report, FDR 
quickly agreed to the establishment of an independent rescue agency outside the State 
Department. 21 FDR did not recognize or did not wish to recognize, however, that 
Breckinridge Long acted deliberately to obstruct rescue efforts. In a memorandum 
written after the meeting at which Morgenthau and Pehle presented FDR with their 
report, Pehle wrote, “The President seemed disinclined to believe that Long wanted to 
stop effective action from being taken.” That was the only part of the report the pres-
ident questioned. 22 His loyalty to Long blinded him. Neither ER nor McDonald had 
been able to overcome that obstacle.

The War Refugee Board, as it was called, began work with John Pehle as its director. 
Since its backers considered it unrealistic to ask Congress for funds to support its man-
date, the agency’s work was hampered by a tiny budget of $250,000 that came from the 
president’s wartime contingency fund and its reliance on private contributions, largely 
from Jewish groups. Having no powers of its own, the War Refugee Board depended 
on frequently uncooperative diplomats and military authorities, who were worried that 
rescue efforts would interfere with combat operations, to carry out its work. Although 
Edward Stettinius, Welles’s successor as undersecretary of state, removed Breckinridge 
Long from his position, the State Department continued its foot -dragging tactics.

In March 1944, in response to a request from the World Jewish Congress, DuBois 
and a colleague, Joseph Friedman, drafted a statement for FDR condemning the Nazi 
program of extermination. Although it was redrafted at FDR’s request to make it less 
heavily focused on the Jews, the final version went much further than any statement 
FDR or the Allies had made in the past. It identified “the wholesale systematic murder 
of the Jews of Europe” as “one of the blackest crimes of all history” and promised ag-
gressive efforts at rescue:

In so far as the necessity of military operations permit this Government will use all 
means at its command to aid the escape of all intended victims of the Nazi and Jap 
executioner — regardless of race or religion or color. We call upon the free people of 
Europe and Asia temporarily to open their frontiers to all victims of oppression. We 
shall find havens of refuge for them, and we shall find the means for their maintenance 
and support until the tyrant is driven from their homelands and they may return. 23

These promises were kept only to a limited degree. Nevertheless, despite the many 
ways in which its work was hampered, the War Refugee Board managed to rescue an 
estimated 200,000 Jews during the remaining months of the war. 24 The accomplish-
ments of the War Refugee Board proved that something could be done to save Jews 
who remained alive. Had it been established earlier and been adequately funded and 
empowered, many more would have been brought to safety.
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The commitment to creating temporary havens to protect victims of Nazi 
and Japanese persecution for the duration of the war went largely unfulfilled, with one 
exception. In the summer of 1944, the War Refugee Board established the Emergency 
Refugee Shelter at Fort Ontario in Oswego, New York. It was the kind of haven that 
many advocates of rescue, including the Emergency Committee to Save the Jewish 
People of Europe, had been calling for. Refugees could be speedily sent to such a 
camp — in Africa, the British colonies, the United States, or elsewhere — free from the 
delays imposed by visas, affidavits, background checks, and other obstacles. There, they 
could live out the rest of the war in safety, then return to their homes or be screened 
and issued the necessary documents for immigration to another country. In her letter 
to Assistant Secretary of State A. A. Berle Jr., back in June 1940, ER herself had sug-
gested that the anti-Nazi refugees in unoccupied France might be brought to a such 
a camp in the United States until Congress passed legislation, presumably to permit 
their temporary or permanent entry into the country, but the proposal fell on deaf ears.

The shelter at Oswego housed approximately 1,000 refugees, most of them Jewish, 
brought to the United States from southern Italy. It provided ER with a chance to ob-
serve one result of the War Refugee Board’s work and another opportunity to engage 
personally with refugees. In September she and Elinor Morgenthau visited the camp. ER 
was an experienced inspector of public institutions and had learned to burrow behind 
window dressing temporarily arranged for the visit of an influential person. Her My 
Day column about her visit to the Fort Ontario camp reflected her keen observation 
of the details of life in the camp and her desire to understand how it was organized and 
how it related to the local community of Oswego. Perhaps because she knew that the 
establishment of the camp might provoke controversy and hoped to encourage the es-
tablishment of additional havens for refugees by showing that its cost was minimal, 
ER emphasized that “only the absolute necessities of life are being provided.” Food 
cost forty-five cents per day for each person and furniture consisted of iron cots with 
cotton mattresses, army blankets, and “an occasional bare table and a few stiff chairs.” 
She admired the efforts of one woman to make her austere surroundings beautiful. 
The woman had covered her clothes, which hung from hooks on the wall, with un-
bleached muslin cloth, then “painted and cut out figures of animals, stars and angels, 
which were placed all over the plain surface.” Other people had cut colorful illustra-
tions out of magazines and newspapers to decorate their walls. “The effort put into it 
speaks volumes for what these people have undergone,” ER wrote, “and for the charac-
ter which has brought them through. Somehow you feel that if there is any compen-
sation for suffering, it must someday bring them something beautiful in return for all 
the horrors they have lived through.”

She approved of the way the residents of the camp were participating democrati-
cally in the building of community, having elected a committee that made decisions 
about the structure and policies of the camp in close cooperation with Joseph Smart, 
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the camp director. The town of Oswego had also formed a committee to work with 
the camp committee in managing relations between the two communities in the areas 
of education, recreation, and business. 25

ER quickly learned that the camp residents, who had hoped in coming to America 
to leave the onerous restrictions of life under military occupation or in refugee camps 
behind them, were frustrated by their confinement. When she asked the head of the 
camp committee, Dr. Juda Levi, what the greatest problem for the residents was, he 
replied, “The fence.” When she spoke in the camp auditorium she said, “I know the 
fence troubles you. I know the restrictions are plentiful. But at least the menace of 
death is no longer everpresent.” 26 She made it her job to open up greater opportuni-
ties for the education and development of the many talented individuals among the 
refugees, such as helping to make it possible for some of them to attend Oswego State 
Teachers College.

During and after her visit to Oswego, ER received many requests from residents 
of the camp asking for her help with various problems. Characteristically, she took 
careful note of each person’s needs, passed the information she gathered on to Joseph 
Smart, and asked him what could be done in each case. Smart replied that “practically 
all of the communications which you received from residents of Fort Ontario during 
your visit requested services which we were equipped to provide. I have written each 
person a letter telling them that you were greatly interested in his problem, and that it 
can be handled by their seeing the appropriate person on our staff.” 27

When Dr. Arthur Ernst, one of the refugees living in the shelter in Oswego, ap-
pealed to ER about their being allowed to stay in the United States, she reminded 
him that they had been told before they came that they were being allowed refuge 
with the understanding that they would return to their countries of origin after the 
war. The president had announced this condition when he explained the plan for the 
shelter in a memorandum to Congress in June 1944. For that reason, only Congress 
could alter the terms of the agreement, but she assured him, “Some of us hope that 
Congress may be induced to do so.” ER told Dr. Ernst that “the President can not ask 
Congress to [alter the original agreement] because it might prevent his being able to 
induce Congress to let other people in on a similar agreement.” 28 Oswego would turn 
out to be the only such haven provided in the United States, but ER still hoped that 
would not be the case.

Several months after FDR’s death on April 12, 1945, and the German surrender on 
May 6, Joseph Smart resigned as director of the Oswego shelter and formed “Friends of 
Fort Ontario — Guest Refugees” to take up the cause of the camp residents. ER, Reinhold 
Niebuhr, United Nations Relief and Rehabilitation Administration (UNRRA) direc-
tor Herbert H. Lehman, the labor leaders John L. Lewis and David Dubinsky, Albert 
Einstein, Thomas E. Dewey, and others appeared on the letterhead of the organization. 
ER and others lobbied Congress and the State and Justice Departments to permit the 
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refugees in the shelter who wished to stay to do so. Ruth Gruber, a journalist who had 
been sent by Harold Ickes to accompany the refugees on their voyage from Italy to 
America and who became the chronicler of their experience, became a passionate ad-
vocate. Restrictionists in Congress and the Truman administration resisted, however, 
and it appeared that most of the residents of the shelter would be forced to return to 
Europe. An appeal initiated by the National Refugee Service and the United Jewish 
Service in Kansas City that reached Truman through three of his close friends, includ-
ing his Jewish friend Eddie Jacobson, apparently helped change Truman’s attitude. But 
the crucial factors were the growing awareness of the enormity of the refugee crisis in 
Europe, the British decision to allow more refugees to enter Great Britain, and Truman’s 
effort to persuade the British to allow a large number of refugees to enter Palestine. How 
could the United States fail to allow the small number of refugees in Fort Ontario to 
remain in the United States and still ask other countries to do their part to relieve the 
refugee crisis? In December 1945 Truman issued a directive ordering government offi-
cials to employ “every possible measure” to enable the immigration of refugees to the 
United States and to make the admittance of the residents of Fort Ontario and refu-
gees in the American-occupied zones of Europe a priority. Truman’s directive permitted 
the acceptance of affidavits from approved nongovernmental organizations for groups 
of refugees in place of the affidavits from individual sponsors. In late January and early 
February, the refugees in Fort Ontario who had chosen to stay in the United States 
were bused to Niagara Falls, Canada, so that they could reenter the United States as 
immigrants. With the support of friends and relatives and the assistance of religious 
and refugee organizations, they were resettled in the United States. 29

Oswego satisfied ER’s strong desire to support communal efforts to assist people 
who were down and out, help them get back on their feet, and open up opportunities 
through which they could fulfill their aspirations. In that regard, her relationship to 
the Oswego camp was like her relationship to Arthurdale, the community that she and 
Clarence Pickett helped establish for unemployed coal miners in the early nineteen 
thirties. It also foreshadowed her keen interest in the children’s villages and kibbutzim 
she visited during the trips she made to Israel beginning in 1952. In all of these cases, 
she took a personal interest in the fate of individual people in the community while 
supporting governmental and nongovernmental programs to help all the members of 
the community build better lives for themselves.

After the war ER felt that more could and should have been done to rescue Jews 
from the Nazis. Moshe Kol, the director of Youth Aliyah, reported after her death 
that the only time he saw ER falter in responding to a question from the press was 
when she was asked
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if in her opinion, everything possible had been done during the presidency of her 
husband, Franklin D. Roosevelt, to save Jews during the period of the holocaust? 
She refused to discuss the subject. She evaded the question. I saw it gave her pain. 
She just could not answer it with the forthrightness she generally afforded the ques-
tions of the press. 30

The fact that she was not very successful in her efforts to pressure her husband and 
the State Department to admit more Jewish and non-Jewish refugees to the United 
States does not diminish the significance of the work she did to open America’s doors 
wider. Her reticence about the persecution of the Jews by the Nazis during much of the 
1930s and her understated comments on Kristallnacht, on the Ravensbrück camp, and 
on the news of the Nazi death camps can be only partially explained by the constraints 
of her position. Her tendency to express herself in response to horrific events in a style 
of naïve indirectness, whether or not it carried an ironic intention, did not adequately 
address those crises. There is no doubt, however, about ER’s commitment to rescuing 
Jews, as well as other victims of Nazi persecution. Few people tried harder than ER to 
save those who suffered persecution, particularly children. But her persistence met with 
stubborn resistance, and the fact that she was not in a position of power limited her 
range of action. Looking back after the war, she felt she should have made still greater 
efforts. In 1952, after visiting a village of immigrants in Israel, she told Ruth Gruber, 
“I wish I had done more for the Jews. . . . I should have done more.” 31 Israel’s success in 
rehabilitating survivors of the Holocaust would give her great joy and a deep sense of 
relief at seeing the Jewish people renewed.
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A M A RC H TO A 
B ET T E R L I F E

“From the land of persecution 
to the Land of Promise”

T he only places Jewish refugees from Hitler’s Europe were unreservedly 
welcome were the Jewish communities in Palestine, which urgently needed 
more settlers to help develop the land and achieve the goal of building a Jewish 

homeland. Responding to information she received from her Jewish friends, Eleanor 
Roosevelt began taking an interest in these settlements in the mid-1930s. Most of her 
Jewish friends and colleagues, with the exception of Justine Polier, did not consider 
themselves Zionists, 1 but they recognized that with immigration to the United States 
and other countries severely limited, Palestine offered a refuge. As a result, they often 
contributed funds to support Jewish settlements there. Like her friends, ER did not 
advocate a separate Jewish state, but she too regarded the settlements in Palestine as a 
haven for Jewish refugees fleeing from Nazi persecution.

ER believed that the Balfour Declaration of 1917 had established a legitimate basis 
for Jewish settlement in Palestine, and as her views on the future of Palestine evolved, 
the declaration remained the fundamental guide to her thinking. The declaration 
had been in the form of a letter from Arthur Balfour, the British foreign secretary, 
to Lord Rothschild, a leader of Britain’s Jews, declaring that the British government 
supported the creation in Palestine of “a national home for the Jewish people.” The 
declaration was incorporated into the British Mandate for Palestine adopted by the 
League of Nations in 1922.

Many Americans endorsed the Balfour Declaration in the period leading up to the 
founding of Israel. The United States Congress unanimously passed a joint resolution 
in 1922 endorsing the establishment of a Jewish national home in Palestine and legis-
latures in thirty-three states followed suit. Every president from Woodrow Wilson to 
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Franklin Roosevelt expressed their support. It was, of course, easier for Americans to 
be enthusiastic about immigration to Palestine than to favor the easing of visa regula-
tions or the liberalization of American immigration quotas.

Although the meaning of the phrase “a national home for the Jewish people” was 
open to interpretation, the Balfour Declaration stimulated Jewish immigration to 
Palestine and nurtured the Zionist dream of eventually establishing a Jewish state. The 
number of Jews in Palestine more than doubled between 1922 and 1931 (from 83,790 
to 174,606), many of them fleeing virulent antisemitism in Poland and Romania. After 
Hitler came to power, large numbers of Jewish immigrants to Israel began coming 
from central Europe. By 1935 the Jewish population in Palestine had again more than 
doubled to 375,000. 2 American Jewish groups became a major source of funding for 
immigration and settlement-building.

FDR favored Jewish immigration to Palestine and pressured the British govern-
ment several times not to place limits on it. In July 1936, after the influx of Jews seeking 
to escape persecution in Europe provoked an Arab revolt in Palestine and the British 
considered restricting Jewish immigration in order to ease tensions, FDR directed the 
State Department to send a message to the British government saying the United States 
“would regard suspension of immigration [to Palestine] as a breach of the Mandate.” 
On August 5 he proclaimed, “Men and women of Jewish faith have a right to resettle 
the land where their faith was born and from which much of modern civilization has 
emanated.” His actions helped persuade the British not to impose new restrictions at 
that time. 3 In the fall of 1938, in response to an appeal from Rabbi Stephen Wise, FDR 
once again put pressure on Great Britain to admit more Jews to Palestine. 4 This time 
his efforts failed; in May 1939 the British issued a White Paper restricting Jewish immi-
gration to 75,000 a year until 1944, when it would end entirely unless the Palestinian 
Arabs approved of allowing more Jews to enter the country.

ER also opposed British efforts to restrict immigration to Palestine, but her in-
terest in Palestine as a refuge for Jews had another dimension as well. The Jewish immi-
grants to Palestine were engaged in cooperative efforts to create new communities. Her 
attraction to these pioneer settlements reflected the commitment to community-building 
that led her to collaborate with Clarence Pickett and the American Friends Service 
Committee (AFSC) on resettling out-of-work coal miners. That interest also prepared 
her to support the work of several Jewish organizations that provided practical train-
ing to European Jews. ER’s close friend, the labor leader Rose Schneiderman, solicited 
ER’s interest in ORT, 5 an organization “For Constructive Relief for the Jews of Eastern 
and Central Europe.” ORT was established in 1880 to train European Jews to support 
themselves as skilled laborers or farmers. Its rehabilitation programs perfectly expressed 
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ER’s belief in preparing impoverished or displaced persons to help themselves. In March 
1937 several leaders of Women’s American ORT, including Schneiderman, wrote to 
ER thanking her for speaking at an ORT dinner several years before and describing 
the progress ORT had made since that time. ORT, they wrote, “now maintains over 
300 training centers, teaching Jews trades and agriculture in the countries of Europe, 
where their position is so precarious. Through this training they become productive 
citizens of their country; or, if they emigrate, they go with a skill in hand.” Noting the 
“interesting resemblance” between some of ORT’s work and the New Deal subsis-
tence homestead program, they invited ER to the group’s tenth anniversary luncheon 
in New York and asked her to speak briefly about the Resettlement Administration, 
the government agency that oversaw the establishment of subsistence homesteads such 
as Arthurdale. After ER regretted that she would not be able to attend, ORT’s pres-
ident, Emily Rosenstein, asked her to send a message like the “beautiful paragraph” 
from ER’s previous speech:

[It] is more worthwhile to help people to help themselves than to give simple char-
ity. After all, if we help a condition which exists, like starvation, there is really not so 
much merit; but if we have the vision to prevent it and to help people beforehand, 
we have shown three great qualities, imagination, sympathy, and vision. And those 
three qualities, all of you who have worked in this work before have already shown. 6

This approach to assisting people in need by helping them acquire the skills to help 
themselves was identical to the AFSC approach to human problems that ER so stron-
gly endorsed.

Having failed to get ORT on ER’s calendar for 1937, Rosenstein tried to induce her 
to speak the following year, even offering to change the date of ORT’s annual lunch-
eon to make ER’s attendance possible. ER again sent her regrets, saying that she would 
be away. 7

Her response to another invitation suggests she may have had other reasons for turn-
ing down the invitations to speak at the ORT luncheons. In April 1938, Schneiderman 
wrote ER that she had accepted the chairmanship of the National Women’s Committee 
of the Jewish National Fund, which sought to raise $100,000 to establish a Leon Blum 
Colony in Palestine. Shocked by the crisis faced by European Jewry, a crisis intensified 
by the effect of the Anschluss on March 12 on Austrian Jews, Schneiderman decided 
she must act. She felt the need to explain to ER that she was doing so not as a Zionist 
but because something had to be done:

It is the first time I have undertaken any work in connection with the Jewish cause . . . , 
first because I never believed in Zionism. I am not a Zionist today. I love my adopted 
land and don’t want to live in any other country of the world. But whatever one’s 
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philosophy may be, one has to face the stark realities affecting the Jewish people of 
Europe. Refuge must be given them wherever possible. Palestine of course affords 
the kind of haven, although it doesn’t offer complete security, nevertheless, it is a 
place where the young men and women of Jewish faith can reestablish themselves 
and in cooperation with one another, work out their destinies.

Schneiderman’s statement sums up the viewpoint of most of ER’s Jewish friends 
prior to 1945. Schneiderman went on to ask if ER would come as the guest of honor 
to an afternoon tea planned by the Women’s Committee for the end of May or early 
June 1938. 8 ER was interested but asked Tommy to clear Schneiderman’s invitation 
with the State Department. George Summerlin, chief of protocol, replied that, while 
ER was free to use her own judgment, he did not think that “any particular purpose 
would be served” by her attending such a tea:

The President and Secretary of State are constantly bombarded with requests for 
their support in behalf of organizations interested in the colonization of Palestine. 
They have consistently taken the stand, however, that in view of the troubled situ-
ation in Palestine, and since American Jewry itself appears to be divided regard-
ing the advisability of further colonization there, it would be unwise for them to 
appear to “take sides.”

He also thought it would be unwise, given “the urgent needs of many of our fellow 
citizens,” for ER to publicly approve a campaign “to raise funds for a particular group 
of citizens in certain foreign countries.” 9

Once again ER bowed to the constraints of her position and took Summerlin’s 
advice, but to Schneiderman, she simply made the excuse that May and June were too 
“crowded with engagements.” Undiscouraged, Schneiderman wrote again on May 
18, 1938, asking if ER could speak at a fundraising dinner for the Leon Blum Colony 
in November or December on a day scheduled to fit her calendar. “The campaign, 
if successful, will make it possible for at least 10,000 young people to find a refuge,” 
she told her.

ER again put Schneiderman off but this time was much more encouraging, tell-
ing Schneiderman that if the committee set a date, she would “try very hard to come.” 
In September Tommy wrote to Schneiderman that ER could attend the Leon Blum 
dinner if it were held on December 6, 1938. The committee changed the date they had 
previously set, and ER attended the dinner. Schneiderman wrote to ER afterward that 
the dinner was a great success, clearing approximately $23,000. 10

It is not clear why ER decided to ignore the earlier advice she had received from the 
State Department and accept the invitation to the fundraising dinner for the Blum 
Colony. Perhaps the worsening situation of Jews in Germany and Austria, as well as 
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the prospect of creating a refuge for 10,000 young people, persuaded her to use “her 
own judgment,” as Summerlin had said she was free to do. Writing in My Day after the 
event, however, she was careful not to directly endorse the project. As she often had on 
other occasions when responding to potentially controversial foreign policy matters, 
she turned the spotlight on American problems in need of remedy. Rather than talk 
about aiding the resettlement of Jews in Palestine, she called her readers’ attention to 
the problem of minority rights in the United States. The speakers at the dinner upset 
her deeply, she said, for they all celebrated how fortunate Americans were to live in a 
free country, when in fact not all Americans were free:

Are you free if you cannot vote, if you cannot be sure that the same justice will be 
meted out to you as to your neighbor, if you are expected to live on a lower level than 
your neighbor and to work for lower wages, if you are barred from certain places 
and from certain opportunities? 11

It became easier for ER to support causes such as the Blum Colony and ORT after 
the outbreak of war in Europe as FDR steered the nation gradually toward active oppo-
sition to Hitler. In November 1940, she spoke to 1,500 at a benefit dinner in Chicago 
marking ORT’s sixtieth anniversary. She spoke fervently, praising ORT for helping 
people acquire skills that enabled them to “start again in new ways of endeavor.” She 
herself compared ORT’s work explicitly to the programs of the AFSC. 12 ER contin-
ued to support ORT’s fundraising efforts throughout the war after it moved its activ-
ities to allied and South American nations and trained workers to produce weapons 
and other materials for the military. 13

ER also appeared and spoke regularly at events sponsored by the United Jewish 
Appeal (UJA) beginning at least as early as November 1941 and mentioned some of 
them in My Day. Since January 1939, the UJA had served as the fundraising organiza-
tion for the Jewish Joint Distribution Committee (JDC), which worked closely with 
the AFSC in conducting relief and rescue programs in Europe; the United Palestine 
Appeal (UPA), which aided immigration to Palestine; and the National Coordinating 
Committee for Aid to Refugees and Emigrants Coming from Germany (later the 
National Refugee Service, NRS), which helped refugees settle in the United States. 
Between 1939 and 1945, the UJA helped rescue over 160,000 Jews from extermination 
by the Nazis and brought relief to thousands of displaced Jews. 14 During this period, 
the UJA reached out to Gentiles as well as Jews by expressing its goals in nonsectarian 
terms and emphasizing the contribution the JDC, the UPA, and the NRS were making 
to defending democratic values and winning the war. Prominent Gentiles, like New 
York governor and presidential candidate Thomas E. Dewey, as well as FDR, endorsed 
the UJA campaigns. The UJA “sustains the spirit of freedom and democracy,” FDR 
proclaimed in 1943. ER joined in this chorus of praise, and her participation in UJA 
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meetings and her statements of support both during and after the war helped draw 
large audiences to UJA events and encourage both Jews and Gentiles to contribute. 15

ER’s close friend Adele Levy, who had worked with ER on the Wagner-Rogers bill 
and the United States Committee for the Care of European Children (USCCEC), 
was the first national chair of the Women’s Division of the UJA and helped ensure that 
ER played an active role. “Of all the things in which I am interested, this organiza-
tion, which helps care for the persecuted Jews in Europe, is closest to my heart,” Levy 
told ER. 16 It became a tradition for ER to serve as the guest of honor at the opening 
meeting of the Women’s Division of the UJA each year. After the 1945 meeting, ER 
praised the contributors to the UJA who tightened their belts in order to donate more 
to the cause: “There are not many of us who give so generously that we make an actual 
sacrifice and perhaps even have to ask the family as a whole to share in that sacrifice.” 17

ER’s devotion to ORT and the UJA expressed her desire to do what she could per-
sonally for the persecuted Jews of Europe. But the Jewish organization that would even-
tually come to mean the most to her was Youth Aliyah. The work of Youth Aliyah was 
closely aligned with several of ER’s deepest concerns: the welfare of children, providing 
people with the tools to live independent productive lives, and the creation of demo-
cratic communities. Beginning in the early 1930s, Youth Aliyah rescued Jewish children 
from Nazi persecution in Germany and later from other countries. The organization 
brought the children to Palestine, where they received training in agriculture and var-
ious trades and became the builders of new communities and eventually a new nation. 
In Modern Hebrew aliyah is the word for “elevation” or “going up,” and is used both 
for ascending to the bimah, the platform in the synagogue where the Torah scroll is 
read, and for moving to Israel. As the British journal Palestine put it, “This movement 
of the youth from the land of persecution to the Land of Promise bears something of 
the character of the old pilgrimage. It is a march to a better life.” 18

Youth Aliyah was led by the dynamic Henrietta Szold, the daughter of a Baltimore 
rabbi. Szold’s response to the conditions of America’s urban immigrant population mir-
rored the efforts of Jane Addams, Lillian Wald, and the other leaders of the Progressive 
reform movement in the United States. When Szold began working as a teacher, she 
recognized that the Russian immigrants arriving in Baltimore did not understand 
English and lacked the skills necessary to earn a living. To meet their needs, she founded 
a night school where she taught English, civics, and vocational skills like dressmaking 
and bookkeeping. Szold’s school was similar in many ways to the settlement houses 
founded by Addams and Wald.

From her students, Szold learned about Zionism. She began to read Zionist liter-
ature and contribute to Zionist publications. In 1909 she visited Palestine, where she 
encountered some of the same conditions that she and other social reformers were 
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addressing in America’s immigrant population. She was shocked by the poverty, poor 
sanitation, and disease among both Jewish and Arab residents of Palestine and became 
a passionate advocate for aiding the Jewish settlements in that land.

In 1912 Szold founded Hadassah, the Women’s Zionist Organization of America, 
whose motto was “The Healing of My People.” Building on the experience of the social 
reform movement in the United States, Hadassah did pioneering work in Palestine 
in the field of public health. It sent the first American nurses there just ten months 
after the organization’s founding. Szold asked the nurses to visit Lillian Wald’s Henry 
Street Settlement in New York before they left for Palestine to study its methods and, 
following the Henry Street model, they settled in a poor neighborhood of Jerusalem 
and offered health services to its inhabitants. 19 Over the years, Hadassah established 
modern medical facilities in Palestine modeled on American practices. These facilities 
served both Jews and Arabs. In 1920, Szold moved permanently to Palestine to oversee 
Hadassah projects; and in the 1930s, when Hadassah became the American sponsor 
of Youth Aliyah, Szold took over the direction of its operations in Palestine. 20 By the 
1930s Hadassah had become the largest Zionist organization in the United States and 
an important player in shaping the development of Jewish settlement in Palestine. 21 
It also shaped the lives of many Jewish women in the United States, offering them a 
mission that was both idealistic and practical. 22

Hadassah’s work naturally appealed to ER, whose earliest experience assisting im-
poverished people had been at New York City’s Rivington Street settlement house. 
Like Wald, who was one of the leaders who inspired her to work for progressive causes 
in the 1920s, ER became a strong advocate of public health programs in the United 
States. It was probably her close friend Elinor Morgenthau, who shared ER’s inter-
est in public health, who first encouraged her to speak at Hadassah events. When she 
and Morgenthau spoke to 4,000 women at Hadassah’s annual convention in 1934, ER 
praised Hadassah’s efforts to raise the level of health care in Palestine. 23

ER’s association with Youth Aliyah began at a time when the need to find places of 
refuge for Jews had become acute. Efforts to permit more refugee children to enter the 
United States would fail. Youth Aliyah offered another way to rescue them. ER first 
mentioned Youth Aliyah in a My Day column in June 1938 when she praised the orga-
nization for training young people in a two-year course that covered “every department 
of rural work and the running of a home,” thereby offering “real hope for future security 
to children many of whom have come from areas where life has been extremely precar-
ious.” Youth Aliyah, like ORT, was doing the kind of work she admired the Quakers 
for doing in the United States: the children were being “helped to independence,” not 
given charity. 24 Capitalizing immediately on ER’s My Day column, Hadassah issued a 
press release the following day under the headline, “Mrs. Roosevelt Lauds Project for 
Removing Refugee Children to Palestine.” 25
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In the fall of 1938, in an effort to further stimulate ER’s interest, Junior Hadassah 
sent her a pamphlet about Meier Shfeyah, one of the youth villages established by Youth 
Aliyah in Palestine. ER responded by describing the village in My Day:

In a little pamphlet which was sent me by Junior Hadassah, there are some pictures 
of a home where underprivileged children and the children of refugees are being 
brought up. . . . The children, with the guidance of a director and instructors, carry 
on the entire life of the village. They have to have their ups and downs, for we know 
that even in well regulated villages the unexpected will happen. They have to deal 
with the vagaries of the other children and the elders in the community; with the 
creatures of the animal world and with dame nature.

These children are certainly receiving a training and preparation for real life 
which is superior to that given by most schools. 26

Later, in recognition of the interest ER had expressed in their community, the chil-
dren of Meier Shfeyah created a book with a cover of inlaid Palestinian olive wood 
and dedicated it to “The First Lady of the Land of Liberty.” The book, handwritten 
in English, contained pictures and stories about the lives of the 165 refugee children 
at Meier Shfeyah. It also incorporated products of the work the children did in their 
farm school and domestic science classes, including a sheaf of wheat with a bit of the 
soil in which it was grown and pieces of embroidered material used in making the girls’ 
dresses. It is hard to imagine a more tactile representation of the lives of these children. 
In presenting the gift to ER in February 1940, Nell Ziff, national president of Junior 
Hadassah, noted that communities such as Meier Shfeyah not only assisted refugee chil-
dren to become self-reliant adults, but also contributed to the task of “re-establishing 
the Jewish Homeland.” 27 In accepting the book, ER recognized its significance in illus-
trating how such children could acquire skills and become self-supporting. She planned 
to show the book to the president and “also to a great many children in this country in 
underprivileged places where they are helping to rebuild their lives, because I think it 
will give them courage.” 28 ER loaned the book to the Palestine Pavilion at the New York 
World’s Fair where it was displayed in a case at the center of the Hall of Culture and 
seen by thousands of people during the 1940 season. 29 Given the situation of Jews in 
Europe, it is hard to overestimate the importance to American Jews of having the blessing 
of the First Lady for the work they were doing to nurture the settlements in Palestine.

In 1938, a month after ER had written about Meier Shfeyah in her column, the 
outbreak of violence in Germany on Kristallnacht made Youth Aliyah’s mission still 
more urgent. Marian Greenberg, National Youth Aliyah Committee chairman, made 
that mission more vivid to ER when she asked ER to send a message to be read as part 
of a national broadcast marking Szold’s seventy-eighth birthday. With her request, 
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Greenberg enclosed a Hadassah pamphlet that called attention to the reasons Jewish 
parents in Central Europe were willing to send their children to Palestine in the care 
of Youth Aliyah: “Suppose your child were deprived of the right to go to school, learn 
a trade or profession, or earn a livelihood?” The pamphlet reported that by 1938 Youth 
Aliyah had brought more than 2,200 Jewish boys and girls between the ages of fif-
teen and seventeen out of Germany, Austria, and Poland and trained them in agri-
cultural settlements and at trade schools in Palestine. It now sought 1,000 American 
sponsors to rescue 1,000 additional children over the next three months. In response 
to Greenberg’s letter, ER sent a message for use in the broadcast in which she praised 
the “intelligence and self-sacrifice” with which Szold carried on her work and wished 
her continued success. 30

In early January 1940, Elinor Morgenthau helped arrange a meeting between Gisela 
Warburg, national chairman for Youth Aliyah, and ER at the White House. Warburg 
and two of her colleagues were seeking to establish an ongoing relationship between 
ER and Youth Aliyah by inviting her to head the National Youth Aliyah Advisory 
Committee then in process of formation. ER said that if she accepted the position, she 
would not have time to attend meetings or do any work. Tamar de Sola Pool, Hadassah’s 
national president, assured her that this would not be necessary. What they asked of 
her was to lend her name and to mention the work of Hadassah whenever she could. 
Under those conditions, ER was “very glad indeed to accept.” Elinor Morgenthau also 
accepted a position on the advisory committee, as did Clarence Pickett. 31

Having secured ER’s agreement, Hadassah set about forming the rest of the commit-
tee, using ER’s name to encourage others to join. With ER on board, Greenberg wrote to 
Szold, “the rest was plain sailing.” The primary reason for creating the advisory commit-
tee, Greenberg said, was to “dress up the stationary” that Hadassah used when appeal-
ing to the British Colonial Secretary to issue more certificates for the young refugees 
sponsored by Youth Aliyah to enter Palestine. The certificates were essential to Youth 
Aliyah’s continued operation. 32 The dressed-up letterhead may have helped. Greenberg 
was able to tell ER in early May 1940 that the British government had granted Youth 
Aliyah 1,600 new certificates. “In these dark days,” she said, “one may derive some 
comfort from the realization that the work of rescue and reconstruction is still going 
on even if it is impossible to keep pace with the grinding forces of destruction.” 33

Although ER agreed to head its advisory committee, mentioned its work favor-
ably in My Day, and responded enthusiastically to reports of its progress, Youth Aliyah 
would not become deeply important to her until her first visit to Israel in 1952.

In 1940, when the Hadassah leaders appealed to ER to join the Youth Aliyah 
advisory committee, ER asked one question: “Is there room in Palestine?” The ques-
tion reflected the views of Isaiah Bowman, the Johns Hopkins geographer whom FDR 
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had commissioned in 1938 to appraise possible sites for refugee settlements around 
the world. Bowman had told her that Palestine could not even sustain the population 
it already had, much less absorb a large number of new immigrants. The leaders of 
Hadassah, however, assured her that the answer to her question was “yes.”

Bowman’s opinion of Palestine’s limited capacity did not discourage ER from joining 
the advisory committee, but Bowman’s views continued to shape her attitude toward 
immigration to Palestine for some time to come. 34 His influence is evident in ER’s 
answer to a letter she received in June 1943 in which the correspondent proposed that 
the United States pressure Great Britain to allow Jewish refugees from Nazi-occupied 
Europe to enter Palestine. ER categorically rejected the idea that large-scale immigra-
tion to Palestine was practical: “they would soon starve if Palestine were their desti-
nation, as Palestine can not support any more people.” 35

Jewish leaders, however, continued their effort to dissuade ER of that view. After 
Rose Halprin, chairman of the Post-War Planning Committee of the American Zionist 
Emergency Council, and several of her colleagues met with ER in late November 1943 
to discuss the issue of immigration to Palestine, Halprin wrote to tell her that “several 
experts, renowned in their respective fields, have of recent years reported on the absorp-
tive capacity of Palestine and have indicated that the country could, through scientific 
development, absorb a population several times the present number.” Halprin enclosed 
a six-page report drawing on the work of these experts.

The report noted that the ruins of towns, aqueducts, and terraced hillsides suggested 
that Palestine had once sustained a population of three to four million people, many 
more than the 1,500,000 it did at the end of 1943. The absorptive capacity of a country, 
the report argued, depended not just on natural resources but also on “the energy and 
the creative ability of its inhabitants.” Given “modern technical advantages” and “a hard 
working and intelligent population,” Palestine could reasonably be expected to sustain 
a population well above the number it supported in ancient times. Currently only 1.5 
percent of the land in Palestine was irrigated. American experts estimated that ten times 
that amount could be irrigated by drawing on existing water sources. Much more could 
be irrigated by tapping into newly discovered below-ground sources and by bringing 
water from the Jordan River to the large unsettled areas around Beersheba. The credibil-
ity of the report was no doubt strengthened in ER’s mind by citing the large-scale irriga-
tion project similar to the Tennessee Valley Authority (TVA) proposed for Palestine by 
Dr. Walter S. Lowdermilk, assistant chief of the U.S. Soil Conservation Bureau. TVA was 
a program dear to the hearts of both FDR and ER, and the idea of applying New Deal 
strategies to the economic development of Palestine would have been very appealing to 
ER. The irrigation project proposed by Lowdermilk, the report estimated, could expand 
the farming population of Palestine from approximately 800,000 to 2 million or more.

The report also cited the rapid expansion of industry in Palestine (production 
having increased fourfold between 1933 and 1942), the abundance of oil reaching 
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Haifa through a pipeline running from Iraq, and the hydroelectric projects of the 
Jordan Valley.

Although the country imported more than it exported at that time, the fact that 
most of the capital invested in the country came with the immigrants themselves or 
was contributed by Jews abroad meant that the Jewish settlements in Palestine, unlike 
other development projects, were unencumbered by a large debt burden. Based on the 
settlers’ recent achievements, the report concluded that “a large increase in the Jewish 
population is possible without displacing the native population.” In fact, the report 
said, the increase in the Jewish population of Palestine had resulted in an increase in 
the Arab population because the Jews had introduced improvements in health care 
and in other areas that had lengthened the life expectancy of the Arabs.

ER wrote on the letter: “A very convincing statement” and sent the report on to 
FDR, who replied: “I wish you would have a talk with Dr. Isaiah Bowman about this.” 36 
After ER spoke with Bowman, Bowman sent her a follow-up letter in which he told 
her that after “a careful reading” of the report Halprin had sent her, he had concluded 
that it “provides no facts, arguments, or points of view not already well known and 
carefully weighed.” In a three-page memorandum enclosed with his letter, rather than 
repeating his argument about Palestine’s absorptive capacity, he chose instead to focus 
on the political problems that mass immigration to Palestine would greatly intensify 
and the larger issue of how to rescue Jews under threat of annihilation.

Bowman’s analysis of the political situation drove to the heart of the problem. A 
large expansion of the Jewish population of Palestine would require an “increasing use 
of force” to defend it, and, like other observers at the time, he did not anticipate that 
the Palestinian Jews would be capable of managing the task themselves: “Palestine, 
as a Jewish State (which is more than a Jewish Home) would not have the power to 
defend itself against wider regional opposition.” If Great Britain were to agree to the 
establishment of a Jewish state, it would be unlikely to do so unless the United States 
joined it in guaranteeing its security. And, if the United States became a joint guaran-
tor, it would become responsible “for the consequences of the political acts” of that 
state: “Are we prepared as a nation to do that? Who can guarantee the willingness of 
the American people to continue to back up guarantees to Palestine, a small and chron-
ically troubled country 6,000 miles away?” The answer to this question would even-
tually be “yes,” but in 1944, in the midst of a global war, it seemed unlikely that most 
Americans would favor assuming such a burden.

Another issue concerned the role to be played by the new world organization being 
planned by the Allies to keep the peace after the war. If that organization were going to 
succeed, Bowman wrote, it could only do so by applying force justly: “The Arab world 
would feel deeply wronged by the mingling of constantly expanding Jewish claims and 
rights on the one hand, and the wider commercial and military interests of the guar-
anteeing powers on the other.”
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Bowman professed deep sympathy for the Jews (“Only a heart of stone would deny 
the Jews full and sympathetic consideration”) but argued that their future depended on 
multiple solutions, not just on immigration to Palestine. “Is it in their long-term inter-
est,” he asked, “to create a growing problem of security in the Near East that may require 
for its solution the more or less immediate use of American bayonets?” Perhaps because 
of Bowman’s failure, after a long search, to find a practical and politically acceptable 
area of the world for the large-scale settlement of Jewish refugees, he did admit that 
“The answer may prove to be yes, if there is no other way,” but “in all the wide world” 
did there have to be “a solution by force in just this particular area of 10,000 square 
miles?” The answer to that, he added, was inevitably, “It is not just 10,000 square miles, 
but the Holy Land!” And “From that point on, emotion controls the argument, emo-
tion supported by ‘wrongs too deep for tears.’” Bowman cautioned that statesmen had 
to consider other factors in addition to emotion and not forget that “emotion also af-
fects the Arabs and the Americans as well as the Jews.”

Halprin’s memorandum and Bowman’s response to it educated ER to the diffi-
culty of finding a solution for the future of Palestine. Eventually she would conclude, 
as Bowman put it, that “there is no other way,” except for the creation of a Jewish state, 
but she had not yet reached that point. She directed her secretary to “Keep statements 
for reference.” 37

Although she would remain skeptical of Palestine’s capacity to absorb large 
numbers of additional settlers, ER was appalled at the measures the British took to 
prevent Jewish refugees from reaching Palestine. In December 1941 the Struma, an 
unseaworthy and overcrowded ship commissioned by the New Zionist Organization 
and the Zionist underground military group, the Irgun, and carrying hundreds of 
Jewish refugees, arrived in Istanbul from Constanza, Romania. The ship remained in 
port for seventy days, while the passengers appealed to the British authorities to issue 
certificates for entry into Palestine. The British, fearing there might be spies and subver-
sives among the refugees who lacked visas and seeking to limit immigration to Palestine 
as much as possible, refused to issue the certificates. The Turkish authorities refused to 
allow the passengers to land or permit the repair of the ship’s engine, which had died. 
On February 23, 1942, after the Turks towed the ship out of the harbor into the Black 
Sea, a Russian submarine apparently torpedoed it by mistake and it sank, carrying 
768 Jews to their deaths, including over 100 children. Only one passenger survived. 38

On March 8, Justine Polier wrote a letter to ER appealing for help and enclos-
ing a memorandum citing the sinking of the Struma as the most tragic consequence 
of Britain’s refusal to permit Jews to enter Palestine. British “policy not only violates 
all considerations of justice and humanity by virtually condemning to death these 
anti-fascist Jewish refugees,” the memorandum stated, “but is in defiance of military 
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necessity. For, many of these refugees who have gone to their deaths or are languish-
ing in internment are able-bodied men with military training or skilled technicians 
and laborers whose contributions to the war effort could be an extremely vital one.” 
Not even “the logic of official policy” demanded the exclusion of these refugees, be-
cause the war was preventing “even the limited immigration quota permitted by the 
British White Paper policy” from being filled. 39

ER immediately sent the memorandum on to Sumner Welles, then undersecretary 
of state, telling him it seemed “perfectly shocking” to her: “Why, because of a techni-
cality of not having visas when these people come from countries where they can not 
get visas anyway, they should be turned back I cannot see. It just seems to me cruel 
beyond words.”

Welles sent her a statement by the British undersecretary of state for the colonies 
placing blame on the Jews on board the Struma who had sailed to Turkey with the 
“intention of effecting their entry illegally into Palestine” and on the Turks and the 
submarine that sank the ship. Welles added: “This is one of the most shocking trag-
edies which have taken place in a tragic year. Naturally I am doing everything I can 
to prevent a recurrence, but the British are adamant in their refusal to prevent any 
increased immigration into Palestine for fear of Arab unrest.” Welles’s response did 
not satisfy ER. “Why not try to give asylum and guarantee that such refugees will 
continue to Africa and South America?” she replied. “This policy is so cruel that if it 
were generally known in this country, it would increase the dislike of Great Britain 
which is already too prevalent.” 40As Justine Polier said in an oral history interview 
many years later after reading from these letters, this was among ER’s sharpest remarks 
on the plight of Jewish refugees, expressed in an irate tone that ER rarely adopted. 41

In response, Welles said he wished “your suggestion could in fact be carried out,” 
but a lack of ships “to transport these unfortunate people either to Africa or to South 
America” and the “well-founded fear” of the nations in South America that there “would 
undoubtedly be some subversive agents planted by the German authorities” among the 
refugees, made this impossible. 42 The State Department, he said, echoing Ambassador 
Steinhardt’s influential 1940 warning, had “reason to know by experience that when 
the Gestapo permits a quantity of refugees, such as that on board the Struma, to leave 
Nazi-controlled territory, it does so only with some ulterior purpose in mind.” If “safe 
shipping communications were available,” Africa would make a more practical desti-
nation, he said, but that solution also posed problems because no facilities existed for 
caring for the refugees in British-controlled east Africa, the most likely destination. 
Furthermore, the refugees themselves possessed no resources or means of making a 
living in countries where they did not speak the native language. Months of prepara-
tion would be needed to create conditions adapted to the refugees’ needs. Nevertheless, 
Welles said he would ask the Intergovernmental Committee on Refugees to seek a 
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solution. 43 Welles did so, but it did not lead to any alternative plan for the refugees 
trying to reach Palestine. 44

Welles also wrote to the British Foreign Office about the Struma tragedy and for-
warded to ER the reply defending British policy that he received. The Foreign Office, 
which described the refugees on board the Struma as “of enemy nationality,” said that 
a change in British policy on the immigration of Jews to Palestine “at a critical moment 
of the war would involve a risk of dangerous repercussions on the non-Jewish popu-
lations of the Middle East by which the whole conduct of the war might be affected.” 
The message ended with a pointed recognition that the United States was in no posi-
tion to criticize others on the issue of refugees: “The Government of the United States 
is, of course, aware that Her Majesty’s Government is not alone in finding it necessary 
to restrict emigration from enemy countries under the stress of war.” 45

The British responded more generously to appeals from Hadassah to assist a large 
group of Jewish child refugees stranded in Teheran. The British issued certificates for 
their immigration to Palestine, but Iraq would not permit the children to be trans-
ported through its territory. In early December 1942, Hadassah president Tamar de Sola 
Pool asked Elinor Morgenthau to deliver an urgent appeal to ER asking her to inter-
vene on behalf of this group and to urge the president to do so. Although ER did not 
play a major role in Hadassah’s effort, her attention to the problem no doubt increased 
pressure on the State Department to find a way to transport the children to Palestine. 
Hadassah remained in touch with her during the rescue effort through Morgenthau. 
Ultimately, Paul Alling, who handled the matter for the State Department’s Near 
East ern Division, put Hadassah in touch with the War Shipping Administration, 
which in turn referred the organization to John McClay at the British Ministry of 
War Transport. McClay succeeded in finding British ships to take the children first 
from Basra to Karachi, then through the Suez Canal to Haifa. On February 19, 1943, 
de Sola Pool and Gisela Warburg wrote to ER with the news that “the 835 Polish ref-
ugee children who had been stranded in Teheran, and in whose fate you took such a 
deep interest, are about to arrive in Haifa.” 46

British cooperation in the rescue of the Teheran children was an exception. 
As a result of the severe restrictions Great Britain placed upon the immigration of Jews 
to Palestine, pressure continued to grow in the United States to persuade Great Britain 
to change its policy. In April 1944, Will Rogers Jr. invited ER to join the Sponsoring 
Committee of the American League for a Free Palestine, an organization formed by 
Peter Bergson to support the creation of a Jewish state in Palestine. Aware of ER’s “deep 
appreciation of the inhuman disaster which confronts the Hebrew people of Europe,” 
he felt sure she would want to back “this new freedom movement.” The purpose of the 
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organization, he told her, was to open Palestine to the immigration of European Jews, 
promote the organization of a Hebrew Palestine Army that would participate in the 
invasion of Europe and the occupation of Germany, and “secure recognition of the 
Hebrew people of Europe and Palestine as a nation with rights of representation in the 
councils of the United Nations and at the peace table.” Both for political reasons and 
because ER continued to believe Isaiah Bowman’s negative assessment of the absorp-
tive capacity of Palestine, she did not feel she could accept Rogers’s invitation: “There 
are diplomatic angles in which I should not be involved,” she told him. She advised 
that the first of the organization’s three purposes “should be qualified since there seems 
to be a limit to the number of people the land at present will support without aid.” 47

The unsettled question of the future of Palestine made some supporters of 
FDR worry that Jewish voters would turn away from him in the presidential elec-
tion of 1944. In early October, Freda Kirchwey, editor of The Nation, wrote a note 
to ER expressing her alarm. She reported that many of her Jewish friends were telling 
her that unless “prompt measures are taken,” many Jewish voters who voted for FDR 
in 1940 would vote for the Republican candidate, Thomas E. Dewey. They reported 
that Dewey’s Jewish advisers were planning an attack on Roosevelt “for failure to do 
anything effective about Palestine (whether he could or not is beside the point!).” In 
addition, Dewey would come out in support of a Jewish Commonwealth bridging 
both sides of the Jordan River, thus “outbidding all Democratic promises.”

ER responded to Kirchwey’s letter on October 4, telling her that she had shown her 
letter to FDR and he had told her, “He does not know what can be done.” 48 FDR was 
reluctant to take a position on the future of Palestine that contradicted the policy of 
America’s British ally in the midst of the war, but the political pressure on him made it 
necessary for him to act. On October 11, at a meeting with Stephen Wise at the White 
House, FDR agreed to send a letter to be read at the Zionist Organization of America 
convention that stated: “I know how long and ardently the Jewish people have worked 
and prayed for the establishment of Palestine as a free and Democratic Jewish common-
wealth. I am convinced that the American people give their support to this aim, and 
if reelected, I shall help to bring about its realization.” 49 After the publication of the 
statement, Kirchwey wrote to ER again, telling her how pleased she was that the pres-
ident had sent “such a forthright, vigorous statement” to the convention. Kirchwey’s 
Jewish friends who previously expressed concern about weakening support for FDR 
“now say that they have direct evidence of a shift in feeling among the Jewish orga-
nizations they run or are in touch with.” In the end, FDR received support from 90 
percent of Jewish voters in 1944, just as he had in 1940. 50
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In March 1945, ER received a letter from a woman in Los Angeles who complained 
that FDR’s promise during the campaign of a homeland for the Jews in Palestine 
re mained unfulfilled. ER’s reply again shows that she had absorbed Isaiah Bowman’s 
views on the problems a Jewish homeland in Palestine would face: “You seem in no 
way to understand the difficulties about Palestine. Palestine is not a land cut off from 
the rest of the world. It is a land surrounded on all sides by lands owned by the Arabs.” 
While the president sympathized with the wish of the Jews for a homeland, ER told the 
woman, he also recognized the significance of Palestine to the Arabs, not only for those 
who lived there but for the Arabs as a people. For the Jews, “Palestine is their home-
land and because of its history, it has a religious meaning to them, but unfortunately 
it also has a religious meaning to the Arabs.” If the Arabs were “not at least friendly 
to an increase in the Jewish population in Palestine,” then other nations would have 
to guarantee the security of Palestine with military force. Although the Jews had said 
they could defend themselves, the Arab superiority in numbers “might mean a massa-
cre of everyone now in Palestine if anything is done which is contrary to the Arabs’ 
desire.” It was a problem that the UN needed to address, ER concluded, not just Great 
Britain and the United States. 51

After the war, when President Harry S. Truman appointed ER to the first American 
delegation to the newly established United Nations organization, she would find herself 
in the midst of the debate about how to handle this complex and troubling problem.
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“A duty to lead”

T he death of Franklin Roosevelt on April 12, 1945, liberated Eleanor 
Roose velt both from the responsibilities of being the First Lady and from the 
restraints on her freedom to speak her own mind that the position had im-

posed upon her. Initially, it also reduced her influence, although her decision to con-
tinue to write her My Day and If You Ask Me columns provided her with a medium 
for reaching a wide audience. Continuing invitations to speak to a wide range of groups 
also gave her many opportunities to express her views. The fact that she had established 
herself in fields of political action well beyond the traditional role of First Lady meant 
that she could carry on those activities into the post–White House years. But a new 
field of action opened up for her as well. In December 1945 President Harry Truman 
appointed ER to the American delegation to the United Nations. Established shortly 
after FDR’s death at an international conference in San Francisco, the UN was hold-
ing its first session in London in January 1946. Its founding had opened a path toward 
the establishment of an international legal system and mechanisms for keeping the 
peace that ER and her colleagues in the international women’s peace movement had 
promoted in the 1920s and 1930s. The refusal of the United States to join the League 
of Nations in 1919 had contributed to its failure, but this time the United States took 
a leading role in the founding of the new international organization. FDR had been 
its chief architect during its planning phase.

At first, ER was unsure that she possessed the skills necessary to perform effec-
tively in her new position, but she soon proved herself wrong. She studied every brief-
ing paper given to her by the State Department and brought the moral commitment, 
passion, patience, tact, and guile that she had developed over her long years of political 
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activism to her task. The rest of the American delegation consisted of a bipartisan 
group of prominent men: Secretary of State James Byrnes, former secretary of state 
Edward Stettinius, Senate Foreign Relations Committee chair Tom Connally (D-TX), 
and ranking Republican member of the Senate Foreign Relations Committee senator 
Arthur Vandenberg (R-MI), plus several alternates, including the future secretary of 
state John Foster Dulles. They regarded ER’s appointment as a public relations ploy by 
Truman in order to draw political capital from her late husband’s popularity and from 
her own. They assigned her to represent the United States on the Third Committee, 
which dealt with Social, Humanitarian, and Cultural Affairs and where, as she put it, 
they didn’t think she could “do much harm.” 1

But she would not accept obscurity. Even after she began to assume the responsibil-
ities of her new position, ER knew that she possessed a power she had not had before: 
“For the first time in my life I can say just what I want,” she told reporters on the ship 
taking the delegation to London. “For your information it is wonderful to feel free.” 2 
The journalist S. J. Woolf, writing about ER after she had served on the delegation for a 
year, reported that she listened attentively to the speeches of the other delegates on the 
Third Committee, and when she disagreed with what was being said, she “could barely 
disguise her feelings.” Even before the speech had ended, she would pick up the trian-
gular “United States” sign in front of her and wave it to indicate her desire to respond. 3

It turned out that the first explosive issue to come before the UN at its inaugural 
meeting in London was where the thousands of people uprooted by the war should 
go. After the liberation of the death camps and slave-labor camps, thousands of people, 
including many Jews, wandered through the devastated cities and countryside looking 
for something to eat. Some tried to return home; some feared to return home and fled 
westward. The Allies gathered up many of them and placed them in displaced person 
(DP) camps where they waited for the occupying forces to determine their future. The 
problem of where they would all go would take another three years to solve. ER played 
a prominent role in seeking a solution to this crisis.

The question before the UN at its first meeting was whether hundreds of thou-
sands of refugees, both Jewish and non-Jewish, living in DP camps in Europe should 
be forced to return to their countries of origin, as the Soviet Union and its Communist 
allies insisted, or should be free to seek asylum elsewhere. Since the issue fell under 
the purview of the Third Committee, ER debated the question with the Communist 
representatives serving on that committee. She won “hands down,” as she put it, then 
fought it out all over again in the General Assembly with Andrei Vishinsky, the Soviet 
delegate to the UN. Vishinsky was an aggressive debater who had presided over the 
Great Purge trials of 1934–38 in the Soviet Union. The men on the American delega-
tion worried that ER would not be a match for him, but no one else on the delegation 
was prepared to speak on the issue. Vishinsky charged that the refugees who did not 
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want to return to their countries of origin were collaborators, war criminals, or trai-
tors; ER argued that many of the refugees feared persecution by the governments now 
in power if they returned home. She did not think the Soviet Union would approve 
of forcibly repatriating Republican refugees to fascist Spain and insisted that refugees 
decide for themselves under what sort of government they wanted to live. ER again 
prevailed. Knowledgeable and articulate about the issue of refugees, she emerged from 
these encounters as a stateswoman of international stature and champion of refugees 
and human rights. She reported to Joseph Lash that after her performance Dulles said 
to her: “I feel I must tell you that when you were appointed I thought it terrible and 
now I think your work here has been fine! So — against odds, the women inch forward, 
but I’m rather old to be carrying on the fight.” 4

After the first meeting of the General Assembly adjourned in mid-February 
1946, ER traveled to Germany to see firsthand the conditions faced by the refugees in 
the DP camps. In her two-and-a-half-day visit, she visited four camps, including one 
for Jews. The problem of how to resettle these refugees seemed daunting to her. She 
did not envy the UN committee charged with examining the problem and coming 
up with recommendations.

At the Zeilsheim Jewish DP camp, survivors of the Holocaust spoke to her about 
their hopes for the future. Many of them wanted to go to Palestine. She answered with 
an “aching heart,” wondering, “When will our consciences grow so tender that we will 
act to prevent human misery rather than avenge it?” Both the children and adults in 
the camp looked much older than their years and their “feeling of desperation and 
sorrow” overwhelmed her: “An old woman knelt on the ground, grasping my knees,” 
she reported. “I lifted her up, but could not speak. What could one say at the end of 
a life which had brought her such complete despair?” 5

The day after she returned to New York, she spoke to a crowd of 2,000 people at a 
rally inaugurating a fundraising drive for the Women’s Division of the United Jewish 
Appeal of Greater New York. Reminding her listeners that they were surrounded by 
the comforts of a city physically untouched by war, she tried to give them a sense of 
the pervasive destruction in Germany: the bombed-out homes and apartment houses 
everywhere; the lack of food, shelter, and heat that “beat upon one every minute.” She 
described in great detail the meager rations of the inmates of the Jewish DP camp and 
the efforts of families to create some semblance of home, despite the lack of privacy. But 
she was especially struck by something she felt could only be conveyed in a question: 
“What would happen to us if suddenly we had no real right to appeal to a government 
of our own?” This powerlessness — “a kind of spiritual uprooting” or sense of “being 
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lost” — haunted her whenever she was in one of the camps. She recalled that when 
she visited the coal mining region of the United States during the darkest days of the 
Depression, the people she met at least felt they had the right to tell their government 
their troubles. In the DP camps, “There just is nothing to hold onto.” The remedy for 
this spiritual malady was not handouts: “Charity is a wonderful thing,” ER said, but it 
does not retrieve a lost sense of security, “the feeling that we have roots.” As in the coal 
fields of West Virginia, ER recognized that what the people in the DP camps needed 
was not relief but rehabilitation: the opportunity to become citizens of a country again 
and to rebuild independent lives.

The final point ER wanted to convey to her listeners in New York was her feeling 
that Americans had been spared “untold misery” for a reason: America was “expected 
to give leadership” in the broken postwar world. 6

One concrete way in which the United States could provide leadership was to 
provide funding for the United Nations Relief and Rehabilitation Administration 
(UNRRA), which had been established by the Allies in November 1943 to aid European 
ref ugees, and for its successor, the International Refugee Organization (IRO). Another 
was to persuade Great Britain to allow more refugees to enter Palestine. The third, of 
course, was for the United States to admit many more refugees than it had before and 
during the war, thereby setting an example for the rest of the world. President Truman 
and ER supported all three ways of solving the refugee crisis in Europe, but Congress 
and the American people resisted spending money on overseas aid to refugees and re-
mained strongly opposed to admitting more refugees to the United States.

In November and again in December 1945, ER urged Congress to pass legislation 
appropriating funds for UNRRA, which depended in large part on the financial sup-
port of the United States to do its work: “It would seem impossible for the members 
of Congress to go home and enjoy their Christmas vacations with the weight of the 
suffering of the world constantly before them, and no action yet taken to alleviate it.” 7 
She was relieved when Congress finally passed the bill.

When a decision was made to replace UNRRA, which was running out of funds, 
ER participated vigorously in the UN debates on the constitution of the IRO, which 
was established in April 1946 and took over the task of finding homes for displaced 
persons in 1947. She helped make sure that under the IRO refugees could choose re-
settlement if they had valid reasons for preferring it to repatriation. She then led the 
campaign to convince Congress to authorize American participation in the new or-
ganization and appropriate funds to cover the American share of its budget (45.75 
percent). ER also led the effort to secure American funding for the newly established 
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United Nations International Children’s Emergency Fund (UNICEF). She turned 
once again to Clarence Pickett to help pressure the new Congress, which had come 
under the control of the Republicans in the November 1946 elections, to commit 
the United States to the new organizations. Although the American Friends Service 
Committee (AFSC), as a tax-exempt organization, could not lobby Congress, Pickett 
said it would do its best to educate the public about the importance of the two agen-
cies. He told her he would also ask the Friends Committee on National Legislation, 
which did have the right to directly advocate for legislation, to work on the issue: “You 
can be sure we will do everything we can to muster support for both agencies.” 8 With 
the help of strong support from the State Department, Congress finally appropriated 
funds for UNICEF in May 1947 and for the IRO in late June.

Organizing and funding an effective international refugee agency was only 
the first step in solving the Jewish refugee situation. While UNRRA and then the IRO 
tried to do their work, the crucial question was where the refugees would go. President 
Truman thought a substantial number of them should go to Palestine. On August 31, 
1945, in reaction to a report by his emissary Earl Harrison on the appalling condi-
tions in the European DP camps run by the United States, Truman appealed to Great 
Britain’s new Labour government to admit immediately 100,000 of the surviving Jews 
in Europe to Palestine. Great Britain continued to resist liberalizing its immigration 
policy in Palestine, however, for fear of stirring up further Arab unrest. In a My Day 
column on November 7, ER deplored British intransigence and urged opening Palestine 
as soon as possible to the “miserable, tortured, terrorized Jews who have seen members 
of their families murdered and their homes ruined.” These refugees were now stateless, 
she noted, since they did not wish to return to “the countries where they have been 
despoiled of all that makes life worth living.” It was natural for them to want to immi-
grate to Palestine, “where they will feel again that sense of belonging to a community 
which gives most of us security.” Although she felt that it was vital that large numbers 
of Jews be admitted quickly to Palestine, she also said that Americans had to “face the 
fact” that they too “may be asked to assume some responsibility.” Americans could not 
“sit comfortably” by and allow fifty of “these emaciated, miserable people” to die every 
day, which she had been told was now the case. 9

In mid-November, two and a half months after Truman first asked Great Britain to 
admit 100,000 Jews to Palestine, British prime minister Clement Attlee and Foreign 
Secretary Ernest Bevin rejected the request, in effect, by proposing instead the creation 
of the joint Anglo-American Committee of Inquiry to study the issue of Palestine and 
recommend a plan of action. Britain hoped that by drawing the United States into the 



 THE P OST WAR REFUGEE CRISIS AND THE FU TURE OF PALESTINE 161

development of a policy on Palestine, the United States would assume some responsi-
bility for carrying it out. When the committee issued its report in April 1946, it recom-
mended that 100,000 Jews be admitted immediately to Palestine, just as Truman had 
requested, but it also called for other countries to admit some of the Jewish displaced 
persons. As for the future of Palestine, the committee advocated delaying the estab-
lishment of a Palestinian state or states until hostilities ceased. In the meantime, the 
British would continue to administer Palestine under its mandate until a UN trustee-
ship could be created. 10 Although the deliberations of the Anglo-American Committee 
were exceedingly contentious, its members unanimously endorsed the report. 11

ER was pleased with the committee’s recommendation to immediately admit 
100,000 refugees to Palestine. She told James McDonald, who had served as a member 
of the committee, that she also favored defending the Palestinian Jews with military 
force. She recognized, however, that the United States was unlikely to make such a 
commitment:

I think we should have the courage to tell the Arabs that we intend to protect Pal-
estine, but I suppose that is asking too much of us at the present time, though it 
would only take a small air-force it would seem to me to keep them in order. 12

Protecting the Jews would probably have been more difficult than she thought, but 
her advocacy of military force was one measure of her firm conviction that there was 
no other way to rapidly alleviate the misery of the Jews still in the European DP camps 
than by allowing large-scale immigration to Palestine. The almost seven-month delay 
caused by the establishment of the Anglo-American Committee frustrated her. “There 
was really no need for a committee of inquiry,” she wrote in My Day, but the United 
States had agreed to it, for “the obvious reason” that it “believed Great Britain would 
accept the report of such a group and try to implement it.” 13 Truman appointed a task 
force to work on doing just that and called for the British government to accept the 
Joint Committee’s recommendations. Britain, however, continued to resist. In reject-
ing Truman’s appeal, Bevin remarked that “the agitation in the United States, and 
particularly in New York, for 100,000 Jews to be put in Palestine . . . was because they 
do not want too many of them in New York.” 14

While ER strongly supported the recommendation of the Anglo-American 
Com mittee of Inquiry, as did most Americans, she also recognized that Bevin had a 
point. The United States had “a duty to lead” in accepting its share of Jewish refugees. 
She reiterated the point she had made over six months before: “It is not fair to ask of 
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others what you are not willing to do yourself.” Bevin’s remarks had given “a great many 
of us pause. We should not so conduct ourselves that such things can be said about us 
by responsible statesmen.” 15

In a My Day column written a week later, ER urged Americans to be more generous:

It might be unwise to bring into New York, which already is larger than any city 
should be, a great number of any particular group. But certainly throughout this 
country we could scatter our share of displaced persons without upsetting our econ-
omy. We are not yet at the point where an increase in population is a menace. In 
fact, it would be quite possible to absorb far more than our share of the displaced 
people in Europe who are seeking homes. 16

Anti-immigrant and antisemitic sentiment remained strong after the war, however, 
and Congress continued to resist the admission of refugees. Truman sympathized with 
the displaced persons, but the steps he had taken to allow more of them into the coun-
try were proving ineffectual. In December 1945 he had ordered that displaced persons 
be given preference under the current American immigration laws. His directive also 
permitted the State Department to accept corporate affidavits rather than requiring af-
fidavits from individual sponsors. 17 ER supported the president’s policy, but his direc-
tive had made little difference in the number of refugees admitted, partly because many 
displaced persons were from Eastern Europe and the American immigration quotas 
for those nations were very low: Poland, 6,524; Latvia, 236; Estonia, 116; Lithuania, 
386. Despite these limits, Congress opposed even the small increase made possible by 
Truman’s directive. A Gallup poll taken at the time showed that the American pub-
lic also overwhelmingly opposed an increase in immigration. Nevertheless, Truman 
kept trying.

In August 1946 Truman said he would propose legislation to allow a substantial 
number of displaced persons to enter the United States. 18 In November, ER noted 
in My Day that Mrs. Julius V. Talmadge, president general of the Daughters of the 
American Revolution, opposed Truman’s plan. Given the fact that Truman was not 
proposing to increase America’s immigration quotas, but merely to carry unfulfilled 
quotas from month to month, ER could not understand why some people were “so 
fearful of holding out even so mild a helping hand.” Because the American economy 
in the postwar period, unlike the Depression years, was growing, she could now com-
pare the nation’s needs to the late nineteenth and early twentieth centuries: “The years 
of high immigration in the past were usually prosperous, because at that time we were 
expanding. At present, we are again in need of labor. And the types of immigrants we 
could obtain would, in many cases, be of a very high order.” 19
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There was a division at this time among American Jewish organizations about Am-
erican immigration policy and the future of Palestine. ER had friends in both camps. 
After news of the Nazi program for the extermination of the Jews reached the United 
States in 1942, nearly all Jewish organizations in the United States, which had remained 
disunited up to that point, joined in demanding a Jewish homeland in Palestine. The 
two exceptions were the non-Zionist American Jewish Committee and the anti-Zionist 
American Council for Judaism, formed in 1942 to actively oppose the Zionist goal. 
A minority of American Jews supported the American Council for Judaism’s posi-
tion, but the organization appeared more significant to non-Jews than it was because 
its leadership included Lessing Rosenwald, former chairman of the board of Sears, 
Roebuck, and Arthur Hays Sulzberger, the publisher of the New York Times. 20 ER knew 
Rosenwald well because she had served with him on the board of the Julius Rosenwald 
Fund since 1940, together with her good friend Adele Levy, Rosenwald’s sister. The 
Rosenwald Fund financed the construction of schools for black children in the rural 
American South, fellowships for talented blacks, medical services, and other efforts 
to promote the welfare of black Americans. Along with Justine Polier, Rosenwald and 
Levy were among ER’s most important partners in the fields of both black civil rights 
and Jewish refugees. 21

Truman’s plan for opening America’s doors to a large number of refugees pushed 
the Zionist and non-Zionist American Jewish groups farther apart. The Zionists, led 
by Abba Hillel Silver and Stephen Wise, continued to press for the creation of a Jewish 
homeland, while the non-Zionists and anti-Zionists began campaigning to allow at 
least 100,000 Jewish displaced persons to come to the United States. Many Zionists 
supported the effort to bring Jewish displaced persons to the United States, but an 
influential minority did not, fearing that relieving the pressure created by large num-
bers of Jews in the European DP camps would undermine the drive for a Jewish state.

ER allied herself with the non-Zionist and anti-Zionist groups by serving as a vice 
chairman and adviser to the Citizens Committee on Displaced Persons (CCDP). 
The CCDP was a nondenominational organization founded by the American Jewish 
Committee and the American Council for Judaism to persuade Congress and the 
public to alter American immigration policy. Adele Levy also lent her support to the 
organization and Lessing Rosenwald furnished much of the funding. The founders of 
the CCDP were careful to recruit a group of prominent non-Jews to participate in the 
group’s organizational meeting and serve on its board. ER backed the group not only 
because she was not a Zionist but because of her personal ties to some of its leaders 
and, most importantly, because she believed that whatever the outcome of the debate 
over Palestine, the United States needed to admit far more Jewish refugees than it was 
doing. Even before the CCDP started its campaign, support came from other quarters. 
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The Protestant Federal Council of Churches of Christ in America and the Catholic 
weekly Commonweal both called for the United States to admit more refugees. An ed-
itorial in Life magazine declared it a disgrace that the nation had failed to do so. Even 
the State Department supported the admission of displaced persons to the United 
States — largely because it opposed the creation of a Jewish state in Palestine and be-
cause many displaced persons were fleeing Communism in Eastern Europe — a far cry 
from the days when Breckinridge Long did everything he could to keep refugees out. 22

In his State of the Union address in January 1947, President Truman said the United 
States could take pride in the economic and food aid it had supplied to other nations 
since the end of the war, but it had failed to accept its share of displaced persons. Only 
about 5,000 of them had entered the country since May 1946. The agencies in charge 
of immigration were doing all they could within the limits of existing laws, he said, 
but he urged Congress to pass “suitable legislation as speedily as possible” to allow a 
“substantial number” of displaced persons to enter the United States. 23

While Truman’s appeal to Congress was vague, and he failed to follow it up, the 
CCDP launched a campaign at the end of January 1947 to secure legislation that would 
allow 400,000 displaced persons from Europe to enter the United States over the fol-
lowing four years. The leaders of the CCDP knew that in order to win broad public 
support, the campaign needed to be aimed at bringing European displaced persons 
of every background, not just Jews, to the United States. Since only a minority of the 
refugees in the European DP camps were Jewish, it was necessary to set a high goal 
in order to include as many of the Jews as possible. 24 Just as they did during the de-
bates over the Wagner-Rogers bill in the 1930s, the sponsors of the legislation had to 
overcome what Earl Harrison, who had become the committee’s chairman, called 
“in spired falsifications” intended “to create the impression that a regular swarm of 
persons from Europe has been and is now coming to this country.” 25 According to 
Harrison fewer than 300,000 immigrants had arrived in the United States over the 
previous decade, although 1,500,000 visas could have been issued within the quota 
restrictions. By making use of the quotas that remained unfilled during the war years, 
the legislation advocated by the committee would allow 100,000 immigrants to enter 
the United States each year for four years above the normal annual quota of 154,000. 
America would be doing its part.

ER strongly endorsed the proposed legislation, which was introduced in the House 
by Representative William G. Stratton (R-IL), and she and Levy worked to get the 
bill passed. In many respects, the battle over the Stratton bill resembled the struggle 
for passage of the Wagner-Rogers bill, despite the greatly altered circumstances of the 
postwar period. As the supporters of the Wagner-Rogers bill had done in 1939, the 
CCDP drew up a plan to care for the refugees after they arrived. In advocating for the 
Stratton bill, the committee emphasized that it would not weaken the standards for 
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admission to the United States. As Lessing Rosenwald explained in a letter to ER, the 
additional immigrants would be admitted without distinction as to race, religion, or 
national origin. The restrictions in force under the current immigration laws would 
“be in no way modified.” People with communicable diseases, anarchists, applicants 
likely to become public charges, and others deemed undesirable under current law 
would still be excluded. Rosenwald told ER that the committee had raised approxi-
mately $250,000 to support its effort, and he hoped ER would do whatever she could 
during her upcoming speaking tour to publicize the committee’s goals. ER did so and 
also promoted passage of the bill in her My Day column. 26 Responding to the people 
who often asked her if all the displaced persons wishing to immigrate to the United 
States were Jewish, she wrote in her March 5 column that “only about 20 to 25 percent” 
were, but they were “the ones most cruelly attacked under the Hitler regime” and were 
dying at a higher rate in the camps, probably because their ill treatment had worn down 
their resistance to disease. The majority of the displaced persons were Poles, Balts, 
Ukrainians, and Yugoslavs of Catholic or Protestant background. 27

In June 1947, ER reported in My Day that the General Federation of Women’s 
Clubs, which had at first opposed the Stratton bill, now supported it. In debating the 
bill, one member of the organization had said that displaced persons should stay in their 
own countries rather than come to United States. “Perhaps,” ER said, “the member did 
not realize that these displaced persons have no country.” Some Americans think the 
displaced persons are likely to become a burden, she noted: “Actually, just the reverse 
is true.” As she had done in the late 1930s, when she drew on the findings published in 
the American Friends Service Committee’s pamphlet Refugee Facts, ER told her readers 
that “Statistics show that most of the refugees who were fortunate enough to come to 
this country during the war years are now not only self-supporting, but employers of 
other people. Not a little of our success in the past has come because we have had new 
people coming to our country with fresh ideas and fresh determination to succeed.” 28

As in 1939, such arguments coming from ER and other supporters of the bill failed 
to move Congress, whose members received seven letters opposing the admission of 
displaced persons to every letter supporting it. Despite the CCDP’s repeated state-
ment that 80 percent of the displaced persons were non-Jews, many Americans still 
assumed that most of the displaced persons were Jews, whom they often equated with 
Communists. Although the CCDP managed to rally strong support from newspapers, 
plus a broad spectrum of religious, union, and other organizations, as well as the public 
at large, it was not enough to sway Congress to pass the Stratton bill or a similar bill 
introduced in the Senate by Republican senator Homer Ferguson (R-MI). 29 When ER 
learned that Congress would not pass the Stratton bill before it adjourned at the end 
of July but would instead appoint a committee to examine the American immigration 
system and the situation of displaced persons, she expressed her disgust in My Day: 
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“We hardly need any more investigation, since all the facts are already known. This is 
simply the kind of delaying tactics we blame the Russians for using.”

Unfettered by the constraints that tempered her public statements about the Wagner-  
Rogers bill during her husband’s presidency, ER sharply criticized congressional inac-
tion in her column. Doing nothing about the refugee problem in 1947 meant leaving 
“desperate people with no hope.” She had heard rumors of a possible death march by 
Jews in the European DP camps and believed that American “inaction is the type of 
thing that would drive refugees to that kind of desperate action.” Should such a thing 
occur, “members of our Congress can have it on their consciences if thousands more 
of the Jewish people die.”

In advocating on behalf of the European refugees, ER returned to one of the great 
themes of the “sermons on citizenship” she delivered in the 1930s: the power of fear 
to sap the will to act morally. She knew there were “obvious reasons” why some people 
feared bringing people from the DP camps into the country, but she thought “this fear 
is far more dangerous than the people whom we might bring in.” Americans had grown 
“pusillanimous” when, in fact, “Good new blood will do us no harm.” She attributed a 
toughness to the refugees, which Americans, because they had been spared the devas-
tation endured by Europeans, lacked. Americans were “suffering from fear of the un-
known. But these people have seen so much that was unknown that they have learned 
how to accept it and stand up to it.” 30

Undeterred by congressional foot-dragging, ER kept pushing. In August, she wrote 
to her friend Charl Williams, head of the National Education Association, telling her 
that she had heard from a friend at the CCDP that the Parent Teachers Associations 
(PTAs) were not actively working to obtain passage of the Stratton bill. She asked 
Williams to urge the PTAs to do so. The National Executive Committee of the PTA 
had approved a resolution on June 5 backing the bill, but state chapters of the organi-
zation had done very little to follow up. Williams replied that she was writing to PTA 
leaders asking them to take action. 31

When Congress adjourned at the end of 1947, however, it still had not passed the 
Stratton bill or any other bill admitting additional refugees to the United States.

In January 1948 a Senate subcommittee began preparing a new immigration bill 
that became known as the Wiley-Revercomb DP bill after its sponsors. The new bill 
initially called for the admission of only 100,000 displaced persons over a two-year 
period, but by the time it reached a vote that figure had been raised to 200,000. The bill 
was highly discriminatory, however. It stipulated that only refugees who had arrived in 
the DP camps by December 22, 1945, would be admitted. It also set aside 50 percent of 
the visas for agricultural laborers and 50 percent for refugees who had fled the Baltic 
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States and Eastern Poland after their annexation by Russia. These provisions gave pref-
erence to the refugees who had been in the camps the longest, to agricultural workers 
who were needed in the Midwest, and to those who could not return to their home 
countries for political reasons, but they excluded more than 100,000 Jews permitted to 
leave Russia and others fleeing pogroms in Poland in the spring and summer of 1946. 
“The date of December 22, 1945 was deliberately written into this bill because the date 
prohibited Jews from taking part in this program,” charged Senator J. Howard McGrath 
(D-RI). He expressed his sorrow that the Senate was incorporating “the principles of 
narrowness, intolerance, and bigotry” into the law. 32 The Senate made its prejudices still 
clearer by passing an amendment that set aside half the German and Austrian quotas 
for so-called Volksdeutsche, who in this case were ethnic Germans expelled from the 
parts of Germany absorbed by Poland and the Soviet Union after the war.

In June, after the Senate passed the bill, Earl Harrison, chairman of the CCDP, 
lamented that the Volksdeutsche were being “handed special privileges over the victims 
of Nazi oppression.” 33 ER, however, glossed over the bill’s discriminatory provisions. 
She thought it was “fair that there should be some distribution on a percentage basis, 
with consideration for the numbers remaining in the different nationality groups in 
the displaced person camps,” but she hoped that the United States would not “be too 
exacting in our standards.” Perhaps not wishing to criticize a bill that represented a 
step forward, considering how resistant Congress had been to any increase at all in 
the number of displaced persons entering the country, she tried to look at the sunny 
side of the matter: Although “200,000 is not many,” she told her My Day readers, “it 
is something” and, once the bill passed the House, “may start the ball rolling in other 
countries.” Although Senator McGrath remarked that “the mountain has labored but 
brought forth a mouse,” ER thought the bill “a welcome mouse!” 34 As ER often told 
her friends, “If you have to compromise — be sure to compromise up.” 35

When the House debated its own version of the DP bill, some of the same argu-
ments that had been made against refugees in the 1930s resurfaced and ER again tried to 
counteract them. In her June 12 My Day she quoted Representative E. E. Cox (D-GA) 
who called the displaced persons “the scum of all Europe — an aggregation of loafers.” 
The DP camps, he charged were “hotbeds of revolutionists” and if these refugees came 
to the United States they would “join those who are gnawing away at the foundation 
of our constitutional government.” Appealing again to the kind of information sum-
marized in Refugee Facts in the late 1930s, ER pointed out that, in truth, most of the 
displaced persons had skills and wanted to work. Some had professions and had been 
prominent in their fields before being driven out of their homes. Immigrants with sim-
ilar backgrounds had done very well in America. She was relieved when the House 
passed a more liberal version of the bill. The House version moved the cutoff date by 
which refugees had to have arrived in the DP camps to April 21, 1947, which would 
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have allowed the Jews coming from Russia and Poland in 1946 and after to qualify 
for admission. 36 The conservatives on the House-Senate Conference Committee pre-
vailed, however, and most of the restrictive provisions of the Wiley-Revercomb Senate 
bill survived. President Truman signed the compromise bill, known as the Displaced 
Persons Act, which admitted 205,000 refugees over two years, but he was deeply dis-
appointed with it, calling it “flagrantly discriminatory.” 37 William Haber, Jewish ad-
viser to the American army in Europe, called it “the most anti-Semitic Bill in U.S. 
history.” 38 Nevertheless, despite the way the bill was worded, in practice many Jews 
were admitted. The Displaced Persons Commission (DPC), appointed by the presi-
dent and charged with administering the bill, interpreted its provisions much more lib-
erally than either supporters or opponents of the bill expected. After a tough fight in 
1950, Congress amended the bill, making it less restrictive and expanding the number 
of displaced persons admitted to the United States. In reaction to criticism of its pro-
cedures, however, the DPC for a time administered the amended bill more strictly, 
excluding some Jews who wished to immigrate to the United States. Nevertheless, 
Truman’s 1945 directive and the 1948 and 1950 DP bills enabled close to 100,000 Jews 
to resettle in the United States, about 16 percent of the total number of displaced per-
sons admitted between July 1, 1948, and June 30, 1952.

ER had been in the forefront of efforts to pry open America’s doors to greater im-
migration, but it had not been easy, even as the nation was making a strong economic 
recovery after the war. As the historian Leonard Dinnerstein sums it up, “strong na-
tional prejudices, procrastination in Congress, and some less than dynamic leadership 
from the White House combined to prolong the miseries of those Jews who survived 
the Holocaust.” 39

Between the end of World war II in 1945 and 1948, the resistance of the United 
States and other nations to immigration, along with the conditions in Europe that 
made refugees unwilling to return to their countries of origin, increased the impor-
tance of Palestine as a possible haven for Jewish refugees. ER’s long-term ally on refugee 
matters, James McDonald, had concluded even before the end of the war that Palestine 
was the only practical destination for large numbers of Jewish refugees. In November 
1944, he sent Justice Felix Frankfurter the text of a talk that reflected his long, frus-
trating experience with the refugee issue. Its title summed up its message: “The Record 
of a Quarter of a Century of Intergovernmental Efforts on Behalf of Refugees Points 
Imperatively to Palestine as the Primary Solution of the Vast and Tragic Problem of 
Jewish Refugees.” The record clearly shows, he told Frankfurter, that “the governments 
and the intergovernmental organizations have almost never faced the realities of the 
tragedy of the refugees but that instead they have been guilty of face-saving maneuvers 



 THE P OST WAR REFUGEE CRISIS AND THE FU TURE OF PALESTINE 169

while millions of innocent men and women have been needlessly sacrificed.” Only 
Palestine offered hope for those who had survived. 40

ER’s old friend Sumner Welles came to the same conclusion. In a speech on April 
1946, he said that Palestine had become “more and more indispensable” as a refuge for 
the Jewish people. Welles also expressed his belief “that Palestine must become not only 
the promised National Jewish Homeland, but also an independent Commonwealth 
into which the entrance of the Jewish people who wish to make that holy land their 
permanent home must never be restricted, save insofar as economic limitations may 
require.” It would be a democratic commonwealth in which the rights of all the people 
of Palestine, whatever their race or faith, would be protected. Welles was not yet pre-
pared to publicly support the establishment of a separate Jewish state, but predicted 
that if unlimited immigration were permitted, Palestine “in all probability” would “in 
the future possess a majority of citizens of the Jewish faith,” and that, he said, “is its 
rightful destiny.” In May 1947, after the British asked the UN to take responsibility for 
Palestine’s future, Welles went further. He came to the conclusion that the only pos-
sible solution to the problem was some form of partition, a solution the UN would 
soon approve. 41

Like McDonald and Welles, whose opinions helped shape her attitude toward 
Pal es tine, ER’s views about the future of Palestine evolved as violence and intransi-
gence on both sides of the Jewish-Arab conflict made a unified Palestine a less and less 
viable option. In January 1946 Aline Goldstone, one of the leaders of the American 
League for a Free Palestine, the group founded by Peter Bergson to support the estab-
lishment of a Jewish state, wrote to ER criticizing her for characterizing the surviving 
Jews of Europe as merely “miserable, wretched human beings about whom something 
must be done.” ER, she complained, was looking at them as “objects of pity and char-
ity” rather than as human beings with “the right of nationhood” and the right to de-
termine their own future in “what they consider, and rightly, I believe, their national 
territory, Palestine.” 42 ER replied that while the Jews of Europe should be regarded as 
the equals of any other human beings, they urgently needed food, clothing, and shel-
ter first of all. As to their future destination, ER remained undecided.

ER looked at the problem not as a Zionist like Goldstone, but as a pragmatist 
who was sympathetic to the Jews but recognized that the question of Jewish settle-
ment in Palestine raised complex issues. “Nobody questions [the Jews’] right to self- 
determination,” ER said, but she enumerated the obstacles to their creating a state of 
their own in Palestine. As before, the difficulties with large-scale immigration of Jews 
to Palestine explained to her by Isaiah Bowman remained persuasive in her mind. First 
of all, she said, the Arabs believed the land was theirs. ER thought they were willing to 
let the Jews who already lived in Palestine remain, but they were opposed to the immi-
gration of a large number of Jewish refugees and to the establishment of a Jewish state. 
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In addition, ER believed that the Jews were not strong enough to defend themselves. 
As a result, it “would seem like suicide” to permit the Jews to immigrate to Palestine 
unless Britain and the United States were prepared to defend them. The other obsta-
cle to permitting European Jews to immigrate to Palestine was the uncertain capacity 
of Palestine to support a much larger population. Probably remembering the contra-
dictory reports she had received in 1943 from Bowman and Rose Halprin, ER noted 
that “Some reports are agreed that it can, others disagree.” 43 The second option, there-
fore, was to resettle Jewish refugees in other countries of the world, “and apportion 
them according to population.” It was “not a simple question.” 44

After the British rejected the recommendation of the Anglo-American Committee 
of Inquiry to permit 100,000 Jews to immigrate to Palestine, ER continued to express 
an ambivalent view of the Palestine problem. In a My Day column on August 19, 1946, 
she deplored the British policy of intercepting refugee ships bound for Palestine and 
interning the passengers on Cyprus. She also deplored the use of force by the Jews in 
Palestine but felt their actions were understandable given how much the Jews wanted 
to create a home for themselves and how harshly the British treated them. She under-
stood why the Arabs did not welcome the Jews and, at this point, did not believe that 
partitioning Palestine into Jewish and Arab states was a viable solution. She also down-
played the desperate character of the struggle. The Jews, she claimed, were “not asking 
for a vast increase in land.” They only wanted “to keep what they have, with slight 
additions for economic needs” and “be allowed to take in refugees.” In addition, she 
thought many Jewish refugees preferred to settle in other countries. 45

ER’s hedging of the issue provoked a scathing critique of her column from Sarah 
Siegel, one of her Jewish readers, who challenged ER’s column point by point. In re-
sponse to ER’s statement that many of the Jewish refugees in Europe did not wish to go 
to Palestine because they saw brighter futures elsewhere, she cited James McDonald’s 
statement on the radio that 99 percent of the Jewish refugees in Europe wanted to go 
to Palestine and not to any other country. In regard to ER’s assertion that Jews were 
not seeking “a vast increase in land” in Palestine, but “only to keep what they have, 
with slight additions,” Siegel said that, on the contrary, the Jews were claiming “their 
internationally acknowledged rights under the Balfour Declaration,” which permitted 
them to live, work, and purchase land anywhere in Palestine. Siegel challenged ER’s 
continued questioning of Palestine’s absorptive capacity and claimed that the Arabs 
were better off since the Jews had arrived.

Ignoring ER’s opposition to British policy on Palestine and her admiration for the 
crusading spirit of young Jewish settlers, Siegel interpreted ER’s column to mean that 
ER felt that “the Jewish problem” was “a question of kind hearts and philanthropy; if 
the good people of America or Britain or other counties will open their gates and let 
the beggars in, all will be well.” That, Siegel felt, missed the point:
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Don’t you see, Mrs. Roosevelt, . . . [that] as long as the homeless people remain home-
less and a minority in other people’s lands, they will always be open to suspicion on 
the part of their neighbors and at the mercy of these neighbors, and will continue to 
be the convenient scapegoat whereby the Hitlers of the future can climb to power?

In reply, ER conceded that McDonald knew better than she how many refugees 
wanted to go to Palestine, but that she had been told that “a fair number” were will-
ing to immigrate to the United States. She insisted that the question of Palestine’s 
absorptive capacity had not been settled. Finally, while the lives of some Arabs had 
been improved because of the economic development brought to Palestine by Jewish 
settlers, she believed the lives of others had been made more difficult. For that and 
other reasons, Arab leaders objected to further Jewish immigration.

ER’s ideal was the pluralistic and democratic society that she had been seeking for 
many years to build in the United States: a society in which everyone possessed equal 
rights and was free to practice their own religion without prejudice. That is what she 
wanted for the Jews. ER was not yet willing to embrace the Zionist argument being 
made by Siegel that the Jews would only be secure if they established their own state 
in which they were a majority and in charge of their own government. Not all Jews 
wanted a Jewish state or national home, she told Siegel, and most Jews in the past had 
been citizens of the countries where they lived and simply wanted to be free to prac-
tice their religion, as Protestants and Catholics did. She recognized that “change has 
come” and that Jews might decide “to establish and fight for the right to the land.” But 
she hoped that was not true. 46 At this point, the issue for ER still came down to find-
ing homes for thousands of refugees in Europe, not to creating a Jewish state.

The ambivalent nature of her August 19 column reflected ER’s distress at the intensi-
fying violence created by Britain’s refusal to accept the recommendations of the Anglo- 
American Committee and at the harshness of British policy in Palestine. Britain’s harsh-
ness had increased over that summer. On June 29, 1946, British soldiers raided the Jewish 
Agency and seized a large number of documents containing information about the agen-
cy’s activities, including its participation in violence against the British. The incriminat-
ing documents were taken to British Mandatory headquarters in the King David Hotel 
in Jerusalem. Around the same date, the British arrested over 2,500 Jews from through-
out Palestine who were suspected of anti-British activities. On July 22, in response to the 
arrests and to destroy the evidence collected by the British raid on the Jewish Agency, 
the Irgun, under the leadership of Menachem Begin, bombed the southern wing of the 
King David Hotel, which housed the Mandate’s Secretariat and the offices of the British 
military command. Ninety-one people were killed, including many Arabs and Jews.

ER condemned the attack in My Day, finding it “difficult to understand” why, after 
so many innocent Jews had died in the world, Jews would “carry on this same kind of 
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senseless performance, except that it seems to be a trait of human nature to want to 
retaliate in kind, no matter what the consequences may be.” She knew “well what the 
Jews have suffered” and was “not proud of the way in which so-called Christians have 
acted during these past years,” but ever-escalating violence would make a just solution 
to the Palestine situation even harder to achieve. 47

In the aftermath of the attack, the British rounded up almost 800 Jews in Tel Aviv 
and sent them to a detention camp. British authorities also severely restricted civil 
liberties for all Jews in Palestine, carried out random searches of people and homes, 
imposed curfews, and set up roadblocks. These policies turned Palestinian Jews fur-
ther against British rule, and the Irgun and Lehi, another terrorist organization (for-
merly called the Stern group), intensified their attacks on the British. On August 12 
the British announced that they would no longer permit “unscheduled” immigration 
into Palestine. Anyone attempting to enter would be sent to Cyprus or some other 
place of detention.

The tough measures adopted by Great Britain failed to quell Jewish resistance, 
however, and by February 1947, Britain had had enough. Bevin asked the UN to take 
responsibility for resolving the question of the future of Palestine.

As a special session of the UN General Assembly to discuss the issue was about 
to begin, ER’s criticism of Great Britain’s handling of the Palestine problem and of her 
own government’s policy on the issue grew even sharper. When George Henry Hall, 1st 
Viscount Hall, said in the House of Lords that he could not “imagine that the [British] 
Government would carry out a policy of which it did not approve,” ER wondered in 
My Day how the UN could be effective if its decisions were not respected. The British 
had previously rejected the recommendations of the Anglo-American Committee of 
Inquiry and now, after Britain had requested the special session of the UN to come up 
with a solution, Lord Hall was implying that Britain would veto any UN plan it did 
not like. While Great Britain temporized, the suffering of the refugees continued. The 
tragedy of Palestine she wrote, was that “those who are being kept out of Palestine are 
the waifs and strays of horror camps” who had already endured so much. “I deplore 
terrorist tactics,” she said, “but I deplore even more the attitude of self-righteous govern-
ments.” She included her own. In some of the harshest language she used during the 
debate about the future of Palestine, she charged that the position of the American 
government had “never gone beyond pious hopes and unctuous words,” but a “day of 
reckoning” would arrive: “The preventable suffering of human beings brought on by 
other human beings cannot be overlooked from on high forever.” 48

In May the UN formed the Special Committee on Palestine (UNSCOP) to study 
the Palestine problem and recommend a solution. Violence in Palestine continued, 
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however, and ER remained critical of the measures Great Britain took to suppress it. 
Writing to Secretary of State George Marshall in late May 1947, she charged that Great 
Britain had established “a police government” in Palestine, “with a forgetfulness of all 
we think of as British principles and justice.” She felt that the American position on 
Palestine at the UN had been vacillating. Either the United States should insist that 
the principles of the Balfour Declaration be upheld, “in spite of the Arabs,” or it would 
have to retreat from the commitment it had made to the declaration years before. In 
response, Marshall evaded the issues ER raised. Great Britain, as the mandatory power 
in Palestine, was charged with maintaining law and order, he told her, and the purpose 
of the recent special session of the UN had been to form the Special Committee on 
Palestine, not to consider substantive matters related to Palestine. 49

In August, the British navy rammed and boarded the Exodus, a ship carrying 4,500 
Jewish refugees and survivors of the Holocaust seeking to immigrate to Palestine. Two 
refugees and a crewman died in the fight for control of the ship. After the British 
towed the ship into the port of Haifa, they transferred most of the passengers to three 
prison ships, which they sent back to Europe and anchored off the coast of France. 
The French government expressed its willingness to take in the refugees, but most of 
them refused the offer, wishing instead to be sent to the British internment camps on 
Cyprus. After receiving a telegram from Helen Waren, a Broadway actress who had 
entertained American troops in Europe for the USO, describing the horrendous con-
ditions aboard the ships, ER appealed to Truman: “Since they want to go to Cyprus,” 
she wrote in her telegram, “some pressure might be brought to bear on Great Britain 
to allow them to do so. Their plight is pitiful and I hope you may feel that you can 
exert some influence on Great Britain.”

In Truman’s reply he pointed out that Americans had funded the Exodus and its 
organizers knew “that they were trying to do an illegal act.” He worried that such tac-
tics would backfire:

The action of some of our United States Zionists will eventually prejudice every-
one against what they are trying to get done. I fear very much that the Jews are like 
all under dogs — when they get on top they are just as intolerant and as cruel as the 
people were to them when they were underneath. I regret this situation very much 
because my sympathy has always been on their side. 50

In the midst of her correspondence with Truman, ER received a letter from Eva 
Warburg Unger informing her of the conditions endured by Jewish orphans in the 
British internment camps on Cyprus. Unger was a resident of the Givat Brenner kib-
butz in Palestine and the sister of Ingrid Warburg, the executive assistant to Frank 
Kingdon at the Emergency Rescue Committee in the early 1940s. The children, Unger 
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told ER, were confined by barbed wire, surrounded by machine guns, and living on 
“very little water and bad food.” They were survivors of Nazi concentration camps or 
had been hidden somewhere for many years during the war. Each day they remained 
in the camps would “make it more doubtful” that it would be possible “to reeducate 
them to ‘normal’ and happy boys and girls.” ER sent Unger’s letter on to Truman, to-
gether with the following sharp words:

I have just received the enclosed letter of which I am sending you a copy. The British 
still seem to be on top and cruelty would seem to be on their side and not on the 
side of the Jews. 51

In the end, although the American government urged them not to do so, the British 
shipped the refugees from the Exodus back to the British zone in occupied Germany 
and placed them in displaced persons camps. 52 These people, ER wrote in My Day,

have gone through so much hardship and had thought themselves free forever from 
Germany, the country they associate with concentration camps and crematories. 
Now they are back there again. Somehow it is too horrible for any of us in this coun-
try even to understand. 53

During the summer of 1947, members of the UN Special Committee on Palestine 
visited Palestine to interview the various parties to the conflict and try to find a com-
promise solution. The Arabs refused to cooperate with the committee because they be-
lieved that any solution other than a unitary state, which would have an Arab majority, 
violated their right to self-determination as guaranteed by the UN charter. The Jews, on 
the other hand, cooperated fully and vigorously lobbied the members of the commit-
tee for the creation of their own state. The committee’s report, issued on September 3, 
recommended the partition of Palestine into Jewish and Arab states.

Nearly all members of the American delegation to the UN and State Department of-
ficials opposed partition and believed that the United States should reject UNSCOP’s 
recommendations. ER, however, argued during the debates within the American del-
egation that the United States should firmly back the partition plan. She became ad-
amant on the subject. After watching the conflict between the Jews and the Arabs 
intensify and believing that UNSCOP’s recommendations were the result of a care-
ful assessment of the alternatives, ER’s reluctance to endorse the creation of sepa-
rate Arab and Jewish states disappeared. When Loy Henderson, head of the Office 
of Near Eastern Affairs in the State Department, warned that partition would gen-
erate bitter opposition among the Arabs and an ongoing conflict in the Middle East, 
ER told him, according to Henderson, “I think you are exaggerating the dangers. You 
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are too pessimistic. . . . I’m confident that when a Jewish state is once set up, the Arabs 
will see the light; they will quiet down; and Palestine will no longer be a problem.” 54 
The naïveté of her statement is consistent with her view expressed elsewhere that if 
the Arabs were dealt with decisively, they would accept the creation of a Jewish state. 
Henderson and the opponents of Jewish statehood were, of course, correct. The Arabs 
did not quiet down. But ER never wavered in her support for partition.

Truman, on the other hand, agonized over what position the United States should 
take and whether it should actively urge other nations to vote for partition in the Gen-
eral Assembly. The American Zionists lobbied for strong American backing of the 
UNSCOP report. In addition, the leaders of the Democratic Party warned the presi-
dent that not supporting partition might hurt the party’s chances in the 1948 elections, 
especially in states like New York with large Jewish populations. State Department 
officials, on the other hand, cautioned the president against angering the Arabs and 
weakening American influence in the Middle East. Truman also worried about the 
danger that the United States might have to commit American troops to defend the 
Jews, possibly provoking the Russians to intervene as well. After much hesitation, ap-
peals from his close Jewish friends, Eddie Jacobson and Abraham Granoff, advice from 
his White House advisors, David Niles and Clark Clifford, both of whom supported 
partition, and a weighing of the arguments from all sides, Truman finally authorized 
the State Department to publicly support partition. The announcement was made at 
the UN on October 11. At first, however, Truman accepted the State Department’s 
low-key approach to the General Assembly vote. Not wishing the United States to 
be identified as the leader in the establishment of a Jewish state and, in fact, hoping 
that the partition plan would fail to receive the two-thirds majority it needed for pas-
sage, the State Department refrained from pressuring smaller nations dependent on the 
United States (notably Haiti, Liberia, and the Philippines) to vote for partition. In the 
last two days before the final vote, however, when it appeared that the plan would fail, 
intense pressure directed at the White House persuaded Truman to intervene person-
ally. Truman and his White House staff made it known to the wavering nations that 
the passage of the partition plan was vital to the United States. This last-minute effort 
was successful, and on November 29, 1947, the UN General Assembly voted in favor 
of partition. The Arabs rejected the plan and, following the vote, proceeded to attack 
the Palestinian Jews. 55 The Arab response deeply disturbed ER, who regarded it as an 
assault upon the fundamental mission of the United Nations. While she would sym-
pathize with the Arab people who suffered because of the fighting that ensued, she 
could not forgive the Arab leaders for their defiance of the UN.
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C O M M I T T I N G TO T H E 
E S TA B L I S H M E N T O F 

A J EWI S H S TAT E

“A moral obligation”

A s the partition plan’s strongest champion within the Truman adminis-
tration, Eleanor Roosevelt urged its vigorous implementation with the help of 
an international police force, if necessary. The president and Secretary of State 

George Marshall could not easily ignore her views. The UN Human Rights Commission 
(HRC), which was drafting an international bill of human rights, had elected her its 
chairman and the reputation she had earned in her debates at the UN with Andrei 
Vishinsky on the refugee issue gave her stature. She was also the widow of a popular 
president, a much sought-after speaker, and, not least, a widely read columnist, a role 
that gave her immediate access to the American public. She did not refrain from using 
the power of her pen in her debate with Truman and Marshall about American policy.

ER did not think the partition plan was an ideal solution to the conflict. She would 
tell one critic that she did not know whether the majority report of the UN Special 
Committee on Palestine (UNSCOP) that recommended partition “was wise or not.” 
But after lengthy investigation, first by the joint Anglo-American Committee of In-
quiry, then by UNSCOP, “nothing better was suggested.” 1 She believed it was the best 
way to ensure that the Jewish refugees in Europe would find new homes — in a place 
where they were welcome and needed. Equally, if not more importantly, she regarded 
the implementation of the plan as the first crucial test of the UN’s authority and abil-
ity to solve world crises. The Arab nations, she thought, were being shortsighted in 
not abiding by the UN’s majority decision, for if the UN failed and the world were to 
“return to the condition of each individual nation looking out for itself,” the small na-
tions would suffer most and “live in continued uncertainty.” 2
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Other factors governed the views of most of her colleagues on the American dele-
gation to the UN and in the State Department, including Marshall, Loy Henderson, 
Undersecretary of State Robert Lovett, and Secretary of Defense James Forrestal. As 
states in Eastern Europe and the Balkans came under Soviet control or influence, the 
struggle to contain the Soviet Union came to dominate their thinking. If the United 
States sought to impose the UN partition plan on the unwilling Arabs, they believed 
it could lead to the Arabs canceling American and British oil concessions. Loss of 
access to Middle Eastern oil would undermine the Marshall Plan for the recovery 
of war-devastated Europe and put the United States at a disadvantage in a poten-
tial conflict with the Soviet Union. In addition, weakened American influence in the 
Middle East would invite inroads by the Soviet Union into the region.

ER, too, was keenly aware of the need to prevent Soviet expansionism, but she had 
little use for the argument about the Arabs and oil. The strategic importance of oil was 
much overrated, she believed. Since the Arabs had no other major customers for their 
oil besides the large nations, they were unlikely to cut off the supply. Even if they did, 
she thought, the United States would find a substitute for oil if necessity demanded 
it, just as it had developed sulfa drugs and penicillin during World War II. 3

The opponents of partition in the State Department believed that partition violated 
the principle of self-determination, which America had championed since World War I. 
In 1947, the Arabs in Palestine numbered approximately 1.2 million, whereas the Jews 
numbered only 600,000. The creation of a Jewish state would deny the Arab majority 
the right to choose its own form of government. 4 Ordinarily, ER would have shared 
this view, but her sympathy for the Jews who had survived the Holocaust and her anger 
at the Arabs for defying the UN overrode other considerations.

ER believed the United States had assumed a responsibility for helping to im ple-
ment the UN plan when it backed the UN Special Committee on Palestine majority 
report and led the effort to persuade other nations to vote for partition. She worried 
that the United States might renege on its obligation, however. In January 1948, 
after she read an article by New York Times correspondent James Reston in which 
he reported strong opposition to the UN plan among some officials in the State and 
Defense De par tments, ER expressed her concern to Marshall and Truman. 5 She urged 
that the embargo on shipping arms to the Palestine area, which the United States 
had imposed in early December 1947, be quickly lifted and that a UN police force be 
supplied with modern equipment. Strong military force “is the only thing which will 
hold the Arabs in check,” she told Marshall. Not enforcing the UN’s decision would 
put the new organization in danger of becoming as ineffective as the League of Nations 
had been. 6 Knowing that officials in the State and Defense Departments opposed a 
police force in which the Soviet Union participated, for fear that the Russians would 
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use Palestine as a base for subversive activities throughout the region, ER suggested 
that the police force be composed of troops from smaller nations.

In his reply to ER’s letter, Marshall told her that the United States was waiting for 
the report of the UN Commission on Palestine before deciding how to proceed. The 
commission, which was composed of representatives from five small nations, had been 
charged by the UN General Assembly with managing the transition to Arab and Jewish 
states as the British Mandate ended. Truman assured ER that he and Marshall were 
working on a plan to enforce partition. 7

Despite these assurances, ER kept pressing for action. At the end of February, as the 
UN Security Council was about to take up the security report of the Commission on 
Palestine amid continuing violence in Palestine, ER joined Herbert Lehman, former 
director general of the UN Relief and Rehabilitation Administration (UNRRA), 
Senator Elbert Thomas (D-UT), and Sumner Welles, now the honorary president of 
the American Association for the United Nations, in urging the formation of a UN 
international police force as soon as possible and its deployment in Palestine to enforce 
the partition plan. They also called for the lifting of the arms embargo on any party 
to the conflict that accepted the plan. 8 The State Department, however, proposed a 
different approach. On February 21, Marshall recommended to the president that the 
best way to stop the violence in Palestine was to put the country under a temporary 
UN trusteeship after the British Mandate ended on May 15 rather than seek immedi-
ate compliance with the partition plan.

On March 19, Warren Austin, United States permanent representative to the UN, 
gave a speech at the UN that signaled the change in the American position on partition 
that Marshall had recommended. The purpose of a temporary UN trusteeship, he said, 
would be “to maintain the peace and to afford the Jews and Arabs of Palestine further 
opportunity to reach an agreement regarding the future government of that country.”

Austin’s proposal shocked the supporters of partition. The National Council of 
Jewish Women called it a “political bombshell.” 9 Benjamin Cohen, a Zionist who 
was ER’s chief ally in debates on Palestine within the American delegation to the UN 
when he served as a counselor to the State Department, wrote an op-ed piece criticizing 
Austin’s speech and arguing that only a small, well-equipped international force would 
be required to enforce the partition plan. 10 Sumner Welles, who saw “no shadow of 
justification” for the reversal of American policy, quoted a representative of one of the 
Latin American nations, who said that first the United States “convinced us that parti-
tion was the only answer. Now they are trying to convince us that partition is insane.” 11

ER was outraged. In a letter to Marshall, she said that the United States had assumed 
“a moral obligation” when it endorsed the Balfour Declaration and tacitly agreed to the 
establishment of a Jewish homeland by permitting Americans to invest capital in the 
formation of Jewish settlements in Palestine. As to the UN, she could “hardly see how 
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it can recover and have the slightest influence, since we were the only ones who could 
give it any force and we now have been the ones to take it away.” She would “have to 
state my feelings publicly,” she told Marshall, and if, as a result, he wished her to resign 
from the Human Rights Commission, she would do so. She quite understood that “it 
is extremely difficult for you to have someone serve under you who openly criticizes 
the attitude of the Administration.” ER also wrote Truman, enclosing a copy of her 
letter to Marshall and repeating her offer to resign.

Alarmed by the vehemence of ER’s opposition to the new policy, Marshall hast-
ily arranged for Charles “Chip” Bohlen, special assistant to the secretary of state, to 
explain the administration’s thinking to ER. Marshall also told her he would be “most 
unwilling” to accept her resignation from the UN Human Rights Commission. “I think 
you can do a great deal of good there,” he told her, “however much it may complicate 
matters to have you criticizing the attitude of the administration.” 12 The resignation 
of a great champion of Jewish refugees would also have embarrassed the administra-
tion and increased criticism of its failure to back implementation of the partition plan.

Truman also responded to ER, reconfirming his commitment to the UN by telling 
her, “If the United Nation fails all is chaos in a world already beset with suspicion, divi-
sions, enmities, and jealousies.” He hoped that her conversation with Bohlen would 
“dispel at least some of [her] doubts and misgivings” about administration policy. As 
for her resignation from the American delegation, he told her it would be “calamitous”: 
“There is no one who could, at this time, exercise the influence which you can exert 
on the side of peace.” He tried to reassure her by telling her that the UN trusteeship 
proposed for Palestine would be temporary. It was not intended to replace the parti-
tion plan but merely to maintain the peace once the British Mandate came to an end. 13

ER publicly voiced her objections to the Truman administration’s trusteeship plan 
in two My Day columns, written after Marshall and Truman had responded to her 
letters. In the first column, on March 26, she began by summarizing her interpreta-
tion of the history of the Jews in Palestine. She agreed with the statement in a New 
York World-Telegram editorial that “The ideal Palestine solution is a free democratic 
country in which all enjoy equal rights and live in peace together.” That was what she 
believed the Jews themselves originally envisioned after the Balfour Declaration. She 
thought they regarded the British Mandate as a means of providing stability during 
the “settlement and growth of a nation.” At first, she believed, the Arabs “were not 
greatly distressed at the idea of not holding sway over Palestine at some future date,” 
but after a small group of Arabs grew rich from selling oil to Great Britain and the 
United States, their attitude changed. This version of the history of Palestine under the 
British Mandate assumed that the Jews hoped eventually to outnumber the Arabs in 
Palestine and thus “hold sway” in a democratic nation in which they were the major-
ity. Her belief that the Arabs were not very unhappy with this scenario until some of 
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them got rich from selling oil ignored the rebellion of Palestinian Arabs against Jewish 
settlement, especially in the period 1936–39, and their deep attachment to the land 
in which they lived.

After the UN Special Committee on Palestine issued its majority report, ER noted, 
the United States had used its considerable influence to secure an affirmative vote for 
partition in the General Assembly. Once the Arabs violently rejected the plan, however, 
she thought the United States had encouraged the Arabs to believe they could succeed 
in preventing implementation of the plan:

I feel that our evident reluctance to accept responsibility and carry out whatever 
requests the UN might make of us, whether of a military or an economic nature, 
led to increased resistance by the Arabs.

By not fully backing up the UN decision, with force if necessary, she believed the 
United States had undermined the ability of the UN to act as peacemaker. 14

The meeting with Charles Bohlen, which took place on the day her first column 
appeared, did not change her mind. She told him that if the United States had adopted 
“a firm line” with the Arabs after the UN vote in favor of partition, the Arabs might 
have accepted the plan in principle. As she had said in an earlier My Day column, “No 
one expected either the Jews or the Arabs to be completely satisfied with the U.N. 
majority report,” but hoped that the two parties would “attempt to work out a solu-
tion to the whole problem, beginning with the majority report as a basis and seeing 
how it could be improved upon.” 15 The proposal for a UN trusteeship for Palestine, on 
the other hand, was “a step backward.” 16 In a letter to the president after her conver-
sation with Bohlen she said she could not see how it made “anything simpler or safer 
than it was before.” 17

In her second My Day column, filed on the day she met with Bohlen, ER charged 
that the administration’s decision was motivated by fear. “I dislike actions . . . taken 
from fear,” she said, reiterating one of her most strongly held convictions, “since they 
are very apt to be unwise and unjust.” Given the record of violence by extremists in 
both camps, she wondered who would enforce an armistice during the UN trustee-
ship while the Arabs and Jews negotiated an agreement. The trusteeship government 
would face the same problem as before: if it permitted the immigration of Jews to 
Palestine, the Arabs would protest; if it did not allow immigration, the Jews would 
protest. Meanwhile, the “miserable, desperate” Jews held by the British on Cyprus and 
languishing in the displaced persons camps in Europe would continue to “become less 
able to be valuable citizens anywhere.” Since “all the argument and effort” put into 
reaching an agreement acceptable to everyone had failed, “the one already adopted by 
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the UN might as well be implemented.” That was not a ringing endorsement of parti-
tion, but it recognized that further delay would not produce a “perfect solution.” 18

After rumors circulated that she was considering resigning from the Human Rights 
Commission, ER told readers of My Day that she had offered to resign because she 
felt the need to publicly disagree with the administration, but that the president had 
assured her that her disagreement “did not in any way embarrass him” and urged her 
to stay on. She appreciated this “extremely generous attitude” and planned to remain 
at her post as long the president and secretary of state wished. 19

As it turned out, events on the ground made ER’s argument with Marshall and 
Truman no longer relevant. As the British withdrew their forces and administrative 
personnel in preparation for ending the Mandate, fighting intensified between the 
Jewish and Arab forces, despite UN efforts to arrange a truce. By the end of March, 
the defensive strategy adopted by the Jews had failed and they risked losing Jerusalem 
and their settlements in the Galilee. Their only chance, they concluded, was to go on 
the offensive to try to seize the transportation network and the Arab towns controlling 
the crossroads in the center of the country, as well as the key high ground throughout 
Palestine. With the help of fresh shipments of arms from Czechoslovakia and dissen-
sion among leaders of the Arab forces, the new strategy succeeded. By May Jewish 
military successes had imposed a de facto partition of Palestine. The breakdown of 
the British Mandate’s administrative structure — its police force, courts, and public 
services — and the fact that the Arabs did not create a governmental order of their 
own also gave the Jews an advantage as they went about setting up an administrative 
system in the areas under their control. Although the part of Jerusalem under Jewish 
control remained extremely vulnerable, the threat did not deter the Jews from moving 
ahead with the formation of their own state. 20

When it became clear that David Ben-Gurion, now chairman of the newly formed 
Zionist Council of State (the provisional Jewish government in Palestine), would an-
nounce the establishment of the State of Israel when the Mandate ended on May 14, 
ER joined Jewish leaders and Truman’s political advisors, led by Clark Clifford, in 
pushing the president and Marshall to recognize the Jewish state promptly. ER didn’t 
know what the administration’s plans were, she wrote to each of them, but she had been 
told by Jewish organizations that the Soviet Union would recognize the Jewish state 
as soon as it was declared. She thought “it would be a mistake to lag behind Russia” 
and “again follow instead of lead.” She hoped that whatever policy the United States 
followed that “it be clear and consistent.” On her letter to Truman she wrote a post-
script by hand: “I failed to say that I personally believe in the Jewish State.” 21 With the 
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establishment of Israel now at hand, ER cast aside her doubts about what she knew to 
be an imperfect resolution of the Palestine problem.

When the United States recognized Israel, however, ER was disgusted by the way 
Truman handled the announcement. Ben-Gurion declared Israel a state at midnight on 
May 14, 1948, at the moment the British Mandate came to an end. Without explaining 
his decision in advance to the American delegation in New York or America’s allies, 
Truman immediately announced that the United States was granting de facto recog-
nition to the new state, making the United States the first country to do so. Although 
Dean Rusk, who was in charge of the State Department’s UN desk, called Warren 
Austin to inform him of the president’s decision, Austin was apparently so upset by it 
that he went home without sharing the information with his colleagues. The United 
States had beaten the Russians to it, but the members of the American delegation in 
New York, who had been working to arrange a ceasefire between the Arabs and the 
Jews, were stunned at not having any explanation of the American action to share 
with other diplomats at the UN. ER had gotten what she wanted — may even have 
felt a little responsible for Truman’s decision — but was embarrassed at the unexpected 
way it had come about. “Much as I wanted the Palestine State recognized,” ER wrote 
Marshall the following day, “I would not have wanted it done without the knowledge 
of our representatives in the United Nations who had been fighting for our changed 
position.” She had “seldom seen a more bitter, puzzled, discouraged group of people” 
than some of those she saw at the UN after Truman’s announcement. Once again, she 
felt, the United States had weakened the UN and lost the confidence of the nations 
it hoped to lead. After ER sent Truman a copy of her letter to Marshall, he wrote to 
say that he regretted that she was upset by the way in which the recognition of Israel 
had been handled. “There was not much else to be done,” Truman told her, given that 
there was “a vacuum in Palestine” and the Russians were eager to be the first to recog-
nize the new nation. 22

Some of the opponents of partition in the American delegation and in the State 
Department were so deeply unhappy with Truman’s decision to recognize Israel that 
they considered resigning, although in the end Marshall and Dean Rusk persuaded 
them to stay. Truman, they believed, was motivated purely by his desire to secure the 
support of Jewish voters in the presidential election in November and was therefore 
allowing domestic politics to undermine the defense of America’s interests abroad.

ER was not unappreciative of the importance of Jewish voters to the Democratic 
Party, but her forceful advocacy of the partition plan and recognition of the Jewish state 
had to do with her concern for the plight of Jewish refugees and her desire to make the 
UN an effective agency for settling disputes, not with electoral politics. It is not clear 
to what extent her passionate stance influenced Truman’s decision, but as one of the 
few people within the administration who wholeheartedly, publicly, and consistently 
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supported the creation of a Jewish state once the General Assembly voted for partition, 
she kept presenting him with persuasive arguments that transcended domestic polit-
ical considerations for recognizing a separate Jewish nation. Her advocacy, and that 
of experts on foreign policy such as Sumner Welles and Benjamin Cohen, provided 
cover for Truman as he made the decision to recognize Israel against the advice of his 
own State Department.

From 1946 through 1948, ER advocated forcefully for the admission of displaced 
persons to the United States, for large-scale Jewish immigration to Palestine, and, 
once the UN adopted the partition plan, for the plan’s implementation. Her main role 
at the UN, however, was her leadership of the Human Rights Commission (HRC), 
the committee charged with drafting an international bill of human rights. After the 
formation of the commission in 1946, ER became its chair and directed its work until 
1951. Serving in the role of chairman of the HRC provided her with an opportunity to 
guide the incorporation of principles for which she had fought during the New Deal 
into an international document.

ER approached the task of drafting an international bill of human rights with an 
urgency that arose in part from the horrors of the Holocaust; in part from her recog-
nition that the nations of the world, including her own country, had failed to protect 
Jews and other victims of Nazi persecution. How could such violations of human rights 
be prevented in the future? “We who wrote this document,” ER said after the adoption 
of the Universal Declaration of Human Rights (UDHR), “felt that World War II had 
perhaps had, as one of its causes, the wiping out of the rights of certain human beings 
by Hitler and that if we could make it impossible for human rights and freedoms ever 
again to be ignored, ever again to be wiped out, perhaps we would take away one more 
of the causes that underlie war.” 23 The drafting of the UDHR and the subsequent cove-
nants, which sought to establish human rights standards and international constraints 
on the violation of human rights, offered a promising way to achieve that goal.

As James Loeffler has documented in his book, Rooted Cosmopolitans: Jews and 
Human Rights in the Twentieth Century, Jews had played a prominent role in the de vel-
opment of the concept of human rights during the first half of the twentieth cen tury 
and in the incorporation of human rights into the UN Charter. Hersch Zvi Lau ter-
pacht, a Zionist from Galicia and leading expert on international law, coined the term 
“crimes against humanity” and wrote an early draft of an international bill of rights 
that became an important resource for the UDHR. Raphael Lemkin, another Jewish 
lawyer, coined the term “genocide” and got the word included in the indictment of 
Nazi leaders at the Nuremberg trials. ER worked with some of the Jews who helped 
advance the cause of human rights, including René Cassin, a key member of the HRC 
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who wrote the second draft of the UDHR, and her friend Justine Polier, who was both 
a Zionist and a passionate defender of the rights of African Americans and children. 
She also developed a warm working relationship with Jacob Blaustein, a non-Zionist 
who lobbied successfully at the founding conference of the UN in San Francisco for the 
inclusion of human rights provisions in the UN Charter, including the establishment 
of the Commission on Human Rights. Blaustein, who headed the American Jewish 
Committee, regularly made proposals to ER and the HRC regarding the UDHR and 
the human rights covenants. Blaustein shared ER’s optimism about the UN human 
rights program. Before the establishment of Israel, he believed that enshrining univer-
sal human rights in international law, rather than establishing a separate nation state, 
was the best way for the Jewish people to protect themselves against persecution. 24 
Both Blaustein and ER were staunch anti-Communists who believed that advocacy 
for human rights was a powerful weapon that the United States could use effectively 
in its competition with the Soviet Union for influence throughout the world.

Jewish organizations naturally followed the deliberations of the HRC closely and 
lobbied the commission to include provisions in the UDHR and the human rights 
covenants that they considered important for the protection of Jews in the future. The 
World Jewish Congress and the consultative councils of Jewish organizations put a 
particular emphasis on how the UN planned to review complaints of human rights 
violations and implement the human rights enumerated in the declaration. They called 
for a provision requiring that the laws of every UN member state conform to the UN 
Charter. They advocated for the creation of a tribunal before which individuals or 
groups could bring complaints against their own governments. They worried that many 
provisions in the draft bill would permit discrimination as long as it was “legal,” thus 
making it possible for governments to deny human rights by passing discriminatory 
legislation as the Nazis had done. The Jewish groups also believed that a declaration 
would not suffice; only the legally binding covenants that the HRC was also working 
on would protect people from human rights abuses. 25

The most striking difference between the American Bill of Rights and the French 
Declaration of the Rights of Man on the one hand and the UDHR on the other is that 
the UDHR includes economic and social rights as well as civil and political rights. The 
representatives of the newly independent and undeveloped nations on the committee 
felt strongly about including these rights because they believed that unless issues like 
illiteracy, disease, and poverty in their nations were addressed, civil and political rights 
would mean little. The Soviet Union and other Communist nations supported the 
inclusion of economic and social rights because they felt that the Communist system 
was more effective than capitalism in realizing them. The State Department would have 
been happier with a declaration that included only civil and political rights because 
most of its officials believed that education, health care, and an adequate standard of 
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living were not rights, but goals that governments might help facilitate, but not guar-
antee. Their view reflected the belief of many Americans. As the role of government 
expanded during the New Deal, however, ER, like her husband, embraced the idea 
that people had a right to education, a living wage, and the other needs of a viable life.

In a speech on “Humanistic Democracy and the American Ideal” in 1939, ER de-
fined the American ideal as “opportunity for education for every child,” the “chance 
to come into the world healthy and strong,” and the “opportunity to earn a decent 
living under decent conditions.” 26 And in the article she wrote in 1942 for American 
Unity, she spoke explicitly of people’s “political, economic or social rights,” including 
the “right to demand an economic system which will free the world from starvation.” 27

ER regarded the founding of Israel, which occurred in the same year as the adop-
tion of the UDHR, as a realization of human rights (social and economic, as well as 
civil and political) for a people who had suffered the worst human rights disaster in 
history. She also believed that Israel, as a nation founded by a people who had repeat-
edly suffered human rights abuses throughout the centuries, would respect the rights 
of all its citizens, including Arabs, and even be a beacon of human rights in a region 
where governments often violated the rights of their own citizens. ER’s relationships 
with some of the leading Jewish advocates of human rights, such as Blaustein and 
Polier, reinforced ER’s identification of Jews with the promotion of human rights. So 
did the fact that Jews such as Lauterpacht and Cassin played prominent roles in the 
drafting of human rights documents. Lauterpacht himself hoped that Israel would 
become a model of human rights that other nations could emulate. 28 In a message to 
the National Conference of the Christian Committee of the United Jewish Appeal in 
1950, ER said that Israel deserved their support because of its commitment to protect-
ing the rights and freedoms of all its citizens. 29 She did not acknowledge that Israel’s 
definition of itself as a Jewish state made this commitment problematic. Future events 
would undercut ER’s idealistic vision. Attacked persistently by Arab terrorists, thrice 
waging war with its Arab neighbors who refused to accept its right to exist, and, after 
1967, assuming the role of occupying power, Israel received increasing criticism for 
violating the rights of the Arabs under its jurisdiction.

ER rightfully regarded her role in drafting the UDHR as her greatest achieve-
ment. The skill with which she chaired the HRC and guided the UDHR through the 
UN greatly enhanced her prestige as an advocate of human rights. After the decla-
ration’s adoption by the General Assembly, the delegates rose to give her a standing 
ovation. Her success endeared her to the Jews who felt a special stake in the declara-
tion. The Arabs, on the other hand, regarded her strong support for the partition plan 
and for the state of Israel as a betrayal of the very rights enumerated in the UDHR. 
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Wadad Dabbagh, an Arab “wife and citizen of Palestine,” who wrote to her in May 
1948, just before Israel declared itself a state, questioned ER’s commitment to human 
rights. Dabbagh viewed ER as a Zionist sympathizer whose position on Palestine was 
not justified by the facts. Dabbagh accused the Jews who complained of persecution 
in Europe of becoming “despotic” after arriving in Palestine and committing “all the 
unlawful acts of which they were the victims” in the countries from which they came: 
“They avenge themselves upon the innocent Arabs who used to live peacefully in their 
homes for immemorial times.” She urged ER to suspend her support of the Zionist 
movement until she had had a chance to go to Palestine and see for herself how the 
Zionists were “driving us [out] of our homes, depriving us of our lands, robbing us of 
our means of living, and encroaching upon our resources and upon the wealth of our 
country.” 30

In her reply ER expressed sympathy for those who suffered on both sides. Once 
war broke out, she said, “there is nothing but misery for everyone concerned.” But 
she blamed the Arabs for bringing their troubles upon themselves. The Arabs had 
“protested wrongly” against the UN report, she said, and argued, optimistically, that 
by proposing to make Palestine a single “economic unit,” the proposed plan would 
enable “the two nations to live peacefully side by side even though there was partition 
and to gradually work out a mutually acceptable plan.”

As she had done in the past when challenged to justify the creation of a Jewish 
state, she cited the Balfour Declaration as the origin of the current reality. The half 
million Jews who had immigrated to Palestine had come with the expectation that 
they would be permitted to create there a “national home.” In addition, she referred 
to the provisional agreement signed by Emir Feisal, the Hashemite emir of the Arab 
kingdom of Hejaz, who led the Arab revolt against the Ottoman Turks, and Chaim 
Weizmann at the Paris Peace Conference in 1919. Under the terms of that agreement, 
Feisal pledged that the Arabs would permit large numbers of Jews to immigrate to 
Palestine, as long as the Jews respected the rights of Arab peasant and tenant farmers 
and assisted the Arabs with economic development. Feisal had made such an agree-
ment, but ER was apparently unaware that Feisal added a codicil to the Arab version of 
the agreement, following the signatures, saying that the Arabs would only redeem their 
pledge if the Arabs were granted independence. Moreover, by the end of 1919 he had 
ceased to cooperate with the Zionist Jews. 31 Given the Balfour Declaration’s endorse-
ment of Jewish immigration to Palestine and what she thought was the Arab accep-
tance of the declaration’s aims, she thought it “unrealistic and stupid” to “turn around 
now and behave as though no agreement had existed and that something unforeseen 
is occurring.” Thousands of Jews had been encouraged to settle in Palestine and begin 
restoring their ancestral homeland. The clock could not be turned back. She did not 
blame the Jews for what had happened “because they are living up to what, for a long 
time now, they have considered were unquestioned agreements.” She did not blame 



 COMMITTING TO THE ESTABLISHMENT OF A JEWISH STATE 187

the Arab people either, but she did blame the Arab leaders and was “deeply sorry” for 
the suffering endured by both the Arab and Jewish people because of the refusal of the 
Arab leaders to abide by the vote of the UN General Assembly. 32

Dabbagh found ER’s answer unsatisfactory. She had read ER’s recent statement on 
the UN draft declaration of human rights and wished to provide ER with “some more 
facts about the tragic story of the poor Arabs of Palestine” so that ER could “do them 
some justice in the name of those Human Rights.” 33 The Arabs had fought on the side of 
the Allies against the Ottoman Turks during World War I in an effort to achieve their 
independence, she said, but were then “deeply frustrated by the Balfour Declaration.” 
The Arab leaders had never agreed to its terms, she told ER. In fact, the anniversary of 
the declaration was a day of mourning throughout the Arab world: “It reminds us of 
the difference between theory and practice in the matter of human rights.” The “injus-
tice” of the declaration, she said, had resulted in repeated Arab rebellions against its 
consequences ever since. In 1918, she said, there were only 56,000 Jews in Palestine, 
now there were three-quarters of a million. These Jews are “strangers to Palestine,” she 
said, but “are planning to take it, either by expelling the Arabs out of their homes or 
by exterminating them.” She cited the massacre of Arab villagers at Deir Yassin and in 
other Arab villages and the expulsion of Arabs from villages and cities taken over by 
the Jews. “We are not a savage people who can be colonized or exterminated in such a 
barbarous way,” she said, citing the Arab contributions to European civilization. “I am 
sure, dear Madame, that you can do something, and you are going to do it in the name 
of Justice and Human Rights, which you are admirably defending and advocating.”

It is impossible to know whether Dabbagh’s appeal created any doubt in ER about 
the justice of the partition plan or generated thoughts about the moral complexity of 
applying the principles of the UDHR to the situation in Palestine. Dabbagh’s letters 
certainly did not change ER’s fundamental attitude. She would go on making the same 
arguments about the conflict between the Arabs and the Jews even more emphatically 
in subsequent correspondence and public statements. Dabbagh was “astonished” when 
ER sent a curt one-sentence reply to her second letter: “I have your letter of June 30 
and I regret there is nothing I can do to help in the situation about which you write.” 34 
Perhaps Dabbagh had touched a sensitive spot in appealing to ER on the basis of the 
human rights declaration that ER had played such a key role in creating. In any event, 
the issue would continue to haunt her as she fended off similar criticism for the rest 
of her life.

Immediately after Ben-Gurion declared Israel a state, armies from five Arab 
countries attacked the new nation. As the conflict intensified, ER continued to hope 
that the UN, with strong backing from the United States, would intervene to settle 
the dispute in a way that would ensure Israel’s survival and implement the partition 
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plan. But the military success of the Israeli forces, rather than the UN, would eventu-
ally determine the outcome of the conflict.

Although outnumbered and initially outgunned, the Israeli forces were highly moti-
vated, better disciplined and led, and possessed a greater knowledge of the terrain on 
which they were fighting than the invading forces. The Haganah, the Jewish army in 
Palestine, had developed as a force to protect Jewish settlers from Arab attacks and was, 
according to one British Cabinet member, “the most formidable fighting force in the 
Middle East because it was not a private army but simply the whole Jewish commu-
nity organized” to ensure its survival. 35

On May 20, the UN appointed Count Folke Bernadotte, a Swedish diplomat and 
member of the Swedish royal family who had helped rescue inmates of Nazi concen-
tration camps near the end of World War II, to mediate a truce and assist the two 
sides in negotiating a solution to the conflict. Toward the end of May, when the Arabs 
rejected a ceasefire ordered by the UN Security Council, ER urged once again that 
the UN create a military force as soon as possible in order to ensure that groups such 
as the Arab League would obey its decisions. 36 She again chastised Great Britain and 
members of the American government for seeming to be more interested in Arab oil 
than in solving the problems of the Jews and the other residents of the Middle East, 
but she thought most Americans admired the courage of “a small group fighting for 
liberty and the creation of a Government of their own.” 37 As the war continued into 
the summer, with a brief truce in June, many more people, the great majority of them 
Arabs, fled or were driven from their homes. In the end, over 80 percent of Palestinian 
Arabs became refugees. During a fragile ceasefire finally established by Bernadotte 
in July, Bernadotte appealed to Secretary Marshall and to the UN to provide assis-
tance to these refugees. He believed that the work of mediating the conflict would 
not succeed unless the “most urgent aspects of [the] great human disaster affecting 
330,000 destitute Arab refugees from Jewish-controlled areas and 7,000 Jewish refu-
gees” were addressed. 38

After seeing a copy of the appeal, which Marshall may have passed on to her in the 
hope that she would publicize the problem, ER devoted a My Day column to Bern-
a dotte’s description of the humanitarian crisis and urged her readers to help. Char-
acteristically, she began by calling attention to the plight of women and children: “He 
says that thirty percent of these refugees are children under five years of age, and over 
ten percent are pregnant women and nursing mothers.” The refugees lacked food and 
medical care. They lived on the side of roads under burlap screens or without any shelter 
at all. When the rains began in September they would be cold. Epidemics might break 
out and “thousands of children and women, who have no responsibility for the condi-
tions existing in these areas, will die.” The people living in the areas to which the refu-
gees had fled could not meet the needs of the refugees who were overtaxing the local 
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water supply. The United States government had promised aid but would probably be 
able to provide only about half of what was needed, ER told her readers: “Therefore 
it is asked that private organizations, church groups particularly, cooperate with the 
government by sending what they can through government channels immediately.” 39

ER sent a copy of her column to Marshall, expressing her hope that he would receive 
the assistance he needed. Marshall replied that her “support of Count Bernadotte’s 
appeal will have a powerful effect.” Truman had directed the State Department to ask 
for contributions from private sources, and Marshall reported to ER that American 
companies and relief organizations had contributed “generously,” including one oil 
company that donated $200,000. By the end of August, according to the New York 
Times, the United States had sent relief supplies and money totaling over $800,000 
to assist the refugees. 40

On September 16, Bernadotte submitted his report and recommendations to the 
UN. The following day he was assassinated by members of the extremist group Lehi, 
who believed that Bernadotte was secretly assisting the British and their Arab allies. 
That idea made “no sense at all to me or to a lot of other people,” ER wrote in My 
Day and noted that the act was a setback for the nascent peacekeeping efforts of the 
UN, for it would discourage diplomats from accepting the responsibility of mediating 
conflicts in the future. More immediately, the “ruthless stupidity” of the assassination 
was “a hard blow” to the Israeli government as it struggled for recognition as a new 
state. Internal division would not “strengthen the cause of this young nation before 
the world,” but ER thought that the government “will prove itself strong enough to 
dominate what is, in essence an outlaw group.” 41

Bernadotte had intended the report he submitted to the UN before his death to 
serve as a basis for negotiations, not as the final plan for a settlement of the conflict, 
but since both the Jews and the Arabs rejected parts of Bernadotte’s plan and the Arabs 
refused to negotiate, it did not provide an avenue to peace. Bernadotte’s principal rec-
ommendations were that the UN quickly adopt clear, decisive resolutions aimed at 
ending the violence, establish a Palestine conciliation commission to carry out its di-
rectives, accept as fact the existence of the Jewish state of Israel, affirm the right of Arab 
refugees to return to their homes as early as possible or be adequately compensated 
for the loss of their homes if they chose not to return, and settle the political future of 
Arab Palestine. 42 He believed that the demilitarization of Jerusalem, which he thought 
should be under UN control, would require a well-armed UN military force, but such 
a force should only be deployed if both the Arabs and the Jews agreed to the demili-
tarization of Jerusalem in principle. 43

ER agreed with Secretary of State Marshall that the UN should accept these pro-
posals, but she disagreed with Bernadotte’s assignment of the Negev to the Arabs. In 
October, she asked her old friend Bernard Baruch to try to persuade Secretary of State 



190 REFUGE MUST BE GIVEN

Marshall that the American endorsement of the Bernadotte Plan “was not tantamount 
of complete acceptance of all the recommendations contained in it, but only as being a 
good basis for negotiations.” She thought granting the whole of the Negev to the Arabs 
was “highly unfair.” The Western Galilee, which Bernadotte proposed the Arabs trade 
to Israel in exchange for the much larger Negev, was not adequate compensation, she 
said, given that “in Jewish hands the Negeb would be developed and may turn out to 
be the only place where they can receive immigration.” ER said she had made these ar-
guments at meetings of the American delegation, but didn’t think she had much in-
fluence, her only “real backer” being Benjamin Cohen. 44

The original partition plan voted on by the UN in November 1947 had given the 
Negev to the Jews, and ER felt that the United States should continue to support that 
provision of the plan rather than Bernadotte’s proposal. Although Marshall publicly 
supported Bernadotte’s recommendation, in a speech on October 28 Truman once 
again overruled his state department by fully endorsing the original partition plan. 
“Israel,” he said, “must be large enough, free enough and strong enough to make its 
people self-supporting and secure.” 45 That was ER’s view as well.

By the time of Truman’s speech, however, the issue had already been settled on the 
ground. Fearing the loss of the Negev because of Bernadotte’s plan, the Israelis broke 
the truce on October 14 and attacked the Egyptian army in the Negev, effectively 
destroying it as a serious threat. In response to the fighting, the UN Security Council 
drafted a resolution calling upon the two sides to withdraw their forces to the posi-
tions they had held prior to October 14, a move that would only affect the Israelis since 
their forces had driven back the Egyptians. The UN threatened sanctions if the two 
parties did not comply. At a meeting of the American delegation to the UN in Paris on 
November 3, attended by Secretary Marshall, Austin, John Foster Dulles, Philip Jessup, 
Bohlen, and ER to discuss the draft resolution, ER expressed her concern that voting 
for the resolution would make it appear that the United States no longer supported the 
UN partition plan. A resolution intended to enforce a truce would, in effect, dictate 
the terms of a final settlement. To address her reservation, Marshall proposed adding 
vague language stating that the resolution did not in any way alter the “rights, claims 
or position [of interested governments] with regard to a peaceful adjustment of the 
future situation of Palestine.” ER continued to believe, however, that the resolution 
signaled a change in the U.S. position. The United States was vacillating again, she felt, 
as it had in March by advocating a temporary UN trusteeship, rather than unequivo-
cally supporting partition. In a letter to Marshall, written after the meeting, she told 
him that she had left the meeting “rather bewildered.” If the United States was not 
changing its position, what was it doing? ER understood that the United States was 
trying to allay British fears of angering the Arabs, but she continued to wonder if the 
problem could have been solved and much bloodshed averted if the United States had 
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taken a firm position with the Arabs and Great Britain on partition from the begin-
ning. Like Sumner Welles, ER believed, as she put it, that “Israel without the Negeb 
could not possibly be independent and self-supporting in that part of the world.” For 
that reason, if Israel were not granted the Negev, it would fight for it (as, in fact, it had 
done). For the negotiations over partition to succeed, she insisted, the United States 
had to make it absolutely clear to Great Britain and the Arabs that it backed Israel: 
“It is one of those situations in which one can not remain neutral though one can be 
fair.” 46 After Ralph Bunche negotiated a ceasefire agreement between Israel and Egypt 
in February 1949, the Negev remained in Israeli hands.

In a ceremony honoring ER in 1949, Abba Eban, who served simultaneously as 
Israel’s ambassador to the United States and representative to the UN, praised ER 
for her steadfastness on the issue of the Negev. When his delegation had to “resist a 
movement for the mutilation of Israel at its very birth,” he said, ER was “a source of 
mature counsel, a ready defense in adversity. The cruelty of depriving us of that desert 
[the Negev] which represents our main national opportunity was apparent to her, as 
it became apparent to the entire delegation of the United States and to the General 
Assembly itself which withheld its endorsement of any proposal restrictive of Israel’s 
national rights.” 47

Israel gained 21 percent more land during the 1948 war with the Arabs than had 
been allocated in the partition plan and proved itself decisively on the battlefield, 
but its success intensified the Arab desire for revenge. A permanent peace agreement 
and recognition by the Arab states of Israel’s right to exist remained out of reach. 
Bunche successfully negotiated separate armistice agreements with Jordan, Lebanon, 
and Syria, as well as Egypt, but Israel remained in a state of perpetual low-grade war 
along its vulnerable borders with its Arab neighbors. Frequent raids by the fedayeen 
(guerrilla groups armed and trained by Egyptian intelligence), as well as the Egyp-
tian blockade of Israel’s access to the Red Sea, would eventually lead to the 1956 
Suez Crisis. 48

The 1948 Arab-Israeli war deepened ER’s commitment to Israel because it deci-
sively confirmed Israel’s ability to defend itself and opened the new state to thousands 
of Jews still living in the DP camps in Europe. She also developed a romantic vision 
of the Jewish soldiers who participated in the war. They appeared to her very much 
like the American colonists who fought for independence against the British in the 
American Revolution. ER’s disdain for British colonialism and its policies in Palestine 
under the Mandate ran deep. The fact that the Jews had struggled against British rule 
in Palestine as well as against the Arabs reinforced her identification of the Israelis with 
the Americans who fought in the Revolution. 49
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In September 1948, after Israel’s surprising success in repelling the attacking Arab 
armies, ER heard a group of young Israeli soldiers speak at a United Jewish Appeal 
event. They were there as part of Israel’s public relations campaign to build support 
for the new nation in the United States. By commenting on the event in My Day to 
her large American readership, ER greatly amplified the story that Israel wished to 
convey of heroic fighters overcoming all odds. She also merged Israel’s founding narra-
tive with the story of America’s founding. The Israeli soldiers spoke about how their 
small, ill-equipped forces frequently confronted situations that “would seem prac-
tically impossible for them to meet,” ER wrote, yet repeatedly “accomplished what 
seemed the impossible.” She “wondered if that had been the way some of the young 
men around General George Washington had felt as they faced the British Army with-
out shoes, in the dead of winter, with scant food and very scant equipment.” She imag-
ined that many of those close to Washington must have “held much the same kind 
of conviction about freedom and the cause of their small nation as these youngsters 
hold.” For the Jewish soldiers, Palestine was “a holy country . . . dedicated to save the 
Jewish people” from persecution.

When ER speculated about the motivations of the Arab soldiers in the conflict, 
on the other hand, her remarks expressed disdain about the possible motives of the 
Arab participants. The deep commitment expressed by the Jewish soldiers made her 
“almost want to talk to some of the young Arab soldiers . . . to find out whether a differ-
ent dream was alive in their hearts and shone from their eyes or whether they more 
nearly approximated the young Hessians of our own Revolutionary War, who fought 
for the sake of fighting and the pecuniary returns.” But she didn’t talk to any Arab 
soldiers or obtain any other personal knowledge of what the Arabs felt was at stake. 50

ER’s depiction of the Israeli soldiers as tough, resourceful freedom fighters came at 
the beginning of a major shift in the image of the Jew in American popular culture, a 
change that would culminate ten years later in the publication of Leon Uris’s bestsell-
ing Exodus and the making of the popular film starring Paul Newman based on the 
novel. In the years after World War II, as Michelle Mart has shown in her book Eye on 
Israel, images of the Jew as a despised dishonest outsider or a helpless victim of Nazi 
persecution began to give way to images of a “new Jew” who was strong, virtuous, and 
heroic. 51 Beginning in 1948, ER contributed to this change through her celebration 
of Israeli soldiers and pioneers in her written and spoken descriptions of Israel. The 
old cultural stereotypes of Jews that ER still echoed during the 1930s and early 1940s 
disappeared from her discourse.

The soldiers ER met in New York showed her their strength not only as warriors 
but in their commitment to building their new nation. Still concerned about the land’s 
absorptive capacity, ER asked them how the desert area of the Negev could “possibly 
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support hundreds of thousands of Jewish refugees.” They answered immediately: “It 
is a desert now, but where there are settlements it blooms. It can bloom everywhere.” 
The conviction that shone in the Israeli soldiers’ eyes made her believe “that no kind 
of work would seem too arduous to them if the fulfillment of their dreams were in 
sight.” 52 When ER went to Israel for the first time in 1952, the itinerary arranged by 
her hosts provided abundant confirmation that the confidence expressed by the Israeli 
soldiers enabled them to triumph over the many obstacles the young nation faced. 
Upon her return to the United States, ER drew on her impressions of what she saw to 
help burnish Israel’s image for her American audiences.
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V I S I T I N G I S R A E L A S 
WO R L D PAT RO N O F 

YO U T H A L I YA H

“I saw what had been done”

T he founding of Israel and the end of the barriers to immigration imposed 
by the British allowed thousands of Jews to immigrate to the new state. In 
June 1950, when the International Refugee Organization (IRO) was about 

to close up shop, there were still 539,579 refugees whom the IRO had been unable to 
resettle. But there were very few Jews among them because of Israel’s open immigration 
policy. In the first three and a half years of Israel’s existence, the new state welcomed an 
astounding 685,000 immigrants, a figure greater than the number of Jews already living 
in the country (655,000). 1 The ability of Israel to absorb so many new immigrants and 
to survive as a viable nation depended heavily on the financial support of Americans, 
both Jews and Gentiles. Eleanor Roosevelt played a prominent role in the ambitious 
fundraising effort that made the massive influx of immigrants into Israel possible and 
helped sustain the nation in its early economically troubled years.

After the end of World War II, the United Jewish Appeal (UJA) challenged Amer-
ican Jews to donate huge sums of money to care for the survivors of the Holocaust, find 
them homes in Palestine or elsewhere, and sustain the Jewish settlements in Palestine. 
With the help of prominent Christians, such as ER, the UJA also reached out for sup-
port to the Gentile community. Now completely free of the constraints she had felt 
about raising money for particular causes while she was in the White House, ER joined 
enthusiastically in this work. In 1946 she spoke at UJA events in support of what she 
described in My Day as the “exceptional drive” of the UJA to raise $100 million (over 
$1.8 billion in 2020 dollars) “for the rescue and rehabilitation of the Jews of Europe.” 
ER told her My Day readers about the Community Committee of New York for the 
UJA, whose honorary chairmen were Governor Thomas E. Dewey, New York mayor 
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William O’Dwyer, Herbert H. Lehman, and Bishop William T. Manning. Its exec-
utive committee, she pointed out, was composed of “men of many races and many 
faiths.” ER felt that if every community in the United States were to form such a com-
mittee, it “would help to increase the feeling of brotherhood throughout the world.” 
Of the six million Jews murdered, she told her readers, two million were children. She 
had recently met a couple who had come to America from a concentration camp near 
Frankfort. They had seen their children burned to death and yet, because of the “ex-
traordinary tenacity” with which people hold on to life if given any hope, were strug-
gling to begin again. Americans — Catholics, Protestants, and Jews alike — who had 
“been spared such cruelty,” ER said, had “a joint responsibility” to assist the Jews who 
remained in Europe “to return to some kind of normal living.” 2

In January 1947, ER’s old friend Henry Morgenthau Jr., who had left his post as secre-
tary of the Treasury after Truman became president, became general chairman of the 
UJA. 3 ER actively supported Morgenthau’s efforts by speaking frequently at UJA fund-
raising events. Another well-known Christian who joined ER in supporting the UJA 
was Nelson Rockefeller. For UJA’s 1947 campaign, which had set the ambitious goal 
of $170 million, he and ER organized a National Christian Committee, composed of 
eighty prominent Americans, to help the UJA achieve its objective. Thomas Watson, 
president of IBM, became its national chairman. The group pledged generous sums of 
money and agreed to partner with the UJA in 225 cities by setting up citizen commit-
tees, as ER had suggested in 1946, and encouraging churches to take up collections 
for the cause. 4

After the founding of Israel in 1948, when many American Jews came to care deeply 
about the success of the new nation, ER became even more important to the Jewish 
community. As American Jews shared in their nation’s growing prosperity after World 
War II, many moved to the suburbs, and, with antisemitism on the decline, they came 
to enjoy a more secure place in America’s mainstream. Most of them did not desire to 
immigrate to Israel, but they took pride in Israel’s existence and its accomplishments 
reinforced their own growing confidence. Both religious and secular Jews were eager 
to hear and read about Israel, evidenced in the nearly one hundred books published 
about Israel in the United States by the mid-1960s, including Israel Without Tears 
(1950) by the popular journalist and lecturer Ruth Gruber; My Promised Land (1953) 
by the Hadassah Newsletter columnist Molly Lyons Bar-David; and Leon Uris’s Exodus 
(1958), to name just a few. 5 ER helped satisfy this appetite for inspiring stories about 
Israel and helped affirm the warm relationship that many American Jews formed with 
the new nation.

One indication of ER’s affirmation of a special bond between American Jews and 
Israel appears in her response to a request in 1949 from Lessing Rosenwald asking her 
to send a message to the America Council for Judaism’s annual conference. While ER 
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strongly supported Rosenwald’s efforts to pass a bill to admit displaced persons to the 
United States, she was equally strong in her disagreement with the ACJ’s position on 
Israel. The anti-Zionist council, which advocated “complete secular integration of 
Americans of Jewish faith with their fellow citizens of other faiths,” as Rosenwald put 
it, rejected the idea that American Jews possessed a unique responsibility for Israel. 
American Jews, Rosenwald told ER, owed “no obligations to the State of Israel not 
shared by other Americans” and should simply offer it “the measure of goodwill ac-
corded to any other foreign state that lives with us in peace and friendship.” ER did 
not agree, replying pointedly, “I hope that your Council will take a special interest in 
the State of Israel since while you are Americans, your religious affiliation must make 
you especially sympathetic to the efforts now being made by the small State of Israel 
to give a chance for life in the future to many of the refugees of Europe.” 6

Leaders of the UJA greatly valued ER’s participation in its campaigns. They turned 
to her again and again as a speaker at UJA events and published her statements, as well 
as statements written by UJA fundraising staff that she had approved, in their news-
paper ads and other appeals for contributions. In 1950, Lea Horne, chairman of the 
UJA of Greater New York, told ER that she was “one of our staunchest supporters” 
and “a vital part of this great cause.” She thanked ER for speaking at two luncheons, 
which raised over a million dollars, “much of it due to your drawing power and the 
inspiration of your presence there.” 7 It is impossible to calculate how much money 
ER helped raise for the UJA over the years, but it was probably well over one hundred 
million in today’s dollars.

After the formation of the American Financial and Development Corporation for 
Israel in 1950 under the chairmanship of Henry Morgenthau Jr., ER participated in the 
campaigns organized by the corporation to sell State of Israel bonds. She also became a 
member of the organization’s advisory council. Most of the money raised for Israel up 
to that point had gone to aiding the refugees in Europe and helping them get settled 
in Israel and elsewhere. The bonds provided capital for the industrial and agricultural 
projects needed to make Israel economically independent. Although the concept of a 
Jewish nationalist state was opposed to the secular, universalist principles of American 
liberalism, most American Jews, who were overwhelmingly liberal, ignored that under-
lying contradiction by insisting that Israel was extending the values of American liberal 
democracy into the Middle East and serving as a bulwark against Communist expan-
sion. They took pride in the fact that Israel was a multiparty democracy with a free 
press and a government committed to providing health care and education for its citi-
zens and promoting economic equality. When ER herself bought a bond in honor of 
Elinor Morgenthau, who had died in 1949, ER made a statement, probably prepared 
by the campaign’s publicity department, in which she said that by buying bonds to 
strengthen Israel’s economy, “we are also strengthening its capacity to serve humanity 
and to serve the highest interests of democracy and world peace.” 8
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ER’s special concern for refugees had always been for children. She had sup-
ported the efforts of her friends to pass the Wagner-Rogers bill that would have brought 
20,000 Jewish and non-Aryan children to safety in the United States, publicly chal-
lenged the State Department and her husband on the issue of admitting British chil-
dren to the United States for the duration of the war, and intervened with FDR and 
the State Department in the attempt to rescue 5,000 Jewish children from unoccu-
pied France in 1942. The welfare of children, both Jewish and Gentile, remained one 
of her highest priorities after the war.

This concern expressed itself most strongly in her association with Youth Aliyah, the 
organization whose work had captured ER’s imagination in the late 1930s and whose 
National Advisory Committee she had joined in 1940. Hadassah, Youth Aliyah’s fi-
nancial sponsor in the United States, drew ER closer to the work of the organization 
in 1949 when it presented her with the first Henrietta Szold Award for distinguished 
humanitarian service. ER donated the $1,000 she received with the award toward the 
creation of a music library at Ramat Hadassah Szold, Youth Aliyah’s new reception 
center at Alonim. Although her contribution to Youth Aliyah had been largely through 
lending her name to Hadassah’s fundraising efforts, speaking at Hadassah events, and 
praising Youth Aliyah in My Day, that support had been much appreciated. The cita-
tion read in part: “in recognition of her participation with Hadassah in the rescue and 
rehabilitation of 40,000 Jewish children through Youth Aliyah.” 9 The award itself was 
as much a way of identifying ER publicly with Youth Aliyah and eliciting a deeper com-
mitment from her as it was a way of thanking her for her previous support.

Material sent to ER before she received the award explained the importance of the 
new reception center at Ramat Hadassah Szold. The 40,000 children Youth Aliyah 
cared for between 1934 and 1949 came from 44 countries and spoke many different 
languages. The youngest children Youth Aliyah ordinarily accepted were ten years 
old, and Youth Aliyah served as their guardian until they reached the age of eighteen. 
Some of the children who arrived between 1934 and 1949 were orphans; others were 
placed in the care of Youth Aliyah by their parents, who were unable or unwilling to 
emigrate. Youth Aliyah provided the parents with a means of freeing their children from 
the intolerable circumstances they faced in their native lands. By 1949, 25,000 children 
had finished their training in agriculture, trades, the arts, and other vocations under 
the direction of Youth Aliyah. Fifteen thousand were still in training in 200 agricul-
tural settlements and institutions. Many of these children had lived for long periods in 
concentration camps or in hiding, enduring privation and trauma. Youth Aliyah had 
developed an educational system, involving both study and work, designed to restore 
them to health and confidence, as well as to give them the practical and citizenship 
skills they needed to contribute to the building of the new nation. Now, after inde-
pendence, 1,500 children were arriving in Israel each month and Youth Aliyah had to 
expand to meet their needs. 10
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In an article in the New York Herald Tribune, William L. Shirer estimated that a 
training program on the scale planned by Youth Aliyah for a nation with under one 
million people and a low birthrate would have a considerable impact: “75,000 chil-
dren who assimilate the social and cultural ideals of their new homeland through daily 
living and instruction can become a very potent factor in its development.” 11 Youth 
Aliyah’s programs and the vital role the children participating in them were playing in 
the growth of Israel had enormous appeal to ER, who had spent much of her life advo-
cating for adequate education, medical care, nutrition, and housing for children and 
for educating people of all ages in active citizenship.

Youth Aliyah became a major part of ER’s humanitarian work in 1952 after 
she met with Moshe Kol, Youth Aliyah’s director, at a session of the UN in Paris. Kol 
proposed that she become the World Patron of Youth Aliyah and invited her to Israel 
to see his organization in action. ER readily accepted Kol’s proposal. 12

Before leaving for the Middle East, ER decided to visit several of the Arab coun-
tries on Israel’s borders. This plan appears to have originated with Charles Malik, who 
succeeded ER as chairman of the UN Human Rights Commission. He wanted her 
to learn more about the culture of the region, its need for economic assistance, and 
the Arab perspective on Israel. As a result, she added Lebanon, Syria, and Jordan to 
her itinerary. Malik was a Lebanese Christian and Western-educated philosopher, a 
champion of liberal Western ideas who had served as rapporteur during the drafting 
of the Universal Declaration of Human Rights (UDHR). He and ER were on the 
same side in the debate within the commission on the rights of the individual person 
as opposed to the sovereign power of the state. ER came into contact with other Arabs 
at the UN, but Malik was the only one with whom she worked closely. Although not 
entirely trusted by his Muslim Arab colleagues, Malik strongly supported the cause 
of the Palestinian Arabs.

Malik no doubt hoped that a visit to several Arab countries would modify ER’s 
attitude toward Israel, but her anger at the Arabs for defying the authority of the UN 
and her relief that many survivors of the Holocaust had found refuge in Israel made 
her unreceptive to the Arab point of view. In addition, her many relationships with 
American Jews with whom she had worked since the 1920s in many of the fields that 
most engaged her nurtured her sympathy for Israel. In 1947, she had also formed a warm 
friendship with David Gurewitsch, her personal physician, who had been a member of 
the German Zionist Youth Organization as a boy and went to Palestine in 1934 after 
graduating from medical school in Switzerland to serve as a physician at the Hadassah 
Hospital in Jerusalem. Gurewitsch accompanied ER to Israel during her 1952 tour. 
Malik, on the other hand, was one of the few Arabs she knew. Without Arab friends and 
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few Arab colleagues, she had very little opportunity to hear the Arab side of the argu-
ment, feel she had a personal stake in the welfare of Arabs, or respond to Arab needs.

ER’s lack of sympathy for the Arab point of view also stemmed from her full embrace 
of the Israeli version of events before, during, and after the 1948 war. In response to a 
letter she received in the summer of 1951, ER said that most of the Arab refugees had 
fled out of fear or at the advice of their leaders, who told them they would soon be able 
to return with the victorious Arab armies. She later noted that about 170,000 Arabs had 
stayed put and continued to live safely in Israel. 13 Because of the research Benny Morris, 
Ilan Pappé, Avi Shlaim, and other “New Historians” have done in Israeli archives, we 
now know that many refugees were deliberately driven from their homes and villages 
by the Haganah or frightened into leaving by the Haganah or the acts of the Irgun 
and Lehi. But ER believed the story her Israeli hosts told her and discounted the Arab 
version of events. 14 Now, she told her correspondent, it was “unrealistic” to expect that 
those who left could return to Israel since an enormous number of Jewish refugees had 
streamed into Israel since 1948 and moved into areas once occupied by the Arabs. 15 In 
many cases, ER wrote in a My Day column later that year, the Arabs would have no 
homes to return to because “their houses are rubble, having been destroyed after they 
fled.” She does not say why they were destroyed or mention the appropriation of the 
lands of “absentee” Arabs and the redistribution of Arab property to Jewish settlers. 16 
In addition, ER argued in her column, if the Arab refugees were to return, they would 
bring with them their deep dissatisfaction: “Why should the new state of Israel take 
people, who would be dangerous citizens, antagonistic to them and their ideas, back 
into the country?” The Jewish immigrants who had been “flooding into Israel from 
all over the world,” on the other hand, were “imbued with a love of Israel and a belief 
in the experiment being tried out there.” She believed the Arabs would find it much 
more difficult to make a living in Israel than if they resettled in neighboring Arab coun-
tries where “there is land lying idle and where they would not be up against so much 
competition.” ER knew little or nothing about conditions within Arab societies, such 
as tensions between Sunni and Shiite Muslims or shortages of jobs, that would have 
made the acceptance of Palestinian refugees by other Arab countries far more diffi-
cult than she imagined. In any event, she urged the correspondent whom she felt was 
being unrealistic about the possibility of the Arab refugees returning to their land to 
adopt a purely pragmatic view of the situation: “We must look at things as they are 
and not as we wish they were.” 17

ER was not alone in this view. Elfan Rees, a member of the English clergy who 
visited the Arab refugee camps many times beginning in 1949 and became the expert on 
the refugee problem for the Commission of the Churches on International Affairs and 
the World Council of Churches, came to a similar conclusion. He described the Arab 
leaders as “positively uncharitable and unhelpful” toward the refugees and criticized 
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pro-Arab American Protestant leaders who, he felt, were “playing the political game 
of the Arab states by preferring to have the refugees remain a bartering factor” rather 
than advocating their integration into Arab societies. There was land available for the 
refugees in Iraq and Syria, Rees asserted, where “by faith, by language, by race and 
by social organization,” the refugees would be “indistinguishable from their fellows.” 
Furthermore, these nations needed manpower for their development. 18

On the eve of her departure for Lebanon, Malik wrote ER a note expressing his hope 
that she would meet people who could help her understand the “basic problems” of 
the Middle East, which were “much deeper” than the issue of Arab refugees, although 
that was “certainly a great problem.” Malik hoped she would be inspired with a sense 
of the region’s long history as the seedbed of civilization and recognize the region’s 
potential for entering “another one of its brilliant periods,” if “the rising generation can 
be seized with a mighty task of construction and hope, grounded in freedom and in a 
worthy spiritual content.” 19 ER would make an effort to assess how the Arab nations 
she visited were approaching their need for economic development and to learn some-
thing about American and UN economic aid programs in the region, but she would 
not perceive signs pointing toward a realization of Malik’s vision.

Malik arranged for ER to be the guest of the Lebanese government while she was in 
his country from February 10 to 13, 1952. While there, she visited three refugee camps, 
dined with business leaders and government officials at the home of a wealthy business-
man, and spent an evening with Bechara el Khoury, then the president of Lebanon, 
and his wife. She also visited the homes of a typical farmer and a typical worker, as 
she had requested.

Stephen Penrose, a friend of Malik’s who was president of American University, 
organized a tea at which ER engaged in a long conversation with a group of profes-
sors about the Arab point of view on Palestine. They told her that the UN had made a 
huge mistake in voting to partition Palestine into separate Jewish and Arab states. In 
the unified state favored by the Arabs, they said, the Jews would have had the status of 
a protected minority. The group claimed that the Arabs and Jews had lived in peace 
in Palestine until the Jews began to create their own government, an assertion that 
ER said she knew was inaccurate. The group worried that Israel would seek to acquire 
more territory because of the need to resettle the 700,000 immigrants from Europe 
and nearby Arab states. ER told them that supporting a strong UN as a bulwark against 
aggression was the best way to prevent this from happening, but she felt her effort to 
reassure them failed.

While in Lebanon, ER reported, she also met with a group of educated refugees who 
told her “how cruelly they had been driven from their homes in Palestine and forced to 
abandon their possessions at a moment’s notice.” The members of this group had been 
able to reestablish themselves in their professions, but “their eviction still rankled and 



 VISITING ISR AEL AS WORLD PATRON OF YOU TH ALIYAH 201

they declared they would never be satisfied until they could return to their homes in 
Palestine.” ER felt “desperately sorry for them,” recognizing, she said in a patronizing 
way, that they were “simply the helpless victims of the history of their times, and have 
been caught in a struggle that is beyond their understanding.” But she sympathized 
a great deal more with the much larger number of refugees who lived in the refugee 
camps without an opportunity to move on with their lives. 20

Penrose was himself a strong advocate for the Arab position. He was one of several 
Americans who had lived and worked in the Arab world and sympathized deeply with 
the Arab people. 21 They were actively opposed to the establishment of a Jewish state 
and made their opinion known to the State Department, which largely shared their 
point of view. The university that Penrose headed was a highly respected institution 
that had been founded by American missionaries in 1862 but from the beginning was 
devoted to promoting American civic values rather than to evangelism. 22 It attracted 
Arab students from throughout the Middle East and its graduates were influential in 
the region. ER possessed none of Penrose’s experience and, as a result, lacked his social 
and emotional foothold in the Arab world.

Penrose had vigorously articulated his views on the rights of the Palestinian Arabs 
in a speech at the World Council of Churches conference that met in Beirut in 1951. 
That speech reveals how much his narrative of events surrounding the establishment 
of Israel diverged from the one ER frequently repeated when challenged to justify her 
views. Penrose did not think that the Balfour Declaration promised the Jewish people 
a state of their own. The declaration was a “masterpiece of ambiguity,” he said, designed 
to satisfy the Zionists without disturbing the Arabs. But its key passage, Penrose argued, 
clearly limited its intention:

His Majesty’s Government views with favor the establishment in Palestine of a 
national home for the Jewish people and will use their best endeavors to facilitate 
the achievement of this object, it being clearly understood that nothing shall be done 
which may prejudice the civil and religious rights of existing non-Jewish communities 
in Palestine, or the rights and political status enjoyed by Jews in any other country. 
[italicized by Penrose]

To Penrose that passage meant “quite obviously” that “the national home for the Jewish 
people in Palestine could not mean the establishment of a Jewish state inasmuch as the 
latter would certainly ‘prejudice the civil and religious rights of existing non-Jewish 
communities in Palestine.’” 23

It is difficult to dispute Penrose’s argument. It is also difficult to know what the 
term “national home” could mean if it did not mean a Jewish state. The declaration 
was, as Penrose, says, ambiguous. In her own statements on the Balfour Declaration 
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ER did not directly address the point Penrose was making about the rights of the Arabs 
and other non-Jewish communities in Palestine. She interpreted the declaration quite 
differently. At one of the press conferences she held during her Middle East tour, she 
went further than she had in the past in finding a basis for a Jewish state in the decla-
ration by telling the Arab journalists that she “had always assumed that when Lord 
Balfour pledged British support for a Jewish national home in Palestine, he had meant 
that the Jews should have their own country under their own government.” When an 
Arab questioner asserted that Lord Balfour had told Chaim Weizmann that this was 
not what it meant, ER recalled a conversation she had with Weizmann in which he had 
told her just the opposite. Given how “completely at variance” the two interpretations 
were from each other, ER concluded, “this was simply one of those emotional questions 
about which feelings run so high that neither side can concede even the possibility of 
another point of view.” 24 Recognizing that this was true did not appear to create any 
doubt in ER’s mind about her own commitment to a Jewish state.

In regard to the UN partition plan, Penrose called the role of the United States in 
securing its adoption by the UN “one of the blacker pages in the history of American 
international politics.” The plan, he argued, had created an “unworkable” patchwork 
of Jewish and Arab zones of control in order to create areas where the Jews would have 
a majority and placed more than half of the country, including its most fertile land, 
under the governance of less than one-third of the population. Like Loy Henderson 
and other State Department officials who had opposed the plan, Penrose argued that 
it violated “the principle of self-determination” first set forth by the American presi-
dent Woodrow Wilson. It was therefore natural that the Arabs came to question the 
sincerity of the UN and the United States in espousing that principle. Penrose admit-
ted that both sides had committed “dreadful deeds” when warfare broke out after the 
adoption of the partition plan, but he argued that the Zionists “made better use of the 
terrorist tactics” by frightening many Arabs into fleeing. He did not believe that “this 
wholesale displacement and resultant destitution” of the Arabs could in any way “be 
justified as essential to the solution of the Jewish problem in Europe.”

While ER sympathized with the Arab refugees, she regarded the Arab refusal to 
cooperate with a UN plan to provide employment for the refugees and permanently 
resettle them in other Arab lands as unrealistic and cynical. Penrose, on the other hand, 
believed that the Arabs had rejected the resettlement plan because of their deep sense 
of injustice and “their conviction that cooperation under present circumstances would 
imply acceptance of the status quo.” Since they regarded the status quo as “intolera-
ble,” they would not cooperate until it changed and saw no point in direct negotiations 
with Israel until it did. Penrose believed that a change in the status quo would only 
come about through determined efforts by the UN and the United States to change 
the attitudes of both sides. 25 Over the years that followed, however, the status quo only 
became more intolerable from the Arab point of view.
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While in Lebanon ER no doubt heard many of the arguments Penrose made in 
his 1951 speech either from him, the group of Arabs he gathered together to present 
to her the Arab perspective, or from other Arabs she met. Although what she heard 
sharpened her awareness of Arab grievances, it did not change her views on partition 
or on the best way forward. On the Arab side, it is clear from the response in the Arab 
press to ER’s visit that she was perceived as an embodiment of an American policy 
that heavily favored Israel over the rights of the Arabs. ER’s visit did nothing to alter 
Arab perceptions. According to the American legation’s report, those who listened to 
her speak to the YWCA and women’s organizations in Beirut were impressed in the 
beginning by “her humility and desire to inform herself on Arab problems,” but several 
of them said afterwards that ER’s speech had given them “no new hope of a fair settle-
ment of the refugee problem.” 26

The Arab press in Lebanon attacked her for her role in the creation of the Jewish 
state and for what it regarded as her indifference to the fate of the Arabs displaced 
at its founding. It appeared hypocritical to them, as it had to Wadad Dabbagh, that 
a woman who enjoyed a reputation as a great champion of human rights would not 
condemn what they saw as violations of their rights. 27

In describing the refugee camps in the three Arab countries she visited after 
she returned home, ER reported that the refugees lived in tents “on steep hillsides” 
or “on hot, barren plains,” lacked adequate nutrition, and suffered from respiratory 
diseases in the winter and dysentery and fever in the summer. Because of the unwill-
ingness of the Arab states to create employment and permanently resettle the more 
than 700,000 refugees displaced by the 1948 war, they depended largely on the United 
Nations Relief and Works Agency for Palestine Refugees for food, shelter, medical 
care, education, and other needs. Although Jordan had made some effort to draw 
some of the refugees into the economic life of the country, unemployment among the 
Jordanians and Lebanese themselves made such efforts difficult. The refugees, ER said, 
were an “economic burden” to the countries where the camps were located, vulnerable 
to Communist organizers, and a continuing threat to peace in the Middle East. But 
what most troubled her was “the loss of skills, the death of pride, the breakdown of 
morale” that resulted from lack of employment and hope for the future. She told her 
Arab hosts that whether the refugees were resettled or returned to their homes in Israel, 
they “would be of no future use unless their skills and work habits were preserved.” 
Her point always won “at least passive agreement” but she felt their assent arose out 
of “perfect politeness — and complete inertia.” What the refugees needed, ER felt, was 
not handouts but the opportunity to become independent, productive citizens of a 
country once again. 28 As she had said in 1946 after visiting the DP camps in Germany, 
“Charity is a wonderful thing,” but it does not retrieve “the feeling that we have roots.” 29
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At the press conference ER held at the end of her visit to Israel, she was less restrained 
than she had been while traveling in the Arab countries. The refugees had been trained 
by Arab leaders and Communist organizers, she charged, and the children drilled to 
shout in English, “We want to go home.” These outbursts “made no impression” on 
her “since it was obvious that with different training they would change their minds.” 30 
These remarks drew a strong reaction in the Arab press, which said that they showed 
her callousness about the refugees and her prejudice in favor of the Jews. 31 Later, after 
returning home, she repeated these comments in a speech to the Nation Associates. 32

S. Roger Tyler, the American consul in Jerusalem, reported that the reaction of the 
Arab press in Jerusalem to ER’s visit “ranged from violent imprecations to mere factual 
reporting of her movements. There was no instance of a genuine expression of pleasure 
or welcome.” 33 An editorial in the Palestinian Arab newspaper Falastin greatly exagger-
ated ER’s influence upon Truman, claiming that when she threatened to “flare up” after 
Warren Austin announced in March 1948 that the United States would now support a 
UN trusteeship for Palestine rather than the immediate implementation of the parti-
tion plan, “Truman submitted, America submitted and States tied to America’s apron 
strings submitted to Mrs. Roosevelt’s will.” To the editors of Falastin, ER was “partly 
responsible for the establishment of the National Home, the creation of Israel and the 
dispersion of the Arabs.” They asked her to shed her “Americanism” and her “Judaism” 
and “with a clean Christian conscience meditate on the Palestine crime committed by 
the U.S. against a peaceful and peace-loving nation in their own homeland.” 34

In her speech to the Nation Associates after she returned to the United States, ER 
said she had come away convinced of two things: that the Arabs and Israelis would 
make progress toward peace only if the UN succeeded in resettling the Arab refugees 
in countries outside of Israel and that there was “nothing to be done but to resettle 
them” since there was “no home for them to go to in most cases.” But Arab resistance 
to resettlement blocked the way. 35 Ali Ash Sheikh Said Al Qaderi, a resident of the 
Bared River refugee camp in Lebanon, made the depth of that resistance clear in a 
letter he wrote to ER after her return. He pledged that the Arabs would “refuse every 
plan or decision which forbids us from going back to our own country or which aims 
to settle us outside Palestine” and told her that they nurtured in their children a love 
of Palestine and a desire to take “revenge of the oppressor.” 36

Besides seeking greater understanding of the Arab point of view on Israel 
and visiting the Arab refugee camps, ER’s other motive for visiting the Arab countries 
was to assess the possibilities of their economic development. Her views on Israel and 
the Middle East were heavily influenced by the politics of the Cold War. In 1949, as 
part of its effort to contain the Soviet Union and counteract its influence, the Truman 
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administration initiated the Point 4 program, which provided technical assistance 
to developing nations in many parts of the world. Its aim was to stimulate economic 
development and create opportunities for investment in these countries. ER strongly 
supported this and later nonmilitary foreign aid programs, which promised to assist 
the nations of the Third World to raise the standard of living of their citizens, and she 
wanted to observe the conditions they were designed to address. She believed these 
economic programs rather than military aid were the most important means of reduc-
ing the appeal of Communism in the Middle East. In each of the three Arab countries 
to which she traveled, she visited factories, farms, and shops and spoke with workers 
in their homes or places of employment, as well as with businessmen, educators, and 
government officials. ER observed that she was “fully conscious of a certain amount 
of hostility” behind the outward politeness of the government officials who were her 
hosts, but she found that when she talked to people individually or in groups in their 
homes or shops, “the atmosphere was friendly and hospitable.”

During her travels through the Arab countries, ER observed what she described as 
“appalling poverty” of a kind unfamiliar to most Americans, and she questioned the 
people she met about plans for economic development. 37 Her brief visits to the Arab 
states did not provide much opportunity to get to understand the cultures of these 
countries. She measured what she observed by Western standards and, particularly, 
by the entrepreneurial standard of America’s “can do” culture. From that perspective, 
what she found was not encouraging. While some economic development plans were 
being carried out, she mainly observed that much more needed to be done. In Syria, 
the schedule she had asked the American legation to arrange with the Syrian govern-
ment included visits to a textile factory, a typical worker’s home, two Palestine refu-
gee camps, and an agricultural school. 38 At a textile mill in Damascus the owners of 
the mill showed her the living quarters being constructed for their foremen and said 
they planned to build a housing project for their workers. When she wrote about this 
experience later on, after having visited both the Arab countries and Israel and having 
spoken with officials of UN and American development programs, she said that she had 
found in both Lebanon and Syria that such projects were “being done on a charitable 
or benevolent basis, a kind of paternalism, rather than for sound economic reasons.” 
She felt that the leaders of these countries had “accepted the thought of change” but 
had “no idea of the number and extent of the changes that will be necessary” and were 
not “making the long-range plans that must precede any real and effective economic 
development.” In addition, “as far as I could see,” people did not enter government 
service “to work unselfishly, with the idea of serving the country and their people,” but 
for “private profit” and they felt that to do so was “entirely legitimate.” Although she 
came to these conclusions partly as a result of conversations she had with the Arabs 
she spoke with, her views were no doubt strongly influenced by the analyses of the 
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American diplomats who helped arrange her itinerary in each of the countries she 
visited and by the American and UN economic development officials who briefed 
her along the way. To bring about the kind of changes she thought the region needed 
would require a great deal of outside help from the UN and the United States, she 
believed, but because of long experience with imperialism, the leaders of these nations 
were distrustful of American motives and reluctant to accept help for fear of becom-
ing dominated once again by an outside power. For this reason, she noted, Syria had 
rejected assistance from the American Point 4 economic development program and 
Jordan had only recently accepted its help. 39

When ER passed through the Mandelbaum Gate, crossing from Jordan into 
Israel in the middle of a divided Jerusalem, she felt she was entering a very different 
atmosphere. In the Arab world, she felt discouraged by the Arabs’ lack of experience, 
training, and planning, and, above all, by her perception that the Arabs lacked the 
motivating spirit she believed was required for the sort of economic development 
needed to raise their standard of living. In Israel, on the other hand, she was inspired 
by the energy, excitement, and sense of purpose she felt its people expressed as they 
went about the task of building their new nation. Her response was strongly influenced 
by the welcome she received from representatives of Youth Aliyah, Hadassah, and the 
Israeli government who wanted to show off what they were accomplishing and enlist 
her in championing their cause back in the United States. She entered Israel not as an 
ordinary visitor, but in her role as the prospective World Patron of Youth Aliyah and 
valuable Hadassah supporter.

Unlike other American Zionist organizations, whose primary goal had been achieved 
by the founding of Israel, Hadassah’s opportunities to fulfill its purpose greatly ex-
panded with the opening of the new state to immigration. As the work of building a 
nation for the Jewish people captured the imagination of many American Jews, par-
ticularly the Jewish women in America’s burgeoning suburbs, Hadassah’s membership 
grew to over 300,000, making it the biggest voluntary organization of women in the 
world. The increased financial support that followed this expansion in membership 
enabled Youth Aliyah to build more training centers and youth villages and permitted 
Hadassah to greatly expand the construction of medical facilities. 40 Hadassah hoped 
to engage ER more fully in making its accomplishments known and raising funds to 
carry its work forward.

In her 1952 visit, ER focused most of her attention on visiting Youth Aliyah and 
Hadassah facilities. Her many years of experience in promoting child welfare, public 
health, adequate housing, vocational education, and community building in the United 
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States during and after the Depression and New Deal prepared her for a deep appreci-
ation of Israeli efforts to rehabilitate children, establish cooperative communities, and 
create a health system. The way Hadassah and Youth Aliyah approached solving social 
problems by collecting and analyzing data and bringing in experts (often American) to 
evaluate programs and make recommendations, a method Henrietta Szold had brought 
with her from America, was also familiar to ER.

There was an important difference, however, between what American social re-
formers had achieved and what Israel was doing. The reform movement in which 
ER participated in the 1920s and 1930s in the United States helped bring about per-
manent improvements in the fields of child welfare, public health, and social secu-
rity and helped shape the emerging American welfare state. But Arthurdale and the 
other cooperative settlements sponsored by the New Deal’s Subsistence Homestead 
program that ER championed in the 1930s did not become important models for the 
way Americans lived. In the early days of Israel, on the other hand, the kibbutzim 
functioned as building blocks of the new nation. The devotion ER once lavished on 
the Subsistence Homestead of Arthurdale and the commitment she shared with the 
Quakers to providing displaced people with the practical skills, resources, and hope 
necessary for building self-sustaining lives, she now directed toward Israel. The prom-
ise of a more community-based, cooperative society, which the New Deal in the end 
failed to fulfill, now seemed, in Israel, a realizable goal.

ER’s first visit to Israel made an enormous impression on her. In addition, it strength-
ened the confidence of Israelis that they would receive the outside backing they needed 
to survive. After she visited a tuberculosis hospital in Jerusalem, a frontier hospital in 
Beersheba, and the Eddie Cantor village in Maale Hahamisha, Julia Dushkin, a member 
of the Hadassah Council in Israel Executive Committee, wrote to ER that she had “left 
an indelible impression” upon the people she met: “Your coming to Israel at this time 
has enhanced the feeling of security of the many here to whom your very presence is 
a symbol of their greater personal safety for in you they see the personification of the 
world’s interest in their better destiny.” 41

ER toured the country with her usual tireless energy, attentiveness to the indi-
vidual people she met, and appetite for detailed information about the operation of 
the programs and projects she inspected. The Jerusalem Post reported that on one 
fourteen-hour day, she visited the Yuval Gad pipe works at Migdal Ascalon and a 
Meko rot pumping station, traveled to a Bedouin encampment where she drank coffee 
with Suleiman Ali-Buzeil, Sheikh of the Negev and head of the Bedouin tribe in the 
region, stopped at the Hadassah hospital in Beersheba where Dr. K. J. Mann, director 
of the Hadassah Medical Organization, took her on a tour, saw the newly built part 
of the town, and spoke with a Romanian family in a nearby immigrant absorption 
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camp. Her “searing pace . . . exhausted her escort,” the Post reported, but at the end of 
the day she told Vera Weizmann, wife of Israel’s president, Chaim Weizmann, “I never 
feel tired when I’m absorbed.” 42

Israel strongly appealed to ER in many ways, partly because of the way she 
associated its experience as a new nation with America’s history and the American 
spirit. In 1948, she had identified the young Israeli soldiers she met in New York with 
Washington’s troops in the American Revolution. Now, she compared the building 
of Israel with the early settlement of her own country, telling reporters in Jerusalem 
that in Israel she “almost felt at home because the early American pioneers must have 
had a similar faith in themselves and in the future of their country.” Israel, she said, 
was an “invigorating country to be in” not only because of its “vitality,” but because of 
the perception that “all the pressing problems are somehow being solved.” 43 It was this 
self-confident spirit, more than anything else, that separated Israel, in ER’s mind, from 
the Arab countries she visited. She associated it with the character traits she believed 
had enabled Americans to build their own country under adverse conditions. Many 
American Jews, and Christians as well, shared this perception of Israel as a pioneer-
ing country, in which farmer warriors had fought against the British and against the 
native inhabitants of the land on which they settled, just as American frontiersmen 
had fought for their independence in the early days of American history. ER’s commu-
nication of this simplified, romantic version of events to her American audiences rein-
forced an image of Israelis as heroic actors in an exciting drama. 44

ER found these frontier qualities especially alive in kibbutz Degania near the lake of 
Galilee and in the person of its leader, Joseph Baratz. Baratz had helped found the settle-
ment as a young man in 1909. He had struggled with his wife, Miriam, and other early 
settlers under harsh conditions to harness water for irrigation and make the land produc-
tive. They had also fought to protect the settlement, helping to repel an attack from Syrian 
forces during the 1948 war. ER’s visits to Israel bound her emotionally to its cooperative 
agricultural settlements, its youth training centers, and its children, and no one bound 
her more closely to the land of Israel than Joseph Baratz. During her first visit, ER began a 
warm friendship with Baratz, who embodied for her an indomitable creative spirit, both 
idealistic and realistic, that she found immensely appealing. 45 One may wonder if part 
of the appeal of Baratz and other pioneers she encountered in Israel was how completely 
they dispelled the old stereotypes of the Jew that ER had once harbored.

Drawn by Baratz and the thriving community that he led, ER visited Degania 
each time she traveled to Israel, and Baratz visited her in Hyde Park and New York 
City. In the correspondence the two friends carried on until ER’s death, Baratz shared 
news about his family and his pleasure in the agricultural cycle at Degania. He also 
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expressed concern about his nation’s ongoing vulnerability in the hostile neighborhood 
in which it existed and his regret that ongoing raids by Arab guerillas along Israel’s 
borders hampered the work of its agricultural settlements. In this “beautiful season, 
not so hot during the day and delightful in the cool of the evening,” Baratz wrote her 
in October 1955, “we are concluding the date harvest, which this year our flourishing 
date palms made more abundant than ever. . . . If only we may be permitted to work, 
we [could] create so much — in the fields, in the gardens, and in the creation of new 
beauty and happiness.” 46

In 1956, when he and the other members of the community of Degania were about 
to celebrate the settlement’s fiftieth anniversary, Baratz expressed to ER his wonder 
at the miraculous fact of Israel’s existence. He and the other pioneer settlers had been 
called “dreamers,” he told her, but never imagined what eventually took place: “We 
certainly did not believe that we would see a Jewish State — and in seeing it, we feel 
ourselves the most blessed people in the world.” 47

Baratz also ran Gordon House at Degania, home to the A. D. Gordon Agriculture 
and Nature Study Institute, which housed zoological, botanical, and geological spec-
imens, books, and equipment for the study of agriculture and the flora and fauna of 
the Jordan Valley. The institute played an important role in the education of Degania’s 
young people. ER visited Gordon House and over the years that followed sent contri-
butions for its support. Gordon (1856–1922), who spent the last few years of his life 
at Degania, was a prominent Zionist thinker. He believed that physical labor, and 
especially agricultural labor, from which Jews had been cut off for many centuries, 
would rejuvenate the Jewish people and create a spiritual bond between them and 
Eretz Yisrael — referring, like the term “Promised Land,” to the geographical area, not 
the later state. Gordon’s philosophy, whose essence Baratz no doubt conveyed to ER 
and which had guided the community of Degania and other kibbutzim, would have 
appealed to ER, whose involvement in the experiments at Val-Kill and Arthurdale 
during the 1930s expressed her interest in reviving rural communities in the United 
States. When Speaker Yosef Sprinzak welcomed ER to the Knesset he recognized her 
special grasp of Israel’s quest for spiritual as well as material renewal:

In the difficult task which lies before us we have need of friends, who are great 
in spirit and who will understand our position here — friends who are capable of 
conveying to the wide world the real meaning of our approach to the Renaissance 
of the Jewish State.

We know that in your dynamic life your interests lie not only in social welfare, 
but no less in spiritual welfare.

From my good friend, Yosef Baratz, of Degania, I learned that you were inter-
ested in “Beit Gordon,” which is in Degania.



210 REFUGE MUST BE GIVEN

The moral content of Gordon’s ideals, inspired by the teachings of the Prophets, 
is essentially the same force which brought forth our pioneers, our youth, and the 
creators and defenders of the fundamentals of our life. 48

In 1956, ER wrote a foreword to A Village by the Jordan, Baratz’s story of the found-
ing and growth of Degania. It was “the story of the striving of people for a better exis-
tence,” she wrote, and more specifically, “of a desire to live in common and share in 
common with others.” She found inspiration in the “unselfishness of action” that char-
acterized the lives of Joseph and Miriam Baratz, their family, and fellow villagers. “The 
story,” she said, “gives us much to think about because it deals with high aspirations, 
and it gives a lift to one’s daily life.” 49

The disparity that ER perceived between the dynamic spirit of Israel, embod-
ied by Joseph Baratz and the pioneers of Degania, and what she felt was the absence of 
such a motivating drive in the Arab countries she visited was noted by other observers 
as well and posed a challenge for American policy in the Middle East. After hearing 
ER speak at the State Department upon her return from Israel, Richard Funkhouser, 
officer-in-charge of Syria-Iraq-Lebanon Affairs, wrote to her asking advice about the 
problem created by the sharp contrast between what he called the “remarkable youth, 
energy, dynamism and confidence of the State of Israel” and “the incompetence, back-
wardness and confusion of the surrounding Arab States.” The Arabs themselves recog-
nized this difference, Funkhouser said, and it made them fear that “it will be impossible 
to hold the dynamic Israel state within its present limits.” Funkhouser wanted to know 
whether ER could assess how realistic this fear was and what could be done to allay 
“this real or imaginary fear in the minds of the Arab States.”

ER replied that the Arabs should seek a guarantee through the UN that neither 
side would acquire land from the other except by mutual agreement. But beyond that 
she hoped, unrealistically, that if the two sides would act pragmatically, the disparity 
between the Arabs and the Israelis offered an opportunity. The Arabs needed to reach 
a settlement with Israel that would enable them to develop their own countries. 50 The 
economic development of these countries was essential, she believed, to winning the 
competition between Western democracy and Soviet Communism. In India and the 
Awakening East (1953), her account of her travels in the Arab countries, Israel, Pakistan, 
and India, her main purpose was to assess how well these countries were equipped to 
resist Communism, adopt democratic governance, and develop themselves econom-
ically. Communism promised one of the most important freedoms, the freedom to 
eat. She worried that the Arabs, Pakistanis, and Indians did not recognize that this 
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was a false promise because freedom and prosperity were connected. She regarded 
Israel, on the other hand, as a bridgehead of democracy in the developing world, a 
country that could serve as a model for other newly independent nations to emulate 
rather than succumb to the seductions of Communism. Israel, ER said later, was “the 
one country that really understood democracy” in a region where most nations had 
“no understanding of it.” 51

Israel was also a model of economic innovation. If the Arabs would only enter into a 
peace agreement with Israel, she wrote in India and the Awakening East, the Arabs could 
acquire technical assistance from Israel’s experienced administrators and trained tech-
nicians who had brought skills from the developed countries of Europe and America. 
In exchange, the Israelis would gain access to the Arab oil, food, and raw materials 
they needed for their own development. Such an arrangement would raise the stan-
dard of living in Arab countries and open markets for Israeli goods. Instead, ER said, 
the Arabs hoped to obliterate Israel, which, even if possible would be an enormous loss 
to them as well as the Israelis. In a stunningly negative assessment of Arab capabilities, 
she claimed that they “would not put into the country the hard and intelligent work 
that the Jews have. And unless they did, all development would stop; the land would 
deteriorate, barren plains and dry deserts would appear where tree-planted fields and 
productive farms now flourish.” 52

ER applauded the end of colonial rule that began after the end of World War II. But 
she had not completely shed a colonialist mentality. She regarded the Arabs the way the 
Puritan colonists of New England regarded Native Americans: the native people did 
not make use of the land, whereas the new settlers would make it productive through 
the virtue of hard work. The implication of ER’s harsh judgment was that the Israelis 
deserved the land because they had the energy, the skill, and the will to develop it. Their 
resourcefulness would benefit not only themselves but the land and its native inhab-
itants. Her vision of a benevolent colonialism resembled that of some of the pioneer-
ing Jewish settlers of Palestine themselves. Moshe Smilansky, a leader of the orange 
growers of Rehovot, wrote in the 1930s: “We are returning to our homeland that has 
waited for us as wasteland,” bringing with us “the great values of a new civilization” as 
“a gift to our ancient land, and to the people who have settled it while we were away, 
and to the other peoples of the surrounding Orient. . . . Never did a colonial project 
bring so much blessing as the blessing brought upon the country and its inhabitants 
by our project. Every piece of land upon which our feet have stepped turned good. We 
did good to us and we did good to all that are with us.” 53

ER had an optimistic view of history, which seems at times naïve but also inspir-
ing. It is partly why she appealed, and still appeals, to so many people. She believed 
that nations could learn, with the help of the United Nations and the International 
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Court of Justice, to settle their differences through compromise and a willingness to 
abide by international law and the decisions of the UN. She believed that people could 
change, could become more loving and respectful of each other, and begin to cooper-
ate when they realized that it served their mutual interests. She applied this optimism 
to the situation in the Middle East. In a speech she gave after her return to the United 
States, ER said that if the emotional core of the Arab-Israeli conflict (the Palestinian 
Arabs’ loss of their homes) could be removed or dissipated by resettling the refugees, 
then “the logic of the situation” would lead over time to the Arabs and Israelis actu-
ally working together to solve problems. There was a nationalistic “stirring” among 
the Arab people, a desire for an improved standard of living, she said, but the lead-
ers of the Arab states did not know how to use their newly gained freedom to meet 
the needs of their citizens. “I think if one could just transfer a little of the ability to 
administer and organize,” possessed by the Israelis, “into the Arab governments, their 
business circles, their agriculture, one would find the problems of the Arab countries 
solving themselves very rapidly.” 54 She thought it was largely the stubbornness of the 
Arabs and their unwillingness to recognize their own self-interest that prevented them 
from accepting the existence of the Jewish state and allowing Israel to apply its skills to 
the economic development of the region. ER’s view was encouraged over the years by 
the Israeli leaders with whom she discussed Israel’s future. After meeting with Israeli 
president Yitzhak Ben-Zvi at a reception in Jerusalem in 1962, ER told her My Day 
readers that Ben-Zvi felt “strongly about the contribution Israel could make to the 
well-being of the whole Near East area if only Egypt could be induced to give up its 
dream of driving the Israelis off the map.” 55 Ben-Gurion still held onto this dream in 
1973 on his deathbed when he told Ruth Gruber that he thought peace would come 
from Egypt because its youth “know what we can contribute to them, and what they 
can contribute to us. They have diseases like trachoma and bilharzia that we cured 
over fifty years ago. We have so much we can help them with, and they have natural 
resources that can help us.” 56

In an ideal world and from a purely pragmatic point of view, such an arrangement 
made good sense. In fact, beginning in the 1950s Israel pursued a foreign aid policy that 
brought development assistance to some of the emerging nations in Africa, includ-
ing Ghana. 57 If the Arabs had accepted partition, they too might have benefited from 
such programs. But ER’s vision of Israeli-Arab cooperation reflected a naïveté about 
the intense nationalist sentiments that motivated the Arabs after the end of Ottoman 
and European colonial rule, about the effect of colonization and then dispossession on 
the Palestinian Arabs, and about the power of historical narratives to constrain polit-
ical choice. She also failed to recognize that the great cultural, economic, and polit-
ical differences between Israel and the Arab states, far from offering an opportunity 
for cooperation, represented an enormous impediment.
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Once again, as she had done in 1938 in This Troubled World, ER held up an ideal 
as a kind of challenge to the reality created by political passions. At the same time, 
her belief that cooperation between Arabs and Israelis was possible provided her with 
another rationale for supporting Israel. If Israel had the potential and the willingness 
(which ER believed it did) to function as a catalyst for economic and social change in 
the Middle East, should the Arabs agree to make peace, that, from ER’s perspective, 
further justified Israel’s existence.
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I M M I G R A N T C H I L D R E N 
A N D T H E TA S K O F 

C U LT U R A L I N T E G R AT I O N

“ The successful integration of the youth 
from many lands into a united people”

A fter her 1952 trip, Eleanor Roosevelt visited Israel three more times: in 
1955, 1959, and 1962, the year of her death. On each trip, Moshe Kol, the direc-
tor of Youth Aliyah, later recalled, she asked to return to the places she had 

been before so that she could “evaluate the development which had taken place” 1 since 
her last visit. She also visited new training centers, youth villages, kibbutzim, irriga-
tion works, medical facilities, and other projects she had not seen previously. Although 
she took an interest in many aspects of Israeli life, her special focus remained on chil-
dren. When ER wrote or spoke about Israel, she recognized the enormous challenges 
Israel faced in education, vocational training, health care, housing, job creation, and 
military preparedness while absorbing a flood of immigrants from sharply different 
cultural backgrounds, but she painted an idealistic picture of the efforts the Israelis 
were making to address them. She was a good observer who asked probing questions, 
but her perspective was necessarily shaped by her Youth Aliyah, Hadassah, and Israeli 
government hosts. She saw what they wanted her to see and heard their positive presen-
tation of the work they were doing. The depth of her knowledge was also limited by 
the shortness of her visits to Israel and the crowded itineraries she followed.

ER took her second trip to Israel in March 1955 with her close friend Trude Lash 
(formerly Trude Pratt), who had been her colleague in refugee work in the late 1930s 
and 1940s and in the field of child welfare, in which Lash was expert. Lash, ER told a 
Hadassah official, was her “eyes and ears for child work.” 2 At the time of their trip to 
Israel, Lash was executive director of the Citizens Committee for Children of New York, 
a group that advocated for programs to meet the needs of New York City children, 
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particularly those from low-income families. 3 Lash’s goal on the trip was to study Youth 
Aliyah’s programs and the possible application of their methods to child welfare pro-
grams in the United States. She agreed to write an article for the Hadassah Newsletter 
about the trip and to give ten talks to Hadassah groups about what she and ER expe-
rienced in order to stimulate interest in the work of Youth Aliyah.

ER’s second trip to Israel introduced her to one of the most difficult problems Youth 
Aliyah faced: how to integrate children from Morocco and other countries in North 
Africa and the Middle East into the modern nation Israel was building. Beginning in 
1951 more than 70 percent of immigrants to Israel were coming from these countries. 4 
The children posed a different challenge from the children who had been traumatized 
by the Holocaust and the war in Europe. The North African and Middle Eastern chil-
dren came from families that lived under conditions and practiced customs very unlike 
those of their European counterparts. Some of the children, like those from Europe, 
came to Israel unaccompanied by their parents. In some cases the parents were dead, 
but some of the North African and Middle Eastern children came because their parents 
felt their children had no future in the countries in which they lived. The parents, who 
often hoped to join their children in Israel later on, entrusted their children to Youth 
Aliyah, which took responsibility for their care, education, and integration into Israeli 
society. Even more than on her first visit, ER was fascinated by the scale and speed with 
which Youth Aliyah carried out its task.

ER and Lash began their trip in France with stops at two camps for Moroccan immi-
grants near Marseille. One of the camps housed Moroccan families while they waited 
for a boat to take them to Israel; the other, operated by Youth Aliyah at Cambous, 
served Moroccan children, ages seven to fifteen, who were going to Israel alone. Moshe 
Kol probably suggested this prelude to ER’s second visit to Israel since it allowed her 
to see the children at the very beginning of their journey toward citizenship in their 
new country. The children spent two months at the camp, where they studied Hebrew, 
Israeli history and geography, and agricultural work and began a process of orientation 
to the unfamiliar circumstances they would encounter in Israel. ER felt the beds the 
children slept on in order to see how comfortable they were, made “a minute inspec-
tion” of the rest of the camp, and inquired about the children’s background. She asked 
for details about the medical, hygienic, educational, and administrative arrangements 
at the camp, examined documentation on the psychological state of the children, and 
discussed the emotional state of the children with the camp’s psychiatrist. She had lunch 
with 180 children, who entertained her with songs and recitals, and she conversed with 
some of the children in French. 5

The Moroccan Jews were among the poorest in the world. The children at Cambous 
were being asked to make a rapid transition from a Third World culture to the funda-
mentally European culture of Israel. Some of the children were illiterate. Most of the 
children were accustomed to sleeping in their clothes and had never slept in a bed. They 
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had never seen a toothbrush, eaten at a table, or used forks and knives. ER regarded 
their customs as primitive and their education at Cambous as a step toward civilization. 
“Most of the things babies learn in more advanced communities,” she wrote, “have to 
be learned by these children at whatever age they leave Morocco.” 6 Lash was impressed 
by the skill of the educators at Cambous. “Only an absolutely devoted staff could take 
these youngsters from a strange civilization, from so many varied backgrounds, scared 
youngsters, many of whom understand none of the languages staff members under-
stand and — without force, without relying on strict rules — get them to accept and to 
learn willingly so much in such a short time.” 7

Despite what their teachers were able to accomplish, however, Lash and ER recog-
nized that the challenges for these children would be great. Many of them had histo-
ries that were “almost unbelievable,” ER said in a speech to the Hadassah convention 
after her return. She wondered if they would “ever be able to overcome the past.” ER 
recounted a conversation with one little boy whose father had given him a wristwatch 
before he departed and hoped his parents would join him in Israel before too long: 
“His big eyes opened wide and he said: ‘We were ten children and seven of us died. My 
mother felt the evil eye was on her so our parents decided to send me and my brother to 
Israel to live. My little brother, seven years old, stayed with my mother to die.’” 8 Yet ER 
saw the children of Cambous playing, dancing, and singing Israeli songs and “realized 
that when they said the word ‘Israel’ it was said with an intonation which meant that 
to them it had become the symbol of life. Many of them were not at all sure that they 
would ever again see the families they had left behind. But Israel meant life to them.” 9

ER’s visit to Cambous expanded her awareness of the task Israel faced: the absorp-
tion of a large number of immigrants from diverse cultural and economic backgrounds 
into a unified nation. Already an assimilationist based on her experience of immigra-
tion to the United States and living well before the time when the ideals of “multicul-
turalism” and “diversity” became current, it was a small step for ER to go further and 
accept the need for the thorough melding of immigrants into one Jewish nation that 
Israel was trying to achieve. The fact that the Arabs still living in Israel would remain 
unassimilated in a Jewish state did not appear to trouble her, although she did believe 
they should enjoy the same rights as other citizens.

Beginning in the 1970s Israeli educators would begin taking a more pluralistic ap-
proach to educating children from diverse backgrounds, but in the 1950s their poli-
cies were decidedly assimilationist. 10 Aryeh Deri, a Moroccan immigrant who emerged 
as a leader of Sephardic Jewry in Israel in the 1980s and founded the ultra-Orthodox 
Shas Party, believed the effect of assimilation on the culture the Sephardic immigrants 
brought with them had been devastating. He told the Israeli journalist Ari Shavit that 
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the leaders of the Ashkenazi Labor Party that dominated the Israeli government until 
the late 1970s

thought that most of the people who emigrated from the Arab world were primitive 
and therefore had to be put through a process of secular European indoctrination. 
The melting pot was a Western melting pot that was supposed to totally transform 
us. Those Labor Ashkenazim didn’t honor our civilization. They did not see the 
beauty of our tradition. That’s why they severed us from our roots and our heritage. 11

The “Zionist imperative,” writes the historian Erica Simmons, “called for all immi-
grants to shed their Diasporic pasts and subsume themselves, whatever their back-
grounds, in a new identity.” Youth Aliyah, which “wanted youngsters to shed the social 
habits acquired in other countries and contexts,” played a significant role in the effort 
to achieve this goal. 12 ER shared Youth Aliyah’s belief in the benefits of this process 
and did not recognize its negative side. 13

The fact that most of the children immigrating to Israel arrived unaccompanied by 
their parents and not speaking Hebrew made it necessary to meet all their needs — emo-
tional and social as well as educational — but it also provided an extraordinary oppor-
tunity. By living together with teachers and mentors in training schools and youth 
villages, the children would be motivated to adapt more quickly to the new life they 
would be leading. The pull exerted upon them by the natural tendency of immigrant 
parents to cling to old ways and their native language would be absent.

Visiting Israel four times during its critical early history, ER observed the evolu-
tion of institutions and methods for turning a wave of young immigrants into pro-
ductive citizens who were committed to the survival of the new nation. Israel was, 
indeed, an exciting experiment to watch. As the authors of a report on Youth Aliyah’s 
innovative methods for educating “high-risk adolescents” wrote in 1974: The need to 
integrate “a diversity of languages, cognitive styles, cultural and religious traditions, 
levels of technological development, and social aspirations into a cohesive national and 
cultural unit” transformed Israel “into a vast laboratory for both naturalistic obser-
vations and scientific experimentation in areas of cultural redevelopment through ed-
ucation.” 14 Much of the money raised by private organizations, primarily by Hadassah, 
and substantial sums allocated by the Israeli government went into supporting this am-
bitious educational program. “The results,” ER felt, “justify both the money spent and 
the effort which has gone into the building of these future citizens.” ER admired the 
comprehensive services Israel provided to children from infancy to maturity and the 
programs designed for children from various backgrounds and degrees of prepared-
ness. She and Lash were eager to see the entire range of institutions and programs 
run by Youth Aliyah and other organizations. She visited children’s villages where the 
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children lived together under the supervision of teachers and mentors. “The direc-
tors practically take the place of parents,” she wrote afterward, “and, while encourag-
ing great independence and self-reliance in the children, still give them a sense of love 
and protection which creates a fine group of young citizens for this new country.” She 
visited trade schools where “the child studied four hours a day and did five hours of 
manual work under a master mason, carpenter, or tinsmith.” She saw camps where 
children lived temporarily while they mastered a particular skill, such as driving and 
maintaining a tractor. She visited another camp that evaluated children with psycho-
logical problems, then sent them to schools or camps that seemed “best fitted to cor-
rect their particular troubles.” 15

At Pardesiya, ER and Lash visited a Youth Aliyah training facility that trained teen-
agers who had arrived with their families, including some who had not attended school 
before coming to Israel. The students were from the ma’abarah (a camp for absorbing 
refugees) in Pardesiya and came mainly from the Middle East and North Africa. Many 
immigrant families believed their teenage children should work to assist in their family’s 
support but would allow them to attend a school like the one at Pardesiya because the 
students got paid while there and learned a trade. The students at the Pardesiya train-
ing facility could also live at home since Youth Aliyah had located it right at the camp. 16

When ER revisited the places in Israel she saw in 1952, Lash reported in her article 
in the Hadassah Newsletter, ER was startled by the changes that had taken place. Where 
there had been “only scraggly seedlings,” there were now “long rows of stately eucalyp-
tus trees.” Where there had been sand, there were “orange groves, avocado plantings 
and banana plantations.” ER and Lash saw “new villages everywhere, rows of gleam-
ing white apartment houses in Tel Aviv, new factories, new industries.”

As ER and Lash toured the country, they often talked about what Israel needed the 
most. In the beginning, ER concluded it was achieving economic independence, for in 
1955, Israel still remained heavily dependent on outside financial aid and investment. 
Finance minister Levi Eshkol told them that Israel “must narrow the gap between 
what we spend and what we produce, and slowly, slowly, we are doing it.” But as ER 
and Lash met with more children and teachers, ER came to believe that the founda-
tion of Israel’s well-being would be “the successful integration of the youth from many 
lands into a united people.” They found that Israelis were nearly unanimous in their 
conviction that the future of Israel would depend on whether it would be possible to 
“imbue” its immigrant children, “from many racial and cultural backgrounds, from 
countries as far apart as Poland, India, Holland and Iraq — with the certainty that they 
belong together, that they must help their country with untiring and selfless willing-
ness to serve it.” 17

The challenge was immense. The school population had quadrupled in the past four 
years and ER called the shortage of teachers “appalling.” The fact that children who 
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arrived with their families were often expected by their parents to go to work at the 
age of fourteen when compulsory education ended made it difficult to keep them in 
school after that age. Partly for that reason, the army, in which all Israeli boys and girls, 
with some exceptions, were required to serve, played a significant role in the process 
of integrating the new immigrants. In 1949, Ben-Gurion had written that the func-
tion of the army was not only to defend the state, but to “serve as an educational and 
pioneering center for Israeli youth — for both those born here and newcomers.” 18 The 
children from North African and Middle Eastern countries were the special targets of 
this educational effort. When describing the part played by the Israeli defense forces, 
ER wrote in My Day that the army was “looked upon as a continuation of the educa-
tional system,” and was “expected to do part of the job of teaching all citizens the rudi-
ments of democracy.” For those children who arrived in Israel with little education, the 
army helped fill the gap, ER said, and even played a role in teaching them agriculture. 19

Lash and ER were amazed by the evident transformation of the immigrant chil-
dren in a short time. At Cambous the children “were just beginning to smile,” but in 
Israel, they found, the children laughed “easily and quickly” and welcomed ER with 
“beautiful radiant faces.” At the Youth Aliyah training centers in Israel, Lash found 
that it was “impossible to tell national origin” because the children already appeared 
“changed.” 20 But Lash and ER also learned that “the obvious success in the tremendous 
task of cultural integration does not mean that there are not failures or serious diffi-
culties.” Dr. Louis Miller, a Hadassah psychiatrist, explained to them that “‘accultur-
ation’ was sometimes too fast; that the newcomers followed rules easily and quickly, 
but tests showed they did not always understand the reason for these rules and soon 
forgot their newly acquired knowledge.” 21 Despite such setbacks, ER and Lash were 
correct in concluding that Youth Aliyah’s programs were attaining the goals its lead-
ers set for them. The results of an examination that tested the intelligence, achieve-
ment, personality, and knowledge of Hebrew of Israeli students upon their entrance 
into the army indicated in 1974 that graduates of Youth Aliyah “attained the aver-
age of the total Israeli population and even surpassed it in certain areas. They came 
very close to Kibbutz-born children, who obtained the highest scores in these tests.” 22

In addition to the educational programs conducted by Youth Aliyah, ER 
also took a keen interest in Hadassah’s medical programs. When the leaders of Hadassah 
heard that ER was returning to Israel, they decided “they must show her something new 
and different and exciting, the like of which she could not have seen anywhere else in 
the world.” They chose Hadassah’s Community Health Center at Bet Mazmil (later 
named Kiryat Hayovel), a facility designed to serve a primarily immigrant community, 
which was developing a new way of integrating health education, preventive medicine, 
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and the diagnosis and cure of disease with recreational programs and other commu-
nity activities. It was a good choice for a woman who had long advocated comprehen-
sive approaches to health care.

ER’s hunger for details about every aspect of the programs conducted at Bet Mazmil 
is evident in Hadassah’s report on her visit. The facility sought to assist immigrant 
families to adapt physically and emotionally to the society in which they were now 
living. The professional staff included specialists in anthropology, biostatistics, and 
psychiatry who were developing methods that they would apply in Arab villages as 
well as in immigrant settlements. ER, who knew about the nature of health adminis-
tration from experience with health policy in the United States, wanted to know how 
the goal of an integrated health service could be achieved when several medical agen-
cies were involved. She was told that Hadassah had been successful in persuading the 
health insurance companies, the municipality, and the government to cooperate so 
that all medical services were delivered through the health center. That alone, ER said, 
was a remarkable step forward in creating a new model for community health centers.

ER wanted to know about some of the difficulties faced by a typical immigrant 
family. After telling ER in detail about the origins of one family, the employment and 
health problems of the father and mother, and the behavior problems of one of the 
children, the Hadassah official who accompanied ER became uneasy about getting off 
schedule, but ER, “patently fascinated by all she heard,” wanted to hear more about 
the problems immigrants had in adapting to a new culture, such as changes in their 
traditional diet. The approach to such issues was usually indirect, they told her. Rather 
than dictate that they drink milk, one nurse combined milk into a dish with potatoes 
and peanuts, foods they were used to eating.

While the Israeli Foreign Service officer escorting ER’s party kept “desperately 
point ing to the time,” ER’s attention remained focused on the “brightly colored charts 
showing the age structure of each family in the community.” 23 ER wanted to know 
about it all.

ER’s devotion to Israel, inspired by its success in fighting for its existence, then 
by her first trip to the country in 1952, then by her return visit in 1955, flowed from two 
emotional sources. First of all, she saw how programs run by Youth Aliyah and other 
Israeli agencies had already revitalized the desperate men and women she had visited 
in the displaced persons (DP) camps of Europe. What Israel had done for its immi-
grants was, like the programs of the American Friends Service Committee for impover-
ished Appalachian coal miners, a transformation of their lives so that they could begin 
again. Youth Aliyah did it so rapidly, on such a tremendous scale, and in such a thor-
ough way, that it astounded her. Second, ER recognized how important it was to the 
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Jews that Israel provided them with a national home. After enduring for generations 
as a persecuted minority in other countries and suffering unbelievable horrors during 
the Holocaust, they were now in charge of their own destiny.

In a speech to the Hadassah Convention after her return from her 1955 visit, ER 
told of an incident in Haifa the previous spring when “a very charming, good looking 
young woman” came to see her with her husband and two children. The woman told 
her that she had spoken to ER at a DP camp shortly after the war. ER remembered the 
encounter very well. The woman had lost all her family, except one little girl of about 
ten months old, “who looked as though she were going to die.” ER had not expected 
either of them to survive. But after leaving the camp, the woman managed to reach 
Haifa, start life over again, marry an Israeli, and have a son. The woman’s daughter 
had grown into “a lovely child,” ER said. “You would never have dreamed what she 
had been through as a baby.” For the small family that now stood before her, “life had 
really become a promise fulfilled.” More than anything she saw in Israel, this family 
represented the meaning of Israel for ER.

The accomplishments of Hadassah and Youth Aliyah impressed ER so much that 
she regarded them not only as the fulfillment of the promise of Israel for the Jewish 
people, but “as the guide for changes that must come eventually to the whole Middle 
East” and, in fact, to the world. The success of the democratic nations’ effort “to build 
a better world in which all people can live with greater hope and greater happiness,” 
ER said, will “depend on the determination of our people to do on a world-wide scale 
just what Hadassah and Youth Aliyah are doing in Israel.” 24 It was a wonderful vision. 
Israel’s achievement was in many ways a special case, however, brought about by the 
unique historical circumstances in which the Jews found themselves. After centuries 
of dispersal and persecution, culminating in the Holocaust, the Jews seized the oppor-
tunity to become a nation once again. Many of the European Jews brought skills with 
them and Americans, both Jewish and Gentile, provided know-how and generous 
financial support. Both the suffering that lay behind the Jews and the future they felt 
was now within their grasp inspired an extraordinary energy, resourcefulness, and 
determination as they pursued their pioneering tasks.

ER’s admiration for the way Youth Aliyah had adapted its methods to meet the 
needs of North African and Middle Eastern children intensified her interest in the 
organization’s work after her 1955 trip. One of the ways that her deepened commit-
ment expressed itself was in the fundraising trips she made on Youth Aliyah’s behalf 
to Canada, Great Britain, and various parts of the United States. She even took her 
campaign on behalf of Youth Aliyah to Mexico, where she was welcomed by the Jewish 
community of Mexico City and spoke to the local Youth Aliyah council. 25 Her personal 
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experience of Israel provided rich material for the fundraising speeches she delivered 
in these various countries.

ER’s trip to Great Britain in 1957 was especially significant for Youth Aliyah. She 
was a beloved figure in Great Britain, partly because her husband’s crucial contribu-
tion to Great Britain’s defense during World War II was still fresh in people’s minds, 
but also because she herself had made a much-appreciated visit to Great Britain in 1942 
in the middle of wartime to help lift morale. Youth Aliyah, on the other hand, was not 
well known outside of the Jewish community. But the attention ER attracted from the 
British media because of who she was gave her multiple opportunities to promote the 
work of Youth Aliyah to a broad audience in press conferences and interviews on tele-
vision and radio, as well as at fundraising events for the organization.

The high point of ER’s trip was a dinner at Grosvenor House in London in her 
honor attended by 700 people, including many prominent individuals. Among them 
were Eliahu Elath, the Israeli ambassador to Great Britain; Israel Brodie, the chief rabbi 
of Great Britain; Solomon Gaon, the Haham (chief rabbi) of the Sephardic congrega-
tions of the British Commonwealth; Robert Balfour, the third Earl of Balfour and the 
nephew of Arthur Balfour; and ER’s old friend Lady Stella Reading, who had directed 
the Women’s Voluntary Service in Great Britain during the war. A report on ER’s trip 
in the Youth Aliyah Review called the dinner “probably the most memorable in the 
history of Youth Aliyah.” 26

Her fame helped make her fundraising efforts in Great Britain an enormous success. 
Moshe Kol, who helped host her visit, reported afterward that Youth Aliyah had raised 
25,000 pounds during her visit. Equally important, Kol wrote, was that “Youth Aliyah 
became very famous through the whole of the British Press, Television, Radio.” That 
opened up opportunities to appeal to Jews and others “who were outside our work,” 
but would now consider supporting Youth Aliyah. 27

At a dinner given by the Manchester Friends of Youth Aliyah in her honor, ER said 
that even though the people of Israel were trained to defend themselves, she felt that 
the people wanted peace. “They have been through experiences which it is better that 
they should forget but it is the kind of experience which makes them value a peaceful 
life, which makes them long to develop security.” 28 She knew the depth of that long-
ing from her friend Joseph Baratz of Degania, who loved the earth’s fruitfulness and 
wished that his community could enjoy each season of the agricultural year undis-
turbed. Baratz told her, however, that he and the other citizens of his kibbutz were 
“not only dreamers,” but “also realists,” who had “lived through many difficulties” and 
knew “that there are many more to come.” They hoped to overcome all their prob-
lems with the help of their “many good friends in the world.” 29 By the mid-1950s ER 
had proved herself one of the best of those friends.



ER visiting the memorial to Holocaust victims at the Zeilsheim DP camp in Germany, February 
1946. (Reproduced by permission from the United States Holocaust Memorial Museum.)



Isaiah Bowman, geographer who advised FDR and ER, 1940. (From Holmes I. Mattee/

Ferdinand Hamburger Archives, Sheridan Library, Johns Hopkins University.)



ER with Justine Polier at an American Jewish Congress membership event, undated. 
(Reproduced by permission from the American Jewish Historical Society.)



Map showing 1947 United Nations Partition Plan borders and 
1949 UN armistice lines. (Reproduced by permission from the 

United Nations Department of Public Information.)



ER with Stephen Penrose, Jr., president of American University in Beirut, 
Lebanon, February 1952. (Reproduced by permission from the Stephen B. L. 

Penrose, Jr. Papers, Whitman College and Northwest Archives.)

ER at Degania Alef 
with Joseph Baratz, who 
helped found the kibbutz 
in 1910. (Reproduced 

by permission from the 

Degania A’ Archive.)



ER visiting an ORT training school, Israel, February 1952. (Reproduced by permission 

from the Archives of the YIVO Institute for Jewish Research, New York.)

ER with Dr. K. J. Mann, director general of the Hadassah Medical Organization (second 
from left) and Julia Dushkin, member of the Hadassah Council in Israel, at a Hadassah 

medical facility in Beersheba, February 1952. (Courtesy of the FDR Library.)



ER and Trude Lash visiting with refugee girls in their room at the Women’s League 
Hostel, Jerusalem, March 19, 1955. (Courtesy of the FDR Library.)

Trude Lash and ER visiting the Yuval Gad factory, producer of pipes to carry 
water to the Negev, March 1955. (Courtesy of the FDR Library.)



ER being greeted at the Pioneer Women’s Agricultural School, Ayanot, March 1955. (Reproduced 

by permission from the Government Press Office, State of Israel/FDR Library.)

ER and Trude Lash flanking a portrait of Henrietta Szold, March 1955. (Courtesy of the FDR Library.)



ER touring the health center at the Arab village of Baga-El-Gabya, 1959. (Reproduced 

by permission from the Government Press Office, State of Israel.)

ER visiting the Alonei Yitzhak Children’s Village, March 1959. (Courtesy of the FDR Library.)



ER at the home of the immigrant woman she visited in 1952, 1955, and again in 1959 after the birth of 
her two children. (Reproduced by permission from the Government Press Office, State of Israel.)



ER and Moshe Kol speaking with home economics student at the Eleanor Roosevelt Youth 
Aliyah Day Centre, Beersheba, February 1962. (Courtesy of the FDR Library.)

ER visiting with David Ben-Gurion in Jerusalem, March 1959. (Photograph by David Rubinger 

Reproduced by permission from the Government Press Office, State of Israel.)



ER and Golda Meir, 1949. (Photograph by Leo Rosenthal. Courtesy of the FDR Library.)
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A M E R I C A N P O L I C Y 
TOWA R D I S R A E L 

I N T H E 1950s

“Shortsighted beyond words”

F rom the time of the Balfour Declaration onward, many American Christians 
supported the establishment of a national home for the Jewish people in Pales-
tine. They were also sympathetic to Israel after its founding as a state. The leading 

Christian organization that advocated for the establishment of a Jewish homeland was 
the American Christian Palestine Committee (ACPC), a group formed in 1946 from 
the merger of two earlier organizations. After the establishment of Israel, the ACPC 
worked in concert with the Israeli government and American Zionists to project a pos-
itive image of Israel to the American people. One of its leaders was Reinhold Niebuhr, 
Eleanor Roosevelt’s colleague in the liberal anti-Communist organization Americans 
for Democratic Action, and its membership included many senators and congressmen. 
Among other activities, the ACPC organized study groups to visit Israel. Participants 
were encouraged to speak or write upon their return about what they had learned. 1

Not all American Christians, however, agreed with the position of the ACPC or 
shared ER’s joy at the founding of Israel. The State Department had objected to the UN 
partition plan and the establishment of Israel primarily for strategic reasons related to 
access to oil and the goal of preventing the Arab states from falling into the Communist 
orbit. Some influential American Christians opposed it for other reasons. They feared 
that American support for a Jewish state would jeopardize the work that American 
Protestant missionaries had been doing among Muslims and Christians throughout 
the Middle East for a century and put at risk the schools and other institutions, such 
as the American University of Beirut, the missionaries had founded. They also worried 
that in a Jewish state, Arab Christians would lose the status they enjoyed as a minority 
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within a Muslim society. Some of the American Christians who were sympathetic to 
the Arab point of view had been engaged in missionary work in one way or another 
or were the children of missionaries and therefore had an emotional investment in the 
Arab world. They viewed the displacement of the Arabs and the taking of lands on 
which they had lived for many generations deeply troubling. Prior to the founding of 
Israel, The Christian Century, the leading mainstream Protestant magazine, favored 
a binational state, opposed massive Jewish immigration to Palestine, and regarded 
the UN partition plan as unjust to the Arabs. The magazine maintained its pro-Arab 
sympathies after Israel declared itself a state.

The sharpest American critic of Israel was the columnist Dorothy Thompson, whom 
ER had greatly admired in the 1930s and early 1940s for her outspoken opposition to 
Hitler and passionate advocacy on behalf of refugees fleeing Nazi persecution. At a 
Zionist convention in 1942, Thompson gave an ardent pro-Zionist speech in which she 
called for unrestricted Jewish immigration to Palestine. But after visiting Palestine in 
1945, she concluded that the creation of a Jewish state would be an enormous mistake 
because it would lead to unending warfare. After this turnabout she became the most 
prominent American anti-Zionist and defender of the Palestinian Arabs in the United 
States, adopting a position diametrically opposed to ER’s. As a result of her stance, 
the pro-Zionist editor of the New York Post, which had many Jewish readers, dropped 
Thompson’s column in 1947 and Zionists smeared her as an antisemite. 2

In 1951 Thompson founded the American Friends of the Middle East (AFME), 
which promoted a pro-Arab viewpoint to the American public by bringing Arab speak-
ers to the United States, sending pro-Arab American speakers to the Middle East, 
organizing tour groups to Arab countries, and conducting a program of research and 
publication. AFME’s publications included Stephen Penrose’s speech to the World 
Council of Churches conference in Beirut in which he condemned the UN parti-
tion plan. AFME’s sixty-three-member national council included eighteen promi-
nent Protestant clergymen. 3 In 1952, Garland Evans Hopkins, who as associate editor 
of the Christian Century had accused Israel of failing to abide by the principles of the 
Universal Declaration of Human Rights (UDHR) in its treatment of the Arabs, took 
charge of directing AFME’s work. 4 The central tenet of the organization was that Israel 
either had to become a predominantly Arab state like its neighbors in the region or 
“cease to exist.” The AFME’s aim was to persuade the American government to adopt 
a similar position. The Arabists in the State Department and the CIA, who shared 
similar views, gave the organization a foothold in the American government. In fact, 
it was revealed in 1967 that AFME received funding from the CIA. 5

Both American Zionists and the Israeli government worried about the power of 
AFME and Dorothy Thompson to influence American public opinion against Israel. 
Thompson wrote about the conflict in the Middle East in her widely syndicated column 
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On the Record and lectured to church and women’s groups and at other forums 
through out the United States on Israel and on the Arab refugee problem. Writing to 
the Local Committees of the American Zionist Council (AZC) in 1951, Rabbi Jerome 
Unger, executive director of the AZC, warned that “given the weight her name car-
ries,” Zionists “must challenge her ‘misstatements and hostile propaganda’ wherever 
she appears” and ask that spokesmen sympathetic to Israel be invited to present their 
views to the same groups. 6

Members of the American Christian Palestine Committee also worked to coun-
teract criticism of Israel. In 1951, Karl Baehr, the executive secretary of the ACPC, 
warned the Israeli Office of Information in New York that some Christians were coming 
back from trips to Israel and the Middle East with a negative attitude toward Israel. 
“Christians return with admiration for what Israel has achieved,” he wrote, “but, they 
conclude, all this has been accomplished at the expense of the Arabs. They conclude, as 
did Duke McCall [a Protestant clergyman] that Israel is an ‘immoral miracle.’” Baehr 
recommended that Israel revise the information it gave visitors by informing them 
about Arab atrocities committed against Israelis and the oppression of Jews in Iraq, 
Yemen, and other Arab countries. He also suggested showing visitors areas damaged by 
the Arabs during the war and arranging interviews with wounded veterans rather than 
just showing off Israel’s achievements. 7 Abe Harman, director of the Israeli Office of 
Information, agreed, and the Israeli ministry in charge of tourism took steps to expose 
Christian visitors to evidence of Arab aggression. 8

In this struggle to sway American Christians in favor of Israel, ER’s reputation as a 
humanitarian, her ability to reach a national audience through her My Day column, 
and her numerous speaking engagements made her enormously valuable to the ACPC, 
American Zionists, and the Israeli government. She made the case for Israel in her 
column, in speeches, and in her responses to letters she received from people critical 
of Israel. She often received letters from correspondents who felt she was insensitive 
to the rights of the Palestinian Arabs, sometimes from people who greatly admired her 
in other ways but were deeply disappointed by her position on the Arab-Israeli con-
flict. Two of her most prominent critics were women with whom she worked toward 
common goals in education and American refugee policy. One of them was Mossie 
Wyker, national president of United Church Women, who exercised considerable influ-
ence among Protestant Christian women. The other was Charl Ormond Williams, who 
as president of the National Educational Association was a leader among elementary 
and secondary educators. ER worried that these women would turn their constituen-
cies toward the Arab point of view. She hoped that she could deepen their understand-
ing of Israel and change their minds about the Arab-Israeli conflict.

Mossie Wyker was one of those Christians whom Karl Baehr had warned were 
returning from a visit to the Middle East with the view that Israel’s accomplishments 
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might indeed be a miracle but had been achieved at Arab expense. Writing to ER in 
May 1955, after visiting Egypt, Jordan, and Lebanon, but not Israel, and after rereading 
ER’s India and the Awakening East, Wyker told ER that she found herself disagreeing 
with her for the first time. She had always trusted ER’s “mature, objective judgment,” 
but she could not share ER’s view of the Zionist movement and was “more disturbed 
than I have ever been in my life”:

No matter how much good work the Jewish people may be doing in Israel, it seems 
to me it cannot justify the taking of land belonging to other people and giving it to 
the Jews. I have read, studied, listened for months — and after a visit in certain coun-
tries — I am still wondering.

ER replied that “The land was not taken, it was bought,” and cited the Balfour 
Declaration. The buying of land in Palestine began after the declaration, ER said, and 
the UN partition plan “followed in logical sequence.” The problem was the Arabs’ 
refusal to accept the UN decision.

Wyker replied that the argument that the establishment of a Jewish state was the 
logical outcome of the Balfour Declaration did not satisfy the many Arab women 
with whom she had talked on her trip, women “whose homes and resources are still 
in Israel — and for which they have received no money from anyone.” The women she 
spoke with resented America’s support for Israel and Wyker wondered if this “tiny coun-
try” surrounded by Arab countries could possibly survive. 9 “Please don’t think for a 
minute that Israel is not a permanent country,” ER told Wyker. “The people have too 
much to live for to give it up, unless they are going to be exterminated by their Arab 
neighbors.” ER was confident, given Israel’s success in the 1948 war, that it could go 
on defending itself. Wyker told ER she remained “unconvinced.” 10

Charl Williams, president of the National Education Association, also had strong 
reservations about ER’s position on Israel. As Williams traveled through Lebanon, 
Saudi Arabia, and Egypt in 1955 on her way to Jordan and Israel, she reported to ER 
that many of the people she spoke to complained “vehemently” that the Americans 
had “‘thrown to the dogs’ 40 million Arabs in their wholehearted support of 1 million 
Jews in Israel.” Deeply disturbed by what she heard, Williams wondered “what will 
be the outcome.” 11

ER had provided Williams with letters of introduction to Israeli officials before 
Williams left on her trip. In addition, alarmed by the intensity of the sympathy Wil-
liams expressed for the Arab point of view, she asked Gideon Tadmor, the Israeli for-
eign affairs officer who had been her guide on her 1952 and 1955 trips to Israel, to pull out 
all the stops during Williams’s tour of Israel so that she would emerge with a positive 
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view of the country. Tadmor arranged for Williams to tour Hadassah institutions 
and Hebrew University, meet with leaders of the Ministry of Education, visit sev-
eral schools, tour the Negev with officials of Youth Aliyah, and meet with the Haifa 
branch of the Israel-American Friendship League. Tadmor also made it possible for 
her to meet with David Ben-Gurion and to visit the homes of Moshe Kol and other 
prominent Israeli educators. ER was grateful for Tadmor’s efforts. 12

ER also came into conflict with the Eisenhower administration over her views on 
Israel. After Eisenhower’s election, ER resigned from the Human Rights Commission, 
but her deep commitment to the success of the UN persisted. She volunteered her 
services to the American Association for the United Nations (AAUN), traveled the 
country to educate the public and generate grassroots support for the UN, helped 
establish new chapters of the AAUN, and defended the UN against attacks by Senator 
Joseph McCarthy and others. As she had done with President Truman, she urged Eisen-
hower to strengthen the UN by working through it rather than acting unilaterally, and 
she urged him to support Israel.

Eisenhower adopted a different policy toward the Middle East from that of his 
predecessor. Like many officials in the State Department, he and his advisors saw the 
region primarily in terms of the competition between the United States and the Soviet 
Union in the Cold War. Eisenhower and John Foster Dulles, his secretary of state, be-
lieved that free access to Middle Eastern oil was crucial to the economic well-being of 
Europe and its defense against Communist penetration. It was therefore extremely im-
portant to blunt the influence of the Soviet Union in the Middle East. Unlike Truman, 
Eisenhower had no influential Jews like David Niles in his administration, or Jewish 
friends like Eddie Jacobson, or strategists like Clark Clifford who had regarded prompt 
recognition of the new state of Israel as essential to Truman’s reelection prospects in 
1948. Eisenhower and Dulles believed it was vital to convince the Arabs that the United 
States was taking an even-handed approach to the region and that American policy was 
not being controlled by Israel or by influential Jewish lobbyists in the United States. 
Eisenhower’s election provided an opening for the anti-Zionist American Council for 
Judaism and the American Friends of the Middle East to influence American policy, 
and they quickly established strong ties to Dulles’s State Department and strength-
ened their ties to the CIA. 13

Although ER, like Eisenhower and Dulles, believed in the need to contain Soviet 
influence and stop the spread of communism, she disagreed about the means of doing 
so. In April 1953, as it became clear that the new administration would take a differ-
ent approach to the Middle East, ER expressed her concerns to Henry A. Byroade, 
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assistant secretary of state for Near Eastern and South Asian Affairs. She agreed that 
the United States should treat Israel and the Arab states equally, but she worried that 
in seeking to be more evenhanded, the new administration would, in the end, penalize 
Israel unfairly. She did not think that Israel should receive less aid from the American 
government than the Arab states just because Israel received more funding from private 
donors in the United States. She pointed out that the United States was offering to 
finance the resettlement of refugees in Arab countries, while Israel was resettling about 
an equal number of Jewish refugees from North Africa, the Middle East, and elsewhere 
in Israel. She also felt that oil royalties paid to Arab states should be taken into account 
in considering the amount of aid those states should receive. Most importantly, ER 
said, Israel, unlike the Arab states, was a democracy, which upheld the principles of 
the free world, while the Arab states refused to recognize Israel or work with it toward 
the improvement of the whole region:

I think we should in every way help the development projects and constructive work 
being done in the Arab states and yet we cannot forget the fact that the Arab states 
do not espouse the cause of the free world and that Israel does. If the Arab states 
would cooperate with Israel, they would go forward faster and some of Israel’s diffi-
culties would be solved. 14

The following January, after the Eisenhower administration announced its intention 
to provide military assistance to the Arab states, but not to Israel, ER objected. While 
she understood the desire to show that the United States wanted the Arabs to be in a 
position to protect themselves against an attack by the Soviet Union, she told her My 
Day readers, providing arms to the Arabs was “a highly questionable policy.” There was 
nothing to stop the Arabs from using the arms to attack Israel, she said, and that would 
lead to “a bitter war” in which the United States would “be forced to take a stand.” 15

In April, the United States concluded an arms deal with the pro-Western govern-
ment of Iraq and continued to hold open the possibility of supplying other Arab states 
with weapons. But in September 1955, after Egypt balked at permitting an American 
advisory mission to enter Egypt as part of an arms deal, Egypt’s president, Gamal Abdel 
Nasser, concluded a deal with the Russians to buy Czech weapons. 16 As Egypt began a 
military buildup, ER warned in My Day that the Israelis would begin to ask the ques-
tion: “Have we a better chance of survival if we bring on a war before our neighbors 
are completely equipped to annihilate us?” This was particularly true given that Israel 
possessed “no direct guarantee of protection or of equipment which will give them 
equality with their Arab neighbors.” She urged that the UN guarantee current bor-
ders and repeated her long-held belief that the UN needed to establish an interna-
tional police force to keep the peace in the Middle East and other areas of conflict. 17
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Troubled by Nasser’s increasingly threatening rhetoric against Israel after 
the Czech-Egyptian arms agreement and by the perception of Israel as an “aggressor 
nation,” ER’s Israeli friend Joseph Baratz pleaded with ER to raise her voice against 
“this slander”:

How did it happen that we, a people who are attacked day by day, are now termed 
by others a monstrous “aggressor”? Ever since the Arab states declared war on us as 
a result of the United Nations decision, we have been exposed to non-stop attack. 18

The portrayal of Israel as an aggressor nation was propaganda, ER replied, and the 
“rather extensive propaganda machine” the Arabs had in the United States made it hard 
to combat. She was no doubt thinking about the activities of Dorothy Thompson, the 
AFME, and the American Council for Judaism, whose newsletters, pamphlets, news 
releases, and speakers sought to get pro-Arab views before the American public. 19 In 
September 1955, Time had published a flattering cover story on Nasser and in November 
reprinted an editorial from the anti-Zionist Jewish Newsletter blaming Zionist leaders 
for creating “hysteria” about Israel among American Jews. ER promised Baratz that she 
would “redouble” her “efforts to have Israel better understood,” but she did not think 
she could be very effective with the Democrats out of power. 20

In January 1956 ER fulfilled her pledge. She pressed the Eisenhower administration 
to act more decisively to defend Israel and to send a clearer message to the Arab states. 
After Czechoslovakia and the Soviet Union began supplying arms to Egypt, Israel 
Goldstein, president of the American Jewish Congress (AJC), wrote to ER asking her 
to respond to the “ominous developments in the Middle East” by signing a statement 
outlining the situation and calling on the United States government to supply defensive 
weapons to Israel. It also urged the United States to negotiate treaties with Israel and 
any of its Arab neighbors willing to cooperate that guaranteed their current borders 
against alteration by military force. 21 ER did not sign the statement, but a few days later 
Justine Polier, as national vice president of the AJC, sent ER a redrafted version of the 
statement and urged her to sign it and to invite several other prominent non-Jews to 
do so as well. Polier felt that a letter signed by a small number of well-known Gentile 
leaders would carry more weight than a letter signed by many Americans. At Polier’s 
suggestion, ER recruited former president Truman and Walter Reuther, vice presi-
dent of the American Federation of Labor and Congress of Industrial Organizations 
(AFL-CIO), to sign the statement with her. 22

ER released the statement on January 29, 1956, the day before British prime minister 
Sir Anthony Eden arrived in the United States to confer with Eisenhower and Dulles 
about the Middle East and other matters. The statement warned that the “border 
clashes” between Arabs and Israelis that were recurring “with increasing frequency” 
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might “at any time erupt into war,” a war that might then “spread far beyond the Middle 
East.” It asserted that the United States had the responsibility to do everything possi-
ble to prevent such a course of events. The statement contained many of the argu-
ments ER often made in My Day, in speeches, and in her responses to letters criticizing 
her position on the Israeli-Arab conflict, thus reflecting the congruence of her views 
with those of most of her Jewish friends, including Polier: (1) the State of Israel was 
“a great and irrevocable historic fact,” (2) it was the “practical expression” of a policy 
supported by the American government ever since World War I, (3) Israel had shown 
“how the desert can be transformed by human skill and perseverance,” and (4) if there 
were peace, Israel could share its skills and experience with the whole Middle East, 
thus helping “the region to achieve a new flowering, unparalleled since Biblical days.” 
As to the Arab refugees, the statement argued that Israel could not “economically or 
politically afford to admit more than a small number.” The “vast Arab Lands” offered 
a “far more promising” area for the resettlement of the refugees than Israel possibly 
could. The statement urged the American government to furnish “the defensive arms 
needed by Israel to protect itself against any aggression made possible or incited by the 
introduction of Communist arms.” ER told the press that she would have preferred 
that neither side acquire arms, but since the Communist nations had furnished arms 
to Egypt, Israel needed arms in order to right the balance in the region. 23 As ER had 
done repeatedly since the adoption of the partition plan by the UN, the statement 
advocated that the United States adopt “an unequivocal policy in regard to the Middle 
East,” for the signers believed that the lack of a definite policy in the past had encour-
aged the Arabs in their rejection of Israel’s right to exist. 24

After the statement appeared in the press, Baratz wrote ER to say that he had seen 
it in the New York Times. He had also seen an ad by the American Friends of the Middle 
East (AFME), signed by Dorothy Thompson and other officers of the organization. 
The AFME ad warned that furnishing arms to Israel would begin an arms race be-
tween Israel and the Arab states that would only increase tensions. AFME argued 
that “the conviction that America could be counted on under all circumstances” had 
encouraged Israel to act aggressively and remain intransigent. Baratz told ER that he 
was “confident that most people in the United States will grasp the difference in the 
nature and quality of the two statements.” He and other Israelis hoped that people in 
the free world would “understand who is the attacker, we or those who each day pro-
claim their intention to destroy the State of Israel.” 25

As tensions increased in the Middle East, ER continued to challenge American 
policy. “If we made arrangements for an airfield in Saudi Arabia,” she asked in February, 
“was it not strange that we also did not make arrangements for one in Israel?” Such 
actions did not seem to her to jibe with the Eisenhower administration’s professed 
desire to remain neutral. 26 Eisenhower and Dulles, however, continued to resist the 
calls by Jewish groups and their supporters to provide defensive arms to Israel.
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On July 26, 1956, after the United States withdrew an offer to provide financial as-
sistance for the construction of the Aswan Dam, Nasser nationalized the Suez Canal 
Company, a jointly owned British and French enterprise. Fearing that the British and 
French governments might attack Egypt and weaken American influence with the 
Arabs by drawing the United States into an imperialist enterprise, Eisenhower dis-
patched Dulles to London to counsel restraint. The British, French, and Israelis, how-
ever, began making secret plans to invade the Sinai and take back the canal. The Israelis 
were motivated by their feeling that the United States was not addressing their con-
cerns about the frequent raids along its borders by Arab guerrillas, the Egyptian block-
ade of the Straits of Tiran, which controlled the passage from the Gulf of Aqaba to the 
Red Sea, and the Czech-Russian arms deal with Egypt. 27 They had also concluded, as 
ER had warned they might, that they needed to act to prevent Egypt from complet-
ing its military buildup, at which point they expected Nasser to carry out his threat 
to attack Israel. 28

On October 29, 1956, Israel invaded the Sinai Peninsula, driving to within ten miles 
of the Suez Canal. The United States immediately introduced a resolution in the UN 
Security Council demanding that Israel withdraw and calling on other nations to re-
frain from entering the conflict or providing assistance to Israel. Eisenhower felt that 
the Tripartite Agreement signed by the United States, Britain, and France in 1950 
during the Truman administration committed the United States to coming to the aid 
of either side in the Arab-Israeli conflict if attacked by the other. He also wished to 
make American opposition to colonialism clear and feared that if the United States 
did not act, the Russians might become involved. He was willing to risk alienating sup-
porters of Israel and his reelection chances, if those were the consequences of taking 
a stand against America’s old allies. ER was aghast: “It could not be possible that we 
would present such a resolution, knowing that we would find ourselves lined up with 
the Soviet Union and the dictator of Egypt, against Great Britain and France and the 
only democratic country in the Near East — Israel!” 29

The British and French vetoed the resolution and issued an ultimatum demand-
ing that the Israelis and Egyptians withdraw their forces ten miles to each side of the 
canal within twelve hours. After the Egyptians refused to obey, the British and French 
bombed their airfields. On November 2, the United States took the matter to the 
UN General Assembly, which immediately passed an American resolution calling for 
a ceasefire and withdrawal of Israeli forces from the Sinai. The resolution urged all 
parties to respect the armistice lines between Israel and the Arab states and called for 
the Suez Canal to be cleared of the ships sunk by the Egyptians and reopened with 
freedom of navigation restored once a ceasefire went into effect. 30 On November 5, 
the UN General Assembly voted to adopt a Canadian proposal to create a UN police 
force to supervise a ceasefire in the Middle East. 31 That same night, British and French 
forces landed troops in the canal zone, ostensibly to protect the canal. The United 
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States joined the USSR and the UN in condemning the aggression. By this time the 
Israelis, who had taken control of Gaza and the entire Sinai, had agreed to a ceasefire. 
The invasion finally came to a stop on November 6 after the United States persuaded 
the British and the French to cease operations. 32

Although ER felt strongly that international disputes should be settled at the UN 
and not by unilateral military action, she believed that in this case, the danger Israel 
faced justified the action it took. America’s condemnation of Israel disturbed her. She 
was glad, however, that the UN would now create a peacekeeping force. The United 
Nations Emergency Force, which was created to ensure the withdrawal of Israel, French, 
and British forces from Egyptian territory and then to act as a buffer between Israeli 
and Egyptian forces, was the first armed peacekeeping force established by the UN. ER 
and other leaders of the AAUN, for which she now served as chairman of the Board of 
Governors, issued a statement praising its creation and pointing out that the AAUN 
had “long advocated that an international force guarantee the security of the armistice 
line between Israel and the Arab States.” 33 In a My Day column a few weeks later, ER 
urged that the UN deploy “a real military force and of sufficient size to constitute a 
power that would enforce all U.N. decisions.” If it were merely “a token police force, 
with no ability to enforce the will of the majority in the U.N.,” that would create “a 
real dilemma.” 34 But while the UN created police forces that acted as buffers between 
nations in conflict and monitored compliance with the terms of UN resolutions, nei-
ther then nor later did it create a military force to enforce its decisions with the sort 
of muscle ER advocated.

On November 7 Eisenhower, who had been reelected easily the day before, threat-
ened further UN resolutions against Israel and an end to American governmental and 
private assistance if Israel did not withdraw from the Sinai. He also warned of possi-
ble attacks on Israel by “volunteers” from the Soviet Union. As a result, Ben-Gurion 
agreed to withdraw Israeli forces from the Sinai as soon as a UN force was ready to 
move into the area. Under continued pressure from the United States, Britain and 
France also yielded to American pressure, pulling their troops out of the canal zone 
by the end of December. 35

Israel, however, put off the date of its withdrawal while it sought assurances that 
the Egyptians would not reoccupy the Sinai and resume raids across Israel’s border. It 
also lobbied hard to win sympathy for its position from influential Americans, lead-
ers of Congress, and members of the American Jewish community, some of whom had 
been skeptical of Israeli actions. ER was one of those who raised her voice, speaking 
passionately on behalf of Israel.

In January 1957, as the UN continued to demand that Israel withdraw from the Sinai 
without any guarantees from Egypt that raids on Israel would cease, ER protested in 
her My Day column. Israel was America’s friend, she said, and she found “it difficult to 
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understand just why we should make life so difficult for them” after Israel had acknowl-
edged that they should have gone to the UN first before invading Sinai. From the begin-
ning of its existence, she said, Israel had been “willing to sit down and discuss with the 
Arab states how their difficulties can be best resolved,” but the Arab nations “have never 
been willing to recognize the existence of Israel.” It was true that Israel was willing to 
negotiate, but it insisted that any resolution of the Arab refugee problem would have 
to come after a peace agreement that assured its security. The Arabs refused to nego-
tiate a peace agreement until the refugee issue was resolved. 36

Israel’s effort during the opening months of 1957 to shift American opinion more 
toward its point of view achieved some success. The Democratic and Republican leaders 
of the Senate, Lyndon Johnson (D-TX) and William Knowland (R-CA), questioned 
the Eisenhower administration’s tough stance toward Israel, and Congress did not 
agree to issue a statement demanding Israeli withdrawal. In the face of this opposition, 
Eisenhower went on radio and TV on February 20 to make his case to the American 
people. His unequivocal rejection of Israeli justifications for its actions and his state-
ment that the UN would have no choice but to put maximum pressure on Israel if it 
did not obey UN resolutions — a clear indication that the United States would support 
the imposition of sanctions — angered ER. There could be no peace, she said, if Israel 
did not receive guarantees that the UN peacekeeping forces would occupy the Gaza 
Strip and protect Israel’s access to the Gulf of Aqaba. Israel could not risk “being wiped 
off the face of the earth.” 37

Eisenhower’s statement on February 20, however, convinced the Israelis that they 
would have to withdraw. On March 1, Israel’s foreign minister, Golda Meir, announced 
that Israel agreed to do so under two conditions: that the UN force stay in Sinai and 
that Israel would act in self-defense under Article 51 of the Charter if the free passage 
of Israeli ships in the Gulf of Aqaba were prevented. 38

After Israel agreed to withdraw, Joseph Baratz wrote to ER from Degania in “a state 
of deep depression” about the way the American State Department had treated Israel. 
Neither all of Israel’s political parties nor all the Israeli people had greeted the agree-
ment that was finally reached with enthusiasm, Baratz told her. It took ER almost a 
month to answer Baratz’s letter because she felt that “my country has behaved so very 
badly and I hated to admit it.” She felt that the United States had “been shortsighted 
beyond words” in not firmly backing Israel and that “the fear that Israel may have to 
go to war to get her real security is to me a terrible failure on the part of the US.” 39

After the Suez crisis and after an effort to build up King Saud of Saudi Arabia as a 
counterbalance to Nasser yielded little result, the Eisenhower administration pursued 
what became known as the Eisenhower Doctrine. The goal was to establish bilateral 
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relationships with Arab countries by offering economic and military aid, reduce Nas-
ser’s influence in the area, and prevent Communist inroads into the Middle East. 
Rather than seek a solution to the Arab-Israeli conflict or become embroiled in other 
regional conflicts, the idea was to concentrate on resisting the threat of Communism 
whether in the form of subversion engineered by Russia or the development of inter-
nal Communist movements. 40

ER did not think the Eisenhower Doctrine had much merit, she told her young 
friend Gus Ranis, and would have preferred that the United States “have a little more 
courage” and adopt a clear policy that the Suez Canal would be open to ships from 
all nations and that Israel would “exist in peace.” 41 Although she believed American 
oil interests in the Middle East heavily influenced American policy, she knew that 
Eisenhower would say that he was acting to prevent the Arab nations from depend-
ing on the Soviet Union for assistance. “I disagree completely with the way he has 
been trying to do this,” she told another correspondent. The United States should 
deal plainly with Nasser even at the risk of him turning to the Soviet Union, although 
she could see why the president might think that “too great a responsibility for the 
government to take.” 42

After Eisenhower’s election in 1952, Israelis worried that without Truman’s sup-
port, Israel might be forced to return to the partition borders drawn by the UN in 
1947, admit thousands of angry Arab refugees, and give up a large part of Jerusalem. 
By 1960, however, despite Eisenhower’s policy of evenhandedness in the Arab-Israeli 
conflict and strong stand against the Israeli invasion of the Sinai, the territory Israel 
controlled remained the same, the Arab refugees had not returned, and Israel’s credi-
bility as a nation had increased. ER had no influence on the policy of the Eisenhower 
administration, but her forceful advocacy had helped make the new nation’s case to 
the American people and earned the gratitude of Israel’s leaders. 43
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A S P E C I A L B O N D 
WI T H I S R A E L

“ There is no countr y as exciting as Israel”

By the time Eleanor Roosevelt returned to Israel in 1959, she had both 
deepened her commitment to the new nation and cemented her role as its most 
prominent Gentile defender in the United States. She had protested the sale of 

weapons to Arab countries, unsuccessfully advocated the sale of defensive weapons to 
Israel, defended Israel’s 1956 incursion into the Sinai, and criticized the Eisenhower 
Doctrine. ER loved to be needed, and Israel needed strong voices in the United States to 
establish its legitimacy and help it acquire the resources necessary for its survival. Closely 
connected to the American Jewish community and widely admired by Americans of 
many backgrounds, ER was in a unique position to meet that need. Her syndicated 
daily column, speaking engagements, and radio and TV appearances enabled her to 
reach large numbers of Americans.

Beginning with her visit to the training center at Cambous for Moroccan Jewish 
children on their way to Israel, ER had taken a special interest in the well-being of 
Moroccan Jews. In 1956 she intervened with the sultan of Morocco on behalf of over 
6,000 Jews seeking to emigrate to Israel. In 1959 she appealed to him to restore postal 
communication between his country and Israel, and in 1961 she again asked him to 
ease emigration restrictions. In 1957 ER traveled to Morocco to express her support 
for its Jewish community. When she discovered that Morocco was on the brink of 
famine, she lobbied for American aid to provide food to all Moroccans and brought 
Moroccan leaders and officials of the Joint Distribution Committee (JDC) together 
at her home in New York in an effort to promote their cooperation. 1

ER had also become a valued resource for Youth Aliyah, serving as a highly effec-
tive fundraiser for the organization in Great Britain, Mexico, Canada, and the United 
States. She was so important to Moshe Kol and the other leaders of Youth Aliyah and 
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Hadassah that they postponed Youth Aliyah’s 1959 world conference in Jerusalem, 
at which they would celebrate the organization’s twenty-fifth anniversary, to make it 
possible for ER to attend. 2

On her 1959 trip to Israel ER traveled with her teenage granddaughter, Nina Roose-
velt. Before going to Israel, ER and Nina visited Iran, where ER’s daughter Anna was 
living at the time with her husband, Dr. James A. Halsted, a Fulbright professor. Hal sted 
was assisting in the establishment of a medical school at Shiraz University. In Tehran 
ER toured schools, hospitals, and other institutions. The people of Iran were largely il-
literate at the time and the need for education and economic development was great. 
ER discussed the country’s needs with representatives of the UN technical assistance 
program, the American Point 4 program, and the Joint Distribution Committee, all 
of which were managing projects to improve conditions in the country.

There was still a substantial Jewish population in Iran, although some Jews had 
already gone to Israel. At Moshe Kol’s suggestion ER visited the Jewish ghetto in 
Shiraz, where she rated the housing worse than the lowest standard of housing in the 
United States. 3 A family of eight or ten lived in one windowless room with a charcoal 
brazier for cooking and heating and no sanitary facilities. Most of the Jewish men 
were peddlers. Twenty to 30 percent of the population in the Jewish quarter were 
Muslims, which meant, ER was glad to see, that programs to improve conditions in 
the area benefited Muslims as well as Jews. 4 ER also had lunch with the shah and at-
tended a dinner in her honor with the American ambassador, Iranian officials, and 
foreign diplomats. 5

After leaving Iran, ER and Nina flew to Israel, where ER’s itinerary included visits to 
Youth Aliyah and Hadassah facilities, housing and factory sites, meetings with Israeli 
and American officials, and a visit to Jerusalem’s Old City to attend Easter service. ER’s 
days in Israel were, as usual, very busy and reflected her numerous ties to the nation 
and its people. She continued to take a keen interest in Youth Aliyah’s innovative ap-
proaches to educating and assimilating immigrant children. She visited the Alonei 
Yitzhak Children’s Village, where the children lived in group houses without an adult 
counselor and spent three to four hours a day raising vegetables and poultry, working 
in the kitchen, and keeping the buildings clean, in addition to studying in school. It 
seemed to ER “a pretty strenuous schedule,” given the ages of the children, but they 
“looked healthy and strong” and she recognized that since it was “the object of the 
village to teach the children how to live and to be useful citizens,” the combination of 
rigorous physical activity and study served this goal. 6

In Haifa ER was impressed with Israel’s Institute of Technology (the Technion), 
which was becoming known as Israel’s MIT. At Tiberias she enjoyed seeing the Sea of 
Galilee by moonlight and later dined at Degania with Joseph and Miriam Baratz. In Tel 
Aviv she watched the children’s Purim parade as a guest of the mayor. In Eilat, Israel’s 



 A SPECIAL B OND WITH ISR AEL 237

port city on the Red Sea, she observed the town’s developing diamond and precious 
stone-cutting industry and then toured a kibbutz out in the Negev. There she found a 
band of eighty young people, who, she said, were “making the desert bloom. I literally 
mean bloom.” The members of the kibbutz grew flowers, tomatoes, and onions with 
water drawn from a deep well and raised cattle, sheep, and poultry. ER admired the 
“spirit and determination” of these pioneering youth, which she felt was exemplified 
by the way they rushed to their fields during an attack by locusts, spraying and flailing 
to death enough of the insects to save their crops. 7

In Beersheba ER and Nina attended the dedication of the Eleanor Roosevelt Youth 
Aliyah Day Centre, which, like the Alonei Yitzhak Children’s Village, was adapted 
to meeting a special educational need. This center provided education and vocational 
training to immigrant teenagers age fourteen to seventeen, who needed to learn He-
brew as fast as they could and, often, to catch up on their studies because of the poor 
education they had received in their countries of origin.

ER was impressed with the rapid growth of Beersheba, which she had first seen in 
1952 when 20,000 people lived there. Now the population had more than doubled to 
42,000 and there were six factories instead of two. To provide a personal measure of 
the town’s development, ER told her My Day readers about a young man and woman 
whom she met on her first visit just after they had arrived as immigrants. The couple 
lived at that time in a two-bedroom house. When she returned three years later, the 
man was happy because he had a lot of work as a carpenter, but the man and woman 
felt “there was a shadow in the house” because they had no children. Now, in 1959, she 
asked to see them again and found “to my joy” that they had two children and the man 
was adding two and a half rooms to their house in his spare time. 8

In Jerusalem, she met with Dr. K. J. Mann, director general of the Hadassah Medical 
Organization, who, on an earlier trip, had shown her the temporary facilities used by 
Hadassah’s University Hospital after the Arabs had driven the Jews off Mount Scopus 
in 1948. Now he proudly showed her the new Medical Center at Ein Kerem. The fa-
cility, he told her, was being completed with funds raised by “our wonderful Hadassah 
ladies in America” to house Hadassah’s medical care and teaching programs. 9 ER also 
attended the dedication of the Eleanor Roosevelt Chair of the History and Philosophy 
of Science at Hebrew University, spoke at the conference marking the twenty-fifth an-
niversary of Youth Aliyah, and went to the dedication of the Youth Center for Hand-
i capped Children, which was being named in honor of her friend Vera Weizmann, 
Chaim Weizmann’s widow. On the way to Tel Aviv she stopped at Sarafand Hospital 
to visit the Rehabilitation Center for Post-Polio Children given to the hospital by the 
Canadian Hadassah organization and named for ER. 10

Before arriving in Israel, ER had been invited by Hasan-El-Kaatib, the Muhafez 
(guardian) and military governor of Jerusalem’s Old City, to attend the Easter Sunday 
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service at the Church of the Holy Sepulchre on March 29. She was to be seated in a 
place of honor by his side. When ER’s visit became public, the Palestinian Arab news-
paper Falastin vehemently attacked the Jordanian government for granting permission 
to ER to cross into Jordanian-held Jerusalem, calling her “the greatest enemy of Arab 
peoples in the world.” As a result, the Jordanian government considered withdraw-
ing permission. The American consulate, which sent a telegram to Acting Secretary 
of State Christian Herter in Washington expressing fear that there might be a “good 
chance of stones, name-calling, unpleasant incidents in fairly long, crowded walk from 
automobile road to Holy Sepulchre,” also debated calling off her visit. The consulate 
expected that the Muhafez would contract a “diplomatic illness” rather than be seen 
at a public ceremony attended largely by Arab Christians, many of them refugees. 
Instead, the Muhafez urged the acting prime minister of Jordan to allow the visit to 
go forward on the grounds that canceling ER’s visit would damage King Hussein’s 
diplomatic efforts. Hussein and the Jordanian prime minister, Samir el-Rifai, were 
on a mission to the United States at the time to obtain foreign aid. The Muhafez also 
argued that it was important to persuade humanitarians like ER to recognize that 
Arabs, too, deserved their concern and would welcome their friendship. He assured 
the American consulate that he was planning to go to unusual lengths to ensure that 
no incident occurred during ER’s visit. With these assurances, the consulate allowed 
the visit to go ahead. 11

The event went smoothly, and the consulate reported afterward that the Jordanian 
government had taken the most extreme measures to protect ER from physical harm 
or embarrassment. It had forbidden further attacks in the press and issued a false press 
statement on March 27 that ER was not coming. The head of Jerusalem’s criminal in-
vestigation department rode in the car with ER and the consul general. A Land Rover 
with an armed patrol followed the car. Each of the participants in the Easter ceremony 
was individually screened. The consulate praised Hasan-El-Kaatib for “his soundness 
in forestalling ill-considered slanging matches as a tactic in the Arab-Israel disagree-
ment.” 12 ER herself enjoyed the visit and the American consul, who was fluent in Arabic, 
told her that he repeatedly heard the word “welcome” as she walked from the services 
through the streets to a waiting car. At a reception at the American consulate follow-
ing the service, she spoke with the governor and mayor of Arab Jerusalem about the 
refugee issue and Jordan’s problems.

After the reception, ER wrote in My Day that the refugee situation would grow 
progressively worse. Although she understood that the refugees were now being permit-
ted to work, “resettlement and some kind of reparations paid are the only real solu-
tions, and the problem should be faced and settled through the United Nations as 
soon as possible.” 13
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On her flight out of Israel, ER tried, once again, to identify what made the 
atmosphere of Israel so different from that of Iran and Israel’s Arab neighbors. She had 
concluded at the end of her visit to the Arab countries on her first trip to the Middle 
East that people did not seem to enter into government service in order to serve their 
country, but for private gain, and felt completely justified in doing so. She formed a 
similar opinion about Iran in 1959 when she said that it was an absence of a sense of 
“community responsibility” that held it back. 14 The concept of community responsi-
bility and active citizenship was, of course, at the very heart of her own political philos-
ophy, which she had preached in the 1930s. In Israel, she found this ideal fulfilled in 
the responsibility the nation took for all the immigrants streaming into the country 
and, especially, through its cooperative communities: the kibbutzim, moshav, and 
youth villages. 15

Although she was disappointed by what she perceived as a lack of civic commitment 
among the Iranians and Arabs, she was far from indifferent to their needs. In regard to 
the Arabs living within Israel, she expressed the hope to her Israeli hosts that the Arabs 
would be given equal rights with the nation’s Jewish citizens. In early 1959, after the 
American Friends Service Committee expressed concern to ER that the Israeli govern-
ment was violating the rights of the Arabs living in Acre, ER asked Gideon Tadmor, 
the foreign affairs officer who served as her guide on earlier trips to Israel, for infor-
mation on the status of Israel’s Arab citizens. Tadmor told her that, with the exception 
of border regions where Israel imposed restrictions because of the “unilateral state of 
war,” the policy of the Israeli government was to grant Israeli Arabs the same rights as 
Jews. He hoped that when she visited Israel that spring, she would have a chance to 
observe for herself “the achievements and progress” of Israel’s Arab citizens and said 
he would help arrange opportunities to do so. 16

When ER was in Israel in April, Tadmor did make it possible for her to find out 
more about the conditions under which Israel’s Arab citizens lived. She visited the 
Arab village of Baqa-al-Garbya, where she toured a new canning plant that put up 
oranges and sauerkraut. The conditions in the Arab villages were “being improved 
quite rapidly,” she reported in My Day. She delved somewhat deeper during a long talk 
with an Arab high school teacher in Acre who gave her insight into the grounds of 
Arab dissatisfaction. It was “obvious,” she reported in My Day, “that the Arabs living 
in Israel are not very happy.” She recognized that “it must be very hard on [the Arabs] 
not to be able to visit with ease and freedom their families and friends just across a 
border.” Nevertheless, she thought it was “only natural in a country that is surrounded 
by unfriendly Arab countries” for the Israeli government to impose certain restrictions 
on its Arab population and to hesitate to grant “more freedom of movement than is 
at present permitted.” 17
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In most cases, it was true that the Arabs who remained in Israel were better off 
than those who had fled or been expelled and now languished in refugee camps, but 
they were far from being treated equally with Israel’s Jewish citizens, despite the Israeli 
government’s pledge to do so. The Arab citizens of Israel remained under military 
rule until 1966 and they have remained second-class citizens. Although ER recog-
nized that the Israeli Arabs were “not very happy,” she did not look into the issues of 
property rights, access to education, employment, mobility, identification papers, and 
intimidation by police and judicial authorities with which they, like suspect minori-
ties elsewhere, had to contend. 18 For her, Israel was all about dynamic economic and 
social change, and she was content to believe, as Tadmor and the Israeli government 
no doubt wanted her to believe, that conditions were improving for the Arabs as well 
as the Jews and would continue to do so.

Although the divide between Israel and its neighbors appeared unbridgeable, Israel 
itself continued to inspire ER: “Israel was more exciting than ever,” she wrote to Henry 
Morgenthau III after she returned home. She was struck by how much the country 
had changed — “I felt more growth had taken place in four years than I thought was 
possible” — and by the contrast between Israel and the other countries in the region: 
“There is no country as exciting as Israel but I am awfully glad that Nina and I saw Iran 
first because it sharpened the contrast for her enormously.” 19

Some of the deepest bonds that connected ER to Israel, which grew stronger 
over time, were her relationships with Israel’s leaders, especially David Ben-Gurion 
and Golda Meir. These relationships, nourished by their visits with each other both 
in Israel and the United States, were built on the appreciation of the Israeli leaders for 
ER’s ardent support of Israel and her admiration for their dynamic leadership. Because 
they did not always get the backing they desired from the Eisenhower administration, 
the Israeli leaders especially valued her support. They appreciated ER’s public criticism 
of her own government during the Suez Crisis, her advocacy of military and economic 
aid to Israel, and all the other ways she had supported the cause of the new nation.

But ER’s relationships with Ben-Gurion, Golda Meir, and other Israeli leaders were 
not merely political. As her devotion to Israel deepened, these relationships became 
warm and personal. “You looked wonderfully well and full of spirits,” she told Ben- 
Gurion after her 1959 visit, “and there is no one in Israel who does not depend on you 
for inspiration. Just seeing you is a great inspiration to me, and I was glad to have my 
granddaughter have this opportunity also.” 20 To Golda Meir she expressed her joy in 
seeing her several times during her 1959 trip and characteristically expressed embarrass-
ment, as well as gratitude, at the “great generosity” of the Israeli government in making 
her its guest: “I don’t think it is right because I can and should pay my own way but at 
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every hotel where I tried to pay my bill they insisted that the Foreign Office had told 
them that they wanted to take care of it and they would not take my money. All I can 
say is thank you.” 21 During ER’s final illness in the fall of 1962, Meir sent a telegram to 
ER wishing her a “speedy recovery” and telling her that she felt her absence at an event 
in Meir’s honor that ER was unable to attend “with all my heart.” One sign of the in-
timacy of the friendship between the two women was that Meir addressed ER in the 
telegram as “Dear Eleanor.” Very few people did. 22

ER believed that Israel was blessed with an unusually gifted group of leaders. When 
Ambassador Abba Eban, another Israeli leader ER became very fond of, was return-
ing to Israel, ER told Meir that she would miss him and added: “it seems to me that 
you are among the few countries that actually have more men and women capable of 
leadership than you absolutely need. That is why, I think, you accomplish the impossi-
ble.” 23 It was this leadership that helped generate the excitement and sense of purpose 
she repeatedly encountered during her visits. Ben-Gurion, especially, inspired her. 
“His eyes snap as though he were a young man when he is talking about something he 
is vitally interested in,” she wrote after visiting him in Jerusalem in 1959, “and he gives 
you a feeling of resourcefulness, courage and flexibility in his thinking, which is quite 
extraordinary.” 24 These qualities helped him inspire the young “to leave well estab-
lished, easy living in an old kibbutz or a good job” and “face the incredible hardships” 
of building a new kibbutz in the Negev. 25

ER’s relationship with Joseph Baratz was another one of the warm friendships with 
Israeli leaders that bound ER closely to Israel’s land and people. Because of the attack by 
Syria that kibbutz Degania had repelled during the 1948 war and the periodic harassment 
by Syrian forces it had suffered since then, Baratz was keenly aware of Israel’s vulner-
ability. But while Baratz expressed the anxieties that he and other Israelis felt about 
Israel’s continually besieged position and their uncertainty about whether they had 
America’s full support, he also wrote to ER with confidence about Israel’s growth and 
prospects. The average Israeli wanted to know “one thing,” he wrote in the summer of 
1958, namely, “What is our fate to be in all this political muddle?” But in the daily life 
of Israel, he told ER, “you would feel none of this anxiety.” Life in Israel was “accented 
by dynamic growth, development and building everywhere — no where has there been 
a lull. Neither has the stream of tourists been hindered. I like to see in this a good omen 
for our country.” Baratz often turned after a discussion of the “troubled waters with the 
Syrians” or other political concerns to the rhythms of ordinary life in the small agricul-
ture community that he headed: “We celebrate Chanukka — the Festival of Lights, mark-
ing the Maccabee victories of old,” he wrote to her in December 1958. “We enjoy our 
children and our children’s children, and life follows its course in well known furrows.” 26

The common interest Baratz and ER shared in Youth Aliyah formed an import-
ant bond between them. On the twenty-fifth anniversary of the founding of Youth 
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Aliyah, Baratz told ER that her name “appears again and again like a silver thread in 
the weaving of this particular piece of history.” He himself was proud of the contribu-
tion Degania made to the growth of Israel through Youth Aliyah. The boys and girls 
from Youth Aliyah “who were educated in Degania,” he told ER, “are today settled in 
agricultural settlements through-out the length and breadth of the country, and they 
have played no small part in the development of the country.” 27

ER’s visits to Israel were not primarily for pleasure, although she took great 
delight in her interactions with the people she met. As World Patron of Youth Aliyah, 
ER felt that the purpose of her trips was to gather information and stories that would 
make her a more effective spokesperson for the organization she represented and for 
Israel. In preparing for her 1962 trip, she told Golda Meir that she wanted to return to 
the United States with “a good comparison” between places she had seen before and 
their current state so that she could “speak with greater force on the subject of devel-
opment.” 28 After her 1962 trip, she assured President Yitzhak Ben-Zvi that she would 
remember the things he had said to her and “see if I can make them better under-
stood at home.” 29

For the most part, ER continued to let Youth Aliyah, Hadassah, and the Israeli 
government show her whatever served their public relations purposes. Her expres-
sion of concern in 1959 about the report she had received about the Israeli govern-
ment’s possible violation of Arab rights in Acre was an exception. Even then, Tadmor 
selected the Arab village and the high school teacher to whom she spoke. Often ER 
was happy to amplify the message the Israeli government wished to convey to the 
American public. Tadmor regularly provided ER with information and suggestions 
to use in her My Day column, in speeches, or in answering questions about Israel put 
to her by her correspondents as part of his government’s efforts to counteract Arab 
propaganda in the United States. Sometimes, as when the Moroccan government cut 
off all postal communication between Moroccan Jews and their kinsmen in Israel, he 
also asked for her help in resolving a diplomatic issue. “It seems to me,” he apologized 
in a letter to her in 1959, “that whenever I write to you there is something which we 
would like you to do for us.” 30

When ER was planning to return to Israel in late February 1962, ER asked Golda 
Meir for a car and a guide as well as help in choosing what she should see: whatever 
“you feel are valuable would be perfectly acceptable to me.” She had a few specific 
requests: a stop for lunch in Degania, an overnight stay in Safed, which she heard had 
become an art center, perhaps a visit to the port city of Eilat on the Red Sea, an over-
night stay in Beersheba, and a visit to the children’s villages. Finally, on the last day, 
she wanted to go to Jerusalem. 31
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On this, her fourth and last trip to Israel, ER was accompanied by her secretary, 
Maureen Corr, and Edna Gurewitsch, the wife of David Gurewitsch, who had trav-
eled with her on her first trip. ER was pleased with the arrangements the Israeli for-
eign office made for her, including the assignment once again of Gideon Tadmor as 
her guide and the provision of a car. 32 She again visited Youth Aliyah training facili-
ties, schools, immigrant villages, Hadassah medical facilities, Hebrew University, and 
the Degania kibbutz. When she visited Beersheba for the fourth time, she was again 
amazed by the new houses and new industries built or in the process of being built 
and by the greening of the surrounding desert by the water that was being piped in 
from the north. Beersheba’s population had now grown to 50,000. She stopped at the 
Eleanor Roosevelt Youth Aliyah Day Centre that she and Nina had visited three years 
before and found that it was meeting the need to educate older children who came 
from countries with poor schools and were too old to attend Israeli primary schools. 33

Beersheba had become her “yardstick in Israel,” she reported, where she “could 
easily see the great changes that come about year by year.” Many problems remained 
because of the surge in population — not enough housing, not enough space in schools 
and hospitals — “but the building was going on fast enough to give everyone hope.” A 
new Youth Aliyah camp provided training while more schools were being built to take 
the pressure off schools running double shifts. Beersheba was one of the “miracles” of 
Israel, ER wrote in an article for Hadassah Magazine, and instilled in her a “feeling of 
vigor, of growth, of being on the move.” 34

Over the years, ER observed how Youth Aliyah had to adapt its ways of organiz-
ing immigrant communities and its training methods to meet the particular needs of 
different groups of young immigrants as they entered Israel. Although she admired 
all the ways Youth Aliyah sought to assimilate the newcomers, she did express some 
awareness of the pain that immigrant families experienced in shedding their cultural 
traditions. Israeli leaders had originally thought that immigrants from various coun-
tries should be placed all together in one town to encourage their integration into 
one people, but this created problems. The shock of rapid acculturation could be too 
great, particularly for the families from North Africa and the Middle East who had 
acquired the cultural habits of the countries in which they had lived for centuries. As 
a result, Youth Aliyah made some effort to mitigate the effects. On her 1962 trip, ER 
visited an experimental immigrant community called Kiryat Gat that took a differ-
ent approach. In this settlement, the Israelis placed immigrants from each country in 
separate villages not far from a central town that provided secondary schools, medical 
and social services, and better-stocked stores than the ones in the villages, plus cultural 
facilities, such as movie theaters. That way the immigrant families could maintain in 
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their own village some of the customs they were used to, while all the children went to 
the same secondary school in the central town and the parents went to town occasion-
ally to take advantage of the resources not available in the villages. The idea was that as 
the children grew together in the schools, their parents would also be drawn together. 
“The process of amalgamation would be slower,” ER explained in My Day, “but in the 
end it would be less painful than throwing them all together at the start in one place.” 
The head of agricultural services at Kiryat Gat told her that the plan did not succeed 
completely but he thought it worked better than the old way of doing things. During 
her visit to Israel with ER in 1955, Trude Lash had noted “the willingness” of Youth 
Aliyah workers “to face mistakes and search for better ways of doing things.” 35 For ER, 
who never lost her faith in the “bold, persistent experimentation” advocated by FDR 
at the outset of the New Deal, the spirit of innovation that inspired experiments like 
Kiryat Gat in organizing communities, educating children, and absorbing immigrants 
was an important element of Israel’s appeal. 36

As Charles Segal, Hadassah’s director of public relations, explained to ER, each new 
group of immigrant children had different needs and required a different educational 
program. The first group were survivors of the Holocaust, children who “had been 
scarred mentally — and some physically — by the ordeals they had endured.” Their reha-
bilitation “required delicate psychological handling.” The second group were the chil-
dren from Morocco and other North African and Middle Eastern countries, most of 
whom were completely lacking in education and were therefore unprepared for Israeli 
schools. They required special programs to help them catch up with their peers and deal 
with the psychological stress of being so out of step with Israeli children. A majority 
of the children in the third group, which was now arriving from Eastern Europe, had 
begun secondary education but had to learn a new set of values. Many of them had been 
unaware of their Jewishness before they left for Israel and the realization that they were 
Jews came as a shock. Their teachers and propagandists in the Communist countries 
from which they came had tried to indoctrinate them in Communist ideology and, 
being aware of this, the children had grown skeptical of what teachers told them. To 
get around this, Segal told ER, Youth Aliyah took them to places in Israel where they 
could see for themselves how democracy worked, rather than telling them about it. 37

Three years before, at Hadassah’s celebration in New York of the twenty-fifth anni-
versary of Youth Aliyah, ER had spoken of the challenges Youth Aliyah met with each 
of these groups of children. ER felt that the last group, which had to learn democratic 
values as they shed the Communist ideas they had been taught, represented the biggest 
challenge. She expected that their indoctrination in Communism was “a very thorough 
indoctrination,” because its model came from the Soviet Union, and the Youth Aliyah 
educators would “find great difficulty in changing the trend of thought,” but she was 
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“equally sure that the experienced, dedicated people who have accomplished miracles 
for all the children that have come before will be able to do it again.”

In her speech, ER expressed her wonderment at what Youth Aliyah had accomplished 
in the past. When she first saw the children who had survived the Holocaust in the 
displaced person (DP) camps in Germany in 1946, she thought “it would be impossible 
to bring these children back to normal, happy people, and yet later in Israel I saw what 
had been done.” She met some of the children who had been in the camps who were 
now grown up and living happy, productive lives as citizens of Israel. She marveled at 
how the Youth Aliyah workers had managed to help the children put the horrors of the 
camps in Germany in the past by giving them love, but also by communicating to them 
their own excitement in building a new country. The reason for Youth Aliyah’s success, 
she believed, lay in its ability to make the children feel part of something momentous: 
“You manage to give the children the feeling that they are needed; not that they are a 
burden, not that they are receiving charity, but they are needed! They are the people 
who are going to build Israel.” 38

ER herself felt intensely proud of being part of what she regarded as a great histor-
ical event: the spiritual transformation of children broken by the horrors they had 
endured. “There can be no greater happiness,” she whispered to Moshe Kol during a 
fundraising event for Youth Aliyah in Great Britain, “than seeing this miracle of resur-
rection realized, and I myself taking part in it.” 39



C O N C LUS I O N

E leanor Roosevelt’s commitment to Israel originated in her efforts before, 
during, and after World War II to find homes for the victims of Nazi perse-
cution. The national home that Israel provided for thousands of Jews relieved 

some of the grief she felt at her limited success in persuading the American public, her 
husband, and the State Department to admit more refugees into the United States in 
the 1930s and 1940s. It made more bearable her feeling, reported by Moshe Kol and 
Ruth Gruber, that more should have been done to rescue Jews during the Holocaust. 
After the failure of the Wagner-Rogers bill, the frustration of trying get the State De-
part ment to issue more visas, the stubborn resistance of Congress to admitting more 
refugees after the war, the harsh policy of Great Britain in blocking immigration to 
Palestine, and the Arab rejection of the UN partition plan, ER saw in the establish-
ment of Israel an opportunity, at last, for large numbers of Jewish refugees to rebuild 
their lives in a place where they were both wanted and needed. “One of the most com-
pelling reasons for the existence of Israel,” she said in 1956, “is the fact that it is the only 
sure haven for the Jewish people. In troubled times, when they are the first to suffer, it 
is essential for them to have their own country of refuge.” 1

ER’s bond with Israel also grew out of her special concern for the well-being of 
children. Her support for the Wagner-Rogers bill, her involvement with the United 
States Committee for the Care of European Children, her efforts to help rescue 5,000 
Jewish children from unoccupied France, her initial association with Youth Aliyah in 
1940, and the active role she played as World Patron of Youth Aliyah drew her deeply 
into the work of rescuing and rehabilitating Jewish children. She saw in the “beauti-
ful radiant faces” of children she encountered at the Youth Aliyah training centers in 
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Israel a sign that Youth Aliyah’s programs were succeeding in transforming the shat-
tered lives of children who had experienced the trauma of war, concentration camps, 
antisemitism, or extreme poverty.

To many Jews, the establishment of Israel, coming so soon after the Holocaust, 
seemed miraculous. Its significance went far beyond the need to create a haven for 
Holocaust survivors; it was the realization of a dream dating back to biblical times 
whose fulfillment they prayed for in their liturgy. As ER said of the children being 
prepared by Youth Aliyah for citizenship in the reborn nation:

They know that in Israel there is something for them that meets the longing of their 
people over thousands of years. They have finally found a homeland where they are 
free under their own government in which they participate and which gives them 
a sense of loyalty and devotion. 2

ER shared in this sense of fulfillment and in the excitement of Israelis about their 
future, both as a player in the political struggle for the establishment of Israel and as a 
warmly engaged personal actor in Israel’s growth as a nation.

ER’s bond with Israel also grew out of the warm relationship she developed with 
American Jews during the 1930s and 1940s. She spoke at Hadassah, ORT, and UJA 
meetings, at synagogues, and in other venues. She partnered with American Jews in 
addressing issues she cared deeply about, including refugees, religious tolerance, the 
civil rights of African Americans, child welfare, public health, and human rights. In 
addition, Israel seemed to be practicing on a large scale the values that she shared with 
the Quaker leader Clarence Pickett and promoted in the United States in the 1930s: 
the ideals of active citizenship, cooperative community-building, rural revitalization, 
and the provision of resources to people in need so that they could build their own 
futures. Like Henrietta Szold, ER had been inspired by the leaders of the settlement 
house movement in the early years of the twentieth century and they had pointed her 
in the direction her activist career would follow. In many ways, ER’s devotion to Israel 
was the culmination of that career.

ER was, without doubt, one of the great humanitarians of the twentieth century. She 
worked tirelessly to relieve suffering and uphold human rights. She moved far ahead 
of her contemporaries in her attitudes toward African Americans and Jews and, more 
significantly, in her relationships with them. As an anticolonialist, she took a keen 
interest in the developing nations that were freed after World War II. Nevertheless, 
the society in which she lived, the perspectives of the people she was closest to, and her 
personal experience limited her understanding of cultures with which she was unfa-
miliar. Her strongly Western perspective on the world was evident in the paternalis-
tic and demeaning attitudes she expressed toward the Arabs, attitudes widespread in 
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Western society and rooted in the cultural representations of the Muslim world that 
Edward Said has termed “Orientalism.” Like most Americans of her time, she had no 
knowledge of Arab culture or appreciation for its traditions. As the historian Michelle 
Mart writes: “The image of Arab Muslims is part of a long-standing European narrative 
that stigmatized the ‘Orient’ as outside the bounds of Western culture.” 3 ER’s unbri-
dled enthusiasm for what the Jews were accomplishing existed behind cultural blind-
ers that prevented her from fully recognizing the very different reality experienced by 
the Palestinian Arabs.

ER was critical of Great Britain’s colonialist policies and, in the case of Palestine, she 
regarded Britain’s efforts to prevent Jewish immigration and to suppress Jewish resis-
tance to its rule as yet another manifestation of imperialism. Viewing the Palestinian 
Jews as an oppressed population fighting the British for their freedom made it easier 
for her to discount the fact that most of the Jews in Palestine were European settlers 
whom the Arabs increasingly resented for expanding their settlements on what had 
been Arab land. Whether or not one believes, as ER did, that the UN vote to partition 
Palestine into Jewish and Arab states was the only realistic solution to the conflict given 
the presence by 1947 of over 500,000 Jews in Palestine and the passionate commit-
ment of both parties to fight for their cause, the contrast between ER’s deep humani-
tarian response to the crisis of the Jews and her hard pragmatic response to the plight 
of the Arabs is troubling. 4

ER did not seem to recognize that the establishment of Israel was a case in which 
the achievement of human rights for one people collided with the human rights of 
another people. She ignored or downplayed the fact that the Jews had expelled many 
Arabs or terrorized them into fleeing and then destroyed their villages so that they 
had no homes to return to. To the Jews (and to ER), the 1948 war with the Arabs was 
the “War of Independence.” To the Arabs, the establishment of Israel was “Al Nakbar” 
(“the Catastrophe”).

What is most striking about ER’s views on the establishment of Israel is the ab-
sence of doubt. There is no indication that she wrestled with the moral complexity of 
the struggle between the Arabs and the Jews or grasped the Arabs’ profound experi-
ence of dispossession. Durward Sandifer, who was Eleanor Roosevelt’s principal State 
Department adviser when she served on the American delegation to the UN in 1948, 
said to Joseph Lash in describing ER’s attitude during and after the debate over the 
UN partition plan for Palestine: “She impressed me as having an open mind on every 
other subject than Palestine. She was not open to persuasion on that issue.” 5 Sandifer, 
who opposed the creation of a Jewish state like nearly all his colleagues in the State 
Department, thought that ER was “a person with a great capacity for growth.” She “was 
always searching for new ideas,” and in absorbing them and “making them her own, she 
grew. . . . That’s what made the Palestine case stand out as a maverick.”
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Perhaps because ER had an optimistic view of history, she did not perceive that 
precisely because of their success, the Jews had locked themselves into a tragic embrace 
with the Arabs from which it would not be easy to free themselves. She sympathized 
with the suffering of the Palestinian Arab refugees and advocated for aid to help them 
begin new lives elsewhere. However, she did not believe that the situation in which 
they found themselves resulted from the infliction of injustice upon them by the Jews 
or the UN. It was, she thought, the consequence of a conflict the Arabs had them-
selves initiated in defiance of the UN. They had lost. Now, she believed, they should 
move on. The UN and the Arab states, with some financial compensation from Israel 
for the property the refugees had left behind, needed to take responsibility for reset-
tling elsewhere those Arabs who had been displaced.

Throughout her public life ER exhibited a combination of idealism and politi-
cal realism in her approach to the world. While a great humanitarian and champion 
of human rights, she was also a pragmatist who recognized that solutions to complex 
political problems were unlikely to satisfy all sides or even satisfy one side completely. 
Difficult choices had to be made, and made decisively, in order to move forward. The 
UN partition plan for Palestine was one of those imperfect solutions. She was not orig-
inally in favor of the creation of a Jewish state, but once the partition plan was adopted, 
ER backed it passionately. She became immune to arguments on the Arab side of the 
conflict. She no longer expressed the concerns she voiced in 1946 about Arab opposi-
tion to massive Jewish settlement or the doubts sown by Isaiah Bowman and his warn-
ing that seeking to build a Jewish state in Palestine would lead to ongoing conflict. 
Nor did she express concern about the fact that the partition plan deprived the major-
ity population of Palestine of the right to choose their own government through free 
elections. That right was now among the provisions of the Universal Declaration of 
Human Rights (UDHR), whose drafting and acceptance by the UN she had worked 
hard to achieve. It reads, “The will of the people shall be the basis of the authority of 
government; this shall be expressed in periodic and genuine elections which shall be 
by universal and equal suffrage and shall be held by secret vote or by equivalent free 
voting procedures.” 6 Whatever the merits of the partition plan as a way to settle the 
conflict, it was imposed by the nations that made up the UN, not voted on by the 
inhabitants of Palestine, the great majority of whom were Arabs.

Once Israel was established, ER’s position on the Cold War played a role in her 
defense of its existence. She thought the most effective response to the efforts of the 
Soviet Union to spread Communism throughout the developing world was not mili-
tary aid but economic aid and the nurturing of democratic institutions. Israel, she be-
lieved, served as an example to the entire developing world of how a democracy could 
create thriving agricultural and industrial enterprises while meeting the essential needs 
of all its citizens for food, housing, education, and health care.
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ER did have misgivings about some of Israel’s policies toward its minorities and 
about the power exerted by the Orthodox religious parties in such areas as state support 
for religious schools and Sabbath laws, but she regarded these problems as likely to be 
resolved in time. When her friend Charl Williams, with whom she disagreed on other 
issues related to Israel, complained in 1958 about the Sabbath restrictions imposed in 
Israel at Orthodox insistence, ER shared her friend’s annoyance but added that she 
“would not mind this so much as interference in actual government.” She told Williams 
that the Israeli leaders “felt so far that they were not strong enough to stand an actual 
showdown” with the religious parties, “but it will have to come.” 7

ER found much to admire about the Israel of her day, especially in the vitality of its 
people. For her, contributing to a cause larger than oneself, as the citizens of Israel were 
doing, was an especially invigorating form of “self-expression.” In Tomorrow Is Now, a 
book she was working on at the time of her death in 1962, ER wrote:

The building of a new nation is one of the most inspiring activities that man can 
know, activating everyone from the smallest child to the oldest grandfather. This 
particular excitement of self-expression can be seen best, perhaps, today in the state 
of Israel. There you see everyone working, stirred by participation in a common 
cause for a single goal. 8

ER felt that she too contributed to the building of Israel, and she shared in the 
excitement of its rapid growth. She loved being part of the communal effort to ensure 
Israel’s survival in her role as World Patron of Youth Aliyah, as a speaker and writer 
about Israel in the United States, and as a fundraiser for Hadassah. Israel’s success vali-
dated her commitment to its welfare. And, as a prominent defender of both Israel and 
human rights, she helped affirm Israel’s legitimacy as a nation.
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